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To the Shareholders of Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of Iberdrola, S.A. (the "Parent") and subsidiaries
(together the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and consolidated notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts give a true and fair view, in all
material respects, of the consolidated equity and consolidated financial position of the Group at 31
December 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (IFRS-EU) and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in
Spain.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in
Spain. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those
regarding independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts pursuant
to the legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. We have not provided any non-audit
services, nor have any situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned
regulations, have affected the required independence such that this has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of non-financial assets

See notes 3.i, 14 and 41 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The principal activities of the different
businesses included in the consolidated annual
accounts of the Group are related to the
generation, transmission, distribution and
supply of energy, and therefore the balances
recognised under other intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment are highly
significant.

Furthermore, as a result of the acquisitions
made in recent years, the consolidated annual
accounts include goodwill for an amount of
Euros 8,189 million.

Under IFRS-EU, the recoverable amount of
assets must be analysed when indications of
impairment have been identified. Goodwvill,
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
in-process intangible assets are not amortised,
but are instead tested for impairment at least
on an annual basis.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of
non-current assets indicated in the preceding
paragraphs is determined through the use of
methodologies based on discounted cash
flows, the estimation of which requires the use
of a high degree of judgement, as well as the
use of assumptions and estimates. Due to the
high level of judgement required, the
uncertainty associated with these estimates
and the significance of the amount of non-
current assets, this has been considered a key
audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

= Assessing the design and implementation
of the key controls related to the process
of evaluating the existence of indications of
impairment.

= Assessing the design and implementation
of the key controls related to the process
of determining recoverable amount.

= Assessing the reasonableness of the
methodology used to calculate value in use
and the main assumptions considered, with
the involvement of our valuation
specialists.

* Analysing the consistency of the estimated
growth in future cash flows with the
business plans approved by the governing
bodies, including their consistency with the
Group's strategy to address climate change
and the Paris Agreement.

= Performing a comparative analysis of the
cash flow forecasts estimated in the prior
year with the actual cash flows obtained
(retrospective analysis).

= Evaluating the sensitivity of the recoverable
amount to changes in certain assumptions
that can be considered reasonable.

= Assessing whether the disclosures in the
consolidated annual accounts meet the
requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework.
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Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

See notes 3.p and 26 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has important commitments with
personnel in relation to retirement and other
long-term liabilities. These commitments are
mainly in Spain, the United States, the United
Kingdom and Brazil.

The fair value of the different plan assets
amounts to Euros 6,671 million, of which Euros
1,540 million is classified as Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

Non-material variations in the main
assumptions that determine the valuation of
Level 3 assets could have a significant impact
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
annual accounts and we have therefore
considered this a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

= Assessing the design and implementation
of controls related to the valuation process.

= Performing an analysis of the
reasonableness of the valuation of
longevity swap contracts by comparison
with the results independently obtained by
our valuation specialists.

= Performing substantive tests of detail on a
sample of Level 3 assets to determine the
reasonableness of their valuation based on
information from independent and qualified
third parties.

=  Submitting confirmation requests to third
parties to confirm the reasonableness of
the valuation of a sample of financial
assets.

= Assessing whether the disclosures in the
consolidated annual accounts meet the
requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework.
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Use of accounting estimates

See note 5 to the consolidated annual accounts

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group's businesses that carry out energy
supply activities must make estimates of
unbilled supplies to end customers in the
period between the last meter reading and the
end of the fiscal year. Estimated unbilled
energy supplied amounts to Euros 3,127
million.

Unbilled energy supplied is estimated based on
internal and external information that is
compared with the readings contained in the
management systems used by the businesses.
Revenue is calculated by multiplying the
volume of estimated unbilled consumption, a
process that is subject to a high degree of
uncertainty, by the tariff agreed for each
customer.

Determining the revenue from unbilled energy
supplied requires the use of estimates by
Group management with the application of
criteria, judgements and assumptions in its
calculations, and we have therefore considered
this a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

= Analysing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the key controls
related to the estimation of unbilled
revenue.

= Evaluating the reasonableness of the
calculation model used by comparing the
estimates made at the close of the
previous period and actual invoicing data
(retrospective analysis).

= Assessing the reasonableness of the
volume of unbilled energy through an
analysis of historical information and other
available internal and external data.

» Evaluating a selected sample of the tariffs
applied by comparing them with the data
contained in the customer contract
databases.

= Assessing whether the disclosures in the
consolidated annual accounts meet the
requirements of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

Other Information: Consolidated Directors’ Report

Other information solely comprises the 2022 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Parent's Directors and which does not form an integral part of the

consolidated annual accounts.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not encompass the consolidated
directors' report. Our responsibility regarding the information contained in the consolidated directors’
report is defined in the legislation regulating the audit of accounts, as follows:

a) Determine, solely, whether the consolidated non-financial information statement and certain
information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report and the Annual Report on
Directors’ Remuneration, as specified in the Spanish Audit Law, have been provided in the
manner stipulated in the applicable legislation, and if not, to report on this matter.
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b) Assess and report on the consistency of the rest of the information included in the consolidated
directors’ report with the consolidated annual accounts, based on knowledge of the Group
obtained during the audit of the aforementioned consolidated annual accounts. Also, assess and
report on whether the content and presentation of this part of the consolidated directors’ report
are in accordance with applicable legislation. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there are material misstatements, we are required to report them.

Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have observed that the information
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable
legislation, that the rest of the information contained in the consolidated directors’ report is
consistent with that disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts for 2022, and that the content
and presentation of the report are in accordance with applicable legislation.

Directors' and Audit Committee's Responsibility for the Consolidated Annual
Accounts

The Parent's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated annual
accounts in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity, consolidated
financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance with IFRS-EU
and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain, and for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annual
accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent's Directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Parent's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation and presentation of the
consolidated annual accounts.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts_

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts.
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As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent's Directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent's Directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual accounts or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual accounts,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee of the Parent regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Parent's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with the
applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated to the audit committee of the Parent, we determine those that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period and
which are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

European Single Electronic Format

We have examined the digital files of lberdrola, S.A. and its subsidiaries for 2022 in European Single
Electronic Format (ESEF), which comprise the XHTML file that includes the consolidated annual
accounts for the aforementioned year and the XBRL files tagged by the Parent, which will form part
of the annual financial report.

The Directors of Iberdrola, S.A. are responsible for the presentation of the 2022 annual financial
report in accordance with the format and mark-up requirements stipulated in Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 (hereinafter the “ESEF Regulation”).

Our responsibility consists of examining the digital files prepared by the Directors of the Parent, in
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. This legislation
requires that we plan and perform our audit procedures to determine whether the content of the
consolidated annual accounts included in the aforementioned digital files fully corresponds to the
consolidated annual accounts we have audited, and whether the consolidated annual accounts and
the aforementioned files have been formatted and marked up, in all material respects, in accordance
with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation.

In our opinion, the digital files examined fully correspond to the audited consolidated annual
accounts, and these are presented and marked up, in all material respects, in accordance with the
requirements of the ESEF Regulation.

Additional Report to the Audit Committee of the Parent

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Parent's audit
committee dated 24 February 2023.
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Contract Period

We were appointed as auditor by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on 17 June 2022
for a period of two years, from the year ended 31 December 2021.

Previously, we had been appointed for a period of two years, by consensus of the shareholders at
their general meeting, and have been auditing the annual accounts since the year ended 31
December 2017.

KPMG Auditores, S.L.
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC") with No. S0702

(Signed on original in Spanish)

On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC") with No. 22,690



Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries |1

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT
REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

www.iberdrola.com

@ 1BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 2

INDEX

Consolidated Financial Statements Page
Consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2022 ................... 4
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 ............. 6
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended

31 DECEMBEE 2022...........oovereeerveeeereeeeessessessessaesses s sessaessesss s sesssassssesssessensanes 7
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended

31 DECEMDET 2022........ooeoeeeeeee e sesees s e sesessesesssens 8
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022... 10
Notes

1. Group ACtIVILIES ........oiiiiiiiiiiiiiir ittt e ereae e s e reae e s e naae e eeees 1"
2. Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements ............. 1"
3. Accounting POLICIES ......ccuieniiiiii et eee et eaeaeaaas 18
4. Financina and Financial Risk POliCV ..........cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicicrceeee 44
5. Use of accounting estimates .........ccccccoeivviiiiiiiiiniiiiiiin e 49
6. Climate chanae and the Paris Adreement...............ccceeeevveeeiieenveeenneennns 52
7. Changes in the scope of consolidation and other significant

EranSaCtioONS ... ... et e e 60

8. Segment iINFOrMAatioN ............cooocuviiiiiiieieiieieeeceeee et eas 64
9. INtangible @SSetsS........ccoviieniiiiiiiiee et e 70
10. INVEStMENt ProPEItY.......ccoueiiiiiiiiieeiee ettt e eree s eeeen e 73
1. Property, plant and equipment..............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiriiiieieee e 75
12. Right-0f-USE @SSetS.......ccvvuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e eeeea e 79
13. CONCESSION AGIrEEMENES ........cccuvveieeenrreeeeeireeeeeeireeeeentreeeeensrereeessreeeeens 80
14. Impairment of non-financial assets........ccc..c.ocoeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee 82
15. Financial @SSetS.........ciiiiiiniiiiiiiiiieiiee e eereee et s ee e e 87
16. Trade and other receivables...........c.ccccoveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniie e ceeaees 92
17. Measurement and netting of financial instruments..................ccccveeeenne. 94
18. NUCIEAr fUEL.....cc.eeeiieeee et et s e e e e e e 96
19. INVENTOIIES ... .ceeiieiiiie e eeree e s e et s e erene s eereneseenenannes 97
20. Cash and cash equivalents..............ccccouiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 97
21. EQUILY ...ttt et et et et e e e e e eeenee e 98
22, Longa-term compensation PIANS .........ccceevveveeiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeiiieeeeeeee e 109
23. Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability.............. 113
24, Capital grants ..o e 115
25. Facilities transferred or financed by third parties .................cccooieiinnni. 115
26. Provision for pensions and similar obligations .............ccccc.cocvviiiiiinnnne 116
27. Other ProVISIONS ........iiiiiiiiiiiiei ettt eree s e eree s e erenaeneenes 130
28. Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities ..................... 132
www.iberdrola.com

@¥ 1BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries |3

29. Derivative financial instruments ..............c.oooooiiiiiiiiiiie e 138
30. Changes in financing activities shown on the statement of cash flows.. 141
31. =T =Y N 143
32. Other financial labilities ..........cccoovieviiiiiiiiiee e 145
33. Other Habilities.......ccuuvviiiiiiiie e erseaeeaeeraeenee 146
34. Deferred taxes and iNCOME taX .........cceuuvviiiriiiiiiiiiiiineiieeeeeeceeeeeeeeeenes 146
35. Taxes receivable ... e eae 156
36. Information on average payment period to suppliers. Third Additional

Provision — “Reporting Requirement” of Law 15/2010 of 5 July ............. 156
37. REVENUE ...ttt et e et e et e eeeeeea e et s snsenesenesenesennns 158
38. SUDDIIES ... ittt ettt re s tte e et s ear e e aae e aar s arrsaaresaarnsaaes 162
39. Personnel EXDENSES ......o.euiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiee ettt eteeteete et eteseertereessasanssasanns 162
40. Taxes other than INCOME taX .........cceuiiniiiiiiiiii e eaeees 163
41. Amortisation, depreciation and pProvisions.............cccccevviiiiiiiiiiiniinenn.. 165
42, FINANCE INCOME ......enieiiiii ettt ettt et et sae st sassnsasensanns 166
43. FINANCE @XDENSE......ceeieeii ettt et eeteeeeeeeete et e eneeenesenesenesennns 166
44. Contingent assets and liabilities..............ccoeeviiiiiiiiiiiiieee, 167
45, Guarantee commitments to third parties and other contingent liabilities 173
46. Remuneration of the Board of Directors ...........ccccevvveeiviiiiiniiiiciieeeeeennns 176
47. Information regarding compliance with Section 229 of the Spanish

(020 3] o =T 1 =T - X2 N 180
48. Remuneration of senior management..............ccccovevveviviiiiiiiiiieeneenenennn. 180
49. Related party transactions and balances.............ccccoevvviiiiiiiiciiicienennnns 182
50. Events subsedquent to 31 December 2022 .............ccooeeeveeiiniieieeeeeeeeennns 184
51. Fees for services provided by the statutory auditors .............cccocunenene. 187
52. Earnings Per SNAre .........ccovieiiiiiieie ettt e e e een s 188
53. Authorisation for issue of financial statements ...............cc..cccovverviinnnnnnn. 189
54. Explanation added for translation to English............................cool 189
APPENAIX L. .ottt e e e, 190
Y o ¢ =1 3 T 1 G | 211

Management report

Consolidated management report 2022............c..oevuveeieiiriiiriierieernerrereenernenns 231
Annual corporate governance report — 2022 .............coueieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeneeeeenenn. 311
Annual Remuneration Report 2022............c.uiuiieiiniii i ieaaenn, 422
www.iberdrola.com

@¥ 1BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 4

Translation of Annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union
(see Note 54). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31
DECEMBER 2022

Millions of euros

ASSETS Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 (%)
Intangible assets 9 20,118 19,909
Goodwill 8,189 8,312
Other intangible assets 11,929 11,597
Investment property 10 307 310
Property, plant and equipment 1" 86,326 79,981
Property, plant and equipment in use 74,813 70,919
Property, plant and equipment under construction 11,513 9,062
Right-of-use assets 12 2,370 2,260
Non-current financial investments 10,508 6,499
Equity-accounted investees 15.a 857 1,058
Non-current equity investments 32 25
Other non-current financial assets 15.b 5,958 3,995
Derivative financial instruments 29 3,661 1,421
Non-current trade and other receivables 16 4,614 3,764
Current tax assets 34 736 729
Deferred tax assets 34 6,321 5,917
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 131,300 119,369
Assets held for sale 15.a 308 124
Nuclear fuel 18 259 267
Inventories 19 2,159 2,639
Current trade and other receivables 11,220 10,956
Current tax assets 35 453 367
Other public administration receivables 35 898 2,406
Current trade and other receivables 16 9,869 8,183
Current financial assets 4,813 4,364
Other current financial investments 15.b 2,964 1,533
Derivative financial instruments 29 1,849 2,831
Cash and cash equivalents 20 4,608 4,033
CURRENT ASSETS 23,367 22,383
TOTAL ASSETS 154,667 141,752

(*) The consolidated Statement of financial position at 31 December 2021 is presented
for comparative purposes only.

Notes 1 to 54 to the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements and the Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated Statement of
financial position at 31 December 2022.

www.iberdrola.com
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Translation of Annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union
(see Note 54). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31
DECEMBER 2022

Millions of euros

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 (¥)
Parent company 41,119 40,479
Subscribed capital 4,772 4,775
Valuation adjustments (932) 547
Other reserves 36,839 35,911
Treasury shares (1,756) (1,860)
Translation differences (2,143) (2,779)
Net profit for the year 4,339 3,885
Non-controlling interests 16,995 15,647
EQUITY 21 58,114 56,126
Capital grants 24 1,247 1,261
Facilities assigned and financed by third parties 25 5,673 5,424
Non-current provisions 4,225 5,330
Provision for pensions and similar obligations 26 1,226 1,592
Other provisions 27 2,999 3,738
Non-current financial liabilities 44,216 37,175
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 28 36,129 31,179
Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability 23 576 525
Derivative financial instruments 29 3,690 1,673
Leases 31 2,287 2,253
Other non-current financial liabilities 32 1,534 1,545
Other non-current liabilities 33 309 418
Current tax liabilities 362 300
Deferred tax liabilities 34 11,682 11,364
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 67,714 61,272
Liabilities linked to assets held for sale 15.a 27 —
Current provisions 922 789
Provision for pensions and similar obligations 26 42 27
Other provisions 27 880 762
Current financial liabilities 25,079 21,297
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 28 10,458 9,984
Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability 23 87 100
Derivative financial instruments 29 3,398 2,11
Leases 31 151 158
Trade payables 5,927 5,964
Other current financial liabilities 32 5,058 2,980
Other current liabilities 2,811 2,268
Current tax liabilities 35 156 227
Other public administration payables 35 1,262 1,205
Other current liabilities 33 1,393 836
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 28,839 24,354
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 154,667 141,752

(*) The consolidated Statement of financial position at 31 December 2021 is presented for comparative purposes only.
Notes 1 to 54 to the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements and the Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated Statement of
financial position at 31 December 2022.
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Translation of Annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union
(see Note 54). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2022
Millions of euros Note 2022 2021 (*)
Revenue 37 53,949 39,114
Supplies 38 (33,750) (22,052)
GROSS INCOME 20,199 17,062
Personnel expenses 39 (3,365) (3,002)
Capitalised personnel expenses 39 847 716
External services (3,602) (2,936)
Other operating income 911 995
Net operating expenses (5,209) (4,227)
Taxes 40 (1,762) (829)
GROSS OPERATING PROFIT (EBITDA) 13,228 12,006
Impairment losses, trade and other receivables 16 (470) (369)
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions 41 (4,774) (4,294)
OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT) 7,984 7,343
Result of equity-accounted investees 15.a 146 (39)
Finance income 42 1,204 1,265
Finance expense 43 (3,042) (2,268)
Finance income (1,838) (1,003)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6,292 6,301
Income tax 34 (1,161) (1,914)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 5,131 4,387
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM DISCONTINUED ) (35)
OPERATIONS (NET OF TAXES)
Non-controlling interests 21 (721) (467)
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT 4,339 3,885
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE IN EUROS FOR CONTINUING 52 0.655 0.567
OPERATIONS
g!;;:ﬁg::NINGS PER SHARE IN EUROS FOR CONTINUING 52 0.654 0.565
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE IN EUROS FOR 52 (0.011) (0.005)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(*) The consolidated Income statement at 31 December 2021 is presented

for comparative purposes only.

Notes 1 to 54 to the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements and the Appendices are an integral part of the
consolidated Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2022 2021 (*)

Millions of euros Note Parent Non-co.ntrolling Total Parent company Non-co.ntrolling Total

company interests interests
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 4,339 721 5,060 3,885 467 4,352
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TO BE RECLASSIFIED TO THE
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS
In valuation adjustments (1,506) (36) (1,542) 799 (107) 692
Change in value of cash flow hedges 21 (1,886) (56) (1,942) 1,005 (151) 854
Changes in hedging costs (7) — (7) 4 — 4
Tax effect 34 387 20 407 (210) 44 (166)
In translation differences 636 483 1,119 2,375 380 2,755
TOTAL (870) 447 (423) 3,174 273 3,447
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME NOT TO BE RECLASSIFIED TO THE
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS
In other reserves 141 9 150 693 52 745
Actuarial gains and losses on pension schemes 26 194 12 206 915 73 988
Tax effect 34 (53) (3) (56) (222) (21) (243)
TOTAL 141 9 150 693 52 745
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FROM EQUITY-ACCOUNTED
INVESTEES (NET OF TAXES)
In valuation adjustments 27 — 27 (10) — (10)
TOTAL 15.a 27 — 27 (10) — (10)
TOTAL NET PROFIT RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY (702) 456 (246) 3,857 325 4,182
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 3,637 1,177 4,814 7,742 792 8,534

(*) The consolidated Statement of comprehensive income for financial year 2021 is presented for comparison purposes only.

Notes 1 to 54 to the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements and the Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated Statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2022.

www.iberdrola.com

@ \BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 8
Translation of Annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union (see Note 54).
In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Other reserves
. Other . . . Net .
. Subscribed Treasury Legal Share - Retained Valuation Translation . Non-controlling
Millions of euros . . restricted . . . profit/(loss) . Total
capital shares reserve premium earnings adjustments differences interests
reserves for the year
Balance at 01.01.2022 4,775 (1,860) 969 14,215 1,052 19,675 547 (2,779) 3,885 15,647 56,126
Change in accounting criteria (Note 2.a) — — — — — (75) — — — — (75)
Adjusted balance at 01.01.2022 4,775 (1,860) 969 14,215 1,052 19,600 547 (2,779) 3,885 15,647 56,051
Comprehensive income for the period — — — — — 141 (1,479) 636 4,339 1,177 4,814
Transactions with shareholders or
owners
Share capital increase (Note 21) 145 — — (145) — — — — — — —
Capital reduction (Note 21) (148) 1,985 — — 148 (1,985) — — — — —
Distribution of 2021 profit — — — — — 2,995 — — (3,885) (405) (1,295)
Transactions with non-controlling interests
— — — — — 1 — — — 558 559
(Notes 7 and 21)
;’;e;nsactlons with treasury shares (Note . (1,881) . . . 2 . . . . (1,879)
Other changes in equity
Eg)unty instruments-based payments (Note _ . _ . _ ) . . _ 5 )
Interest accrued on perpetual subordinated
— — — — — 169 — — — — 169
bonds (Note 21) (169) (169)
Other changes — — — — 290 (266) — — — 13 37
Balance at 31.12.2022 4,772 (1,756) 969 14,070 1,490 20,310 (932) (2,143) 4,339 16,995 58,114
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Translation of Annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union (see Note 54).
In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.
Other reserves
. Subscribed Treasury Legal Share C.)ther Retained Valuation Translation . Net Non-controlling
Millions of euros . . restricted . . . profit/(loss) . Total
capital shares reserve premium earnings adjustments differences interests
reserves for the year

Balance at 01.01.2021 (*) 4,762 (1,985) 969 14,361 1,052 18,038 (242) (5,154) 3,611 11,806 47,218
Change in accounting criteria (Note 2.a) (97) 4) (101)
Adjusted balance at 01.01.2021 4,762 (1,985) 969 14,361 1,052 17,941 (242) (5,154) 3,611 11,802 47,117
Comprehensive income for the period — — — — — 693 789 2,375 3,885 792 8,534
Transactions with shareholders or
owners
Share capital increase (Note 21) 146 — — (146) — — — — — — —
Capital reduction (Note 21) (133) 1,898 — — — (1,765) — — — — —
Distribution of 2020 profit — — — — — 3,041 — — (3,611) (229) (799)
Transactions with non-controlling interests

— — — — — 33 — — — 517 550
(Notes 7 and 21)
;a;nsactlons with treasury shares (Note o (1,773) . . . 7 . - . . (1,766)
Other changes in equity
Equity instruments-based payments (Note

— — — — — 7 — — — 5 12
22)
Issuance of perpetual subordinated bonds
(Note 21) — — (10) — — — 2,750 2,740
Interest accrued on perpetual subordinated
bonds (Note 21) o o o o o (155) o o o o (155)
Other changes — — — — — (117) — — — 10 (107)
Balance at 31.12.2021 (¥) 4,775 (1,860) 969 14,215 1,052 19,675 547 (2,779) 3,885 15,647 56,126

(*) The consolidated Statement of changes in equity for financial year 2021 is presented for comparison purposes only.

Notes 1 to 54 to the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements and the Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated
Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Translation of Annual accounts originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union (see Note
54). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022

Millions of euros Note 2022 2021 (*)
Profit before tax from continuing activities 6,292 6,301
Profit before tax from discontinued operations (96) (45)
Adjustments for

Amortisation, provisions, valu_atlon adjustments of financial assets and 39, 41 5491 5088

personnel expenses for pensions

Net profit/loss from investments in associates and joint ventures 15.a (146) 39

Capital grants and other deferred income 24 (304) (282)

Finance income and finance costs 42,43 1,842 975
Changes in working capital

Change in trade receivables and other (1,701) (4,707)

Change in inventories 521 52

Change in trade payables and other liabilities 44 1,927
Provisions paid (512) (459)
Income taxes paid (1,055) (832)
Dividends received 67 49
Net cash flows from operating activities 10,443 8,106
Acquisition of subsidiaries 7 — (536)
Change in cash flow due to modification of the consolidation scope 7 — 21
Acquisition of intangible assets 9 (510) (591)
Acquisition of associates 15.a (65) (203)
Acquisition of investment property 10 (1) 3)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (6,277) (6,327)
Capitalised interest paid 42 (189) (145)
Capitalised personnel expenses paid 39 (847) (716)
Capital grants and other deferred income 1 8
Proceeds/(payments) for securities portfolio (7) —
Proceeds/(payments) for other investments (1,631) (1,103)
Proceeds/(payments) for current financial assets (834) (364)
Interest received 172 33
Proceeds from disposal of non-financial assets 23 305
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets 11 133
Net cash flows used in investing activities (10,154) (9,488)
Dividends paid (890) (570)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (419) (229)
Perpetual subordinated bonds 21

Instruments issued — 2,740

Interest paid (169) (94)
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 30

Issues and disposals 14,826 9,748

Redemption (10,272) (7,641)

Interest paid excluding capitalised interest (1,495) (741)
Financial liabilities from leases 31

Payment of principal (175) (154)

Interest paid excluding capitalised interest (61) (49)
Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability 23

Instruments issued 130 272

Payments (177) (110)
Acquisition of treasury shares 21 (1,885) (1,897)
Proceeds from disposal of treasury shares 21 91 73
Payments for transactions with non-controlling interests 21 (51) (94)
Proceeds for transactions with non-controlling interests 21 698 615
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 151 1,869
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 135 119
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 575 606
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,033 3,427
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4,608 4,033

(*) The consolidated Statement of cash flows for 2021 is presented for comparison purposes only. Notes 1 to 54 to the accompanying consolidated
Financial Statements and the Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022

1. GROUP ACTIVITIES

Iberdrola, S.A. (hereinafter, IBERDROLA), a company incorporated in Spain and with
registered address at Plaza Euskadi 5, in Bilbao, is the parent of a group of companies
whose main activities are:

Production of electricity from renewable and conventional sources.

Sale and purchase of electricity and gas in wholesale markets.

Transmission and distribution of electricity.

Retail supply of electricity, gas and energy-related services.

Other activities, mainly linked to the energy sector.

The aforementioned activities are performed in Spain and abroad, and totally or partially
either directly by IBERDROLA or through the ownership of shares or other equity
investments in other companies, subject in all cases to the legislation applicable at any
given time and, in particular, to the prevailing laws in the electricity industry. The
IBERDROLA Group carries out its activities mainly in five countries in the Atlantic region:
Spain, the United Kingdom (UK), the United States of America (USA), Mexico and Brazil.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.a) Accounting legislation applied

The IBERDROLA Group’s 2022 consolidated Financial Statements were authorised for
issue by the directors on 21 February 2023, in accordance with International financial
reporting standards (hereinafter, IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, pursuant to
Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council, and the
electronic reporting format requirements set out in Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
2018/815. The directors of IBERDROLA expect these consolidated Financial Statements to
be approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting without modification.

The IBERDROLA Group’s 2021 consolidated Financial Statements were approved by the
shareholders at the General Meeting held on 17 June 2022.
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At 31 December 2022, the consolidated Financial Statements presented negative working
capital of EUR 5,472 million. The directors declare the deficit will be offset by the generation
of funds from the IBERDROLA Group’s businesses. As indicated in Note 4, the IBERDROLA
Group has undrawn borrowings amounting to EUR 17,754 million.

These consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for equity instruments and derivative financial instruments, which have been
measured at fair value. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are hedged at fair
value are adjusted to reflect variations in their fair value arising from the hedged risk.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated Financial Statements
are the same as those used for the year ended 31 December 2021, except for the
application on 1 January 2022 of the following amendments adopted by the European Union
to be applied in Europe:

— Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments to IAS 37 specify the costs to be considered when determining the
costs of fulfilling a contract in order to assess whether or not the contract is onerous. In
particular, fulfilment costs include both incremental costs and other costs directly related
to the contract.

Until 1 January 2022, the IBERDROLA Group only considered incremental costs as the
contract fulfilment costs. As a result of the amendments, the IBERDROLA Group has
revised its provisions for onerous contracts, mainly in relation to agreements for the sale
of electricity and gas.

These amendments apply to contracts under which not all of the performance
obligations have been fulfilled as at 1 January 2022 (date of initial application). The
effect of applying the amendments on 1 January 2022 has resulted in a net tax effect of
EUR 75 million under “Other reserves” in the consolidated Statement of financial
position (Notes 27 and 34).

— Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

Under the amendments, proceeds earned before an asset of property, plant and
equipment is available for its intended use must be recognised in profit or loss, and it is
prohibited to deduct such revenue from the cost of the asset. The amendments apply
with retroactive effect to facilities that were commissioned from 1 January 2021
onwards, without having had a significant impact on the date of first application.

Furthermore, the entry into force on 1 January 2022 of the Annual Improvements — 2018-
2020 Cycle and the Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework has
had no effect on these consolidated Financial Statements.
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Change of accounting criteria

In 2021, the IBERDROLA Group changed its accounting criteria in relation to the accounting
recognition of deviations in market price, as per the methodology set out in Royal Decree
413/2014 of 6 June, regulating the activity of electricity production from renewable energy
sources, cogeneration and waste, when the actual market prices corresponding to the
different half-periods of the regulatory useful life of the asset are lower (positive
adjustments) or higher (negative adjustments) than the prices estimated by the regulator at
the beginning of the regulatory half-period that were used to determine the incentives to be
received for the investments under the scope of the aforementioned regulations (Note 33).

The change responds to the publication by the National Securities Market Commission
(CNMV), on 22 October 2021, of the “Criteria for accounting for the ‘value of adjustments
due to deviations in market price’, in accordance with Section 22 of Royal Decree
413/2014”.

The IBERDROLA Group adopted the criteria published by the CNMV with retroactive effect
back to 1 January 2021.

Standards issued pending application

At the date of these consolidated Financial Statements, the following standards,
amendments and interpretations had been issued, effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023:

Mandatory application

Standard IASB Euro_pean
Union
IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 01/01/2023 01/01/2023
Amendments to IAS 1 |‘3re.s.e.ntat|on of Financial Statements: Classification of 01/01/2023 *)
liabilities as current or non-current
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 01/01/2023 01/01/2023
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 01/01/2023 01/01/2023

Deferred Tax relat.ed to Assets and Liabilities arising from 01/01/2023 01/01/2023
a Single Transaction

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 01/01/2024 )
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 01/01/2024 *)

Amendments to IAS 12

(*) Yet to be approved by the European Union.

In relation to the amendments to IAS 12, these narrow the scope of the exemption to initial
recognition, which is contained in paragraphs 15 and 24 of IAS 12. They do not, therefore,
apply to transactions in which equal amounts of deductible and taxable temporary
differences arise. As a result of the amendments, a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability should be recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition
of the lease contract and of the decommissioning provisions. The IBERDROLA Group
believes that the amendments will not have a significant impact on equity on the date of first
application.
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The IBERDROLA Group believes that the application of the other amendments would not
have resulted in significant changes to these consolidated Financial Statements.

The IBERDROLA Group has not applied in advance of the authorisation for issue of these
consolidated Financial Statements any published standard, interpretation or amendment
that has not yet come into force.

2.b) Consolidation principles

Appendix | to these consolidated Financial Statements lists all IBERDROLA subsidiaries,
jointly controlled entities and associates, together with the consolidation or measurement
basis used and other related disclosures.

Subsidiaries

The subsidiaries over which the IBERDROLA Group exercises control are fully consolidated
from the point at which such control is obtained.

The IBERDROLA Group considers that it controls a company when it is exposed, or has a
right, to variable returns from its involvement in the company and has the capacity to
influence such yields through that control.

Results of subsidiaries acquired or sold in the year are included in the consolidated Income
statement as from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of sale. All
accounts and transactions between fully consolidated companies have been eliminated in
consolidation.

On the acquisition date, assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are
recognised at fair value. Any excess of the subsidiary’s acquisition cost over the market
value of its assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill, as it corresponds to assets that
cannot be identified and measured separately. If the difference is negative, it is recognised
as a credit in the consolidated Income statement.

In each business combination, non-controlling interests are initially recognised at fair value,
or at an amount equivalent to their proportionate interest in the net identifiable assets of the
acquired company on the takeover date. The value of non-controlling interests in equity and
in the results of fully consolidated subsidiaries is presented under “Equity — Non-controlling
interests” on the liabilities side of the consolidated Statement of financial position and under
“Non-controlling interests” in the consolidated Income statement, respectively.

When there is a loss of control of a group company, its assets, liabilities and any non-
controlling interests are derecognised. The resulting gains or losses are recognised in the
Income statement. Holdings maintained in the subsidiaries whose control has been lost will
be measured by their fair value on the date when this loss of control occurred.

The income obtained in stock purchase transactions with minority shareholders in controlled
companies and the sale of stock without loss of control will be recognised as charged or
credited to reserves.
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Investments accounted for using the equity method

Investments accounted for using the equity method include both investments in associates
and joint businesses. Associates are companies in which the IBERDROLA Group has
significant influence, i.e., the power to intervene in decisions regarding financial and
operating policies yet without having control or joint control. A joint business is a joint
agreement in which the Group has the right to net assets of the agreement.

The result of measuring investments in associates using the equity method is recognised
under the “Other reserves” and “Result of equity-accounted investees - net of taxes”
headings of the consolidated Statement of financial position and Income statement,
respectively.

Homogenisation

The closing date of the Financial Statements of the subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities
and associates is 31 December.

The accounting policies applied by these companies are the same or have been
harmonised with the ones used by the IBERDROLA Group.

Translation of the financial statements of foreign companies

The financial statements of each foreign company were drawn up in their respective
functional currencies, defined as the currency of the economy in which each company
operates and in which it generates and uses cash.

The financial statements of foreign companies have been translated applying the year-end
exchange rate method. This method consists of translating to euros all the assets, rights
and obligations at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the consolidated Financial
Statements and the average exchange rate for the year (provided that there are non-
material transactions for which it is not deemed appropriate to use the average exchange
rate) for the consolidated Income statement items, keeping equity at the historical exchange
rate at the time of the acquisition (or at the average exchange rate of the year in which they
were generated in the case of accumulated results). The resulting translation differences
are taken directly to reserves.

2.c) Amendment to comparative information

Changes in segmentation (Note 8)

In such a fast-changing and competitive environment, organisations must continuously
adapt and focus on value creation, requiring them to structure their operations, both from a
shared vision of their activities in the different countries in which they operate, and from the
perspective of building synergies across their businesses.
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Over the course of 2022, and with a view to adapting to changes in its activities, the
IBERDROLA Group streamlined its organisation, based on a two-pronged approach,
namely the corporate and governance structure (or geographic area vision) and the
business model (or business vision), which allows it, among other things, to successfully
tackle the energy transition challenge.

As noted below, while the corporate and governance structure envisages decentralised
decision-making by the company responsible in each case, the business model facilitates
appropriate integration and coordination of the businesses and corporate areas in global
terms so as to achieve the objectives established by the IBERDROLA Group as a whole.
This organisational model therefore makes it possible to coordinate and combine the day-
to-day management of the businesses in each country or territory while exchanging
information and best practices among the companies belonging to the IBERDROLA Group,
thus maximising the overall value of the businesses.

m Corporate and governance structure

The corporate and governance structure of the IBERDROLA Group is guided by the
principle of subsidiarity (pursuing a balance between the decentralised management of the
Group’s companies, and leveraging the synergies derived from belonging to the Group),
whilst respecting the self-governance of the companies within it.

The corporate and governance structure of the IBERDROLA Group comprises:

a. The holding company, Iberdrola, S.A., a listed entity whose main function is to act as
the holder of the equity interests of the country subholding companies. Its powers relate
to defining strategies and the governance model, as well as strategic oversight,
organisation and co-ordination. In particular: (i) it approves the strategic targets and
basic management guidelines and decides on strategically relevant matters with
Group-wide projection; (ii) it defines the organisational model and supervises the
implementation and development thereof; (iii) it establishes the necessary information-
sharing mechanisms within the framework of strategic coordination; and (iv) it approves
the budget and results of Iberdrola, S.A. and the consolidated results at Group level.

b. The country subholding companies, that group together the interests in the head of
business companies:

— perform the aforementioned function of strategic oversight, organisation and
coordination in their respective territories, countries or businesses for which
they are responsible. As such, they disseminate, implement and ensure the
monitoring of the policies, strategies and general guidelines defined at
IBERDROLA Group level, with due attention to their individual nature and
singularities and specifying the application thereof, approving, as the case
may be, their own rules, to be applied, as appropriate, to their head of
business companies;

— centralise the provision of services common to those head of business
companies, in accordance with applicable law and, in particular, the legal
provisions on the separation of regulated activities;
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— agree, based on proposals from their respective chief executive officers, on
the short- and long-term strategic objectives for the territories, countries or
businesses for which they are responsible; and

— approve the budget and results of their company and the consolidated
budget and results of their company and its subsidiaries and, within their
remit, monitor and supervise their implementation in the respective
territories, countries or businesses for which they are responsible.

The listed country subholding companies have a special framework of enhanced
autonomy that ensures that the interests of the shareholders of such companies other
than those of Iberdrola, S.A. enjoy sufficient protection and harmoniously co-exist with
the wider interests of the Group companies and with those of the shareholders of
Iberdrola, S.A.

c. The head of business companies undertake the day-to-day management and effective
management of the business, as well as the day-to-day monitoring thereof. In
particular:

— they effectively direct, control and manage the business conducted by their
company, with responsibility for their day-to-day supervision;

— inthe context of the strategy established by the country subholding company
or its respective territory or country, they approve, at the proposal of their
chief executive officer, the business's short- and long-term strategic
objectives, as well as the budgets and the update programmes for their
development and delivery; and

— approve the company’s results.

In short, the IBERDROLA Group's corporate and governance structure is based on a clear
separation of, on the one hand, the strategic definition and supervision functions and, on
the other hand, those of day-to-day governance and effective management.

m Business model

The purpose of the Business Model is to define a Group organisation to coordinate the day-
to-day management of the businesses in each country or territory, while exchanging
information and best practices among the Group companies, thus maximising the overall
value of the businesses thereof.

In this respect, the Business Model seeks to balance the Group's activities, both by
geographic area and by business.

The structuring of activities by geographical areas allows for decentralised decision-making
wherever these decisions are to take effect. The main geographic areas are: Spain, United
Kingdom, United States, Brazil, Mexico and Iberdrola Energia Internacional (encompassing
all other countries, including Germany, France and Australia). Structuring the activity by
business (Renewables and Sustainable Generation Business, Networks Business and
Customer Business) streamlines the overall integration and coordination of the businesses
and corporate areas with a view to achieving the objectives established at Group level.
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The corporate areas serve as a support function that provides services to the Group's
companies and businesses, both globally and locally. Thus, in addition to their structuring
by geographic area, they are also coordinated by businesses. They help to implement the
policies and overall strategy established at Group level (including procurement, risk, legal,
financial, information systems, cybersecurity, among others), and ensure the correct
consolidation of all financial and non-financial information at Group level.

The Group's Business Model is therefore geared towards maximising the operating
efficiency of the various business units/geographies and ensuring the dissemination,
implementation, and monitoring of the general strategy and basic management guidelines
established for each of the businesses and geographies. This is achieved primarily through
sharing information and best practices across the various Group companies, but without
detriment to each company's decision-making autonomy and to the requirements imposed
on their directors by law and by the Governance and Sustainability System.

As part of the Business Model, Iberdrola, S.A. fosters the creation and functioning of global
business and corporate area committees, empowered to approve global guidelines and
recommendations, propose improvement initiatives, promote the exchange of best
practices, and support both the chief executive officer and the heads of the businesses in
the performance of their duties, all without detriment to the corporate autonomy of the
Group's companies.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents future economic benefits arising from other financial assets acquired
in a business combination and which are not individually identified and separately
recognised.

Goodwill arising from acquisitions of companies with a functional currency other than the
euro is translated to euros at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date of the
consolidated Statement of financial position.

Goodwill acquired on or after 1 January 2004 is measured at acquisition cost and that
acquired earlier is measured at the carrying amount at 31 December 2003 in accordance
with Spanish accounting standards in effect on that date, as provided in IFRS 1 — “First-
time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”.

Goodwill is not amortised. However, at the end of each reporting period it is reviewed for its
recoverability and any impairment is written down (Note 3.i).
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3.b) Other intangible assets

Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and others

The amounts recognised as concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and others relate
to the cost incurred in their acquisition net of accumulated amortisation and valuation
changes due to impairment, if applicable.

The electricity distribution and transmission concessions held in UK by SCOTTISH POWER
and those linked to the activities of AVANGRID, are not subject to any legal or other nature
limits. Accordingly, as they are intangible assets with an indefinite useful life they are not
amortised by the IBERDROLA Group, although they are assessed for indications of
impairment each year, as described in Note 3.i.

Intangible assets under IFRIC 12

IFRIC 12 — “Service concession arrangements” affects public-private service concession
arrangements that meet two conditions:

— the grantor controls or regulates which services the operator must provide with the
infrastructure, to whom it must provide them and at what price; and

— the grantor controls any significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end
of the term of the arrangement.

Iltems of infrastructure within the scope of a service concession arrangement are not
recognised as property, plant and equipment of the operator, because the operator does
not have the right to control the use of the infrastructure.

If the operator performs more than one service (i.e. operation services and construction or
upgrade services), the consideration received under the agreement for provision of services
is recognised separately in the consolidated Income statement, in accordance with IFRS
15 “Revenues from Contracts with Customers”.

In the case of the IBERDROLA Group, IFRIC 12 affects only the electricity distribution
activities carried out by the IBERDROLA Group in Brazil (Note 13). Remuneration for
network construction and upgrade work carried out by the IBERDROLA Group in this
country consisted, on the one hand, of an unconditional right to receive cash and, on the
other hand, of the right to charge certain amounts to consumers. As a result, by applying
IFRIC 12, two different assets were recognised for the two types of consideration received:

— Afinancial asset, which is recognised under “Other non-current financial assets” in
the consolidated Statement of financial position (Note 15.b).

— Anintangible asset, amortisable in the concession period, which is recognised under
“Other intangible assets” in the consolidated Statement of financial position (Note
9).
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Computer software

The acquisition and development costs incurred in relation to computer software are
recorded with a charge to the “Other intangible assets” heading of the consolidated
Statement of financial position. Maintenance costs of computer software are recorded with
a charge to the consolidated Income statement for the year in which they are incurred.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of between three and
five years from the entry into service of each software asset.

Customer acquisition costs

The IBERDROLA Group recognises incremental costs from customer contracts related
mainly to commissions for the implementation of purchase agreements as intangible assets
which are amortised on a systematic basis according to the average expected life of
contracts with customers that are associated with such costs.

Research and development expenditure

The IBERDROLA Group’s policy is to record research expenses in the consolidated Income
statement for the period when they are incurred.

Development costs are recognised as an intangible asset in the consolidated Statement of
financial position if the Group can identify them separately and show the technical viability
of the asset, its intention and capacity to use or sell it, and how it will generate probable
future economic benefits.

3.c) Investment property

Investment property is recognised at acquisition cost net of accumulated depreciation. It is
depreciated on a straight-line basis, minus material residual value, over each asset’s
estimated useful life, which ranges between 37.5 and 75 years based on the features of
each asset concerned

3.d) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition or production cost less
accumulated depreciation and value adjustments.

Acquisition cost includes, where applicable, the following:

1. Prior to the transition to IFRS (1 January 2004), the IBERDROLA Group updated
certain Spanish assets under the “Property, plant and equipment” heading of the
consolidated Statement of financial position as permitted by prevailing legislation,
including Royal Decree-Law 7/1996, and considered the amount of these revaluations
as part of the cost of the assets, in accordance with IFRS 1.
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2. Finance expense related to external funding accrued exclusively during the
construction period (Note 42) is calculated as follows:

— The interests accrued by specific-purpose sources of financing used to build
certain assets are fully capitalised.

— The interests accrued by general-purpose borrowings are capitalised by
applying the average effective interest rate on this financing to the average
cumulative investment qualifying for capitalisation, after deducting the
investment financed with specific-purpose borrowings, provided that it does
not exceed the total finance expenses incurred in the year.

3. Personnel expenses related directly or indirectly to construction in progress (Note 39).

4. Ifthe IBERDROLA Group is required to decommission its facilities or renovate the place
where they are located, the current value of said costs is included in the carrying
amount of assets for their present value, with a credit to the sub-heading “Provisions
— Other provisions” of the consolidated Statement of financial position (Note 3.r).

The IBERDROLA Group periodically checks its estimation of said current value,
increasing or decreasing the asset value depending on the results of said estimation.

The IBERDROLA Group transfers property, plant and equipment in progress to property,
plant and equipment in use at the end of the related trial period.

The costs of expansion or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or to a
lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised. Replacements or renewals of
complete items are recorded as additions to property, plant and equipment, and the items
replaced are derecognised.

Income from the sale and the costs of items that arise during the period in which property,
plant and equipment are brought into use are recognised in the consolidated Income
statement (Note 2.a).

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of items of property, plant and equipment are

calculated as the difference between the amount received on the sale and the carrying
amount of the asset disposed of.

3.e) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment in use

Every year, the IBERDROLA Group reviews the useful life of its assets based on internal
and external information sources.

www.iberdrola.com = =
@& |BERDROLA

| 21


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries

The cost of property, plant and equipment in use is depreciated on a straight-line basis, less
any material residual value, at annual rates based on the years of estimated useful life,
which for most assets are as follows:

Average years of estimated useful life

Combined cycle power plants 40
Nuclear power plants 44-47
Onshore wind farms
Less than 1 MW 30
More than 1 MW:
Structural components 40
Non-structural components 25
Offshore wind farms 25
Photovoltaic power plants 30
Gas storage facilities 25-40
Transmission facilities 40-56
Distribution facilities 30-54
Conventional meters and measuring devices 10-40
Electronic or smart meters 15
Buildings 50-75
Dispatching centres and other facilities 4-50

As hydroelectric plants are operated under concessions (Note 13), civil engineering assets
are depreciated over the life of the concession, while their electromechanical equipment is
depreciated over either the concession period or 50 years, whichever is lower.

The important components of property, plant and equipment that maintain different useful
lives are considered separately.

3.f) Lease contracts

The IBERDROLA Group has classified the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities under
the headings “Right-of-use assets”, “Non-current financial liabilites — Leases”, and
“Current financial liabilities — Leases” respectively, in the consolidated Statement of
financial position.

Right-of-use assets are initially recorded by cost, which includes:

— The initial valuation amount of the lease liability;

— Any lease payment made on or before the asset start date, minus incentives received,
— The initial direct costs incurred as a result of the lease; and

— An estimation of the costs that will be incurred by the lessee for the dismantling and
restoration of assets.
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After the initial recognition, right-of-use assets are recorded at cost minus accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The depreciation of right-of-use assets is recorded
under the “Amortisation, depreciation and provisions” heading of the consolidated Income
statement for the useful life of the underlying asset or the lease term, whichever is shorter
(Note 41). If the property is transferred to the lessee or it is practically certain that the lessee
will exercise the purchase option, it will be depreciated over the useful life of the asset.
Furthermore, for calculation loss due to right of use asset impairment, the Group applies
impairment criteria on the value of non-current assets described in Note 3.i.

The right of-use asset is later adjusted due to the impact of certain reassessments which
affect lease liabilities.

The initial value of lease liabilities is calculated as the present value of future lease
payments deducted at the implicit interest rate that may reliably be determined or,
otherwise, at the incremental interest rate.

Lease payments include:

— Fixed or substantially fixed lease fees specified in the contract, minus any incentive to
be received by the lessee;

— Variable fees dependent on an index or rate initially valued by applying the indices or
rates existing at the beginning of the lease;

— The amounts that the lessee expects to pay for guarantees on the residual value of the
underlying asset;

— The exercise price of the purchase option, if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will
exercise said option; and

— The payments corresponding to extension options whose exercise is considered to be
fairly certain or early lease cancellation fines if the lease period includes the early
cancellation.

Contingent rents subject to the occurrence of a specific event and the variable fees
dependent on revenues or the use of the underlying asset are recorded at the time when
they are incurred under the “External services” heading of the consolidated Income
statement, rather than forming part of the lease liability.

Subsequently, the lease liability is increased to show financial expenses and is reduced by
the amounts paid. The discounting to present value is recorded under the “Financial
expenses” heading of the consolidated Income statement (Note 43).

The lease liability is revalued when there is a change in indices or rates, in the estimated
amounts to be paid for guarantees on the residual value, in those cases where options to
extend are reasonably certain or in those cases where, with a reasonable degree of
certainty, it is not considered that the cancellation options will be exercised.
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The IBERDROLA Group has opted not to apply the exemption when recognising current
leases (those with lease terms of 12 months or less). Contracts may include lease elements
as well as non-lease elements. The IBERDROLA Group chooses not to separate such
elements for accounting purposes and to recognise them as a single lease element.

3.g9) Nuclear fuel

The IBERDROLA Group measures its nuclear fuel stocks on the basis of the costs actually
incurred in acquiring and subsequently processing the fuel.

Nuclear fuel costs include the financial expenses accrued during construction, calculated
as indicated in Note 3.d (Note 42).

The nuclear fuel consumed is recognised under the “Supplies” heading of the consolidated
Income statement from when the fuel loaded into the reactor starts to be used, based on
the cost of the fuel and the degree of burning in each reporting period.

3.h) Inventories

Energy resources

Energy resources are measured at acquisition cost, calculated using the average weighted
price method, or net realisable value, if the latter is lower. No adjustments to the value of
energy sources that are part of the production process are made if it is expected that the
finished products into which they will be incorporated will be sold at above cost.

Real estate inventories

Real estate inventories are measured at cost of acquisition or production, which includes
both the acquisition cost of the land and plot and the costs of urban planning and
construction of the real estate developments incurred until the year end. These costs include
project-related expenses, licenses, permits and certificates evidencing construction work
filed at the pertinent registries.

The acquisition cost also includes finance expenses to the extent that such expenses relate
to the period of town planning permits, urbanisation or construction up until the time at which
the land or plot is ready for operation, calculated using the method set out in Note 3.d (Note
42).

Trade expenses are charged to the consolidated Income statement for the year in which
they are incurred, except for those incremental costs required to obtain customer contracts.
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The IBERDROLA Group periodically compares the cost of acquisition of real estate
inventories with their net realisable value, recognising the necessary impairment losses with
a charge to the consolidated Income statement when the latter is lower. If the circumstance
leading to the impairment loss no longer exists, it is reversed, and the corresponding income
is recognised, with the limit being the lower of cost and the new net realisable value of the
inventories. This comparison is based on the value estimates made by external experts
qualified for this purpose (mainly Knight Frank Espafa, S.A.) in accordance with the
Valuation Standards published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) of
Great Britain, in their January 2014 edition and confirmed in the 2020 edition.

For land, construction in progress and unsold units, net realisable value is the estimated
selling price of an asset in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs to finish
the production and the necessary costs to carry on with the sale of the element.

For other land and plots, value is determined using the residual method, where the costs of
the proposed development are deducted from the gross value of the development, adding
the profit margin which the developer would need taking into account the risk of the
development. The key variables of the residual method are:

— Expected income: consists of the estimated price at which each of the development
units may be sold, in accordance with a sales rate in accordance with estimates from
independent experts.

— The cost of the development, including all disbursements to be made by the
developer of the work depending on the type (e.g. government-sponsored or private
single-family dwellings) and quality of the construction. In addition to the cost of the
works, it includes the cost of projects and licenses (10%-12% of the physical
construction project), legal fees (1%-1.5% of the material implementation project),
marketing and promotional expenses (2%-4% of income) and unforeseen
contingencies (3%).

— Development time: time required for the different planning, management and urban
discipline stages, as well as expected construction and promotional periods.

— The developer profit considered for each asset, depending on the zoning status of
the land, size and complexity of the development, ranging from 10% to 45% of total
costs.

For land with licences, construction in progress and unsold units, the main difference with
regard to unlicensed land is the developer's profit, which in this case is lower given the stage
of completion of the work and the decrease in risk as the completion of construction nears.

Emission allowances and renewable certificates

Inventories of emission allowances and renewable energy certificates are measured at
acquisition cost, calculated using the average weighted price method, or net realisable
value, if the latter is lower. In the case of emission allowances and renewable energy
certificates that are incorporated into the production process, no valuation adjustments are
made if it is expected that the finished products into which they will be incorporated will be
sold at above cost.
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Emission allowances and energy renewable certificates acquired for the purpose of
benefiting through fluctuations in their market price are measured at fair value with a credit
or debit to the consolidated Income statements.

Emission allowances and renewable energy certificates are derecognised from the
consolidated Statement of financial position when they are sold to third parties, have been
delivered or expire. When the allowances are delivered, they are derecognised with a
charge to the provision made when the CO2 emissions were produced.

3.i) Impairment of non-financial assets

At least at the close of each financial year, the IBERDROLA Group reviews the value of its
non-current assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if it is necessary.
In the case of assets that do not generate cash inflows and which are largely independent
from those generated by other assets, the IBERDROLA Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong.

In the case of goodwill and other intangible assets which have not come into use or which
have an indefinite useful life, the IBERDROLA Group performs the recoverability analysis
systematically every year, except when there are indications of impairment at another time,
in which case the recoverability analysis is performed at the same time.

For the purposes of this recoverability analysis, goodwill is allocated to the cash generating
units or groups that benefit from the synergies arising from the business combination (Note
9).

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, which
is the present value of estimated future cash flows. Assumptions used in the value in use
calculation include discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in selling prices and
direct costs. Discount rates reflect the value of money over time and the risks associated
with each cash-generating unit. Growth rates and variations in prices and direct costs are
based on contractual commitments already in place, publicly available information, as well
as industry forecasts and the IBERDROLA Group's experience (Note 14).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the difference is
registered as a charge to the “Amortisation, depreciation and provisions“ heading of the
consolidated Income statement.

The IBERDROLA Group distinguishes between impairment allowances and write-offs
depending on whether the impairment is reversible or not reversible. A write-off involves a
decrease in the carrying amount of assets, either because the impairments are considered
definitive and non-reversible, or because it is stipulated that this is the case under the
accounting standards, such as the case of goodwill, or when considering that the value of
the asset is not going to be recovered for its use or disposal.
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Impairment losses are due to the fact that future expected earnings to be obtained are less
than the carrying amount. Impairment losses recognised for an asset are reversed with a
credit under the “Amortisation, depreciation and provisions” heading of the consolidated
Income statement when there is a change in the estimates concerning the recoverable
amount of the asset, increasing the carrying amount of the asset, but so the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if
no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.j) Associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Under this method, investments are measured initially at acquisition cost, subsequently
adjusted for changes to each company’s equity, taking into consideration the percentage of
ownership and, if applicable, any valuation adjustments.

Some investments in associates and joint ventures which in the context of these
consolidated Financial Statements are immaterial are recorded at acquisition cost within the
"Non-current financial assets — Non-current equity investments" heading of the
consolidated Statement of financial position.

The IBERDROLA Group regularly observes for signs of impairment at its associates and
joint ventures by comparing the total carrying amount of the associate or joint venture,
(including goodwill), to its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount, the IBERDROLA Group recognises the related impairment with a debit
to the consolidated Income statement within the “Results of equity-accounted investees —
net of taxes” heading.

3.k) Joint arrangements

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. These consolidated Financial Statements include the proportional part of the
assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint arrangements in which the IBERDROLA
Group takes part.

3.1) Financial instruments

Classification and measurement of financial assets

The IBERDROLA Group measures its current and non-current financial assets in
accordance with the criteria described below:

1. Assets at amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are included in this category:
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— The assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the assets
to obtain the contractual cash flows, and

— The contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transactions costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Interest accrued is recognised in the
consolidated Income statement using the effective interest rate method. However,
financial assets maturing in less than a year that do not have a contractual interest rate
are measured both initially and subsequently at their nominal amount when the impact
of not discounting cash flows is immaterial.

2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The IBERDROLA Group includes in this category derivative financial instruments that
do not satisfy the conditions necessary for hedge accounting based on the
requirements established for this purpose in IAS 9: “Financial Instruments” (Note 29).

Assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. The
transaction costs directly attributable to purchase or issuing are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated Income statement insofar as they are incurred. The
changes that occur in their fair value are allocated to the consolidated Income
statement for the period in the “Finance expense” and “Finance income” of the
consolidated Income statement, as may be applicable.

The IBERDROLA Group determines the most appropriate classification for each asset on
acquisition and reviews the classification at each year end date.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost and contract assets

The IBERDROLA Group recognises valuation changes resulting from credit losses
expected from financial assets and contract assets at amortised cost.

The IBERDROLA Group will apply the general model for calculation of expected loss on
financial assets other contract assets and trade receivables without a significant financial
component, for which the simplified model will be applied.

Under the general model, credit losses expected in the next 12 months are considered
unless the credit risk of financial instruments has significantly increased from the initial
recording. In that case, the expected credit losses over the life of the asset will be
considered. The IBERDROLA Group recognises that the credit risk of a financial instrument
has not significantly increased since its initial recognition if it is determined that at the
reporting date it has a low credit risk.

Under the simplified approach, they qualify as expected credit losses over the life of the
asset. The IBERDROLA Group has adopted the practical expedient whereby it calculates
the expected credit loss on trade receivables by using a matrix of provisions based on its
experience of historical credit losses adjusted for available forward-looking information.
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Allocations and reversals of valuation adjustments due to the impairment of trade
receivables and contract assets are recognised under the “Impairment losses, trade and
contract assets” heading of the consolidated Income statement. Valuation changes and
reversals of financial assets due to impairment of the other financial assets at amortised
cost are recognised under the “Finance expense” heading of the consolidated Income
statement (Note 43).

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows in relation thereto
have extinguished or have been transferred or when the risks and profits are considered to
have been substantially assigned arising from their ownership.

The derecognition of a financial asset implies the recognising in the consolidated Income
statement the difference between its carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received less directly attributable transaction costs, including assets obtained or assets
assumed and any deferred loss or gain in other comprehensive income.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The IBERDROLA Group classifies all financial liabilities measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, except for derivative financial instruments, which are
recognised at fair value.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, i.e., when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Moreover, when a debt instrument
between IBERDROLA and the counterparty is replaced by another, on substantial different
terms, the original financial liability is derecognised and the new financial liability is
recognised.

The IBERDROLA Group considers that the conditions are substantially different if the
current value of the discounted cash flows under the new conditions, including any fee paid
net of any fee received from the lender, and using the original effective interest rate for the
discount, differs at least 10 per cent from the current discounted value of the cash flows that
still remain from the original financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or of the part of it that
has been deregistered and the paid consideration, including the attributable transaction
costs, and in which any transferred asset different from the assumed cash or liability is also
included, is recognised in the consolidated Income statement of the year in which it takes
place.

When there is an exchange of debt instruments that do not have substantially different
conditions, changed flows are deducted at the original interest rate, and every difference
with the previous carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated Income statement. In
addition, costs or commissions adjust the carrying amount of financial liabilities and are
amortised using the amortised cost method during the rest of the life of the changed liability.
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Interests and dividends

Interest income is accrued on a time proportional basis, by reference to the outstanding
principal and the applicable effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the asset to that asset’s carrying
amount.

Dividend income is recognised when the IBERDROLA Group companies are entitled to
receive them.

Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items

The IBERDROLA Group performs a detailed analysis of all its contracts to buy or sell non-
financial items to ensure they are classified correctly for accounting purposes.

As a general rule, those contracts that are settled for the net amount in cash or in another
financial asset are classified as derivative financial instruments and are recognised and
measured as described in this note, except for contracts entered into and held for the
purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the IBERDROLA
Group’s purchase, sale, or usage requirements.

Contracts for the sale and purchase of non-financial items to which IFRS 9: “Financial
instruments” does not apply qualify as own-use contracts and are recognised as the
IBERDROLA Group receives or delivers the rights or obligations originating thereunder.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Financial derivatives are initially recognised at acquisition cost in the consolidated
Statement of financial position and the required value adjustments are subsequently made
to reflect their fair value at all times. Gains and losses arising from these changes are
recognised in the consolidated Income statement, unless the derivative has been
designated as a cash flow hedge or a hedge of a net investment in foreign countries.

At the start of the hedge, the hedging relationships are designed and formally documented,
together with the risk management objective and strategy. It is also assessed at the
beginning of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis, whether the relationship
meets the effectiveness requirements prospectively.

The accounting treatment for hedging transactions is as follows:

1. Fair value hedges:

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedges
and changes in the fair value of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk are
recognised with a charge or credit to the same heading in the consolidated Income
statement.
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2. Cash flow hedges:

The IBERDROLA Group recognises, under “Valuation adjustments”, gains or losses
arising from the fair value measurement of the hedging instrument corresponding to
the portion identified as an effective hedge. The hedging portion considered
ineffective is recognised under the “Finance income” and “Finance expense”
headings of the consolidated Income statement.

Accumulated losses or gains in “Valuation adjustments” are taken to the heading of
the consolidated Income statement affected by the hedged item to the extent that it
has an impact on the consolidated Income statement. If a hedge of a future
transaction results in a non-financial asset or liability, this balance is taken into
account when determining the initial value of the asset or liability generating the
hedging transaction.

3. Hedge of net investment in foreign operations:

The IBERDROLA Group recognises the profit or loss proceeding from the
measurement at fair value of the hedge instrument that corresponds to the part
identified as effective hedge in “Translation differences”. The hedging portion
considered ineffective is recognised under the “Finance income” and “Finance
expense” headings of the consolidated Income statement.

Specific accounting policies for hedging relationships directly affected by the IBOR reform
applicable as of 1 January 2021 (Note 4):

In order to assess whether there is an economic relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item at 31 December 2022, the IBERDROLA Group assumes
that the reference variable interest rate has not been altered as a result of the IBOR reform.

The IBERDROLA Group will cease to apply the temporary exceptions mentioned above in
the assessment of the economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item when there is no longer any uncertainty arising from the IBOR reform with
respect to the term or amount of its interest settlements, or when the hedging relationship
is discontinued.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The IBERDROLA Group prospectively discontinues the fair value hedge accounting in the
cases in which the hedging instrument matures, is sold, let go of or exercised, the goal of
the risk management has changed, there is no financial relation between the hedge element
and the hedged item, the credit risk effect prevails over value changes, the hedge
instrument matures or is liquidated or the underlying hedge ceases to exist.

When hedge accounting is discontinued, the cumulative amount at that date is recognised
under the “Valuation adjustments” and “Translation differences” headings in cash flow
hedges and net investment hedges, respectively, is retained under those headings until the
hedged transaction occurs, at which time the gain or loss on the transaction will be adjusted.
If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss recognised under
the aforementioned headings is transferred to the consolidated Income statements.
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Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities and transactions whose host contract falls
outside the scope of IFRS 9: “Financial instruments” are recognised separately when the
IBERDROLA Group considers that their risks and characteristics are not closely related to
the host contract in which they are embedded, providing the entire contract is not measured
at fair value recording the changes in that value through the consolidated Income statement.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated as follows (Note 17):

— The fair value of derivatives quoted on an organised market corresponds to their
quoted price at year end.

— To measure derivatives not traded on an organised market, the IBERDROLA Group
uses assumptions based on market conditions at year end. In particular,

» the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the value discounted at
market interest rates of the interest rate swap contract spread;

* in the case of currency futures, it is measured discounting the future cash
flows calculated using the forward exchange rates at year end; and

» the fair value of contracts to trade non-financial items falling under the scope
of IFRS 9 is calculated on the basis of the best estimate of future price curves
for the underlying non-financial items at the year end of the consolidated
Financial Statements, using, wherever possible, prices established on
futures markets.

These measurement models take into account the risks of the asset or liability, including the
credit risk of both the counterparty (Credit Value Adjustment) and the entity itself (Debit
Value Adjustment). The credit risk is calculated according to the following parameters:

— Exposure at default: the amount of the risk arising at the time of non-payment by a
counterparty, taking into account any collateral or compensation arrangements
connected to the transaction.

— Probability of default: the probability that a counterparty will breach its obligations to
pay the principal and/or interest, depending mainly on the features of the
counterparty and its credit rating.

— Loss given default: the estimated loss in the event of default.

Financial instrument offsetting principles

The financial assets and liabilities are offset and the corresponding net amount is shown in
the Statement of financial position if the company currently has a legally enforceable right
to set off the recognised amounts and the intention either to settle them on a net basis or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3.m) Treasury shares

At year end, the IBERDROLA Group’s treasury shares are included under the “Treasury
shares” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position and are measured at
acquisition cost.

The gains and losses obtained on disposal of treasury shares are recognised under the
“Other reserves” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position.

3.n) Capital grants

This heading includes any non-repayable government grants for financing property, plant
and equipment, including the grants received from the US Government in the form of
Investment Tax Credits as a result of setting up wind power facilities.

All capital grants are taken to “Other operating income” in the consolidated Income
statement as the subsidised facilities are depreciated.

3.0) Facilities transferred or financed by third parties

According to the regulation applicable to electricity distribution in the countries in which
IBERDROLA operates, the Group occasionally receives cash payments from third parties
to build electricity grid connection facilities or direct assignment of such facilities. Both the
cash received and the fair value of the facilities received are credited to the “Facilities
assigned or financed by third parties” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial
position.

These amounts are subsequently recognised under the “Other operating income” heading
of the consolidated Income statement as the facilities are depreciated.

3.p) Post-employment and other employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution post-employment benefit plans are registered as an
expense under “Personnel expenses” in the consolidated Income statement on an accrual
basis.

In the case of the defined benefit plans, the IBERDROLA Group recognises the expenditure
relating to these obligations on an accrual basis over the working life of the employees by
commissioning the appropriate independent actuarial studies using the projected unit credit
method to measure the obligation accrued at the year end. The provision recognised for
this item represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation reduced by the fair
value of the plan assets.
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New measurements of net liabilities corresponding to defined provision commitments
including positive or negative actuarial differences, the performance of the plan assets,
excluding amounts included in the net interest on assets or liabilities and any changes
impacting the limit of assets, are recognised under the “Other reserves” heading of the
consolidated Statement of financial position.

If the fair value of the assets exceeds the present value of the obligation, the net asset is
recognised in the consolidated Statement of financial position with the limit on the present
value of future economic benefits to be received in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The IBERDROLA Group determines the net financial expense (income) related with its
pension commitments by applying the discount rate used in its measurement of their value
at the beginning of the period once considering the changes in the net pension commitments
made during the period in terms of contributions and repayments made. The net interest
and the amount corresponding to other expenses related with the commitments undertaken
are recorded in the consolidated Income statement.

The IBERDROLA Group determines the discount rate with reference to the market yields at
the end of the reporting period, corresponding to the bonds or business obligations of high
credit quality (the IBERDROLA Group considers a rating equivalent to AA/Aa). In countries
which do not have such a deep market for such bonds and obligations, the discount rate is
determined with reference to Government bonds.

For the Eurozone, United Kingdom and the United States of America, there is a deep bond
market with a sufficient period of maturity to cover all payments expected. For Eurozone
countries, the depth of the bond or debenture market is evaluated at the level of the
monetary union and not for the particular country. In the case of Brazil and Mexico, the
discount rate has been determined taking into account the sovereign credit rating as there
is no deep market for corporate bonds which meet the credit rating criteria indicated above.

The IBERDROLA Group applies a weighted average discount rate that reflects the
estimated timing and amount of the defined benefit payments, and also the currency in
which the benefits are to be paid.

The calculation methodology is mainly based on the following principles:

— The universe and spectrum of the outstanding bonds that meet the criteria of an
AA/Aa rating is generated. The source of the information used is Bloomberg. The
IBERDROLA Group has adopted the notional issuances that are higher than EUR
50 million or its equivalent in local currency as the selection criteria.

— Once the bonds' database is obtained, the result is screened and the bonds that
show any deficiencies are eliminated.

— The sample is grouped based on the bonds' duration and the return on each duration
and outstanding nominal amount of the issuance is shown.
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— The benefit payment is calculated using a mathematical formula, i.e., the discrete
minimum approximation of the quadratic function, resulting in a market return curve
based on the duration. The market curve result will provide the discount factors for
each future maturity date of the bonds.

For markets where the term of the corporate bonds or government bonds to have been
issued does not match the term of the obligations, such maturities will be estimated by
combining the sovereign benchmark rates together with the spreads of AA-rated corporate
credit at liquid maturities. If there is no reference whatsoever to the term, the yield of the
maximum existing term will be considered along with the slope derived from shorter
maturities.

The discount rate reflects the time value of money and estimated schedule for the benefit
payments. However, it does not reflect the actuarial, investment or credit risk or the risk of
deviation in compliance with the actuarial assumptions.

3.q) Furlough schemes and other collective redundancy
procedures

IBERDROLA recognises termination benefits when the Group can no longer remove the
offer or when the expenses of restructuring are recognised from which the payment of
severance payments arises, in the case that said recognition is made previously.

The payments related with restructuring processes are recognised when the IBERDROLA
Group has an implicit obligation, i.e., at the time that there is a detailed formal plan to
perform the restructuring (identifying, at least, the company activities involved, or part of
them, the main locations affected, the location, function and approximate number of
employees that will be paid for the termination of their contracts, the disbursements that will
be made, and the dates on which the plan will be implemented) and a valid expectation has
been expected amongst the affected personnel that the restructuring will be carried out,
either because the plan has begun to be executed or because its main characteristics have
been announced.

The IBERDROLA Group recognises the full amount of the expenditure relating to these
plans when the obligation is incurred by performing the appropriate actuarial studies to
calculate the present value of the actuarial obligation at year end. The resulting actuarial
gains and losses in termination benefits are recognised in the consolidated Income
statement.

3.r) Production facility closure costs

The IBERDROLA Group must meet the corresponding decommissioning costs for its
production plants, including those arising from necessary tasks to prepare the land where
they are located. Additionally, in accordance with the current legislation, the Group must
perform certain tasks prior to the decommissioning of its nuclear plants, all of which are in
Spain. Empresa Nacional de Residuos Radioactivos, S.A. (ENRESA) will be responsible
for such work.
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The estimated present value of these costs is capitalised with a credit to “Provisions —
Other provisions” at the beginning of the useful life of the asset (Note 27).

This estimate is reviewed every year so that the provision reflects the present value of the
full amount of the estimated future costs. The value of the asset is only adjusted for
variances with respect to the initial estimate.

The IBERDROLA Group applies a risk-free rate to financially update the provision because
the estimated future cash flows to satisfy the obligation reflect the specific risks of the
corresponding liability. The risk-free rate used corresponds to the yield at the end of the
year which is being reported, government bonds with enough depth and solvency, in the
same currency and similar due date to the obligation.

Any change in the provision as a result of its discounting is recognised under the “Finance
expense” heading of the consolidated Income statement.

3.s) Other provisions

The IBERDROLA Group recognises provisions to cover present obligations, whether these
are legal or implied, which arise as a result of past events, provided that it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation (Note 27).

A provision is recognised when the liability or obligation arises, with a charge to the heading
in the Income statement in accordance with the nature of the obligation, for the present
value of the provision when the effect of discounting the value of the obligation to present
value is material. The change in the provision due to its discounting each year is recognised
under the “Finance expense” heading of the consolidated Income statement.

These provisions include those recorded to cover environmental damage, which were
determined on the basis of a case-by-case analysis of the situation of the polluted assets
and the cost of decontaminating them.

3.t) Current and non-current debt classification

In the consolidated Statement of financial position debts are classified by their maturity date
at year end. Debts that are due within 12 months are classified as current items, while those
due beyond 12 months as non-current items.

3.u) Recognition of revenue

Revenue from ordinary activities is recognised in such a manner that it represents the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.
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Given the nature of the Group's electricity and gas marketing activities, the recognition of
revenue is subject to a certain degree of estimation, which corresponds to the units supplied
to customers between the date of the last meter reading and the end of the period (Note 5).

Income estimates are calculated on the basis of information on outstanding metering
periods, historical trends, weighted average tariffs applicable to each of the customers, the
volume of energy purchased by the group's retail supply companies to meet demand and
other data. The Company can use its experience it has developed over the years, plus it
has sufficiently developed information systems to ensure the accuracy of the estimates
recorded in the net sales accounts and compliance with the requirements of accounting
regulations.

In the case of contracts with customers with several performance obligations, income is
assigned to each performance obligation based on its individual sale price at the beginning
of the contract. The individual sale price is estimated based on the observable price of sale
of goods of services transactions when they are sold separately under similar
circumstances to similar customers. If there are no observable prices in the market, the
price is estimated using the most adequate method based on the information available.

When the IBERDROLA Group acts as principal, it recognises ordinary income in the gross
amount of the consideration it expects to be entitled to in exchange for the goods or services
transferred, whereas when it acts as agent, it recognises ordinary income in the amount of
any payment or commission it expects to be entitled to in exchange for organising for a third
party the supply of the goods or services.

The IBERDROLA Group presents contracts with customers in the consolidated Statement
of financial position as a contract asset or liability depending on the relationship between
the IBERDROLA Group’s performance and the payment settled by the customer.

— The contract with the customer is recognised as a contract liability when the
customer has paid consideration before control of the goods or services has been
transferred to the customer, so there is an obligation on IBERDROLA Group’s side
to transfer the goods or services for which it has already received consideration.

— Contracts with customers are recognised as contract assets when the IBERDROLA
Group has completed the arrangement by transferring the control of the goods or
services to the customer before the customer has settled the consideration, so the
IBERDROLA Group has a right to a consideration in exchange for the goods or
services transferred to the customer.

Revenue from ordinary activities beyond the scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers” related to lease contracts (Note 3.f) and financial hedging derivatives (Note
3.1) is recognised in accordance with applicable accounting rules.
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3.v) Adjustments for market price deviations

Under the provisions of the regulatory framework applicable to the renewable energy
generation facilities owned by the Group in Spain, these facilities receive certain incentives
(specific remuneration regime) in accordance with the methodology established in Royal
Decree 413/2014 of 6 June, which regulates the activity of electricity production from
renewable energy sources, cogeneration and waste (the Royal Decree). The Royal Decree
states that certain remuneration parameters will be updated in each regulatory half period.

The Royal Decree regulates the procedure to be followed if the real market prices for the
different half-periods of the regulatory useful life of the asset are lower (positive
adjustments) or higher (negative adjustments) than the prices estimated by the regulator at
the beginning of the regulatory half-period that were used to determine the incentives to be
received for the investments under the scope of the regulation.

Due to the high prices seen in the second half of 2021 and early 2022, Royal Decree 6/2022
of 29 March amended the 2020-2022 regulatory period by dividing it into two half-periods:
2020-21 and 2022. For the 2022 half-period, the price to be applied in 2022-2024 has been
estimated as the average of OMIP futures during the period July to December 2021,
resulting in prices for 2022, 2023 and 2024 of EUR 122/MWh, EUR 71/MWh and EUR
56/MWh, respectively. Likewise, Royal Decree 6/2022 amends Section 22.3 of Royal
Decree 413/2014, of 6 June, so that the adjustment for deviations in the market price
incorporates the real target coefficient of each technology when applying the annual
average price of the daily and intraday market. This change has an impact on the
adjustment for market price deviations in 2020 and 2021, influencing the remuneration
parameters for 2022, and on the adjustment for price deviations in 2022, which also
influences the remuneration parameters for the regulatory half-period starting on 1 January
2023. In this regard, Order TED/1232/2022 of 2 December established the remuneration
parameters to be applied in 2022.

The accounting treatment of deviations in the market price applied by the Group, as adapted
to the “Criteria for accounting for the ‘value of adjustments for deviations in the market price’,
in accordance with Section 22 of Royal Decree 413/2014” published by the CNMV on 22
October 2021 is as follows:

— In general, each positive and negative market deviation is recognised in the
Statement of financial position.

— The amount of the liabilities will be limited to the amount of the deviations from the
price that would have allowed the minimum return guaranteed under the Royal
Decree to be obtained.

— However, where an analysis of the qualitative and quantitative aspects
corresponding to each of the facilities owned by the Group reveals that leaving the
remuneration regime would not have significantly more adverse economic
consequences than remaining there, then the general approach described above is
not followed.
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In relation to the Group’s facilities that do not receive operating remuneration, at 31
December 2022, liabilities amounting to EUR 412 million were not recognised in respect of
the negative price deviations established by the aforementioned Royal Decree that had
occurred since 2014, since, according to the remuneration parameters of the Proposal for
an Order of 28 December 2022 and the Group’s estimates at year-end, the effect of leaving
the feed-in tariff regime, were this to occur, would not have a material adverse effect on the
IBERDROLA Group’s financial statements.

Thus, there are currently no standard facilities not receiving operating remuneration that
record the liabilities associated with price deviations.

When the asset reaches the end of its regulatory life, positive adjustments net of negative
adjustments arising in the last regulatory half-period are recognised, based on their balance,
in asset or liability accounts with a balancing entry in net revenue.

3.w) Transactions in foreign currency

Transactions carried out in currencies other than the functional currency of the group
companies are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date.

The monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency have been converted
to euros applying the existing rate at the close of the financial year, while the non-monetary
ones measured at historical cost are converted applying the exchange rates applied on the
date on which the transaction took place.

During the year, the differences arising between the exchange rates at which the
transactions were recorded and those in force at the date on which the related proceeds
are received or payments are made, are recorded, being charged to the “Finance expense”
heading or credited to the “Finance income” heading, as appropriate, of the consolidated
Income statement.

Those foreign currency transactions in which the IBERDROLA Group has decided to
mitigate currency risk through the use of financial derivatives or other hedging instruments
are recorded as described in Note 3.1.

3.x) Income tax

IBERDROLA files consolidated tax returns in two tax consolidation groups in Spain, one in
the common territory and the other in the province of Biscay, with certain Group companies.
Foreign companies are taxed according to the current legislation of their respective
jurisdiction.

The expense or income for Corporate income tax includes both the current and deferred
tax. The tax on the current or deferred earnings is recognised in the consolidated Income
statement, unless arising from a transaction or economic event that has been recognised
in the same year or in a different one, against net equity or from a business combination.
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Current income tax assets or liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to
or recovered from the tax authorities, using tax regulations and rates that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the close date.

Prepaid and deferred taxes are accounted based on the differences between the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities and the tax base, using the tax rates objectively
expected to be in force when the assets and liabilities are realised.

The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities in all cases except when:

— they arise from the initial recognition of the goodwill or from an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and which on the date of the
transaction does not affect the accounting profit/(loss) or the tax base;

— which refer to timing differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint businesses in which the Group can decide the point at which
they are reversed, and when the reversal is unlikely to take place in the foreseeable
future.

The Group recognises all deferred tax assets provided that:

— there are likely to be sufficient future tax gains for them to be offset or when,
according to tax laws, deferred tax assets can be converted in the future into a
payable to be made by the public authorities. However, the deferred tax assets that
arise from the initial recognising of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and on the date of the transaction does not affect the
accounting income or the tax base, are not recognised;

— which correspond to temporary differences related with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures inasmuch as the temporary differences will not be
reinvested in a foreseeable future and future positive tax gains to offset the
differences are not expected to be generated in the future.

Tax deductions to avoid double taxation and other tax credits, as well as tax relief earned
as a result of economic events occurring in the year, are deducted from Income tax
expense, unless there are doubts as to whether they can be realised.

Taxable income, tax loss carryforwards or deductions applied are calculated taking into
account any uncertainties regarding the treatment of transactions for tax purposes. In those
cases, in which the tax asset or liability exceeds the amount in the self-assessments, this
is presented as current or not current on the consolidated Statement of financial position
taking into account the expected recovery or settlement date, considering, where
applicable, the amount of the corresponding past-due interest on the liability as they accrue
in the Income statement. The IBERDROLA Group records the changes in facts and
circumstances regarding tax uncertainties as a change in the estimate.
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3.y) Final radioactive waste management costs

On 8 November 2003, the Royal Decree 1349/2003 was published regulating the activities
of ENRESA and its financing. This Royal Decree grouped together the previous legislation
regulating the activities that ENRESA carries out, as well as its financing, and repeals, inter
alia, Royal Decree 1899/1984 of 1 August.

Pursuant to Royal Decree-Law 5/2005 and Law 24/2005, the costs of managing radioactive
waste and spent fuel from nuclear plants, and for the decommissioning and closure of the
plants attributable to their operation and incurred after 31 March 2005, will be financed by
the owners of the nuclear plants in use.

On 7 May 2009, Royal Decree-Law 6/2009 was published, adopting various energy sector
measures and approving the social tariff. The principal measures introduced are as follows:

— Necessary costs incurred in the management of radioactive waste and nuclear fuel
at nuclear power stations which have definitively ceased to operate before the state-
owned radioactive waste management company ENRESA is actually incorporated,
which had not yet been done at the date of these consolidated Financial Statements,
and all necessary costs incurred in decommissioning and closing these power
stations, will be treated as diversification and capacity guarantee costs.

— Diversification and capacity guarantee costs shall also include amounts used to
cover the cost of managing radioactive waste generated by research activities
directly related to nuclear electricity generation and the costs deriving from the
reprocessing of spent fuel sent overseas prior to the entry into force of the Electricity
Industry Act 54/1997, as well as any other costs that may be indicated in the Royal
Decree.

— Amounts used to register provisions to cover the costs incurred in managing
radioactive waste and spent fuel generated at operational nuclear power stations
after the establishment of ENRESA as well as decommissioning and closure costs
will not be treated as supply diversification and security costs, so these will be
financed by the owners of the nuclear power stations while they are operational,
irrespective of the date on which they are generated.

— The balance of ENRESA’s provision remaining after deduction of the amounts
needed to cover the supply security and diversification costs will be used to cover
costs not included in this category.

— To cover the costs associated with nuclear power plants in operation, the companies
owning the stations must pay a charge directly proportional to the volume of energy
generated at each plant in accordance with the methodology proposed for each
plant.

Following a detailed analysis of the impact of Royal Decree-Law 6/2009, the IBERDROLA
Group considers that the rate is the best estimate available of the accrued expenses
originated under that Royal Decree-Law.
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3.z) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to
the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year,
excluding the average number of shares of the Parent held by group companies (Notes 21
and 52).

Meanwhile, diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year
attributable to the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all the potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares of IBERDROLA. For these purposes, it is considered that
shares are converted at the beginning of the year or at the date of issue of the potential
ordinary shares, if the latter were issued during the current period.

3.aa) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

If the carrying amount of a non-current asset (or a disposable group of assets) is recovered
principally through its sale rather than through its continued use, the IBERDROLA Group
classifies it as held for sale and values it at the lower of its carrying amount and its fair value
less the costs of sale.

Impairment losses relating to disposal groups are first allocated to goodwill and then to other
assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis. No valuation adjustments are recognised that could
affect inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and assets related to employee
commitments. These assets are valued pursuant to the principles set out in the preceding
paragraphs. Losses recognised at the time of initial classification under this heading and
gains and/or losses arising thereafter are recognised in the consolidated Income statement.

The items classified as non-current kept for their disposal are not amortised.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that either has been sold or disposed
of by other means, or is classified as held for sale and:

— represents a business line or geographical area that is significant and can be
considered separately from the rest;

— is part of a single and coordinated plan to sell or dispose by other means a business
line or geographical area that can be considered separately from the rest; or

— is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

If discontinued operations are deemed to exist, the IBERDROLA Group recognises a single
heading in the consolidated Income statement comprising the sum of:

— profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations, and
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— profit or loss after tax recognised by measurement at fair value less costs of sale, or
sale or disposal by other means of the assets or disposable groups of assets that
constitute the discontinued operation.

3.ab) Consolidated Statement of cash flows

In the consolidated Statements of cash flow, which were prepared using the indirect method,
the following terms are considered:

— Operating activities: the typical activities of the group companies, as well as other
activities that are not investing or financing activities.

— Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or disposal by other means of non-current
assets and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

— Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of
the equity and liabilities of the company that are not operating activities.

3.ac) Share-based employee compensation

The delivery of IBERDROLA shares to employees as compensation for their services is
recognised under the “Personnel expenses” heading of the consolidated Income statement
as the employees perform the remunerated services, with a credit to equity under “Equity
— Other reserves” of the consolidated Statement of financial position at the fair value of the
equity instruments on the delivery date, defined as the date the IBERDROLA Group and its
employees reach an agreement establishing the terms of the share delivery.

Fair value is determined in reference to the market value of shares at the award date
deducting estimated dividends to which employees are not entitled, during the vesting
period. Market conditions and other factors that have no effect on vesting are taken into
consideration on the date of the initial valuation and are not subject to subsequent
adjustment. The rest of the conditions are considered adjusting the number of equity
instruments included in the determination of the transaction amount, so that finally, the
amount recognised for the services received, is based on the number of equity instruments
that will prospectively be consolidated.

If remuneration based on equity instruments is paid in cash, the amount booked as
“Personnel expenses” in the consolidated Income statement is credited to “Non-current
financial liabilities — Other non-current financial liabilities” or “Current financial liabilities —
Other current financial liabilities” on the liabilities side of the consolidated Statement of
financial position, as appropriate. The fair value of the cash-settled compensation is
remeasured at each reporting date.

Equity instruments retained to meet the employee's tax obligations do not alter the plan's
classification as equity-settled.
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4. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL RISK POLICY

The IBERDROLA Group is exposed to various financial market risks inherent to the different
countries, industries and markets in which it operates and to the businesses it carries out.
Were they to materialise, these risks could prevent the Group from accomplishing its
objectives and successfully pursuing its strategies. Section 4 of the consolidated
Management report contains additional information on the Group’s risks.

In particular, the Financing and Financial Risk Policy, the Corporate Market Risk Policy and
the Corporate Credit Risk Policy of the IBERDROLA Group approved by the Board of
Directors identify the risk factors described below. The IBERDROLA Group has an
organisation and systems that enable it to identify, measure and control the financial risks
to which it is exposed.

Interest rate risk

The IBERDROLA Group is exposed with regards to its financial liabilities to the risk of
fluctuations in interest rates affecting cash flows and fair value.

In order to adequately manage and limit this risk, every year the IBERDROLA Group
determines the target structure for debt between fixed and floating interest rate. Once the
target structure has been defined, the Group dynamically manages the actions to be taken
throughout the year: new sources of financing at a fixed or floating rate and/or the use of
interest rate derivatives, whether to set the interest rate (or limit its variability) for variable
rate debt or to change debt from fixed rate to floating rate. Derivatives may also be used to
establish the cost of future debt issues, provided they are highly probable in accordance
with the budget or the strategic plan in force.

Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities arranged at floating rates and cash
placements of the IBERDROLA Group are largely pegged to market rates (mainly Euribor,
SONIA, Libor-dollar, SOFR and the IPCA CDI for the debt of the Brazilian subsidiaries).

Management of the IBOR (Interbank offered rates) reform and of the financial risks arising
as a result of the reform

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the nominal amount of hedging instruments indexed to
IBOR indices, with the exception of Euribor, with a maturity date after 31 December 2022,
is as follows:

Millions in currency Currency Notional value at Notional value at
Libor-pound indexed interest rate swap GBP — 550
Libor-USD indexed interest rate swap USD 1,706 1,706
Cross currency swap indexed to Libor-dollar usD 181 212
Cross currency swap indexed to Libor-pound sterling GBP — 201
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At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the nominal amount of bank borrowings,
bonds and other marketable securities indexed to IBOR indices, with the exception of
Euribor, with a maturity date after 31 December 2022, is as follows:

Millions in currency Currency Notional value at Notional value at
Libor-pound sterling bank loans GBP — —
Libor-dollar bank loans usbD 765 1,200

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had completed, or was in the process of completing,
the process of implementing appropriate alternative clauses for all of the reported Libor-
dollar indexed exposures. These clauses automatically change the instrument's Libor-dollar
benchmark to SOFR or, as the case may be, TERM SOFR when Libor-dollar ceases to be
used.

If the authorities make any progress on the IBOR indices, the IBERDROLA Group will make
the appropriate contractual amendments so as to include the new replacement reference
interest rate in its financing contracts.

Currency risk

IBERDROLA Group is exposed to currency exchange rate variations used in the different
financing and operating transactions compared to the operating currencies used by the
different group companies. Said operating currencies are mainly the Euro, the US dollar,
Pound sterling and the Brazilian Real.

IBERDROLA Group is also exposed to currency risks as a result of net investments in
foreign companies (mainly Scottish Power, Avangrid, Iberdrola México and Neoenergia)
arising from fluctuations in cash exchange rate differences of operating non-euro
currencies. Currency exchange variations imply a risk affecting the valuation of net assets
and the translation of profit, possibly impacting IBERDROLA Group’s equity situation.

The IBERDROLA Group mitigates currency risks by ensuring that all its economic flows are
carried out in the currency of each Group company, maintaining an adequate percentage
of debt in foreign currency and/or through derivatives.

Commodity price risk

The IBERDROLA Group's activities require the acquisition and sale of commaodities (natural
gas, coal, fuel oil, gas oil, emission allowances, etc.), whose price is subject to the volatility
of international markets (global and regional) where those commaodities are traded.

To reduce uncertainty, mainly linked to expected margin of scheduled IBERDROLA Group
transactions, as a result of the volatility of said markets, the Group subscribes financial
derivatives to establish the cost of own generation and purchase of energy associated to
the expected sales of gas and electricity to customers.

Derivatives for risk management purposes

Generally speaking, the purpose of contractual derivatives is limited to hedging.
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In accordance with the risk management policies drawn up by the IBERDROLA Group, the
critical terms of the hedging instruments, i.e. the derivatives arranged to mitigate the
aforementioned interest rate, exchange rate and commodity price risks, are established in
terms equivalent to those of the hedged item, among others:

- The notional value of the hedging instrument is equal to or less than that of the
hedged item.

- The underlying currency of the hedging instrument is the same as that of the hedged
item.

- The term of the hedging instrument is equal to or less than that of the hedged item.

- The variable benchmark interest rate applicable to the hedging instrument is the
same as that of the hedged transaction, if appropriate.

- The interest frequency of the hedging instrument is the same as that of the hedged
item.

Derivatives arranged for interest rate hedges, exchange rate hedges and commodity
hedges are described in Note 29.

Liquidity risk

Exposure to adverse situations in the debt or capital markets or the IBERDROLA Group’s
economic and financial situation can hinder or prevent the IBERDROLA Group from
obtaining the financing required to properly carry out its business activities.

The IBERDROLA Group’s liquidity policy is designed to ensure that it can meet its payment
obligations without having to rely on financing under unfavourable terms. For this purpose,
various management metrics are used, such as the arrangement of committed credit
facilities of sufficient amount, term and flexibility, diversification of the hedging of financing
needs through access to different markets and geographical areas, and diversification of
the maturities of the debt issued.

Looking ahead to 2023, the IBERDROLA Group expects to cover is planned ordinary
investments with cash on hand and with the cash flow generated from its operations and
access to the interbank financial markets, capital markets and supranational lenders (such
as the EIB, Development Banks and Export Credit Agencies — ECAs), even though the
Group has sufficient credit faciliies and loans in place with which to cover these
investments.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group had undrawn loans and credit
facilities totalling EUR 17,754 and 15,360 million, respectively. Additionally at 31 December
2022 there were current cash deposits that, due to their contractual conditions, the
IBERDROLA Group includes in its liquidity position as of that date. The following table
provides a breakdown by maturity of the liquidity position at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
based on the balance of the “Cash and cash equivalents” heading of the consolidated
Statement of financial position and current financial assets (between three and 12 months).
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Millions of euros 2022 2021
Available maturity

2022 — 219
2023 346 674
2024 461 317
2025 and beyond 16,947 14,150
Total 17,754 15,360
Current financial assets (between 3 and 12 months) (Note 15.b) 18 12
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 4,608 4,033
Liquidity position 22,380 19,405

Credit risk

The IBERDROLA Group is exposed to the credit risk arising from the possibility that
counterparties (customers, financial institutions, partners, insurers, etc.) might fail to comply
with contractual obligations.

Risk is properly managed and limited, depending on the type of transaction and the
creditworthiness of counterparties. In particular, there is a Corporate Credit Risk Policy
setting the framework and action principles for proper risk management, which are further
developed at business and country level (admission criteria, approval flows, authority levels,
rating tools, exposure measurement methodologies, etc.) through procedures.

Below is a breakdown by country of balances at 31 December 2022 and 2021 of financial
assets and contract assets:

Other non-current
financial assets (Note
15.b)

Other current financial
assets (Note 15.b)

Non-current trade and
other receivables
(Note 16)

Current trade and
other receivables
(Note 16)

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Spain 120 176 1,270 546 278 272 4,511 3,919
United Kingdom 388 317 912 265 19 32 1,607 1,286
United States 759 239 470 229 101 95 1,672 1,151
Mexico 52 30 2 16 623 572 336 129
Brazil 4,500 3,192 154 345 3,576 2,764 1,586 1,469
Iberdrole.l Energia 91 o5 3 3 8 10 109 2
Internacional (IEI)

Corporation and 48 16 153 129 9 19 48 139
adjustments

Total 5,958 3,995 2,964 1,533 4,614 3,764 9,869 8,183

Balances of “Other current and non-current financial assets” and “Non-current trade and
other receivables” correspond mainly to concession agreements signed with Brazilian public
administrations (Note 13) and receivables related to regulated activities in Spain.

With regard to credit risk on trade receivables from electricity and gas retail supply activity
in the liberalised market, the historical cost of defaults has remained relatively low, at close
to 1% of total turnover of this activity worldwide.
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With regard to the “Cash and cash equivalents” heading of the consolidated Statement of
financial position, the average credit rating of the counterparties is BBB+, according to the
scale used by Standard and Poor’s.

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analyses show, for each type of risk (without reflecting the
interdependence among risk variables), how income for the year and equity might be
affected by reasonably possible changes in each risk variable at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

— Interest rates:

To calculate the sensitivity of consolidated profit or loss to changes in interest rates, an
increase or decrease of 50 basis points (equally in all currencies) is applied to the average
balance of net floating rate debt, after taking into account hedges with derivatives. To
calculate the sensitivity of equity, an increase or decrease of 50 basis points (equally across
all currencies) is applied to the fair value of the outstanding cash flow hedges at year-end,
the change in fair value of which is recognised in equity.

The sensitivity of consolidated profit and equity to interest rate fluctuations is as follows:

Increase/decrease Impact on profit . . .
- . Direct impact on Impact on equity
Millions of euros in interest rate before tax .
. . equity before tax before tax
(basis points) Income/(Expense)
50 (78) 202 124
2022
(50) 78 (202) (124)
50 (55) 174 119
2021
(50) 55 (174) (119)

— Exchange rates:

To calculate the sensitivity of consolidated profit to variations in exchange rates, a
depreciation or appreciation of 5% is applied mainly on the profit of foreign subsidiary
companies whose operating currency is different to the Euro (net of economic hedges
arranged), given that the risk originated from other transactions in foreign currency, either
due to financing or business operations, is covered by exchange rate hedges. The
sensitivity of equity to exchange rates is calculated applying an appreciation or depreciation
of 5% on net translation differences and on cash flow derivative hedges whose variation in
fair value is recognised in equity.

The sensitivity of consolidated profit and equity of the IBERDROLA Group to changes in the
dollar/euro, pound sterling /euro and Brazilian real/euro exchange rate is as follows:

Impact on profit

Millions of euros Change in the dollar/euro before tax Dlrt?ct impact on Impact on equity
exchange rate equity before tax before tax

Income/(Expense)
2022 Depreciation of 5% (12) (1,122) (1,134)
Appreciation of 5% 4 1,241 1,245
2021 Depreciation of 5% (13) (1,023) (1,036)
Appreciation of 5% 7 1,131 1,138

| 48

www.iberdrola.com )
@ |BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022

Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries

Change in the pound

Impact on profit

Direct impact on

Impact on equity

Millions of euros sterling/euro exchange before tax .
equity before tax before tax
rate Income/(Expense)
2022 Depreciation of 5% (8) (545) (553)
Appreciation of 5% 3 603 606
2021 Depreciation of 5% — (781) (781)
Appreciation of 5% — 863 863

Change in the Brazilian

Impact on profit

Direct impact on

Impact on equity

Willions of euros real/euro exchange rate before tax equity before tax before tax
Income/(Expense)

2022 Depreciation of 5% (6) (242) (248)

Appreciation of 5% 1 267 268

2021 Depreciation of 5% (7) (198) (205)

Appreciation of 5% 2 219 221

— Commodities:

The sensitivity of consolidated profit and equity to changes in the market prices of the main
commodities is as follows:

Millions of euros

Impact on profit/(loss)

Direct impact on

Impact on equity

2022 Variation in price before tax  equity before tax before tax

Gas 5% 19 54 73

(5%) (18) (54) (72)

- 5% 1) 68 67
Electricit

y (5%) 1 (68) 67)

Millions of euros

Impact on profit/(loss)

Direct impact on

Impact on equity

2021 Variation in price before tax  equity before tax before tax
Gas % = ) o
(5%) 5 (73) (68)
Electricity S o o e
(5%) (15) (120) (135)

5. USE OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The most significant estimates made by the IBERDROLA Group in these consolidated
Financial Statements are as follows:

— Climate change:
The IBERDROLA Group’s strategy takes into account the Paris Agreement

objectives of limiting the global temperature increase to 2°C and of achieving climate
neutrality by 2050.
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The objectives of the Paris Agreement (Note 6) have been taken into account in
drawing up the consolidated Financial Statements for 2022 and 2021. The effect of
the commitments assumed by the Group has been considered when preparing the
statements and estimating the useful lives of assets and the costs of closing and
decommissioning electrical power plants and when analysing the impairment of non-
financial assets.

— Unbilled power supplied:

The revenue figure for each year includes an estimate of the power supplied to
customers of liberalised markets but not yet billed because it had not been
measured at year-end for reasons relating to the regular meter-reading period (Note
3.u). Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment still in use at 31 December
2022 and 2021 amounted to EUR 3,127 and 2,662 million, respectively. This amount
is included under “Current trade and other receivables” in the consolidated
Statements of financial position at 31 December 2022 and 2021 (Note 16).

— Settlements relating to regulated activities in Spain:

Revenue for each year includes an estimate of the income pending collection
derived from the application of the methodology set out in the remuneration model
in force for the distribution activity, which establishes that facilities commissioned in

year “n” begin to be remunerated from year “n+2”. (Note 37).

— Provisions for contingencies and expenses:

As indicated in Note 3.s, the IBERDROLA Group recognises provisions to cover
present obligations arising from past events. For this purpose, it must assess the
outcome of certain of legal or other nature procedures that are ongoing at the date
of authorisation for issue of these consolidated Financial Statements based on the
best information available.

— Useful lives:

The IBERDROLA Group's property, plant and equipment is used over very
prolonged periods of time.

The Group estimates the useful lives for accounting purposes (Note 3.e) based on
each asset's technical characteristics, the period over which it is expected to
generate economic benefits and applicable legislation in each case.

— Costs incurred in closing down and decommissioning electrical power facilities:

The IBERDROLA Group periodically revises the estimates made concerning the
costs to be incurred in the dismantling of its facilities.
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— Provision for pensions and similar commitments and restructuring plans:

At each year end, the IBERDROLA Group estimates the current actuarial provision
required to cover obligations relating to restructuring plans, pensions and other
similar obligations to its employees. This process involves an independent valuation
of the obligations and assets. In calculating these values, the IBERDROLA Group
relies on advice from independent actuaries and expert financial appraisers (Notes
3.p, 3.qg and 26).

When valuing obligations, the independent expert proceeds as follows:

» Estimation of accrued liability, total cost for the year and payments in future
years.

* Analysis of actuarial gains and losses, of the resulting surplus or deficit and
sensitivity to relevant assumptions.

When valuing assets, the independent expert proceeds as follows:

+ Identification of the managing entities, depositories of the pension funds and
Managed Accounts and the degree of aptitude of each manager and Managed
Account

* Operational Due Diligence of the managing entities: financial strength,
solvency, organisational structure, resources, processes run by the Risk
Control and Compliance functions, best execution policy, order placement,
quality and reputation, etc.

* Quantitative and qualitative analysis of each of the Managed Accounts in
which the financial investments are materialised and classification, in terms of
liquidity, of each asset and/or investment vehicle.

— Fair value of investment property:

The IBERDROLA Group appraises its investment property each year.

— Impairment of assets:

As described in Notes 3.i and 14, the IBERDROLA Group, in accordance with the
applicable accounting criteria, performs an impairment test on those cash-
generating units that so require on an annual basis. Specific tests are also
conducted if indications of impairment are detected. These impairment tests require
estimating the future cash flows of the businesses and the most appropriate discount
rate in each case. The IBERDROLA Group believes its estimates in this respect are
appropriate and consistent with the current economic climate and the commitments
assumed under the Paris Agreement (Note 6) and reflect its investment plans and
the best available estimate of its future expense and income. It is also confident that
its discount rates adequately reflect the risks to which each cash-generating unit is
exposed.
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— Determining the term of a lease:

In the event that a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs
that may affect the term, the IBERDROLA Group reviews the valuations made in the
determination of the lease term. Renewal or termination options are only included in
the determination of the lease term if it is reasonably certain that the contract will be
extended or will not be cancelled. In the event that a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances occurs that may affect the term, the IBERDROLA Group
reviews the valuations made in the determination of the lease term.

6. CLIMATE CHANGE AND THE PARIS AGREEMENT

IBERDROLA embarked upon a profound transformation more than 20 years ago, when it
pledged its support for a sustainable, safe and competitive energy model that would enable
it to fight climate change. This has been the main driver of its profitable growth strategy,
which has led it to invest more than EUR 140,000 million over the last two decades with the
ultimate aim of achieving a decarbonised energy model. The Group is now in an excellent
position from which to continue to anticipate and manage the risks and harness the
opportunities that this energy transition offers thanks to its leadership in renewable
energies, smart grids and storage, as well as its firm commitment to digitalisation.

In its commitment to the Paris Agreement and the energy transition, IBERDROLA’s Climate
Action Plan sets out an ambitious roadmap with the aspiration of achieving carbon neutrality
for Scope 1 and 2 carbon equivalent emissions by 2030 and aims to achieve zero net CO;
equivalent emissions for all scopes, including Scope 3, by 2040. To achieve this aspirational
goal, levers and associated actions are also being defined which, in turn, will contribute to
the decarbonisation of the economy as a whole, as well as the values, tools and indicators
for the achievement thereof.

One of the levers for achieving this aspirational commitment to reduce emissions, is that
IBERDROLA will continue to promote and lead a business model and investment plan that
is fully integrated into a decarbonised future. The company is moving forward with its EUR
47,000 million investment plan until 2025 and consolidating its business model, based on
more renewable energies, more networks, increased storage and a wider range of smart
solutions for customers.

6.a) Energy scenario

In preparing the consolidated Financial Statements for financial year 2022, the directors
have taken into account the strategic plan presented to the markets in 2022, which provides
the framework of the IBERDROLA Group’s strategy and business model and is fully aligned
with the Paris Agreement and the 2030 Agenda in the fight against climate change.

The IBERDROLA Group’s projections are consistent with the Paris goals, as described
further on.
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Shown below is a comparison of the IBERDROLA Group's long-term scenario consistent
with the International Energy Agency - Sustainable Development Scenario (IEA SDS),
aligned with the Paris agreement, in force during the preparatory work for Capital Markets
Day (held on 9 November 2022). In the last week of October 2022, the International Energy
Agency published the World Energy Outlook (WEO 2022) and it has subsequently been
confirmed, in the context of the work needed to comply with the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate Disclosure (TCFD), that the central scenario is the equivalent of the
WEO2022 Announced Pledges Scenario (APS) projections.

1. Europe

Penetration of renewables

— |EA SDS assumes a renewable penetration (RES) of 66% in Europe by 2030,
increasing to 82-83% by 2040 and 85-86% by 2050.

— |IBERDROLA assumes 68% for 2030, reaching 81% for 2040 and 87% for 2050,
assumptions consistent with IEA SDS.

— This assumption reflects updated policies, in particular those announced during
the war scenario: 80% RES by 2030 in Germany, new nuclear capacity in
France beyond 2035, 50 GW in offshore wind in the United Kingdom by 2030
or 21 GW in offshore wind by 2030 in the Netherlands, to name a few.

— Targets that are considered overly ambitious or unrealistic are set back by a few
years.

Electrification of other sectors (new demand)

— IEA SDS assumes energy demand growth of 2.0% to 2.1% (Compound Annual
Growth Rate, CAGR 2020-2050), while IEA SPS (Stated Policies Scenario, STEPS)
assumes 0.9% to 1.2%.

— IBERDROLA assumes a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 1.7% until 2050,
reflecting the impact of electrification and decarbonisation in other sectors (electric
vehicles and electrolysers), representing 25-30% of energy demand by 2050.

Commodities
— Gas price

— |EA SPS (Stated Policies Scenario) assumes growth in worldwide gas demand
of 0.8% (CAGR 2020-2050), with new LNG plants required and the gas price
reflecting a total cost of HH 3.6 — 4.3 $2020/mmBtu (2030-2040), which translates
into 7.7 - 8.3 $2020/mthU.

— By contrast, IEA SDS considers that through decarbonisation, global gas
demand will decline by 1.6% (CAGR 2020-2050), there is global LNG
overcapacity and the gas price remains stable at a level that slightly exceeds
the variable costs of the US LNG chain: from HH 1.9-2.0 $2020/mmBtu which
translates into 4.2 - 4.5 $2020/mmBtu in Europe.
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— SDS can be overly aggressive and, given the current gas crisis scenario:
IBERDROLA does not fully assume the SDS gas prices, but partially reflects the
risk of a declining gas demand scenario.

— IBERDROLA assumes that prices will adopt a downward trend, from values that
amortise new LNG investments in the United States to values that do not fully
cover a new investment: HH at 3 $202./mmBtu translates into 7 - 6.2 $2022/mmBtu
in Europe.

— It is not unlikely that the next SDS scenario will raise gas prices (WEO 2022)
positioning IBERDROLA much closer to SDS than SPS.

— COq, price

— |EA SPS assumes 65, 75, 90 $2020/tCO; for 2030, 2040 and 2050 respectively
while IEA SDS doubles it to 120, 170, 200 $2020/tCOs.

— |IBERDROLA assumes an average for 2025-2050 of 76.83 $2022/tCO2, assuming
a long-term USD/EUR exchange rate of 1.1-1.2. This forecast is well above
current market prices (average 95-100 €/tCO; nominal in 2025-2050 compared
to 70-80 €tCO2 market price), but does not fully reflect IEA SDS values. This is
because IBERDROLA assumes that there is a high regulatory risk:

— Most reductions can stem from other regulatory measures rather than
simply the carbon price signal. Examples include incentives for
renewables, new nuclear, new CCS or H2.

— Regulators often intervene when prices exceed certain thresholds, and
ETS already has the tools to intervene in the price. Therefore,
IBERDROLA considers it highly unlikely that prices will reach the IEA
SDS values (noting that 200 $2020/tCO2 by 2050 is a nominal price of
~375 $/tCO,).

2. United States

IBERDROLA assumes the Wood Mac scenario (June 2022), which is consistent with the
IEA SDS scenario:

— Wood Mac
— Share of renewables to reach 80% by 2050
— Coal virtually phased out by 2035-2040
— IEASDS
- Share of renewables to reach 84% by 2050

- Coal insignificant by 2035
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3. Non-Europe

IEA SDS does not provide country-by-country details for benchmarking as in Europe.

In any case, IBERDROLA'S assumptions are consistent with the regulators' latest
policies and planning documents, which tend to show growing ambitions for renewables:

— Australia: policies at federal and state level

Federal: 82% RES by 2030.

New South Wales: +12 GW of wind and photovoltaic by 2030.

Queensland: 80% RES by 2035.

Victoria: 9 GW offshore by 2040.
— Brazil: Ten-Year Energy Expansion Plan (PDE 2031).

Benchmark scenario (2031): high penetration of renewables with only 7% gas share
(67 TWh).

— Mexico: National Electricity System Development Programme (PRODESEN 2031).

Combined cycle production in the range of 225-250 TWh in the period 2025-2035
(from ~ 200 TWh in 2022).

6.b) Strategic vision

IBERDROLA'S strategic vision for the coming years fits within the energy scenario
described in the preceding section.

The IBERDROLA Group foresees investments of EUR 47,000 million for the 2023-2025
period, as announced at the Capital Markets Day presentation.

The growth of this Plan is based on organic investments in all markets and the PNM
Resources transaction, to which EUR 11,000 million will be allocated.

Specifically, of the EUR 47,000 million investment, 80% will go to A-rated countries with
stable regulatory frameworks and ambitious electrification targets. By country, the group will
allocate 47% of its investments to the United States -including organic investments and the
integration of PNM Resources-, representing the main market for expansion over the next
three years. In second place is the United Kingdom with 16%. In addition, IBERDROLA is
pursuing geographic diversification through additional focus on countries such as Germany,
France and Australia, to which it will allocate 13% of the total investment. In Spain,
investments will exceed EUR 6,000 million in three years, 13% of the total, in line with the
average of recent years.
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Growth will be centred on electricity grids and selective investments in renewables:

— Atotal of EUR 27,000 million will be allocated to networks, to reach an asset base
of EUR 56,000 million for 2025.

— In renewables, investments will reach EUR 17,000 million, with a total capacity of
52,000 MW at the end of the period, increasing the current capacity by 12,100 MW:

3,100 MW onshore wind,

6,300 MW photovoltaic,

1,800 MW offshore,

700 MW in batteries, and

200 MW of hydropower.

The outlook for 2030, driven by growth in all markets and accelerating electrification, could
reach EUR 65-75,000 million in investments in the 2026-30 period to exceed 100 GW of
installed capacity (more than 80% renewable) and EUR 65,000 million in network assets.

6.c) Preparation of the Financial Statements

In preparing these Financial Statements, the impact of climate change has been considered
in a number of key estimates, including:

— estimated useful lives of assets, their residual values and decommissioning
provisions; and

— impairment tests.

Useful lives:

As described in Note 3.e) “Depreciation of property, plant and equipment in use”, the
IBERDROLA Group reviews the useful lives of its assets on an annual basis. The
IBERDROLA Group did not amend the useful life of its assets in financial year 2022, insofar
as, at the date of preparation of these financial statements, the roadmap for achieving
carbon neutrality for the carbon equivalent emissions of scopes 1 and 2 by 2030 has not
been drawn up.

Emissions from the production mix will be reduced, either by investing in new renewables,
or by offsetting any residual emissions.

The above-mentioned offsetting could take the form of:

— indirect offsetting through the carbon credit markets provided for in the Paris
Agreement or regulated or voluntary markets. In this regard, the IBERDROLA Group
will promote the planting of 20 million trees by 2030 to obtain sufficient carbon credits
to neutralise these residual emissions.
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— developments in technology that could make it feasible to reduce emissions through,
for example, biogas or CCS (Carbon Capture and Storage), thereby reducing
financial offsetting.

Moreover, the long-term ambition to achieve the carbon neutral target in 2040 (Scopes 1, 2
and 3) depends as much on the measures taken by the group as on the decisions of third
parties. These measures could affect not only the Group’s thermal generation business,
mainly cogeneration and combined cycle plants, but also its gas transmission, distribution
and retail supply activities.

The IBERDROLA Group has pledged not to build any additional thermal power plants to
those already in place and expects that this type of generation will remain in operation. This
is justified mainly by the need to provide power to the population without access to electricity
or to ensure an adequate integration of renewable energy.

It should also be borne in mind that some of the Group's businesses, such as gas
transmission and distribution in the United States and the United Kingdom, as well as part
of gas retail supply in Spain and the United Kingdom, for example, are regulated
businesses. Any possible withdrawal from these activities would require regulatory
authorisation. In addition, the role of these assets in each country's energy transition is
uncertain and depends on the future policies and measures adopted by governments or
regulators. Therefore, their useful life has not been changed in these financial statements
either. Should any decisions be taken by the regulator, such as shortening the useful life of
these assets, the IBERDROLA Group considers that the economic effects would not have
a significant impact, as the regulation would compensate the Group through tariffs, given
that the regulation itself guarantees the profitability of the investments made.

Consequently, in general, the IBERDROLA Group considers it impractical to accelerate the
depreciation of emitting assets, either because they are required as back-up or because
their useful life depends on actions by third parties beyond the IBERDROLA Group’s control.
Nor has it accelerated the timing of provisions for the closure or decommissioning of
facilities as a result of climate change. However, it will continue to monitor the system's
needs and the decisions of governments and regulators to determine whether it will need
to accelerate the depreciation of these assets in the future.

Impairment test

The projections used in the impairment tests of non-financial assets (Note 14) are aligned
with the energy scenario described in 6.a) and the strategic vision included in 6.b). The
aforesaid projections match the best forward-looking statements available to the
IBERDROLA Group and include the investment plans for each country prevailing at that
time. These plans respond to the IBERDROLA Group's strategy and are based on the 2030
Sustainable Development Scenario (SDS) as the central scenario, which includes the
objectives set out in the Paris Agreement with the adjustments described above.

These projections take into account the impact that new renewable power plants coming on
stream are expected to have on wholesale and retail electricity prices, as well as
developments in fuel prices (gas and electricity) and emission allowances as a result of the
aforementioned agreements, as indicated above.
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Climate risks

Section 4.6.2 "Operational risks — Climate change of the Management Report", describes
the climate risks, including physical and transition risks, considered by the Group for its
various businesses.

6.d) Financing

In keeping with a sustainable business model, the IBERDROLA Group demonstrates this
commitment to ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) financing in the different
geographies in which it operates and through the different instruments and formats it uses
to obtain financing. The objective here is threefold: (i) to align its financial strategy with its
purpose, values and investment strategy; (ii) to optimise its financial cost; and (iii) to
diversify its sources of financing, making sustainability both an end and a means to achieve
the financial strength it pursues and for which it is widely known.

The ESG financing signed by the IBERDROLA Group in 2022 amounts to EUR 9,512
million. The breakdown by product is as follows:

Green Sustainable

Millions of euros Note Total
financing financing
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 28
Obligations and bonds 3,237 — 3,237
Multilateral loans 991 — 991
Development bank and ECA loans 1,535 — 1,535
Bank loans — 995 995
Credit facilities — 2,500 2,500
Structured financing 23 254 — 254
Total 6,017 3,495 9,512

Green financing arrangements

* Obligations and Bonds

In the capital market, the IBERDROLA Group is the world’s leading private group when it
comes to green bonds issued.

In 2022, the IBERDROLA Group increased its volume of green bonds issued for a combined
amount of EUR 3,237 million; in the Corporation, EUR 2,950 million; at Avangrid, USD 125
million (EUR 118 million) and at Neoenergia, BRL 950 million (EUR 169 million).

* Bank loans

In the banking market, in May 2022 Iberdrola Mexico extended the maturity of the first green
loan signed in Latin America (USD 400 million) for an additional year until May 2024.
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¢ Multilateral loans

In 2022, the Corporation signed four green loans with the European Investment Bank (EIB)
for a total of EUR 893 million and Neoenergia increased its green financing with a Super
Green Loan arranged with International Finance Corporation (IFC), a member of the World
Bank Group, in the amount of BRL 550 million (EUR 98 million) to finance the upgrading,
expansion and digitalisation of transmission networks.

* Loans with development banks and export credit agencies (ECAs)

In April 2022 IBERDROLA signed a EUR 35 million loan with the Spanish Instituto de Crédito
Oficial (ICO).

The IBERDROLA Group has continued to diversify its sources of financing, establishing
new commercial relationships with export credit agencies (ECAs). These credit agencies
have insurance policies that cover significant percentages of the financial risks assumed by
banks, thus enabling IBERDROLA to diversify its sources of financing and reduce risk
consumption by banks.

As a result, IBERDROLA signed two green loans during the 2022 financial year, for a total
of EUR 1,500 million: EUR 1,000 million guaranteed by the Danish Export Credit Agency
(EKF) and EUR 500 million guaranteed by the Spanish Export Credit Agency (CESCE).

e Structured financing

In 2022 AVANGRID increased its green financing by USD 271 million (EUR 254 million)
under the tax equity investment approach.

Financing linked to the achievement of sustainability goals (SDGs)

The IBERDROLA Group has also entered into other financing contracts with the ESG label.
These are sustainable transactions that, rather than earmarking funds, link certain elements
of the instrument to sustainability metrics or the achievement of strategic milestones aligned
with the Sustainable Development Goals.

* Credit facilities linked to sustainable goals

In 2022, a new and innovative syndicated credit facility was signed for EUR 2,500 million,
linked to the Company’s water footprint.

* Bank loans linked to sustainable goals

In 2022 IBERDROLA signed bank loans for an aggregate amount of EUR 995 million linked
to its water management indicator.

At 31 December 2022, the total composition of the IBERDROLA Group’s ESG financial
transactions portfolio is as follows:
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Green Sustainable

Millions of euros Note Total
financing financing

Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 28
Obligations and bonds 17,668 — 17,668
Multilateral loans 2,857 — 2,857
Development bank and ECA loans 2,666 — 2,666
Bank loans 376 1,245 1,621
Credit facilities — 15,272 15,272
Commercial paper programmes — 5,000 5,000

Structured financing (*) 973 — 973

Total 24,540 21,517 46,057

(*) Including 100% green financing of projects with partners, amounting to EUR 2,416 million, the portfolio of ESG financial
transactions as at 31 December 2022 totalled EUR 48,473 million.

7. CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION AND
OTHER SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS

Business combinations

In 2022, the IBERDROLA Group has not carried out any relevant business combinations.
In 2021, the IBERDROLA Group also carried out the following business combinations:
Neoenergia Distribuigao Brasilia (formerly CEB Distribuigdo)

In December 2020, Bahia Geragéo de Energia S.A., a company wholly owned directly by
Neoenergia S.A., was awarded 100% of the share capital of the Brazilian company CEB
Distribuicdo S.A. (CEB Distribuigdo) in a public auction. The privatisation process was
managed through a public auction on the Brazilian stock exchange.

CEB Distribui¢ao holds the electric power distribution concession for the region of Brasilia,
an area of approximately 5,800 square kilometres. It serves approximately 1.1 million
customers through a distribution network of more than 9,700 kilometres. This concession
expires in 2045.

For the acquisition to be completed, the required regulatory approvals had to be secured
from the Brazilian authorities, and other common conditions in these types of deals also
had to be fulfilled. Both of these requirements were met. The takeover took place on 2 March
2021.

After the takeover, CEB Distribuicdo was renamed Neoenergia Distribuigdo Brasilia.
The fair value of the assets and liabilities of Neoenergia Distribuicao Brasilia and their
carrying amount at the takeover date were as follows:
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Millions of euros Carrying amount Fair value
Intangible assets 104 421
Property, plant and equipment 7 7
Non-current financial investments 58 58
Deferred tax assets 61 61
Inventories 2 2
Current trade and other receivables 111 111
Current financial assets 12 12
Cash and cash equivalents 15 15
Total 370 687
Millions of euros Carrying amount Fair value
Non-current provisions 25 40
Non-current financial liabilities 101 101
Deferred tax liabilities — 104
Current provisions 3 3
Current financial liabilities 152 154
Total 281 402
Poland

The IBERDROLA Group has reached an agreement with CEE Equity Partner to buy three
wind farms in Poland with a total capacity of 162.9 megawatts (MW). Two of the projects
(Zopowy and Korytnica 1), with a capacity of 112.5 MW, are already in operation, while the
third project (Korytnica 2), with 50.4 MW, started construction in March 2022. The takeover
took place on 22 June 2021.

Goodwill

Details of goodwill at 31 December 2021 arising on the above business combinations were
as follows:

Neoenergia
Millions of euros Distribuigdo Poland Total
Brasilia
Fair value of net acquired assets 285 142 427
Total acquisition cost 389 147 536
Goodwill from the acquisition (Note 9) 104 5 109

The resulting goodwill consists primarily of future economic benefits arising from the
acquired company’s own activities that do not meet the conditions for separate accounting
recognition at the time of the business combination.

Other information

Since the takeover, the acquisition of Neoenergia Distribuicdo Brasilia and the wind farms
in Poland contributed EUR 4 million to the IBERDROLA Group's net profit from continuing
operations in 2021.
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Had the acquisitions taken place on 1 January 2021, the contribution to net sales and net
profit for the year from continuing operations of the IBERDROLA Group in 2021 would have
been EUR 683 million and EUR 4 million, respectively.

The costs incurred in the acquisitions amounted to EUR 4 million.

Sale of Group companies

On 30 March 2021, IBERDROLA and MAPFRE, S.A. signed a strategic alliance to jointly
invest in renewable energies in Spain. The alliance has begun with 230 MW: 100 MW
operational wind and 130 MW photovoltaic under development, with the objective of
incorporating further green projects to reach 1,000 MW. The agreement was structured
through the company Energias Renovables Ibermap, S.L. (IBERMAP), in which MAPFRE
holds an ownership interest of 80% and IBERDROLA holds 20% and is also responsible for
developing, building and maintaining the facilities.

Under the terms of this strategic alliance, IBERDROLA contributed the following to
IBERMAP:

- on 10 June, 95.3 MW relating to the wind farms SE Altamira (49.3 MW), SE La Linera
(28 MW) and SE La Gomera (18 MW). On 30 June, it sold 80% of its shareholding to
MAPFRE in exchange for EUR 51 million. The transaction has resulted in the loss of
control of IBERMAP. In addition, the Group has valued the 20% stake it retains at fair
value at the transaction date.

- on 30 September it sold 99.8 MW corresponding to the wind farms SE Tacica de Plata
(26 MW), SE Nacimiento (23.8 MW) and SE Savalla Comtat (50 MW) in exchange for
EUR 116 million; and

- on 4 November it sold 100 MW corresponding to the Alto de Layna (50 MW) and Alto
de la Degollada (50 MW) wind farms in exchange for EUR 58 million.

As a result of all the foregoing, the IBERDROLA Group recognised a capital gain amounting

to EUR 230 million under “Other operating income” in the consolidated Income statement
for 2021.

Transactions with non-controlling interests (Note 21)

— On 3 October 2022, IBERDROLA, through its subsidiary in Brazil, Neoenergia, carried
out a voluntary public takeover bid (PTB) targeting the minority shareholders of
Neoenergia Pernambuco, representing 9.13% of the company’s share capital. In
addition, as envisaged in the PTB, the redemption and cancellation of the remaining
shares of Neoenergia Pernambuco that remained outstanding after the takeover bid,
representing 1.22% of the share capital, was approved.
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Since the IBERDROLA Group already controlled the company, the transaction was
recognised as a transaction in non-controlling interests, thus generating a reduction of
EUR 39 million in “Non-controlling interests” and a credit of EUR 24 million under the
“Other reserves” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position at 31
December 2022.

— In September 2022, Iberdrola Renovables Deutschland GmbH entered into an
agreement for the acquisition by Youco F22-H451 Vorrats-GmbH & Co. KG —a company
belonging to the group of which Energy Infrastructure Partners AG is the parent
company—, of a 49% stake in the share capital of Iberdrola Renovables Offshore
Deutschland GmbH, the owner of the Wikinger offshore wind farm in Germany with an
installed capacity of 350 MW, inaugurated in October 2018. Iberdrola Renovables
Deutschland will retain control of IBERDROLA Renovables Offshore Deutschland and
the IBERDROLA Group will continue to provide it with the operation and maintenance
services required to run the wind farm.

The consideration for the transaction amounts to approximately EUR 700 million. Since
the IBERDROLA Group already controlled the company, the transaction was recognised
as a transaction in non-controlling interests, thus generating an increase of EUR 625
million in “Non-controlling interests” and a credit of EUR 17 million under the “Other
reserves” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position at 31 December
2022.

— In 2022, IBERDROLA acquired additional shares in NEOENERGIA worth EUR 20

million. In the last quarter of 2021, IBERDROLA acquired additional shares in
NEOENERGIA worth EUR 60 million. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the percentage
ownership stands at 53.5% and 52.905%, respectively.
Since the IBERDROLA Group already controlled the company before the previous
acquisitions, the transactions were recognised as a transaction in non-controlling
interests, thus generating a reduction of EUR 28 million and EUR 81 million in “Non-
controlling interests” and a credit of EUR 8 million and EUR 21 million under the “Other
reserves” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position at 31 December
2022 and 2021, respectively.

Other significant transactions

Avangrid, Inc. announced in September 2021 that its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
Avangrid Renewables, LLC (Avangrid Renewables) entered into an agreement with CI-II
Park Holding LLC, CI Ill Park Holding LLC and CI IV Master DEVCO LLC, all subsidiaries
of Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners, and Vineyard Wind LLC, to reorganise the assets
of Vineyard Wind LLC, the joint venture 50% owned by Avangrid Group and 50% owned by
Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners for the development of certain offshore wind projects
on the east coast of the United States of America. According to the signed agreement:

i. Vineyard Wind 1, the 800 megawatt project to be built off the coast of Martha’s
Vineyard, Massachusetts, will continue to be owned 50/50 by each of the two
partners;
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ii. Avangrid Renewables will acquire 100% ownership of the rights to the OCSA 0534
lease area, comprising the 804-megawatt Park City Wind project, which will supply
clean energy to Connecticut, and Commonwealth Wind, which bid for up to 1,200
megawatts in Massachusetts’ third competitive offshore wind auction on 16
September 2021; and

iii. Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners will acquire 100 % ownership of the rights to
the OCS-A 0522 lease area, which has the potential for the development of
approximately 2,500 megawatts of clean energy supply projects in New England
and New York.

The transaction has resulted in a credit of EUR 228 million is recognised under “Result of
equity-accounted investees — net of tax” of the consolidated Income statement for financial
year 2022 (Note 15.a).

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

As described in Note 2.c, during financial year 2022 the IBERDROLA Group optimised its
organisational structure, based on a dual structure of geographic areas and businesses.
This makes it possible to coordinate and combine the day-to-day management of the
businesses in each country or territory while exchanging information and best practices
among the companies belonging to the IBERDROLA Group, in order to maximise the
operating efficiency and value of its businesses as a whole.

Based on the above, the segment information has been adapted in accordance with IFRS
8 for the preparation of the financial statements for 2022 with regard to defining segments
in line with the “management approach”, i.e. how the top decision-making authorities review
financial performance and financial position information during the operating or resource

allocation decision-making process. Furthermore, the information for the previous period
has been restated.

This matrix structure with segments by geographical area and by business is as follows:
By geographical area:

* Spain;

* United Kingdom;

¢ United States;

e Mexico;

¢ Brazil; and

* |Iberdrola Energia Internacional (IEl), where the most relevant countries are
Germany, France and Australia.
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* Renewables and Sustainable Generation Business: includes the generation of
electricity from renewable sources (onshore and offshore wind, photovoltaic and
hydroelectric), as well as other energy sources, and conventional nuclear and

combined cycle generation in Spain.

* Networks business: including all the energy transmission and distribution activities,

mainly gas and electricity, and any other regulated activity.

* Customers business: including energy retail supply activities, mainly gas and
electricity, and other products and services, including hydrogen, as well as non-
renewable generation in Mexico as it is mostly for third parties.

» Other businesses: other non-energy businesses.

In addition, the Corporation reflects the costs of the IBERDROLA Group’s structure, derived
mainly from the corporate functions, whether at global or local level, which provide services
to the companies and businesses on the basis of intra-group service contracts entered into
with Iberdrola, S.A. or with the corresponding country subholding company.

The transactions between the different segments are executed on an arm's-length basis.

The key figures for the identified segments are as follows:

2022 _ United United _ _ Corporation

Spain Kinadom States Mexico Brazil IEI and Total
Millions of euros 9 adjustments
REVENUE 22,980 9,813 7,907 4,079 8,613 802 (245) 53,949
PROFIT/(LOSS)
Segment operating profit 3,213 921 1,162 621 1,676 282 109 7,984
Result of equity-accounted 34 2 243 o 1) (23) (19) 146
investees — net of taxes
ASSETS
Segment assets 33,799 28,043 43,961 7,501 11,102 6,699 3,325 134,430
Equity-accounted investees 172 10 402 — 143 42 88 857
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 11,370 7,104 13,028 1,773 4,050 1,036 1,389 39,750
OTHER INFORMATION
Total cost incurred during the
period in the acquisition of 2803 1473 3114 257 345 1,566 13 9,671
property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
Impalrmen.t losses, trade and 15 103 158 . 93 . 1 470
other receivables
Amortisation and depreciation 1,267 920 1,224 230 502 178 361 4,682
Charges for asset impairment 22 — — 8 — — — 30
Reversal for asset impairment — — — — — (27) — (27)
(Charges)/Reversal for other (6) 15 55 4 14 8 (1) 89
Expér{ses for the period other
than depreciation and - 24 75 21 2 13 — 27 162
amortisation not resulting in cash
outflows
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2021 Corporation
Restated (Note 2.c) Spain  United  United " ico  Brazil IEI and  Total
Kingdom States .

_ adjustments
Millions of euros
REVENUE 16,082 6,172 5,752 3,489 7,167 557 (105) 39,114
PROFIT/(LOSS)
Segment operating profit 3,700 850 776 551 1,237 204 25 7,343
Result of equity-accounted 29 . 6 . 68) ) 5 (39)
investees — net of taxes
ASSETS
Segment assets 34,100 29,026 39,192 6,910 9,313 5,312 2,879 126,732
Equity-accounted investees 146 9 477 — 260 71 95 1,058
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 10,992 7,192 11,914 1,718 3,876 1,147 804 37,643
OTHER INFORMATION
Total cost incurred during the
period in the acquisition of 2417 1,115 2897 243 482 1,237 81 8472
property, plant and equipment use
and intangible assets
Impalrmen.t losses, trade and 102 126 86 o 55 . o 369
other receivables
Amortisation and depreciation 1,447 886 1,030 215 378 165 76 4,197
Charges for asset impairment 13 — 17 13 — 6 3 52
Reversal for asset impairment (6) — — — — (16) (2) (24)
(Charges)/Reversal for other 9) 12 57 5 6 13 (15) 69
Expenses for the period other
than depreciation and 89 1) 88 9 7 o 61 246

amortisation not resulting in cash
outflows

With a view to improving the homogeneity and comparability of the information, the energy supplied during 2021 between
Group companies and settled in 2022, totalling EUR 776 million, is classified in the information for 2021.

Additionally, the breakdown of non-current assets by geographical area is as follows:

31.12.2021
Millions of euros 31.12.2022 Restated (Note
2.c)

Non-current assets (*)
Spain 25,642 24,826
United Kingdom 25,746 26,403
United States 39,726 35,700
Mexico 5,953 5,679
Brazil 5,014 4,332
IEI 6,332 5,011
Corporation and adjustments 708 509
Total 109,121 102,460

(*) Excluding non-current financial investments, deferred tax assets, current tax assets and non-current trade and other

receivables.
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2022 Renewables Other
and businesses,

Networks Sustainable Customers Corporation and Total
Millions of euros Generation adjustments
REVENUE 18,355 10,322 34,939 (9,667) 53,949
PROFIT/(LOSS)
Segment operating profit 4,151 2,214 1,749 (130) 7,984
Result of equity-accounted investees — net 13 153 @ (18) 146
of taxes
ASSETS
Segment assets 62,088 47,825 13,949 10,568 134,430
Equity-accounted investees 180 628 20 29 857
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 21,414 10,399 7,522 415 39,750
OTHER INFORMATION
Total cost incurred during the period in the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,290 5,477 724 180 9,671
and intangible assets
Impglrment losses, tra.de and other 239 16 214 1 470
receivables (expense/income)
Amortisation and depreciation 2,087 1,835 623 137 4,682
Charges for asset impairment 4 7 19 — 30
Reversal for asset impairment — (27) — — (27)
(Charges)/Reversal for other provisions 43 40 8 (2) 89
Expenses for the period other than
depreciation and amortisation not resulting in 38 (1) 30 95 162

cash outflows
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2021 Renewables .
Restated (Note 2.c) and Other busu.\esses,
Networks . Customers Corporation and Total
Sustainable i
Millions of euros Generation adjustments
REVENUE 14,887 8,969 23,764 (8,506) 39,114
PROFIT/(LOSS)
Segment operating profit 3,362 4,648 (733) 66 7,343
Result of equity-accounted investees — net 13 (63) 6 5 (39)
of taxes
ASSETS
Segment assets 57,333 45,490 12,888 11,021 126,732
Equity-accounted investees 162 779 22 95 1,058
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 19,843 11,256 6,453 91 37,643
OTHER INFORMATION
Total cost incurred during the period in the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,206 4,321 802 143 8,472
and intangible assets
Impglrment losses, trgde and other 159 2 208 _ 369
receivables (expense/income)
Amortisation and depreciation 1,835 1,666 564 132 4,197
Charges for asset impairment — 36 13 3 52
Reversal for asset impairment (W) (12) (10) (1) (24)
(Charges)/Reversal for other provisions 40 27 17 (15) 69
Expenses for the period other than
depreciation and amortisation not resulting in 139 32 30 45 246
cash outflows
Additionally, the breakdown of non-current assets by business activity is as follows:
Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Non-current assets (*)
Networks 51,444 48,488
Renewables and Sustainable Generation 42,655 39,001
Customers 6,102 5,790
Other business, Corporation and adjustments 8,920 9,181
Total 109,121 102,460

(*) Excluding non-current financial investments, deferred tax assets, current tax assets and non-current trade and other

receivables.

The reconciliation between segment assets and liabilities and the total assets and liabilities

of the consolidated Statement of financial position is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Segment assets 134,430 126,732
Non-current financial investments 10,508 6,499
Assets held for sale 308 124
Current financial assets 4,813 4,364
Cash and cash equivalents 4,608 4,033
Total Assets 154,667 141,752
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Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Segment liabilities 39,750 37,643
Equity 58,114 56,126
Non-current financial liabilities 42,682 35,630
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 36,129 31,179
Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability 576 525
Derivative financial instruments 3,690 1,673
Leases 2,287 2,253
Current financial liabilities 14,094 12,353
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities 10,458 9,984
Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability 87 100
Derivative financial instruments 3,398 2,111
Leases 151 158
Liabilities linked to assets held for sale 27 —
Total Liabilities and Equity 154,667 141,752
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The changes in 2022 and 2021 in intangible assets and the corresponding accumulated amortisation and impairment allowances were as follows:
_ Modification of Additions and Capitalised Def:reases, _ Modification of Additions and Capitalised Def:reases,
Millions of euros Balance at Translation the charges/ personnel Transfers disposals Balance at Translation the charges/ personnel Transfers disposals Balance at
01.01.2021 differences consolidation (reversals) expenses or 31.12.2021 differences consolidation (reversals) expenses or 31.12.2022
scope (Note 7) (Note 39) reductions scope (Note 7) (Note 39) reductions

Cost:

Goodwill 7,613 590 109 — — — — 8,312 (106) — — — — 17) 8,189
Concessions,

patents, licenses, 6,916 463 305 5 — 56 — 7,745 321 12 3 — (351) (54) 7,676
trademarks and

others

Intangible assets

under IFRIC 12 3,510 17) 175 — — 220 (14) 3,874 579 — — — 635 (86) 5,002
(Notes 3.b and 13)

Computer 2,400 115 15 235 20 9 (30) 2,764 34 — 261 24 @ ®) 3,070
software

Customer 888 20 — 324 — — (42) 1,190 (12) — 247 — — (66) 1,359
acquisition costs

Other intangible

assets 2,819 223 4) 32 1 (42) (2) 3,027 101 — 2 — (6) (6) 3,118
Total cost 24,146 1,394 600 596 21 243 (88) 26,912 917 12 513 24 271 (235) 28,414
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_ Modification of Additions and Capitalised De.creases, _ Modification of Additions and Capitalised Def:reases,

Millions of euros Balance at Translation the charges/ personnel Transfers disposals Balance at Translation the charges/ personnel Transfers disposals Balance at

01.01.2021 differences consolidation (reversals) expenses or 31.12.2021 differences consolidation (reversals) expenses or 31.12.2022

scope (Note 7) (Note 39) reductions scope (Note 7) reductions
(Note 39)

Accumulated depreciation and provisions:
Concessions,
patents, licenses,
trademarks and 822 36 (7) 93 — 3 — 947 32 — 108 — (19) (12) 1,056
others
Intangible assets
under IFRIC 12 2,023 (10) 72 232 — — 1) 2,316 317 — 331 — 7 (69) 2,902
(Notes 3.b and 13)
Computer 1,840 85 14 211 - - (29) 2,121 19 - 212 - @ ®6) 2,339
software
C”S“.’W.e § 425 8 — 255 — — (36) 652 (6) — 298 — — (66) 878
acquisition costs
Other Intanglble 664 55 — 99 — 3) — 815 35 — 109 — ) ®) 952
assets
Total
accumulated 5,774 174 79 890 — — (66) 6,851 397 — 1,058 — (20) (159) 8,127
depreciation
Impairment
allowance (Notes 150 12 — (10) — — — 152 9 — 8 — — — 169
8 and 41)
Total
accumulated 5,924 186 79 880 — — (66) 7,003 406 — 1,066 - (20) (159) 8,206
depreciation and
provisions
Total net cost 18,222 1,208 521 (284) 21 243 (22) 19,909 511 12 (553) 24 291 (76) 20,118
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The amounts incurred in research and development activities (expenses and investment)
in 2022 and 2021 total EUR 363 million and EUR 337 million respectively.

The fully amortised intangible assets still in use at 31 December 2022 and 2021 amounted
to EUR 1,747 and 1,247 million, respectively.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group had commitments to acquire
intangible assets totalling EUR 28 and 33 million, respectively.

In addition, at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no significant restrictions on the
ownership of intangible assets, except for the regulated businesses, which may require
authorisation from the corresponding regulator for certain transactions.

The allocation of goodwill to the various cash-generating units at 31 December 2022 and
2021 is as follows:

31.12.2022 >1-12-2021 Restated

Millions of euros (Note 2.c)
United Kingdom 5,713 5,981
United States 1,966 1,866
Brazil 371 325
IEl - France 62 62
IEI - Australia 43 43
Rest of IEl y other 34 35
Total 8,189 8,312

The above aggregation by country (United Kingdom, United States, Brazil, France, Australia
and others) corresponds to groups of cash-generating units including, where applicable,
electricity and gas retail supply, regulated activities and renewables.

The allocation of indefinite life and in-progress intangible assets at 31 December 2022 and
2021 to the different cash generating units is as follows:
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2022 2021
Intangll')le Intangible Intanglt.)le Intangible
- assets with . assets with .
Millions of euros . . assets in Total . _ assets in Total
indefinite roaress indefinite roaress
useful lives prog useful lives prog
Electricity distribution in 756 . 756 791 . 791
Scotland
Electricity distribution in 797 . 797 761 . 761
Wales and England
Electricity transmission in the 287 . 287 301 . 301
UK
Electricity and gas distribution
1,114 — 1,114 1,048 — 1,048
in New York (NYSEG)
Electricity and gas distribution
1,004 — 1,004 945 — 945
in New York (RG&E) ’ ’
Transmission and distribution
277 — 277 260 — 260
of electricity in Maine (CMP)
Transml.ss.lor? and dlstnputlon 1,159 . 1,159 1,092 . 1,092
of electricity in Connecticut
Gas distribution in
293 — 293 275 — 275
Connecticut (CNG)
Gas distribution in
574 — 574 541 — 541
Connecticut (SCG)
Gas distribution
39 — 39 37 — 37
Massachusetts (BGC)
Other 12 — 12 — 399 399
Total 6,242 — 6,242 6,051 399 6,450

The undefined useful life assets mostly correspond to the acquisition cost of licences to
operate in different businesses which are the core business in the activities performed by
the IBERDROLA Group.

The main change in intangible assets in progress under “Other” relates to the concession
of the Tdmega hydroelectric complex, which has entered into operation.

10. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Changes in 2022 and 2021 in the IBERDROLA Group’s investment property were as
follows:

Additions and Decreases, Additions and

Millions of euros 5?'::;::: (charges)/  Transfers disposa!s or E»ilfzn_(;g;t (charges)/ Eilfgzg;zt
reversals reductions reversals

Investment property 371 3 84 (75) 383 1 384

Impairment allowance 9) — — — 9) 1 (8)

Accumulated depreciation (61) 7) 1) 5 (64) (5) (69)

Total net cost 301 (4) 83 (70) 310 (3) 307

The investment property owned by the IBERDROLA Group relates primarily to properties
used for leasing. Income accrued in 2022 and 2021 from this activity amounted to EUR 21
and 17 million, respectively, and was recognised under the “Revenue” heading of the
consolidated Income statement. Operating expenses directly related to investment property
in 2022 and 2021 were not significant.
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The fair value of investment property in use at 31 December 2022 and 2021 amounted to
EUR 350 and 326 million, respectively. This fair value (classified in Level 3) is determined
via expert independent appraisals made annually in accordance with the Valuation
Standards published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) of Great Britain,
in their January 2014 edition, as last updated in 2020. The valuations at 31 December 2022
and 2021 were carried out by Knight Frank Espafia.

The assets have been valued individually and not as part of a property portfolio.

The methods applied for the calculation of fair value have been the discount of cash flows,
the capitalisation of revenue and the comparison method, checked, as far as possible,
against comparable (peer) transactions to reflect the reality of the market and the prices to
which they are currently closing the asset operations of similar characteristics to the
reference operations.

The discount of cash flows is based on a prediction of the probable net income that
investment property will generate for a period of time and it considers its residual value at
the end of the period. Cash flows are discounted at an internal rate of return that reflects
the urban, construction and business risk of the asset.

The key variables and assumptions of the cash flow discount method are:

* Net income that the property will generate for a certain period of time, considering
the initial contractual situation, development of renters and expected income,
marketing costs, divestment expenses (variable percentage depending on the sale
price), etc.

¢ Discount rate or objective internal return rate adjusted to reflect the risk that the
investment entails depending on the localisation, occupation, renter quality, property
age, etc.

¢ Disposal return, which consists of an estimate of the exit (sale) price of the property
applying an estimated return for the close of the transaction at that date, considering
the criteria of obsolescence, liquidity and market uncertainty.

For rental property that does not include such a broad number of variables and involves
leased property for a period of time greater than 10 years and up and one renter, the
capitalisation method for income is usually applied. This method consists of the perpetual
capitalisation of the current contractual income via a capitalisation rate that inherently
includes the risks and uncertainties that could arise in the market.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021 the amount of fully depreciated investment property
amounted to EUR 3 million. There are no restrictions on its realisation in any of the financial
years. Furthermore, there are no contractual obligations for the acquisition, construction,
development, repair or maintenance of investment property.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Changes in 2022 and 2021 in Property, plant and equipment and the appropriate accumulated depreciation and provisions were as follows:
Modification of Decreases Decreases
- Balance at Translation the . Charges/ . ’ . Balance at Translation . Charges . ’ . Balance at
Millions of euros 01.01.2021 differences  consolidation Additions (reversals) Transfers dlsposal.s or Write-downs 31.12.2021 differences Additions /(reversals) Transfers dlsposal's or Write-downs 31.12.2022
reductions reductions
scope (Note 7)
Cost:
Land and buildings 2,497 114 1) 7 - 75 (25) - 2,731 109 80 - 116 (6) - 3,030
Electric energy technical
facilities:
Hydroelectric power plants 7,104 15 — — — 56 (22) — 7,153 78 — — 931 (39) — 8,123
Thermal power plants 1,227 — — — — — — — 1,227 — — — — (193) — 1,034
;;’:‘tzme‘j cycle power 8,676 436 — @ — 97 (38) — 9,169 373 (84) — 402 (19) — 9,841
Nuclear power plants 7,879 — — 3) — 154 (63) — 7,967 — (127) — 120 (42) (8) 7,910
Wind farms and other 28,952 1,635 (172) 163 — 1,780 (110) (23) 32,225 613 (542) — 739 (1) (18) 32,996
renewables
Photovoltaic power plants 896 47 — 60 — 412 — — 1,415 32 (1) — 900 1 (1) 2,346
Facilities for:
Gas storage 182 14 — — — 3) (33) — 160 3 — — — — — 163
Electricity transmission 9,245 777 — 1) — 421 (18) — 10,424 134 (21) — 516 (42) — 11,011
Electricity distribution 32,608 1,347 (33) 183 — 1,590 (57) — 35,638 103 203 — 1,795 (111) — 37,628
Gas distribution 3,177 276 — — — 175 (13) — 3,615 223 — — 222 (16) — 4,044
Meters and metering 2,054 116 — 93 — 118 (48) — 2,333 28 116 — 76 (58) — 2,495
devices
Dispatching centres and
I 2,230 49 2) 36 — 211 (12) — 2,512 4 40 340 (34) — 2,862
other facilities
Total technical facilities 104,230 4712 (207) 529 — 5,011 (414) (23) 113,838 1,591 (416) — 6,041 (574) (27) 120,453
in operation
Others in use 2,163 107 52 208 — 15 (36) - 2,509 76 228 — (11) (37) — 2,765
Technical installations 6,336 328 21 6,519 —  (4,768) (78) (40) 8,318 119 8,123 — (5815 @7 (@) 10,714
under construction
Prepayments and other
PP&E under 597 29 5 737 — (384) (203) (6) 775 63 539 — (504) (21) (3) 849
construction (*)
Total cost 115,823 5,290 (130) 8,064 — (51) 756 69 128,171 1,958 8,554 — (173) (665) (34) 137,811

(*) Prepayments at 31 December 2022 and 2021 amounted to EUR 200 million and EUR 219 million, respectively.

www.iberdrola.com

@ 1BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 76

Modification of

Decreases, . . Decreases,
- Balance at Translation the s Charges . Write- Balance at Translation s Charges . . Balance at
Millions of euros 01.01.2021 differences consolidation Additions I(reversals) Transfers dlsposal's °" downs 31.12.2021 differences Additions I(reversals) Transfers dlsposal.s or Write-downs 31.12.2022
reductions reductions
scope (Note 7)
Accumulated
depreciation and
provisions:
Buildings 568 28 — — 46 (6) 9) — 627 22 — 52 (1) (1) — 699
Technical facilities in
operation:
Hydroelectric power plants 4,069 5 (1) — 99 — (20) — 4,152 19 — 109 17) (32) — 4,231
Thermal power plants 1,219 — — — 1 — 2) — 1,218 — — 1 — (192) — 1,027
Combined cycle power 3,010 128 — — 262 — (34) — 3,366 118 — 271 (7 (12) — 3,726
plants
Nuclear power plants 6,237 — — — 202 — (62) — 6,377 — — 211 — (42) 4) 6,542
Wind farms and other 10,055 505 (118) — 1,004 — (79) 7 11,350 200 — 1,105 43 (15) (19) 12,664
renewables
Photovoltaic power plants 52 4 — — 36 1 — — 93 4 — 55 — 4 — 156
Facilities for:
Gas storage 66 5 — — 4 (5) (16) — 54 — — 4 — — — 58
Electricity transmission 2,135 182 — — 187 (6) (7) — 2,491 31 — 227 — (28) — 2,721
Electricity distribution 12,042 409 9) — 873 (57) (28) — 13,230 45 — 923 (133) (80) — 13,985
Gas distribution 1,177 90 — — 55 (245) (4) — 1,073 66 — 65 — (4) — 1,200
Meters and metering 966 52 — — 131 37 (34) — 1,152 10 — 137 — (39) — 1,260
devices
Dlspatch!ﬂg centres and 909 34 _ _ 106 288 8) _ 1,329 17 — 124 — (33) — 1,437
other facilities
Total technical facilities
) ) 41,937 1,414 (128) — 2,960 13 (294) (17) 45,885 510 — 3,232 (124) (473) (23) 49,007
in operation
Others in use 1,284 44 44 — 150 (38) (34) — 1,450 30 — 168 (57) (38) — 1,553
Total lated
otal accumuiate 43,789 1,486 (84) — 3,156 31) (337) a7 47,962 562 — 3,452 (182) (512) (23) 51,259
depreciation
Impairment allowance
255 1 — — 14 — 14 — 228 1 — 16 15 — — 226
(Note 41) (14) (14) () (16)
Total accumulated
depreciation and 44,044 1,487 (84) — 3,142 (31) (351) 7 48,190 561 — 3,436 (167) (512) (23) 51,485
provisions
TOTAL NET COST 71,779 3,803 (46) 8,064 (3,142) (20) (405) (52) 79,981 1,397 8,554 (3,436) (6) (153) (1) 86,326
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The breakdown by geographic area and business of the main investments in property, plant
and equipment made in 2022 and 2021, net of additions for the year under “Other
provisions” (Note 27), “Capital grants” (Note 24) and “Facilities assigned and financed by
third parties” (Note 25), is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 Restated

(Note 2.c¢)
Spain 2,350 1,860
United Kingdom 1,355 928
United States 3,009 2,742
Mexico 245 231
Brazil 333 451
IEI 1,533 1,206
Corporation and adjustments 38 28
Total 8,863 7,446

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 Restated

(Note 2.c)
Networks 3,103 3,041
Renewables and Sustainable Generation 5,290 3,988
Customers 432 389
Other business, Corporation and adjustments 38 28
Total 8,863 7,446

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment still in use at 31 December 2022 and 2021
amounted to EUR 3,075 million and EUR 3,586 million, respectively.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group had commitments to acquire
property, plant and equipment totaling EUR 4,992 million and EUR 5,218 million,
respectively.

Additional information on litigated assets

— In January 2021, construction began on the New England Clean Energy Connect
(NECEC) project, after obtaining all the necessary permits granted by public
administrations, and was halted in November 2021 pending a court decision to
determine the legality of a citizens' initiative that, among other requirements, called
for the approval of Congress for certain transmission lines when they cross or use
public land. On 30 August 2022, the Maine Court of Justice handed down a judgment
remanding the appeal to the lower court stating that it would be unconstitutional to
stop the project without compensation if the project had been started. The litigation
is ongoing and is expected to be settled in 2023. The combined investment to date
is approximately USD 550 million.

- In 2022, the interconnection agreement to operate the Monterrey and Enertek
(Mexico) plants on a self-supply basis came to an end and the corresponding
permits to operate on a market basis were applied for. At the date of preparation of
this financial information these permits have not been obtained. Despite the fact that
the rulings granted an amparo injunction to the plants in question to continue
operating, the CRE has not responded to the migration applications submitted to
date. The company is hopeful that the delay in obtaining the permits will not affect
the plants' viability, in which case it will continue pursuing the pertinent legal claims.
The net book value amounts to USD 219 million and USD 77 million, respectively.
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The Administrative Chamber of the High Court of Justice of Extremadura ruled to
partially uphold the appeal lodged by one of the three owners of the land on which
the Usagre Nufez de Balboa (Badajoz) photovoltaic plant is located, against the
expropriation resolution of the Provincial Compulsory Expropriation Board of
Badajoz. The judgment stressed that the company had, at all times, sufficient legal
titte to build the plant without requiring expropriation and indicated that the
expropriation application lacked grounds or justification with an order for the
restitution of ownership and possession of the land. IBERDROLA has brought an
appeal in cassation against the judgment, which is awaiting admission of the appeal
by the Supreme Court at the date of preparation of these financial statements. The
combined investment to date is approximately EUR 262 million.

In addition, the Santiago Edlico plant, operational since January 2021, has had its
interconnection contract terminated, which means that the plant is not operating.
IBERDROLA will shortly bring the appropriate legal action in defence of its rights.
The combined investment to date is approximately USD 200 million.

An analysis of the impact of the current status of these proceedings in terms of the
recoverability of the amounts capitalised has been carried out and no impairment has been
detected at the date of preparation of this financial information.
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Changes in 2022 and 2021 in right-of-use assets resulting from contracts in which the IBERDROLA Group is the lessor were as follows:
Modification of Additions Restatement/ Additions  Restatement/

Milli § Balance at Translation the and modification of T f D iti Balance at Translation and modification of D iti Balance at

fiilons of euros 01.01.2021 differences consolidation  (charges) lease liabilities oo o> DoreCOONMUONS 5, 192021 differences  (charges) lease liabilities oo™ O™ 34.12.2022

scope (Note 7) Ireversals (Note 31) Ireversals (Note 31)

Cost:
Land 1,608 87 (21) 123 129 (7) (16) 1,903 23 128 36 9) 2,081
Buildings 351 20 — 46 13 7 (3) 434 5 45 24 (8) 500
Equipment 126 6 — 32 5 — It 168 2 30 2 @ 200
Fleet 86 4 — 16 2 — (3) 105 @ 9 4 @ 114
Other 122 8 — — 44 — (45) 129 6 — 7 (14) 114
Total cost 2,293 125 (21) 217 193 — (68) 2,739 34 212 59 (35) 3,009
Accumulated
depreciation and
provisions:
Land (120) (7) 3 (74) — — 1 (197) (1) (84) — 2 (280)
Buildings (92) (5) — (37) — 2 2 (134) ®3) (45) — 2 (180)
Equipment (22) — — (12) — 2 1 (31) — (19) — 2 (48)
Fleet (41) 2) — (20) — — 2 (61) 1 (19) — 1 (78)
Other (43) (3) — (8) — — — (54) (2) (8) — 13 (51)
Total accumulated
depreciation (318) a7 3 (151) - - 6 (477) (5) 175 — 20 (637)
Impairment allowance (1) — — (1) — — — (2) — — — — (2)
Total accumulated
depreciation and (319) (17) 3 (152) — — 6 (479) (5) (175) — 20 (639)
provisions
Total net cost 1,974 108 (18) 65 193 — (62) 2,260 29 37 59 (15) 2,370
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IBERDROLA Group is the holder of lease agreements enabling the assignment of use of
the land used for the installation of wind farms, solar plants and other renewable facilities,
as well as electricity distribution and transmission infrastructures. These are long-term
agreements and/or include extension options which may adjust the lease term to the useful
life of property, plant and equipment installed there. The payment of the rent includes fixed
and variable amounts calculated based on parameters such as electricity generation or the
sales of the facilities.

Moreover, the Group maintains long-term lease contracts with options to be extended on
certain office buildings.

Many of the lease contracts for land and buildings are indexed to consumer price indices or
similar indicators.

13. CONCESSION AGREEMENTS

A description of the electricity business concession agreements in Brazil is shown below
(Note 3.b):

Distribution

Company Location Concessio Expiry date . No. Of Tariff L_ast
n date municipaliti cycle review

Elektro Redes, S.A. State of S&o Paulo 27/08/1998  26/08/2028 223 4 years Aug 19

Elektro Redes, S.A. j;a;euf’f Mato Grosso  7/08/1998  26/08/2028 5 4years  Aug 19

Companhia de Eletricidade do .

Estado da Bahia, S.A. State of Bahia 08/08/1997  07/08/2027 415 5 years Apr 18

Companhia Energética de State of Pernambuco ~ 30/03/2000  29/03/2030 184  4years  Apr21

Pernambuco, S.A.

Companhia Energética de District of Fernando de 30/03/2000  29/03/2030 1 4 years Apr 21

Pernambuco, S.A. Noronha

Companhia Energética de State of Paraiba 30/03/2000  29/03/2030 1 4years  Apr21

Pernambuco, S.A.

Companhia Energética do Rio  State of Rio Grande

Grande do Norte, S.A. do Norte 31/12/1997  30/12/2027 167 5 years Apr 18

Neoenergia Distribuigao Federal District 26/08/1999  07/07/2045 1 5years  Oct21

Brasilia S.A.
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Company Location Concession Expiry date Tarif L_ast
date cycle review
Afluente Transmiss&o de Energia .
o State of Bahia 08/08/1997 08/08/2027 5 years 2020
Elétrica, S.A.
S.E. Narandiba, S.A. (SE Narandiba) State of Bahia 28/01/2009 28/01/2039 5 years 2019
S.E. Narandiba, S.A. (SE Extremoz) State of Rio Grande do Norte 10/05/2012 10/05/2042 5 years 2022
S.E. Narandiba, S.A. (SE Brumado) State of Bahia 27/08/2012 27/08/2042 5 years 2018
Potiguar Sul Transmissao de Energia, States of Paraiba and Rio
SA Grande do Norte 01/08/2013 01/08/2043 5 years 2019
Neoenergia Sobral Transmisséo de .
. State of Ceara 31/07/2017 31/07/2047 5 years —
Energia, S.A.
Neoenergia Atibaia Transmissdo de oo ¢ 50 Paulo 31/07/2017  31/07/2047 5 years —
Energia, S.A.
Neoenergia Biguagu Transmissdo de g0 ¢ Santa Catarina 31/07/2017  31/07/2047 5 years —
Energia, S.A.
NeoerTergla Dourados Transmisséo de States~of Mato Grosso do Sul 31/07/2017 31/07/2047 5 years o
Energia, S.A. and Séo Paulo
Neoenergia Santa Luzia Transmissao oo of paraiba and Ceara ~ 08/03/2018  08/03/2048 5 years —
de Energia, S.A.
Neoer?ergla Jalapdo Transmisséo de S.tate's of Tocantins, Bahia and 08/03/2018 08/03/2048 5 years o
Energia, S.A. Piaui
Transmission under construction
Compan Location Concession Expiry date
pany date piry
Neoenergia Guanabara Transmissédo de Energia, S.A. State of Rio de Janeiro 22/03/2019  22/03/2049
Neoenergia Itabapoana Transmisséo de Energia, S.A. State of Rio de Janeiro 22/03/2019  22/03/2049
Neoenergia Lagoa dos Patos Transmissao de Energia, S.A. Rio Grande .do Suland 22/03/2019  22/03/2049
Santa Catarina
P .
Neoenergia Vale do Itajai Transmissao de Energia, S.A. Cz;zziaa”d Santa 22/03/2019  22/03/2049
?Z Formoso A Servigos de Transmissao de Energia Elétrica SPE State of Bahia 20/03/2020  20/03/2050
Morro do Chapéu A Servigos de Transmisséo de Energia Elétrica State of Bahia 31/03/2021  31/03/2051
SPE S.A.
EKTT 8 A Servigcos de Transmiss&o de Energia Elétrica SPE S.A. State of Minas Gerais 31/03/2022  31/03/2052
EKTT 9 A Servigos de Transmissdo de Energia Elétrica SPE SA. ioes Of Minas Gerals 5505005 30/09/2052
and S&o Paulo
Neoenergia Trasmissora 11 States of Minas Gerais — 506/5000  30/09/2052
and S&o Paulo
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The duration of the transmission and distribution concessions is 30 years, and they may be
extended for up to a further 30 years upon request by the concession holder and at the
discretion of the awarding authority, which is the Agéncia Nacional de Energia Elétrica
(ANEEL). The concession holder may not transfer such assets or use them as collateral
without the prior written consent of the regulatory body. For distribution concessions, at the
end of the concession ownership automatically reverts to the concession grantor and the
amount of compensation due to the concession holder is assessed and determined.

Income from previous concession agreements includes the provision of construction
services (Note 37) and operation and maintenance services for facilities owned by the
awarding authority. The provisions of said services constitute two separate execution
obligations incorporating different margins.

Construction services have a length of 3 to 5 years, whereas the provision of operation and
maintenance services for facilities starts on the date they are delivered. In general, the latter
date determines when the agreed annual payments are collected as part of the concession
agreements. Such annual payments are collected during the concession period (normally
30 years), so they have a significant financial component.

14. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Methodology for designing impairment tests

At least yearly, the IBERDROLA Group analyses its assets for indications of impairment. If
such indications are found, an impairment test is conducted.

The IBERDROLA Group also conducts a systematic analysis of the impairment of cash-
generating units that include goodwill or intangible assets in progress or with indefinite
useful life, typically by applying the value in use method. Recovery of goodwill is analysed
at country level (unit or group of cash-generating units) according to the Group's
management structure.

The projections used in the impairment tests are based on the best forecast information
held by the IBERDROLA Group and include the investment plans for each country prevailing
at that time. These plans are designed on the basis of the IBERDROLA Group's strategy,
taking into account the objectives of the Paris Agreement (Note 6), and are based on the
electrification of the economy with renewable energy sources, to advance towards
decarbonisation and climate neutrality, and the objective of the IBERDROLA Group
becoming carbon neutral ahead of the European Union's target date.

a) Assumptions used in the cash-generating units of the Customers segment:

— Number of customers: expectations of the evolution of the number of customers
have been used in the markets where the company operates and its relative position
therein.
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Unit margin for electricity and gas retail supply: existing sales and purchase
contracts have been used, as well as expectations of unit margins based on
knowledge of the markets where the company operates and its relative position
therein.

Investment: the projections are based on the best available information about the
cost of the investments to be made in the coming years.

b) Assumptions used in the cash-generating units of the Networks segment:

Regulated remuneration: approved remuneration has been used for years in which
it is available, while in subsequent periods revision mechanisms of such
remuneration set in different regulations have been used, and these have been
applied in line with the estimated costs of the corresponding cash-generating units.

Investment: the projections were based on investment plans consistent with the
expected demand growth and undertakings in each concession, with the minimums
set by each regulator and with the estimate of future remuneration used.

Operation and maintenance costs: the best available estimation of the performance
of the operation and maintenance cost was used, which is in line with the
remuneration assumed to be received in each year.

c) Assumptions used in the cash-generating units of the Renewables and Sustainable

Generation segment:

Facilities’ production: the operation hours of each plant were consistent with their
historical output. In this respect, the long-term predictability of wind output was taken
into account, which was also covered by regulatory mechanisms in practically all
countries that enabled wind farms to produce whenever meteorological and network
conditions allowed it.

Electricity sales prices: the prices stipulated in the purchase and sales agreements
signed have been used, where applicable. For unsold production, futures prices of
the markets in which the IBERDROLA Group operates have been used. Existing
support mechanisms have been taken into consideration in all cases.

Investment: the projections were based on the best information available about the
plants that are expected to be put into operation in the coming years, taking into
account the fixed prices stated in the contracts to buy equipment from various
suppliers, as well as the technical and financial capacity of the IBERDROLA Group
to successfully fulfil the planned projects.

Operating and maintenance costs: the prices set in land leases and maintenance
agreements for the useful life of the facilities were used.
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d) Forecast period and nominal growth rate:

The table below summarises the forecast period of future cash flows and the nominal growth
rate (g) used to extrapolate these projections beyond the forecast period for the different
groups of cash-generating units.

2022 2021
No. of years g No. of years g
United Kingdom
Electricity and gas retail supply 10 2.0% 10 2.0%
Transmission and distribution of electricity 10 20% 10 20 %
Renewable energies Useful life - Useful life
United States
Electricity and gas transmission and distribution 10 1.0 % 10 1.0 %
Renewable energies Useful life - Useful life
Brazil
Electricity retail supply Useful life / 10 -13.0% Useful life/ 10 -13.0%
Transmission and distribution of electricity Life of - Life of -
Renewable energies Useful life - Useful life
Renewable energies in Australia Useful life - Useful life
Renewable energies in France Useful life - Useful life

Although under IAS 36: “Impairment of Assets”, it is recommended to use projections not
exceeding five years for impairment test purposes, IBERDROLA has decided to use the
periods included in this table for the following reasons:

— The most appropriate method for production assets in the energy business is using
their remaining useful lives. This is due to the fact that in the liberalised business
there are long-term energy sale contracts in force and long-term estimated prices
curves are frequently used in the operating activity of the IBERDROLA Group
(contracts, hedges, etc.).

— Energy is a basic necessity. Therefore, the business of electricity and gas retail
supply is influenced by long-term governmental policies and is based on stable
relationships with customers, using in certain cases infrastructures such as smart
meters with long recoverability periods.

— Electricity transmission and distribution concessions include longer regulatory
periods and the method that the regulator will use to calculate the new tariff at the
beginning of the new regulatory period is known.

— The IBERDROLA Group considers its projections to be reliable and that past
experience demonstrates its ability to predict cash flows in periods such as those
under consideration.

Moreover, the nominal growth rate considered in the electricity and gas transmission and
distribution activities in Brazil, the United Kingdom and the United States is consistent with
the market and inflation growth forecasts used by the IBERDROLA Group for these markets.

www.iberdrola.com .
e @) |BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 85

e) Discount rate

The methodology for calculating the discount rate used by IBERDROLA is to add the
specific asset risks or risk premium of the asset or business to the temporary value of money
or risk-free rate of each market.

The risk-free rate is effectively that of the 10-year Treasury bond in the market in question,
which must have sufficient depth and solvency. For countries whose economies or
currencies have insufficient depth and solvency, country risk and currency risk are estimated
and the total of all these components is assimilated to the cost of funding without the risk
spread of the asset.

The asset's risk premium corresponds to the specific risks of the asset, which is calculated
taking into account he unlevered betas estimated on the basis of peer companies
performing the same main activity.

The following pre-tax discount rates are used in the impairment tests for the different groups
of cash-generating units:

Rates — 2022 Rates — 2021

United Kingdom
Electricity and gas retail supply 7.08 % 6.80 %
Transmission and distribution of electricity 4.58 % 3.93 %

Renewable energies onshore/offshore

5.52% -6.14 %

4.94% - 5.62 %

United States

Electricity and gas transmission and distribution

5.04 %

4.68 %

Renewable energies onshore/offshore

5.67% - 6.60 %

5.35% - 6.38 %

Brazil

Electricity retail supply 13.07 % 12.40 %
Transmission and distribution of electricity 10.95 % 10.15 %
Renewable energies 12.50 % 11.73 %
Renewable energies in Australia 6.77 % 6.24 %

Renewable energies in France onshore/offshore

5.10% - 5.60%

4.38% - 5.06%

Impairment and write-offs recognised in 2022 and 2021

Note 41 shows the amounts recognised as write-downs and provisions/(reversals) of
provisions for non-financial assets affecting the 2022 and 2021 consolidated Income
statement.
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Sensitivity analysis

The IBERDROLA Group has performed several sensitivity analyses of the impairment test
results carried out in a systematic way including reasonable changes in a series of basic
assumptions defined for each cash-generating unit (or groups of cash generating units) that
have goodwill assigned to them:

— Electricity and gas retail supply in the United Kingdom and Brazil:

+ Decrease of 10% in the unit margin.
* Noincrease in the electricity and gas customer base.

« Increase of 10% in investment costs.

— Electricity transmission and distribution in the United Kingdom, the United States
and Brazil:

» Decrease of 10% in rate of return on which regulated remuneration is based.
» Increase of 10% in operating and maintenance costs.

+ Decrease of 10% in investment (resulting in a subsequent decrease in
remuneration).

— Renewable energies in the United Kingdom, the United States, Brazil, Australia and
France:

» Decrease of 5% in produced energy.

» Decrease of 10% in total price per kWh, solely applicable to production for
which there are no long-term sales agreements.

» Increase of 10% in operating and maintenance costs.

* Increase of 10% in investment costs.

The IBERDROLA Group has also conducted an additional sensitivity analysis, in which it
raised the applicable discount rate in the United Kingdom, the United States, Australia and
France by 50 basic points and in Brazil by 100 basic points.

The individual sensitivity analyses performed on the underlying assumptions do not reveal
any significant impairment, except in the following case:

— Renewable energies in Australia, whose value in use is EUR 462 million more than
its carrying amount, in which a lower market price of 6.5% would bring the value in
use to below the carrying amount.

www.iberdrola.com .
e @) |BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 87

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS

15.a) Equity-accounted investees

Changes in 2022 and 2021 in the carrying amount of equity-accounted investments in
associates and joint ventures of the IBERDROLA Group (Appendix |) are as follows:

Associates Joint ventures
_ NORTE Other TELES Flat Rock Vineyard Other joint

Millions of euros ENERGIA associates  PIRES  C°T°A Subgroup Wind LLC ventures Total
Balance at 01.01.2021 206 97 124 116 116 189 297 1,145
Investment/Additions — 86 6 — 2 52 57 203
Changg |n.the . . 13 . . . . . 13
consolidation perimeter
Profit for the year from

82 17 1 12 — 6 19 39
continuing activities (82) ©) (39)
F)ther comprehensive . - - . . (10) - (10)
income
Dividends — (3) — (8) (10) — (21) (42)
Translation differences — 5 () 1) 9 12 15 39
Disposals /
Derecognitions T o o T T (128) - (128)
Classification as held (124) _ - o o . . (124)
for sale
Other — 4 — — — — 3) 1
Balance at 31.12.2021 — 219 130 119 117 109 364 1,058
Investment/Additions — 30 9 — — 2 24 65
Change in the

— 1 — — — — — 1
consolidation perimeter (13) (13)
Profit for the year from
continuing activities T 6 (100) 7 8 “) ! (82)
cher comprehensive o 3 o o o o4 - 27
income
Dividends — (15) — (12) (12) (13) (25) (77)
Translation differences — 9 20 17 7 11 8 72
Disposals /
— — — — — 129 12 141

Derecognitions (Note 7) (129) (12) (141)
Classification as held
for sale o - (59) o o - - (59)
Other — 6 — — — 2 1) 7
Balance at 31.12.2022 — 245 — 131 120 2 359 857

The IBERDROLA Groyp holds its stakes in Companhia Hidrelétrica Teles Pires, S.A(TELES
PIRES),, Energética Aguas da Pedra, S.A. (EAPSA) and Norte Energia, S.A. (NORTE
ENERGIA) through NEOENERGIA.
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Main transactions

In December 2022, NEONERGIA concluded a share swap agreement with
Eletronorte, whereby NEONERGIA transferred its 50.56% stake in Teles Pires
Participagoes, 0.9% in Companhia Hidrelétrica Teles Pires and 100% in Baguari |
Geragao de Energia Elétrica to Eletronorte, whose combined fair value amounts to
BRL 788 million, while in exchange, Eletronorte transfers its 49% stake in Energética
Aguas da Pedra (EAPSA), 0.04% in Neoenergia Coelba, 0.04% in Neoenergia
Cosern and 0.04% in Afluente Transmissao de Energia Elétrica, together valued at
the same amount, to NEONERGIA. The transaction is expected to close within six
months, with the possibility of being delayed for a further six months subject to
compliance with certain conditions precedent that are typical in such transactions.

At year-end 2022, the IBERDROLA Group’s interest in the companies Teles Pires
and Baguari (through its subsidiary NEOENERGIA) meets the requirements of IFRS
5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” for classification
as such in the consolidated Statement of financial position, to the extent that (i) there
is a plan to sell at prices that are reasonable in comparison to the fair value of the
assets subject to the transaction; and (ii) it is foreseeable that the sale will be
completed within 12 months. The IBERDROLA Group presents these interests
under the headings “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” in the
consolidated Statement of financial position at 31 December 2022 for an amount of
EUR 166 million and EUR 27 million, respectively.

The impairment loss arising from the transaction in the amount of EUR 79 million
has been recognised under “Result of equity-accounted investees — net of taxes”
and “Other operating income” in the consolidated Income statement for financial
year 2022.

At year-end 2021, the IBERDROLA Group’s 10% interest in the Brazilian company
NORTE ENERGIA (through its subsidiary NEOENERGIA) met the requirements of
IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” for
classification as such in the consolidated Statement of financial position, to the
extent that (i) there was a plan to sell at prices that are reasonable in comparison to
the fair value of the assets subject to the transaction; and (ii) it was foreseeable that
the sale would be completed within 12 months. The IBERDROLA Group presents
this interest under the headings “Assets held for sale” in the consolidated Statement
of financial position at 31 December 2022 and 2021 for an amount of EUR 142
million and EUR 124 million, respectively.

The impairment loss amounting to EUR 75 million was recognised under “Result of
equity-accounted investees — net of tax” of the consolidated Income statement for
financial year 2021.

The IBERDROLA Group, through the company Vineyard Wind, LLC, is continuing
to develop a large scale offshore wind farm off the coast of Massachusetts, in the
United States. During financial year 2021, the IBERDROLA Group received the
repayment of previously made capital contributions, totalling EUR 128 million. In
2022, the IBERDROLA Group took control of the project through the transaction
described in Note 7.
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The condensed financial information at 31 December 2022 and 2021 (at 100% and before
intercompany eliminations) for the main subgroups accounted for using the equity method

is as follows:

Millions of euros

TELES PIRES EAPSA Flat Rock Vineyard Wind LLC
Subgroup
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Renewables and Sustainable Generation-

Renewables and Sustainable Generation —

Segment Brazil United States
Percentage ownership 26.03 % 26.03 % 40.75 % 8150 % 40.75 %
Current assets 59 32 37 30 18 18 106 14
Non-current assets 981 1,034 192 210 230 229 1,436 473
Total assets 1,040 1,066 229 240 248 247 1,542 487
Current liabilities 76 46 21 19 6 3 117 12
Non-current liabilities 515 470 53 52 39 1 1,442 83
Total liabilities 591 516 74 71 45 4 1,559 95
Inc_or.'n.e from ordinary 169 139 58 46 (28) _ _ 21
activities
Depreciation and

34 27 10 5 17 1 — 1
Amortication (34) @) @0 () (17 (1) (1)
Interest income (174) 8 3 1 — — (40) —
Interest expenses (54) (24) 3) 3) 1 — 42 —
Tax (expense)/income 3 (4) (4) (7) — — — —
Profllt fo.r the year-from (207) 8 20 27 18 2) (11) 3
continuing operations
Other comprehensive — — — — — — — (20)
Total comprehensive (207) 8 20 27 18 (2) (11) (17)
Other information
Cash and cash 28 13 25 23 14 17 18 12
equivalents
Current financial

43 23 6 6 — 6 — 2
liabilities (*)
Non-current financial 458 21 19 22 21 — 142 —
liabilities (*)

(*) Excluding trade and other payables.
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15.b) Other financial assets

The detail of the “Other non-current financial assets” and “Other current financial assets”
headings of the IBERDROLA Group’s consolidated Statement of financial position is as
follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Non-current (Note 4)

Collection rights in Brazil (Notes 3.b and 13) 4,187 2,893
Concessional guarantee of tariff sufficiency in Brazil (Note 13) — 54
Non-current deposits and guarantees 319 273
Non-current financial deposits (Note 21) 80 65
Other non-current investments 45 53
Assets for pension plans (Note 26) 392 317
Other investments in equity-accounted investees 43 13
Other 892 327
Total 5,958 3,995
Current (Note 4)

Current financial assets (between 3 and 12 months) (Note 21) 18 12
Concessional guarantee of tariff sufficiency in Brazil (Note 13) 45 264
Accounts receivable for financing imbalance in revenues in 2021 — 26
Accounts receivable for financing imbalance in revenues in 2022 43 —
Other investments in equity-accounted investees 16 11
CSA derivatives security deposits (Note 21) 107 101
Other current deposits and guarantees (*) 2,447 946
Other 304 189
Bad debt provisions (16) (16)
Total 2,964 1,533

(*) This item includes the collateral required for the operation of the business in the markets (see Note 32).

Collection rights in Brazil

The “Collection rights in Brazil” heading relates to receivables by the Brazilian companies
upon termination of their service concession arrangements. Law 12.783/13 provides that
such indemnification must be determined by the replacement value (Valor Novo de
Reposicao, VNR) of the concession assets which have not been amortised by the end of
the concession period, using the residual value of the Asset regulatory base (Base de
Remuneracdo Regulatéria, BRR) at the end of the concession agreement.

The methodology established by the regulator enables reasonable estimates to be made of
the amounts to be collected at the end of the concession, to the extent that the granting
government protects the value of the Regulatory Asset Base once each ordinary tariff review
has been passed. These ordinary reviews are conducted every four or five years, depending
on the concession. This means that after the regulator has conducted a tariff review, the
value of the Regulatory Asset Base prior to that date is modified by the Brazilian Large
Consumers Prices General Index (/ndice Nacional de Pregos ao Consumidor Amplo, IPCA).
The next tariff review will determine the value of the regulatory asset base only with regard
to additions in the interval between two tariff reviews.
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To estimate the amount of the financial asset, observable values are used. Specifically, the
net replacement value, as calculated by the energy regulator in the course of the latest tariff
review. The amount is updated in the intervals between tariff reviews by additions to the
underlying fixed assets or, as the case may be, any changes in the method of calculation of
the net realizable value and the IPCA.

Non-current deposits and guarantees

“Non-current deposits and guarantees” essentially corresponds to the portion of guarantees
and deposits received from customers at the time their contracts are arranged as security
of electricity supply (recorded under the “Non-current financial liabilities — Other non-
current financial liabilities” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position —
Note 32) and have been filed with the competent public authorities in accordance with the
current legislation in Spain.

Receivable for financing the system imbalance

Law 24/2013, on the electricity sector, states that if an imbalance occurs due to revenue
shortfalls in the settlement of the electricity sector, the amount may not exceed 2% of the
estimated revenue of the system for that year. Further, the accumulated debt due to
imbalances from previous years may not exceed 5% of the estimated revenue of the
system. If these limits are exceeded, access tariffs will be reviewed at least in an amount
equivalent to the total excess beyond those limits. This law also states that the part of the
imbalance due to revenue shortfalls which, without exceeding these limits, is not
compensated by increasing tariffs and charges, will be temporarily financed by the subjects
of the settlement system in proportion to the remuneration pertaining to them for the
activities they perform.

The final settlement of the Spanish electricity system for 2021, as estimated in that year,
presented a shortfall which was offset by unused surpluses from previous years. In 2022,
IBERDROLA Group estimated that the final settlement of the Spanish electricity system
would again present a shortfall, which would also be offset by unused surpluses from
previous years. The deficit financed by the IBERDROLA Group at 31 December 2022 and
2021 amounts to EUR 53 million and EUR 148 million, respectively.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 the amounts of EUR 10 and 122 million, respectively, were
subject to a factoring contract with the non-recourse assignment of payment rights.
Therefore, said amounts have been derecognised from the consolidated Statement of
financial position at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The deficit financed by the IBERDROLA Group at 31 December 2021 was collected in 2022.
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Details of the “Non-current trade and other receivables” and “Current trade and other
receivables” headings of the consolidated Statement of financial position are as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Non-current
Receivables from equity-accounted investees 1 2
PIS/COFINS Brazil (Notes 32 and 35) 575 694
Other receivables 675 671
Contract assets:

Concessions in Brazil (Notes 3.u and 13) 2,848 1,945

CFE (Note 37) 508 447

Other 8 8
Valuation changes for impairment (1) (3)
Total 4,614 3,764
Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Current
Customers (Note 5) 9,515 7,886
Other receivables 1,425 1,190
Receivables from equity-accounted investees 11 19
Contract assets:

Construction contracts 61 33

Concessions in Brazil (Notes 3.u and 13) 127 77

CFE (Note 37) 29 15
Valuation changes for impairment (1,299) (1,037)
Total 9,869 8,183

Concessions under IFRIC 12

Activity in contract assets in relation to concessions in Brazil under the scope of IFRIC 12
is as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance 2,022 1,393
Modification of the consolidation scope (Note 7) — 21
Investment 1,362 941
Amounts allocated to the Income statement 397 332
Transfers (975) (618)
Proceeds (79) (28)
Translation differences 262 9)
Other (14) (10)
Closing balance 2,975 2,022
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PIS/COFINS Brazil

In September 2019, the Brazilian federal government issued a favourable decision for
NEOENERGIA COSERN and NEOENERGIA COELBA regarding the recognition of the
credit right related to unduly paid amounts for including the Operacbes relativas a
Circulacdo de Mercadorias e Prestacdo de Servicos de Transporte Interestadual e
Intermunicipal e de Comunicagado (ICMS) tax in the calculation base for Programas de
Integracdo Social (PIS) and the Contribuicdo para Financiamento da Seguridade Social
(COFINS). A decision upholding NEOENERGIA PERNAMBUCO'’s claim was handed down
in December 2020.

As a result, the IBERDROLA Group recognised receivables due to the exclusion of the
ICMS from the tax base credited to payables under “Other non-current financial liabilities”
of the consolidated Statement of financial position (Note 32), on the understanding that the
tax credit would be passed on to end customers in accordance with the legal and regulatory
rules in the Brazilian electricity sector, although it would not be paid in the short term. The
current balance of the account receivable was recognised under “Current trade and other
receivables — Other public administration receivables” in the consolidated Statement of
financial position (Note 35).

Valuation changes for impairment

The movements in valuation changes resulting from credit losses expected from previous
balances are as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance 1,040 755
Modification of the consolidation scope (Note 7) (4) 26
Charges 842 670
Applications (325) (269)
Excess (288) (176)
Translation differences 35 34
Closing balance 1,300 1,040

Most of this provision relates to gas and electricity consumers.
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17. MEASUREMENT AND NETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

With the exception of financial derivative instruments, most of the financial assets and
liabilities registered in the consolidated Statements of financial position correspond to the
financial instruments classified at amortised cost.

The fair value of “Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities” under current
and non-current liabilities in IBERDROLA Group’s consolidated Statement of financial
position at 31 December 2022 and 2021 amounted to EUR 45,120 million and EUR 43,360
million, with the carrying amount being EUR 46,587 million and EUR 41,163 million,
respectively. Said value is classified in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. The fair value of
the remaining financial instruments does not differ significantly from their carrying amount.

The IBERDROLA Group measures equity instruments and derivative financial instruments
at fair value, provided they can be measured reliably, classifying them into three levels:

— Level 1: assets and liabilities quoted in liquid markets.

— Level 2: assets and liabilities whose fair value is determined using valuation
techniques that use observable market assumptions.

— Level 3: assets and liabilities whose fair value is determined using valuation
techniques that do not use observable market assumptions.

Details of derivative financial instruments measured at fair value by level are as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Derivative financial instruments (financial assets) 5,510 3 4,653 854
Derivative financial instruments (financial liabilities) (7,088) (5) (6,553) (530)
Total (Note 29) (1,578) (2) (1,900) 324
Millions of euros 31.12.2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Derivative financial instruments (financial assets) 4,252 19 4,158 75
Derivative financial instruments (financial liabilities) (3,784) (1) (3,473) 310
Total (Note 29) 468 18 685 (235)

The reconciliation between initial and final balances for derivative financial instruments
classified as Level 3 in the fair-value hierarchy is as follows:

Derivative financial instruments

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance (235) (1)
Income and expense recognised in the consolidated Income statement 736 11
Income and expense recognised in equity (222) (117)
Purchases 10 (99)
Sales and settlements 21 (18)
Translation differences (12) (10)
Transfers and other 26 (1)
Closing balance 324 (235)
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The income recorded in the consolidated Income statement for 2022 for derivative financial
instruments classified in Level 3 is mainly due to the valuation of commodity derivatives,
whose effect has been offset in the consolidated Income statement for 2022 by the valuation
derivative financial instruments classified in Level 2.

The fair value of Level 3-classified financial instruments has been determined using the
discounted cash flow method. Projections of these cash flows are based on assumptions
not observable in the market, and mainly correspond to purchase and sale price estimates
that the Group normally uses, based on its experience in the markets.

None of the possible foreseeable scenarios of the assumptions given would result in a
material change in the fair value of the financial instruments classified at this level.

In addition, the IBERDROLA Group’s financial assets and liabilities are offset and presented
net on the consolidated Statement of financial position when a legally enforceable right
exists to offset the amounts recognised and the Group intends to settle the assets and
liabilities net or simultaneously. The breakdown of netted financial assets and liabilities at
31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

31.12.2022

Amounts not netted
under netting agreements

Amount

- Gross Net Financial Financial
Millions of euros netted (Note . Net amount
amount 29) amount instruments guarantees
ASSET DERIVATIVES:
Current
Commodities 1,561 (1,097) 464 (14) — 450
Other 93 (3) 90 — (1) 89
Non-current
Commodities 349 (92) 257 (7) (30) 220
Other 31 — 31 — (26) 5
Total 2,034 (1,192) 842 (21) (57) 764
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Receivables 502 (397) 105 (20) — 85
LIABILITIES DERIVATIVES:
Current
Commodities 2,877 (1,107) 1,770 (14) (696) 1,060
Other 18 (3) 15 — (14) 1
Non-current
Commodities 583 (94) 489 (7) (51) 431
Other 315 — 315 — (247) 68
Total 3,793 (1,204) 2,589 (21) (1,008) 1,560
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Payables 1,008 (397) 611 (20) — 591
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31.12.2021

Amounts not netted
under netting agreements

. Gross Amount Net Financial Financial

Millions of euros netted (Note . Net amount
amount 29) amount instruments guarantees

ASSET DERIVATIVES:
Current
Commodities 2,905 (1,363) 1,542 (103) (234) 1,205
Other 2 — 2 — 2) —
Non-current
Commaodities 411 (117) 294 (5) (67) 222
Other 39 39 — (39) —
Total 3,357 (1,480) 1,877 (108) (342) 1,427
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Receivables 460 (237) 223 (33) — 190
LIABILITIES DERIVATIVES:
Current
Commodities 2,045 (1,363) 682 (103) (23) 556
Other 5 — 5 — (3) 2
Non-current
Commodities 435 (117) 318 (5) (51) 262
Other 168 — 168 — (168) —
Total 2,653 (1,480) 1,173 (108) (245) 820
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Payables 954 (237) 717 (33) — 684

18. NUCLEAR FUEL

The changes in the “Nuclear fuel’ heading of the consolidated Statement of financial
position in 2022 and 2021, as well as the detail thereof at 31 December 2022 and 2021, are
as follows:

Fuel put in reactor Nuclear fuel in

Millions of euros Total
core progress
Balance at 01.01.2021 193 67 260
Acquisitions — 115 115
Capitalised finance expenses (Notes 3.g and 42) — 1 1
Transfers 125 (125) —
Fuel consumed (Note 3.g) (109) — (109)
Balance at 31.12.2021 209 58 267
Acquisitions — 96 96
Capitalised finance expenses (Notes 3.g and 42) — 1 1
Transfers 85 (85) —
Fuel consumed (Note 3.g) (105) — (105)
Balance at 31.12.2022 189 70 259

The IBERDROLA Group’s nuclear fuel purchase commitments at 31 December 2022 and
2021 amounted to EUR 539 and 487 million, respectively.
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19. INVENTORIES

The details of the “Inventories” heading (Note 3.h) of the consolidated Statement of financial
position at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Energy resources 330 171
Emission allowances and renewable certificates 720 539
Real estate inventories 1,195 1,191

Land and plots 996 1,018

Developments in construction 197 161

Developments completed 2 12
Other inventories 79 905
Real estate inventories impairment allowance (165) (167)
Total 2,159 2,639

Changes in impairment allowances in 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance 167 167
Charges — 8
Reversals (1) (7)
Applications and others (1) 1)
Closing balance 165 167

The 2022 and 2021 consolidated Income statement includes EUR 21 million and EUR 108
million, respectively, in sales of real estate inventories.

The heading “Other inventories” mainly included the transmission line built by East Anglia
One Limited (EA1) and sold in December 2022 for GBP 693 million (EUR 787 million) to an
OFTO (Offshore Transmission Owner), generating a capital gain of EUR 23 million.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The breakdown of this heading in the consolidated Statement of financial position is as
follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Cash 2,192 959
Other cash equivalents 2,416 3,074
Total (Note 4) 4,608 4,033

Other cash equivalents mature or expire within a period of three months and bear market
interest rates. There are no restrictions on cash withdrawals for significant amounts.
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21. EQUITY

Subscribed capital

Changes in 2022 and 2021 in the different items of share capital of IBERDROLA are as
follows:

Date of filing at the Number of Nominal

Mercantile Registry % Capital shares amount Euros
Balance at 01.01.2021 6,350,061,000 0.75 4,762,545,750
Scrip issue 5 February 2021 1.072 68,095,000 0.75 51,071,250
Reduction in share capital 6 July 2021 2.776 (178,156,000) 0.75 (133,617,000)
Scrip issue 30 July 2021 2.021 126,088,000 0.75 94,566,000
Balance at 31.12.2021 6,366,088,000 0.75 4,774,566,000
Scrip issue 3 February 2022 1.123 % 71,475,000 0.75 53,606,250
Reduction in share capital 6 July 2022 3.069 % (197,563,000) 0.75 (148,172,250)
Scrip issue 2 August 2022 1.957 % 122,094,000 0.75 91,570,500
Balance at 31.12.2022 6,362,094,000 0.75 4,771,570,500

The scrip issues carried out in 2022 and 2021 correspond to the different runs of the
Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible optional dividend system approved by the shareholders at the
General Meeting.

Additionally, on 1 July 2021 and 1 July 2022, it was resolved to reduce capital through the
redemption of treasury shares. These resolutions were approved by the shareholders at
their General Meetings held on 18 June 2021 and 17 June 2022, respectively.

The General Shareholders' Meeting held on 17 June 2022 has approved, under item 9 of
the agenda, the engagement dividend and its payment to all shareholders entitled to
participate in the General Meeting (i.e. with shares registered in their name on 10 June),
given that the payment conditions had been met, which were the approval of the dividend
itself, item 7 of the agenda, and that the quorum reached 70 % of the share capital. The
dividend amounted to EUR 31 million (EUR 0.005 gross per share) and was paid on 20
June 2022.

There were no changes to IBERDROLA’s share capital beyond those resulting from the
transactions described above. There are no claims on IBERDROLA’s share capital other
than those established by the Spanish Companies Act.

IBERDROLA’s shares are listed for trading on the Spanish electronic continuous market

(Mercado Continuo Espanol), and included in the IBEX-35, Eurostoxx-50 and European
Eurostoxx-50 index.

Powers delegated by the General Shareholders’ Meeting

On 2 April 2020, shareholders at the General Meeting resolved, in respect of items 22 and
23 on the agenda, to delegate powers to the Board of Directors, with express powers of
sub-delegation, for a period of five years, to:
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— increase share capital in the terms and to the limits stipulated in Article 297.1 b) of
the Spanish Companies Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital), with authorisation to
exclude preferential subscription rights, and

— issue long- or short-term bonds swappable for and/or convertible into shares in the
Company or other companies, and warrants on new or existing shares in the
Company or other companies, subject to a cap of EUR 5,000 million. This
authorisation includes further powers to: (i) set the terms and conditions and forms
of the conversion, exchange or exercise; (ii) increase capital to the extent necessary
to meet the conversion requests; and (iii) exclude limited pre-emptive rights in
relation to the issues.

Both authorisations have an aggregate limit equal to a maximum nominal amount of 20%
of the share capital.

Maijor shareholders

Since IBERDROLA’s shares are represented by the book-entry system, the exact stakes
held by its shareholders are not known. The table below summarises major direct and
indirect shareholdings in the share capital of IBERDROLA at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
as well as the holdings of financial instruments disclosed by the owners of these stakes in
compliance with Royal Decree 1362/2007 of 19 October.

This information is based on filings by the owners of the shares in the official registers of
the Spanish National Securities Market Commission (Comisién Nacional del Mercado de
Valores, or CNMV) or the company’s financial statements or press releases, and it is
presented in the IBERDROLA Group’s Annual Corporate Governance Report 2022
(Management report).

In accordance with Section 23.1 of Royal Decree 1362/2007 of 19 October, enacting the
Securities Market Act 24/1988 of 28 July, in relation to transparency requirements regarding
information on issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on an official secondary
market or other regulated market in the European Union, a shareholder who holds at least
3% of the voting rights is considered to hold a significant holding.

The direct or indirect holders of voting rights exceeding 3% of share capital at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

% of voting rights 2022 % of voting rights 2021
Holder Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect Total
Qatar I.nvestment - 8.69 8.69 . 8.69 8.69
Authority
Norges Bank 3.65 — 3.65 3.36 — 3.36
Blackrock, Inc. — 5.29 5.29 — 5.16 5.16

Capital structure

IBERDROLA is committed to maintaining a policy of financial prudence, ensuring a financial
structure that optimises the cost of capital.
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Leverage ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Parent 41,119 40,479

Non-controlling interests 16,995 15,647

Equity 58,114 56,126

Derivatives of treasury stock with physical settlement that at this date are not 436 241

expected to be executed.

Adjusted equity 58,550 56,367
Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities (Note 28) 46,587 41,163
CSA derivatives security deposits (Note 32) 95 —
Derivative financial liabilities 960 760
Leases 2,438 2,411

Gross financial debt (A) 50,080 44,334
Derivatives of treasury stock with physical settlement that at this date are not 436 241

expected to be executed (B)

Adjusted gross financial debt (C=A-B) 49,644 44,093
Non-current financial deposits (Note 15.b) 80 65
Derivative financial assets 1,082 763
CSA derivatives security deposits (Note 15.b) 107 101

Current financial assets (between 3 and 12 months) (Note 15.b) 18 12
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 4,608 4,033
Total cash assets (D) 5,895 4,974
Net financial debt (A-D) 44,185 39,360
Adjusted net financial debt (C-D) 43,749 39,119
Adjusted net leverage 42.77 % 40.97 %

Derivatives of treasury stock with physical settlement not executed to date and those that

at this date are not expected to be executed:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Accumulators (potential shares) 436 241
Derivatives of treasury stock with physical settlement that at this date are 436 2

not expected to be executed.

The derivative financial instruments shown in the table above do not include those related
to the price of commaodities, nor price indexes. The details are as follows (Note 29):

2022

Millions of euros Asset derivatives Liability derivatives

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
Interest rate hedges 10 477 487 (71) (258) (329)
Exchange rate hedges 182 352 534 (255) (278) (533)
Total hedging derivatives 192 829 1,021 (326) (536) (862)
Exchange rate derivatives 16 6 22 (59) — (59)
Treasury shares derivatives — 39 39 — (39) (39)
Total non-hedging derivatives 16 45 61 (59) (39) (98)
Total 208 874 1,082 (385) (575) (960)
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2021

Millions of euros Asset derivatives Liability derivatives

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
Interest rate hedges 55 56 111 3) (98) (101)
Exchange rate hedges 186 287 473 (342) (140) (482)
Total hedging derivatives 241 343 584 (345) (238) (583)
Exchange rate derivatives 2 1 3 (1) — (1)
Treasury shares derivatives 176 — 176 (176) — (176)
Total non-hedging derivatives 178 1 179 (177) — (177)
Total 419 344 763 (522) (238) (760)

Legal reserve

Under the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Companies Act, 10% of profit for each year
must be transferred to the legal reserve until the balance of this reserve reaches at least
20% of the share capital.

The legal reserve can be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve
balance does not fall below 10% of the increased amount of share capital. Otherwise, until
the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can only be used to offset losses, provided
that sufficient other reserves are not available for this purpose.

Share premium

The Spanish Companies Act expressly permits the use of the share premium account
balance to increase capital and does not establish any specific restrictions as to its use.

Other restricted reserves

“Other restricted reserves” of the “Equity” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial
position primarily includes the restricted reserve set up by IBERDROLA in accordance with
Article 335.c) of the Spanish Companies Act arising from the capital reductions carried out
in prior years through the retirement of treasury shares. The restricted reserves relating to
group companies other than the parent IBERDROLA are included under “Retained
earnings” of the same heading.
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Non-controlling interests
Changes in this heading in 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
Perpetual
Millions of euros AVANGRID NEOENERGIA East Anglia Wikinger Other subordinated Total
Subgroup Subgroup
bonds
Balance at 01.01.2021 2,936 2,012 1,197 — 161 5,500 11,806
F:apltal increase/Right 611 . . . 4 2,750 3,365
issue
Profit for thg yef':lr from 73 302 55 . 37 . 467
non-controlling interests
Other comprehensive 1) (29) 1) — (24) — (55)
Dividends (102) (53) (65) — 9) — (229)
Translation differences 289 (11) 96 — 6 — 380
Transactions with non-
controlling interests — (94) — — — — (94)
(Note 7)
Other 6 4 — — 3) — 7
Balance at 31.12.2021 3,812 2,131 1,282 — 172 8,250 15,647
Profit for thg ye‘tar from 181 375 85 8 72 . 721
non-controlling interests
Other comprehensive 12 (48) — — 9 — (27)
Dividends (120) (118) (142) — (25) — (405)
Translation differences 236 295 (49) — 1 — 483
Transactions with non-
controlling interests — (67) — 625 — — 558
(Note 7)
Other 8 12 — — 2) — 18
Balance at 31.12.2022 4,129 2,580 1,176 633 227 8,250 16,995

In 2021 Avangrid, Inc. carried out a capital increase in the amount of EUR 3,302 million,
which was subscribed by the shareholders according to their percentage of ownership.
Accordingly, a payment of EUR 611 million was recognised under “Equity — Non-controlling
interests” of the consolidated Income statement at 31 December 2021.

The summarised financial information related to subgroups in which IBERDROLA Group
does not have a 100% interest refers to amounts consolidated before intercompany

eliminations:
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. AVANGRID Subgroup NEOENERGIA Subgroup East Anglia Wikinger
Millions of euros
31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Current assets 2,559 2,871 3,847 3,408 1,177 1,179 223 —
Non-current assets 43,306 38,665 13,744 11,039 2,337 2,642 1,193 —
Total assets 45,865 41,536 17,591 14,447 3,514 3,821 1,416 —
Current liabilities 4,384 3,107 3,156 3,016 130 92 17 —
Non-current liabilities 19,441 18,054 8,932 6,970 455 522 106 —
Total liabilities 23,825 21,161 12,088 9,986 585 614 123 —
Gross operating profit-EBITDA 2,600 1,967 2,285 1,676 392 360 241 —
Valuation adjustment of trade receivables and other assets (158) (86) (93) (55) — — — —
Amortisation, depreciation and provisions (1,280) (1,104) (517) (384) (118) (112) (61) —
Result of equity-accounted investees — net of taxes 243 6 (91) (68) — — — —
Finance income (276) (246) (711) (365) 3) (4) 35 —
Gains /(losses) from non-current assets — — — — — — — —
Income tax (163) (154) (80) (205) (59) (107) (55) —
Non-controlling interests (3) 3) — — — — — —
Net profit/(loss) for the year 963 380 793 599 212 137 160 —
. AVANGRID Subgroup NEOENERGIA Subgroup
Millions of euros
31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Net cash flows from operating activities 1,242 1,582 850 21
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,421) (2,061) (1,363) (1,618)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (155) 486 744 1,674
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,334) 7 231 77
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Perpetual subordinated bonds

These bonds do not have a contractual maturity date. After analysing the issue conditions,
the IBERDROLA Group recognises the cash received with a credit to the “Non-controlling
interests” heading under equity in the consolidated Statement of financial position, as it
considers that it does not qualify for classification as a financial liability, given that the
IBERDROLA Group does not have a commitment to deliver cash, as the circumstances that
would require it to do so — namely distribution of dividends and exercising of its right to
redeem the bonds — are fully under its control.

The interest accrued on these bonds will not be callable but rather cumulative. However,
the IBERDROLA Group will be obliged to settle the interest accrued in the event it distributes
dividends.

Total interest paid in 2022 and 2021 amounted to EUR 169 million and EUR 94 million,
respectively. Meanwhile, interest accrued in 2022 and 2021 amounted to EUR 169 million
and EUR 155 million, respectively, as recognised under “Other reserves” in the consolidated
Statement of financial position.

The IBERDROLA Group had outstanding subordinated perpetual bonds worth EUR 8,250
million at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Valuation adjustments

The change in this reserve arising from valuation adjustments to derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges at 31
December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Allocation to the Amounts Allocation to the Amounts

Change in fair Change in fair

Millions of euros 01.01.2021 values of hedged allocated to 31.12.2021 values of hedged allocated to 31.12.2022
value and other ; value and other :
assets income assets income
Valuation adjustments of equity-
accounted investees (net of tax): - (10) - - (10) 27 - - 17
Cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swaps (669) 71 — 134 (464) 765 — 122 423
Collars (7) — — — (7) 1 — 6 —
Commodities derivatives 332 2,350 — (1,388) 1,294 (1,279) — (1,297) (1,282)
Currency forwards 4 (10) 1 12 7 20 (1) (46) (20)
Other — (165) — — (165) (180) — 4 (341)
(340) 2,246 1 (1,242) 665 (673) (1) (1,211) (1,220)
Hedging costs — (34) — 38 4 (66) — 58 (4)
Tax effect: 98 (433) — 223 (112) 170 — 217 275
Total (242) 1,769 1 (981) 547 (542) (1) (936) (932)
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Treasury shares

The IBERDROLA Group buys and sells treasury shares in accordance with the prevailing
law and the resolutions of the General Shareholders’ Meeting. Such transactions include

Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries

purchases and sales of the Company’s shares and derivatives thereon.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 the balances of the various instruments are as follows:

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

No. of shares Millions of No. of shares Millions of

euros euros

Treasury shares held by IBERDROLA 64,447,436 632 82,915,340 823
Treasury shares held by SCOTTISH

POWER 647,085 8 695,770 8

Total return swaps 13,110,816 110 13,547,820 102

Put options sold 11,338,853 115 — —

Accumulators (exercised shares) 25,716,062 253 45,085,032 465

Accumulators (potential shares) 64,452,306 638 47,036,224 462

Total 179,712,558 1,756 189,280,186 1,860

(a) Treasury shares

Changes in 2022 and 2021 in the treasury shares of IBERDROLA and SCOTTISH POWER

(Note 3.m) are as follows:

IBERDROLA SCOTTISH POWER

No. of shares Millions of No. of shares Millions of

euros euros

Balance at 01.01.2021 85,222,122 888 815,645 8
Acquisitions 180,342,768 1,896 221,627 3
Reduction in share capital (178,156,000) (1,898) — —
Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible ) 1,514,730 — 79,348 —
Disposals @ (6,008,280) (63) (420,850) (3)
Balance at 31.12.2021 82,915,340 823 695,770 8
Acquisitions 186,499,093 1,881 212,631 2
Reduction in share capital (197,563,000) (1,985) — —
Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible () 1,403,649 — 85,349 —
Disposals @ (8,807,646) (87) (346,665) (2)
Balance at 31.12.2022 64,447,436 632 647,085 8

(" Shares received.
@ Includes awards to employees.

SCOTTISH POWER’s treasury shares correspond to the matching shares held by the trust

in the share plan called Share Incentive Plan (Note 22.1).

In 2022 and 2021, treasury shares held by the IBERDROLA Group were always below the

relevant legal limits.
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(b) Physically settled derivatives

The IBERDROLA Group recognises these transactions directly in equity under the
“Treasury shares” heading and records the obligation to purchase said shares under the
“Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities” heading in current liabilities of
the consolidated Statement of financial position.

Total return swaps

The IBERDROLA Group has swaps on treasury shares in which it pays the financial
institution the 3-month Euribor plus a spread on the underlying notional amount and
receives the corresponding dividends on the shares paid out to the financial institution over
the life of the contract. On the expiration date IBERDROLA will buy the shares at the strike
price set out in the contract.

The characteristics of these contracts at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

| 107

No. of shares at

2022 31.12.2022 Strike price Expiry date Interest rate Millions of euros
Total return swap 2,171,234 9.303 01/09/2023 Euribor 3M + 0.36% 20
Total return swap 10,939,582 8.170 17/11/2023 Euribor 3M + 0.50% 90
Total 13,110,816 110
No. of sh
2021 © 0313 1?;3:: Strike price Expiry date Interest rate Millions of euros
Total return swap 4,470,234 6.195 28/7/2022 Euribor 3M + 0.29% 28
Total return swap 2,077,920 9.721 30/8/2022 Euribor 3M + 0.30% 20
Total return swap 6,999,666 7.756 17/11/2022 Euribor 3M + 0.47% 54
Total 13,547,820 102

Treasury share accumulators

The IBERDROLA Group holds several purchase accumulators on treasury shares. These
accumulators are obligations to buy in the future, with a notional amount of zero on the start
date. The number of shares to be accumulated depends on the market price quoted on a
range of observation dates throughout the life of the options — in this case, on a daily basis.
A strike price is set, and a knockout level above which the structured product is “knocked
out” and shares are no longer accumulated.

The accumulation mechanism is as follows:

when the spot price is below the strike price, two units of the underlying security are
accumulated;

when the spot price is between the strike price and the knockout level, only one unit
of the underlying security is accumulated; and

when the spot price is above the knockout level, no shares are accumulated.
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The characteristics of these contracts at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Average price in

2022 No. of shares . Expiry date Millions of euros
the period

Exercised 25,716,062 9.8207 28/03/2023 to 12/06/2023 253

Potential maximum ™ 64,452,306 9.9309 28/03/2023 to 12/06/2023 640

2021 No. of shares Average prlce? " Expiry date Millions of euros
the period

Exercised 45,085,032 10.3230 16/02/2022 to 18/08/2022 465

Potential maximum ™ 47,036,224 9.8289 16/02/2022 to 18/08/2022 462

™ Maximum number of additional shares that could accumulate under the mechanism described above through to the
maturity of the structures (assuming that the spot price over the remaining life of the structure remains below the strike
price at all times).

— Sold put with physical settlement

The IBERDROLA Group has sold put options on treasury shares that grant the counterparty
the option to sell these shares on the expiry date at the strike price set in the contract.

At 31 December 2021 there were no outstanding contracts, while the characteristics of
these contracts at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

2022 No. of shares Average price in Fhe Expiry date  Millions of euros
period
. 10/03/2023 to
Put options sold 11,338,853 10.2663 24/03/2023 115

(™ The amount is presented net of the premiums collected of EUR 2 million.

Distribution of dividends charged to 2022 profit

The Board of Directors of IBERDROLA has agreed to propose to the General Shareholders’
Meeting the payment, out of earnings for 2022 and retained earnings from previous years,
a dividend the aggregate gross amount of which will be equal to the sum of the following
amounts:

(a) the EUR 235 million that was paid out as an interim dividend for 2022 on 31 January
2023 to the holders of 1,305,893,982 IBERDROLA shares who chose to receive
their remuneration in cash under the second application of the optional “Iberdrola
Retribucion Flexible” optional dividend system for 2022 and therefore received EUR
0.18, gross, per share (the Interim Dividend); and

(b) the amount to be determined by multiplying:

(i) the gross amount per share that the Company will pay out as final dividends for
2022 under the framework of the first-time application of the Iberdrola Flexible
Remuneration optional dividend system (Final Dividend) for 2023; by

(ii) the total number of shares upon which the holders have opted to receive the
Final Dividend within the framework of the first application of the "Iberdrola
Retribucién Flexible" optional dividend system for 2023.
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As at the date of authorisation of these consolidated Financial Statements, it is not possible
to determine the amount of the Final dividend or, consequently, the amount of the dividend
chargeable to 2022 earnings.

The Final dividend will be paid in tandem with a scrip issue that the Board of Directors will
propose at the General Shareholders' Meeting, to offer the shareholders the possibility of
receiving their remuneration in cash (through the payment of the Final dividend) or in newly
issued shares of the Company (through the aforementioned capital increase).

The payment of the Final dividend will be one of the alternatives that the shareholder may
choose between when receiving their remuneration within the scope of the first settlement
of the Iberdrola Retribucién Flexible optional dividend system for 2023, which will be carried
out via the aforementioned capital increase.

Subject to shareholder approval at the General Shareholders’ Meeting of the resolutions
relating to the "Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible" optional dividend system for 2023, the gross
amount of the Final dividend is estimated to be at least EUR 0.31 per share. The final
amount of the Final dividend will be disclosed as soon as the Board of Directors (or the
body to which it delegates this power) makes its decision in accordance with the terms of
the dividend distribution and capital increase resolution that the Board of Directors will
propose to the shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting in relation to the
“Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible” optional dividend system for 2023. Additionally, once the
first implementation of the “/berdrola Retribucion Flexible” optional dividend system for 2023
is completed, the Board of Directors (with express authority to sub-delegate) will specify the
aforementioned distribution proposal and determine the final amount of the dividend and
the amount to be allocated to retained earnings.

22. LONG-TERM COMPENSATION PLANS

22.1 Share-based long-term compensation plans

Share-based long-term compensation plans in the settlement period

The main features of the plans are as follows:

Long-term Maximum Maximum

. Settled in Measureme Settlement Level of
compensation . . number of number of .
shares nt period period o achievement
programme beneficiaries shares
IBERDROLA 2017-2019 IBERDROLA 2017-2019 2020-2022 300 14,000,000 100% O
AVANGRID 2016-2019 Avangrid 2016-2019 2020-2022 80 2,500,000 17.4% @

™ Level of achievement and settiement approved by the Board of Directors of IBERDROLA on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. In the first quarter of 2022, the third and last of the annual settlements was completed, with
the validity of the fundamentals confirmed.

@ Degree of fulflment and settlement approved by the Board of Directors of AVANGRID upon the proposal of the
Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (CNCGC). In the first quarter of 2022, the third and
last of the annual settlements was completed, with the validity of the fundamentals confirmed.
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The following is the movement of the shares granted in these plans:

No. of shares IBERDROLA 2017-2019 AVANGRID 2016-2019 ®
Balance at 31.12.2020 8,052,094 137,077
Cancellations (33,336) (1,673)
Deliveries (3,965,715) (@ (68,554)
Balance at 31.12.2021 4,053,043 66,850
Cancellations (23,334) (580)
Other (90,276) —
Deliveries (3,939,433) M@ (66,270)

Balance at 31.12.2022 — —

™ These shares include those delivered to executive directors (Note 46) and to senior management (Note 48).

@ Taxes charged on shares delivered to senior management: EUR 4.2 million and EUR 3.9 million relating to the second
and third delivery of the 2017-2019 Strategic Bonus, respectively.

® In addition, under the scope of AVANGRID's Omnibus Plan — the general plan that establishes the governance framework
for executive remuneration plans in cash and shares — a total of 161,920 notional shares (Phantom Share Units) were
granted in 2021 and 9,000 notional shares in 2020, with the equivalent value of 51,317 shares settled in cash in 2021
and of 38,598 shares in 2022, thus bringing the outstanding balance at 31 December 2022 to 6,750 notional shares to
be settled in 2023 and 2024.

In relation to the long-term share-based compensation plans described above, the change
in the “Other reserves” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position is as
follows:

- Iberdrola Strategic AV_ANGRID Restricted stock
Millions of euros b 2017-2019 Strategic bonus ) Total
onus - 2016-2019 programme

Balance at 01.01.2021 52 9 — 61
Provision "charged to “Personnel 10 1 1 12
expenses

Price effect charged to “Other 16 . _ 16
reserves”

Payments in shares (59) (1) — (60)
Balance at 31.12.2021 19 9 1 29
Provision charged to “Personnel 1 _ 9 3
expenses”

Price effect charged to “Other 23 1 . 24
reserves”

Payments in shares (50) 3) (1) (54)
Transfers and other 7 (7) (1) 1)
Balance at 31.12.2022 —_ — 1 1

() Submitted for 100%. (" Submitted for 100%. Non-controlling interests account for 18.5%.

Share-based long-term compensation plans in the measurement period

The key features of the plans are as follows:
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Long-terrf1 Settled in Measurement Settlement Maximum Maximum Expected
compensation . . number of number of 3
shares period period L shares @
programme beneficiaries shares
IBERDROLA IBERDROLA 2020-2022 2023-2025 300 14,000,000 @ 11,112,037 @
2020-2022
NEOENERGIA )
2020-2022 M Neoenergia 2020-2022 2023-2025 125 3,650,000 2,960,022
AVANGRID
2020-2022 @ AVANGRID 2021-2022 2023-2025 125 1,500,000 917,311

™ Approval by the shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting of IBERDROLA and NEOENERGIA in 2020,
respectively.

@ Approval by AVANGRID's Board of Directors in 2021, under the scope of the Omnibus Plan.

® Foreseeable number of shares to be delivered, depending on the level of success in attaining the related targets.

@ Includes shares for directors.

The reference metrics for the global performance evaluation over the assessment period
are similar under the above plans, through adapted to each company:

Achievement targets related to Type of target Relative weight
Consolidated net profit Performance 30% - 35 %
Total shareholder return Market 20% - 35 %
Financial strength Performance 20%
Sustainable Development Goals Performance 30%

The “Personnel expenses” heading of the consolidated Income statement for 2022 and
2021 includes EUR 60 million and EUR 59 million under the aforementioned long-term
share-based compensation plans in the measurement period, as recognised and credited
to “Other reserves” of the consolidated Statement of financial position and broken down as
follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
IBERDROLA 2020-2022 43 40
NEOENERGIA 2020-2022 4 5
AVANGRID 2020-2022 13 14
Balance at 31.12.2022 60 59

Other share-based compensation plans

SCOTTISH POWER has two share-based plans for its employees:

— Sharesave Schemes: savings plan under which employees may, at the end of a
three-year period, use the money saved to buy IBERDROLA shares at a discounted
option price set at the beginning of the plan or otherwise receive the amount saved

in cash.
. . Employee Company
Share plan Type Term Start year  Option price R o
contribution contribution
Sharesave 2020 'Zifrfs'a 3 years 2020 743 5-500 £ 20% discount
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Changes in the plan are as follows:

Sharesave 2020
(outstanding

options)
Balance at 31.12.2020 3,441,632
Exercised (18,768)
Cancelled (157,604)
Balance at 31.12.2021 3,265,260
Exercised (66,670)
Cancelled (157,967)
Balance at 31.12.2022 3,040,623

— Share Incentive Plan: this plan has an option for purchasing IBERDROLA shares
with tax incentives (partnership shares) plus a share contribution from the company
up to a maximum amount (matching shares). The matching shares vest three years
after purchase.

Plan Type Start year Emp'loy('ee Con?parry
contribution contribution
Share Incentive Plan Iberdrola shares 2008 10-150 £ 10-50 £

Changes in the number of shares are as follows:

Number of shares

Shares acquired with employee contribution (partnership shares) in 2021 592,948
Total balance of partnership shares at 31.12.2021 4,854,690
Shares acquired with employee contribution (partnership shares) in 2022 615,769
Total balance of partnership shares at 31.12.2022 4,633,688
Shares acquired with company contribution (matching shares) in 2021 257,627
Shares acquired with company contribution (matching shares) with a term shorter than 3 years in 693 261
2021 '

Total balance of matching shares at 31.12.2021 2,353,169
Shares acquired with company contribution (matching shares) in 2022 267,631
gggges acquired with company contribution (matching shares) with a term shorter than 3 years in 647,085
Total balance of matching shares at 31.12.2022 2,194,140

The “Personnel expenses” heading of the consolidated Income statement for 2022 and
2021 includes EUR 3 million and EUR 3 million for these plans, respectively, as credited to
the “Other reserves” heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position.

Furthermore, in 2022 and 2021 payments for options and shares were made in the amount
of EUR 2 million and EUR 3 million, respectively.
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22.2 Cash-based long-term compensation plans

The key features of the long-term cash-based plans currently in the settlement period are
summarised below.

. . Measuremen Settlement Maximum Maximum cash Level of
Long-term incentive . . number of :
t period period . amount achievement
beneficiaries

2017-2019 IBERDROLA

DISTRIBUCION 20172019 2020-2022 12 — 100%
ELECTRICA

2018-2019 ] ] . o @
N EOENERGIA 2018-2019  2020-2022 100 BRL 50 million 97.64%

( Degree of compliance and settlement approved by the Board of Directors of i-DE REDES ELECTRICAS INTELIGENTES,
formerly IBERDROLA DISTRIBUCION ELECTRICA.

@ Level of achievement and settlement approved by the Board of Directors of NEOENERGIA on the recommendation of
the Remuneration Committee.

The “Personnel expenses” heading of the consolidated Income statement for 2022 and
2021 includes EUR 2 million and EUR 3 million, respectively.

The third and second of the three annual payments resulted in the delivery of EUR 6 million
and EUR 6 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

23. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS HAVING THE SUBSTANCE OF
A FINANCIAL LIABILITY

In the United States, the IBERDROLA Group has signed several contracts that have brought
in third parties as non-controlling interests at some of its wind farms, primarily in exchange
for cash and other financial assets.

The main characteristics of these contracts are as follows:

» The IBERDROLA Group retains the control and management of the wind farms,
regardless of the interest acquired by the non-controlling interests. Accordingly, they
are fully consolidated in these consolidated Financial Statements.

e The non-controlling interests have the right to a substantial portion of the profits and
tax credits generated by these wind farms up to the return level established at the
beginning of the contract.

e The non-controlling interests remain in the equity of the wind farms until they achieve
the stipulated returns.

¢ Once these returns have been obtained, the non-controlling interests must renounce
their stake in the wind farms, thus losing their right to the profits and tax credits
generated.
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e Whether or not the non-controlling interests of the IBERDROLA Group obtain the
agreed upon returns depends on the economic performance of the wind farms.
Although the IBERDROLA Group is obliged to operate and maintain these facilities
in an efficient manner and to take out the appropriate insurance policies, it is not
obliged to deliver cash to the non-controlling interests over and above the

aforementioned profits and tax credits.

Following an analysis of the economic substance of these agreements, the IBERDROLA
Group classifies the consideration received at the outset of the transaction under the “Non-
current equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability” and “Current equity
instruments having the substance of a financial liability” headings of the consolidated
Statement of financial position. Subsequently, this consideration is measured at amortised

cost.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount shown in this heading accrued an average

interest in USD of 6.88% and 6.58% respectively.

Changes in this heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position for 2022 and

2021 are as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance 625 391
Finance expenses accrued in the year (Note 43) 46 30
Payments (177) (110)
Translation differences 39 42
Additions 130 272
Closing balance 663 625

The IBERDROLA Group signed new contracts in 2022 through its subsidiaries in the United
States, for the construction of the Lund Hill solar plant and the expansion of the Aeolus VIII
wind farm. The amounts payable under these contracts were not fully disbursed in 2022.

In financial year 2021, it also signed contracts for Aeolus VIl and Aeolus VIII through its

United States subsidiaries.
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24. CAPITAL GRANTS

The change in this heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position for 2022 and
2021 is as follows (Note 3.n):

Investment Tax

Millions of euros Capital grants Total
Credits
Balance at 01.01.2021 270 970 1,240
Additions 8 — 8
Translation differences 5 80 85
Amounts allocated to the Income statement (Note 3.n) (17) (55) (72)
Balance at 31.12.2021 266 995 1,261
Additions 1 — 1
Transfers 1) — (1)
Translation differences 5 63 68
Amounts allocated to the Income statement (Note 3.n) (20) (62) (82)
Balance at 31.12.2022 251 996 1,247

25. FACILITIES TRANSFERRED OR FINANCED BY THIRD
PARTIES

The change in this heading of the consolidated Statement of financial position for 2022 and
2021 is as follows (Note 3.0):

Facilities transferred Facilities financed by

Millions of euros by third parties third parties Total
Balance at 01.01.2021 2,592 2,451 5,043
Additions 179 267 446
Derecognitions — (2) (2)
Transfers — (2) (2)
Translation differences 19 130 149
Amounts allocated to the Income statement (Note 3.0) (130) (80) (210)
Balance at 31.12.2021 2,660 2,764 5,424
Additions 201 302 503
Derecognitions — 3) (3)
Transfers (4) (6) (10)
Translation differences 7 (26) (19)
Amounts allocated to the Income statement (Note 3.0) (136) (86) (222)
Balance at 31.12.2022 2,728 2,945 5,673
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26. PROVISION FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR
OBLIGATIONS

The breakdown of this heading of the consolidated Statements of financial position is as
follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Defined benefit plans (Spain) 261 378
Long-service bonuses and other long-term benefits (Spain) 38 46
Defined benefit plans (United Kingdom) 116 129
Defined benefit plans (United States) 514 669
Defined benefit plans (Brazil) 162 132
Defined benefit plans and other non-current employee benefits (Spain and 41 59
other countries)

Restructuring plans 136 206
Total 1,268 1,619

Each year the IBERDROLA Group estimates, based on an independent actuarial report,
the payments for pensions and similar benefits that it will have to meet in the following
financial year. These are recognised as current liabilities in the consolidated Statement of
financial position.

26.a) Defined benefit plans and other non-current employee
benefits

Spain

The IBERDROLA Group’s main commitments to providing defined benefits for its
employees in Spain, in addition to those provided by Social Security, are as follows:

— Employees subject to the IBERDROLA Group’s Collective Bargaining Agreement
who retired before 9 October 1996 are covered by a defined benefit retirement
pension scheme, the actuarial value of which was fully externalised at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

The IBERDROLA Group has no liability of any kind for this segment of employees
and has no claim on any potential excess generated in the assets of this plan above
and beyond the defined benefits.
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— Also, in relation to serving employees and employees who have retired after 1996
and are subject to the IBERDROLA Group’s Collective Bargaining Agreement and
members/beneficiaries of the Iberdrola Pension Plan, risk benefits (e.g. widowhood,
permanent disability or orphanhood) which guarantee a defined benefit at the time
the event giving rise to such benefits occurs, are instrumented through a multi-year
insurance policy. The guaranteed benefit consists of the difference between the
present actuarial value of the above mentioned defined benefit at the time of the
event and the member’s vested rights at the time the event was processed, if the
latter were lower. The premiums on the insurance policy for 2022 and 2021 are
recognised under “Personnel expenses” in the consolidated Income statement and
amounted to EUR 8 million and EUR 10 million, respectively.

— The IBERDROLA Group also maintains a provision to cover certain commitments
with its employees other than those indicated above. These further commitments
are covered by internal funds linked to social security benefits, consisting mainly of
free electricity supply, with an annual consumption limit, for retired employees and
other long-term benefits, primarily consisting of a long-service bonus for active
employees at 10, 20 and 30 years of service.

United Kingdom (SCOTTISH POWER)

SCOTTISH POWER employees residing in the United Kingdom, hired before 1 April 2006,
are covered by the following defined benefit retirement pension schemes: ScottishPower
Pension Scheme (SPPS) and Manweb Group of Electricity Supply Pension Scheme
(Manweb).

One-off capital sums have been offered to pensioners and deferred beneficiaries, reducing
the defined benefit burden.

United States (AVANGRID)

The Networks business has a number of defined-benefit company pension plans, both for
employees covered by collective bargaining agreements and those not covered thereunder,
where the contribution is paid by the company, with benefits based on salary, years of
service and/or a fixed “multiplier”. Effective 1 January 2014, all the corporate defined benefit
retirement plans were closed to new entrants with the exception of “The Berkshire Gas
Company Pension Plan”, “Connecticut Natural Gas Corporation Pension Plan”, and
“Southern Connecticut Gas Company Pension Plan for Salaried and Certain Other
Employees”. These plans were closed to new affiliates with effect from 1 January 2018.
Meanwhile, with effect from 31 December 2020, past service benefits were frozen for
affiliates of the “United llluminating Company Pension Plan”. With effect from 30 June 2021,
past service benefits were frozen for affiliates of the “The Southern Connecticut Gas
Company Pension Plan”. With effect from 31 July 2021, past service benefits were frozen
for SCG affiliates of the “The Southern Connecticut Gas Company Pension Plan for Salaried
and Certain Other Employees”.
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With effect from 30 June 2022, past service benefits were frozen for affiliates of the “CNG
Pension Plan B” and affiliates of all pension plans not covered by collective agreements.
With effect from 31 August 2022, past service benefits were frozen for RGE affiliates of the
“NYSEG and RGE Pension Plan”. Several pension plan mergers have taken place with
effect from 1 January 2023, reducing the total number of pension plans from 12 to seven.
In addition, effective 31 March 2023, the “CNG Retirement Pension Plan (Hartford Union)”
will be frozen.

The Renewables business has a defined benefit company pension plan, where the
Company makes contributions, with benefits based on salary and years of service. Past
services under this scheme were frozen with effect from 30 April 2011.

One-off capital sums have been offered to pensioners and deferred beneficiaries, reducing
the defined benefit burden.

In addition, both the Networks business and the Renewables business have defined benefit
plans for disability and post-retirement health contingencies.

Brazil

On 24 August 2017 NEOENERGIA was acquired through the incorporation of ELEKTRO.
ELEKTRO, CELPE, COELBA and COSERN employees are covered by several defined
benefit retirement schemes. COELBA employees are also covered by a post-employment
health plan.

The takeover of CEB Distribuicdo was completed on 2 March 2021 (Note 7). CEB
Distribuicdo has been renamed Neoenergia Distribuigdo Brasilia. The distributor
Neoenergia Distribuicéo Brasilia operates two defined benefit plans (one of which is frozen).

Defined benefit retirement plans are not available for new incorporations.

Other commitments with employees

In addition, some IBERDROLA Group companies have provisions to meet certain
commitments with their employees, other than those described above, which are met by in-
house pension funds.
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Spain United Kingdom United States Brazil " Other Total
Millions of euros
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Present value of the obligation (299) (424) (3,621) (5,931) (2,621) (3,505) (794) (692) (41) (59) (7,376) (10,611)
Fair value of plan assets — — 3,893 6,118 2,107 2,836 671 591 — — 6,671 9,545
Net asset / (Net provision) (299) (424) 272 187 (514) (669) (123) (101) (41) (59) (705)  (1,066)
Amounts recognised in the consolidated Statement of financial position:

Provision for pensions and similar obligations (299) (424) (116) (129) (514) (669) (162) (132) (41) (59) (1,132)  (1,413)
Assets for pensions and similar obligations (Note 15.b) — — 388 316 — — 4 1 — — 392 317
Net asset / (Net provision) (299) (424) 272 187 (514) (669) (158) (131) (41) (59) (740)  (1,096)

™ Asurplus of EUR 35 and EUR 30 million was not recognised at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively, under the terms of IFRIC 14: “IAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”.

The average length at the end of the year of the liability for the employee benefits described previously is:

Spain United States Brazil
Year Electricity tariff ~Sn9th of service ., . d Kingdom ARHI uIL AVANGRID ELEKTRO NEOENERGIA EOENERGIA
bonus NETWORKS BRASILIA
Average 14 7 14 11 1 10 13 9 10
length
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The changes in provisions for the commitments detailed in the previous section in 2022 and
2021 is as follows:

Spain
Milli £ . .
illions of euros Electr|0|.ty .Length of .Unlted United States  Brazil @ Other Total
tariff service bonus  Kingdom
Balance at 01.01.2021 385 47 6,181 3,529 679 68 10,889
Modification of the
consolidation scope — — — — 71 — 71
(Note 7)
Normal cost (Note 39) 6 5 66 39 1 3 120
Cost for past services
- 2 -
rendered (Note 39) 3 (°0) ®) (88)
Finance expense (Note 1 . % 83 52 1 227
43)
Actuarial gains and
losses
To Profit or loss (Note
— 1 — — — — 1
o (1) (1)
To reserves 3 — (481) (161) (47) (6) (692)
Member contributions — — 6 — 1 — 7
Payments (20) (5) (320) (269) (57) (8) (679)
Translation differences — — 479 282 (5) 1 757
Balance at 31.12.2021 378 46 5,931 3,505 692 59 10,611
Normal cost (Note 39) 5 4 56 29 1 5 100
Cost for past services
rendered (Note 39) o o © (89) M o (%6)
Other costs charged to
“Personnel expenses” — — — — — (1) (1)
(Note 39)
Finance expense (Note 3 . 13 17 69 1 303
43)
Actuarial gains and
losses
To Profit or loss (Note
— 10 — — — — 10
30) (10) (10)
To reserves (100) — (1,974) (787) 3 (25) (2,883)
Member contributions — — 6 — 1 — 7
Payments (25) 2) (307) (385) (71) (1) (791)
Translation differences — — (198) 231 100 3 136
Balance at 31.12.2022 261 38 3,621 2,621 794 41 7,376

™ As the surplus was not recognised, the actuarial differences recognised in reserves were adjusted upwards in 2022 and
2021 by EUR 1 and EUR 20 million, respectively, under the terms of the current standard IFRIC 14: “IAS 19 — The
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”. Moreover, in 2022 and 2021,
and for the same concept, the finance expenses recognised were raised by EUR 2 million and EUR 3 million,
respectively.
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Millions of euros United Kingdom United States Brazil Total
Fair value at 01.01.2021 5,566 2,658 548 8,772
Modification of the consolidation . . 76 76
scope (Note 7)

Revaluation (Note 43) 82 63 43 188
Actuarial gains and losses to 162 149 (35) 276
reserves

Company contributions 175 13 17 205
Member contributions 6 — 1 7
Proceeds (320) (269) (57) (646)
Translation differences 447 222 (2) 667
Fair value at 31.12.2021 6,118 2,836 591 9,545
Revaluation (Note 43) 119 100 57 276
Actuarial gains and losses to (1,991) (676) ©) (2,676)
reserves

Company contributions 158 45 19 222
Member contributions 6 — 1 7
Proceeds (307) (385) (71) (763)
Translation differences (210) 187 83 60
Fair value at 31.12.2022 3,893 2,107 671 6,671
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The main assumptions applied in the actuarial reports that determined the provisions needed to meet the aforementioned commitments at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2022 Discount rate  Wage increase Price kWh (euros) Inflation Mortality tables Health cost Pre-Medicare/Medicare
Spain
2023 0.17302; 2024
0.24978; 2025
. L (1) o _ ’ 0, —
Electricity tariff 4.02 % 0.28251: 2026 %o PER 2020
0.23537][...]
Length of service bonus (" 3.76 % 1.00 % — —% PER 2020 —
Pre/post-retirement
Men:
85% AMCO0 / 95%S2PMA
United Kingdom 4.75% 317 % — 3.17 % CMI2021 M (1.25% improvement rate) —
Women:
85%AFC00 / 100%S2PFA
CMI2021 F (1.25% improvement rate)
United States
Pri-2012 Fully Generational Projection
ARHI 5.22 % / — 2.00 % —
° na ° using Scale MP 2021
Function year RX:
e 0, —| 0, |
Speqﬁc flat rates Pri-2012 Fully Generational Projection 6.00%(pre 65)/6.50/.0 (post-65) (2023)
UIL 5.20 % (Union). N/A for — 2.00 % using Scale MP 2021 decreasing to
non-union 9 4.50% (2029 onwards) /4.50% (2027
onwards)
Function year RX:
Specific flat rates . . — 6.00%(pre-65)/6.50% (post-65) (2023)
Pri-2012 Full IP
AVANGRID NETWORKS 515 % (Union). N/A for — 2009 n-2012 Fuly Generational Projection decreasing to
. using Scale MP 2021
non-union 4.50% (2029 onwards) /4.50% (2027
onwards)
Brazil
ELEKTRO 9.60 % 5.07 % — 3.25% AT - 2000 male - 10% —
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2022 Discount rate = Wage increase Price kWh (euros) Inflation Mortality tables Health cost Pre-Medicare/Medicare
NEOENERGIA

CELPE BD 9.60 % 4.28 % — 3.25% AT-2000 men & women -10% —

Coelba BD 9.60 % —% — 3.25% BR-EMS-sb 2015 men & women -15% —

COELBA Plan As. 9.60 % —% — 3.25 % AT-2000 Basic —

Médica

Cosern BD 9.60 % — % — 3.25% AT - 2000 men & women —

NEOENERGIA BRASILIA

CEB BD 9.60 % — % — 3.25% AT - 2000 men & women -10% —

CEB Settled 9.60 % — % — 3.25% AT - 2000 men & women -10% —
2021 Discount rate = Wage increase Price kWh (euros) Inflation Mortality tables Health cost Pre-Medicare/Medicare
Spain

2022 0.33021; 2023
0.17508; 2024
- . o . ; o .
Electricity tariff 0.86 % 0.14088: 2026 % PER 2020
0.13511; [...]
Length of service bonus 0.50 % 1.00 % — — % PER 2020 —
Pre/post-retirement
Men:
85% AMCO0 / 95%S2PMA

United Kingdom 1.98 % 3.36 % — 3.36 % CMI2020 M (1.25% improvement rate) —

Women:
85%AFCO00 / 100%S2PFA
CMI2020 F (1.25% improvement rate)
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2021 Discount rate  Wage increase Price kWh (euros) Inflation Mortality tables Health cost Pre-Medicare/Medicare
United States
Pri-2012 Fully Generational Projection
0, — 0,
ARHI 3.00 % n/a 2.00 % using Scale MP 2021 n/a
Function year RX:
UIL 294 % Specific flat rates . 200 % Pri-2012 Fully Generational Projection  6.25%(pre-65)/7.00% (post-65) (2022);
' ’ (Union/Non-union) ' ° using Scale MP 2021 6.00%/6,50% (2023); [...] :
4.50%/4.50% (2029 onwards)
Based on age (Non Function year RX:
. ol Pri-2012 Fully Generational Projection  6.25%(pre-65)/7.00% (post-65) (2022);
o, _ )
AVANGRID NETWORKS 2.17% Ufrl’:t’rr';tae';d(m?;'f)'c 2.00% using Scale MP 2021 6.00%/6,50% (2023); [...] :
4.50%/4.50% (2029 onwards)
Brazil
ELEKTRO 8.94 % 5.58 % — 3.00 % AT - 2000 male - 10% —
NEOENERGIA
CELPE BD 8.18 % 4.03 % — 3.00 % AT-2000 men & women -10% —
Coelba BD 8.17 % — % — 3.00 % BR-EMS-sb 2015 men & women -15% —
'\CA(?ELBA Plan As. 8.54 % —% — 3.00 % AT-2000 Basic —
édica
Cosern BD 8.16 % — % — 3.00 % AT - 2000 men & women —
NEOENERGIA BRASILIA
CEB BD 8.42 % — % — 3.00 % BR-EMSsb-v.2015 men & women —
CEB Settled 8.26 % — % — 3.00 % BR-EMSsb-v.2015 men & women —

@) In both cases, the retirement age has been established pursuant to Law 27/2011, of 1 August, on the update, adjustment and modernisation of the Social Security system, providing for a

gradual increase in the retirement age in accordance with the law.
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The most relevant figures for these commitments in recent years are as follows:
Millions of euros 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Spain
Present value of the obligation (299) (424) (432) (453) (413)
Fair value of plan assets — — — — —
Net asset / (Net provision) (299) (424) (432) (453) (413)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities 27 (8) — 9) 5
United Kingdom
Present value of the obligation (3,621) (5,931) (6,181) (6,081) (5,464)
Fair value of plan assets 3,893 6,118 5,566 5,315 4,894
Net asset / (Net provision) 272 187 (615) (767) (569)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (253) 114 42 13 81
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets (1,991) 161 633 144 (344)
United States
Present value of the obligation (2,621) (3,505) (3,529) (3,723) (3,373)
Fair value of plan assets 2,107 2,836 2,658 2,692 2,367
Net asset / (Net provision) (514) (669) (871) (1,031) (1,007)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities 64 (20) (5) (30) 23
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets (676) 150 284 (336) (211)
ELEKTRO
Present value of the obligation (327) (285) (304) (361) (300)
Fair value of plan assets 323 278 278 363 331
Net asset / (Net provision) (4) (7) (26) 2 31
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (10) (42) (54) (8) (2)
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets (1) (1) 14 22 14
NEOENERGIA
Present value of the obligation (386) (329) (375) (505) (482)
Fair value of plan assets 268 240 270 379 332
Net asset / (Net provision) (118) (89) (105) (126) (150)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (52) 1 (29) (13) 14
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets (6) (30) 3) 46 (25)
NEOENERGIA BRASILIA
Present value of the obligation (81) (78) — — —
Fair value of plan assets 80 73 — — —

Net asset / (Net provision)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities

Experience adjustments arising on plan assets

(1)
(%)

)

(5)
8)

(4)
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The sensitivity at 31 December 2022 of the present value of the obligation under these commitments to changes in different variables is as
follows:

Spain United States Brazil
Increase / decrease  Electricity tariff Sewi';z"s;::: United Kingdom ARHI uiL N’;YFCV":)GR'T("; ELEKTRO NEOENERGIA NEO::AE;(E::
Discount rate (basis
points)
10 (2.73) — (48.70) (0.49) (7.71) (15.44) (3.13) (2.97) (0.69)
(10) 2.79 — 51.56 0.50 7.84 15.69 3.43 3.20 0.75
Inflation (basis points)
10 — — 36.91 — — — — — —
(10) — — (38.84) — — — — — —
Wage growth (basis
points)
10 — 0.30 — — (0.58) 0.47 — — —
(10) — (0.29) — — 0.59 (0.47) — — —
Mortality tables
(years)
1 — — 133.09 1.35 30.15 69.07 — — —
Health cost (basis
points)
25 — — — — 0.45 0.37 — — —
(25) — — — — (0.44) (0.36) — — —

Price increase kWh
(basis points)
10 2.86 — — — — — — — —
(10) (2.72) — — — — — — — —
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The main categories of plan assets, as a percentage of total plan assets at year end, are
shown in the table below:

Cash and cash

2022 Equities Fixed income . Other
equivalents
United Kingdom 3% 43% 13% 41%
United States 28% 60% 1% 1%
ELEKTRO 17% 79% —% 4%
NEOENERGIA 1% 97% —% 2%
NEOENERGIA BRASILIA —% 99% —% 1%
2021 Equities Fixed income CoSh and cash Other
equivalents
United Kingdom 7% 30% 13% 50%
United States 40% 47% 2% 1%
ELEKTRO 25% 1% —% 4%
NEOENERGIA 3% 95% —% 2%
NEOENERGIA BRASILIA —% 99% —% 1%

The assets associated with these plans include neither financial instruments issued by the
IBERDROLA Group nor tangible nor intangible assets.

Moreover, the liquidity of plan assets measured at fair value is reviewed by an independent
third party, and is as follows:

Thousands of euros Value at 31.12.2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
United Kingdom 3,893 1,084 1,439 1,370
AVANGRID 2,107 320 1,651 136
ELEKTRO 323 235 71 17
NEOENERGIA 268 — 259 9
NEOENERGIA

BRASILIA 80 - 2 8
Total 6,671 1,639 3,492 1,540
Thousands of euros  vajue at 31.12.2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
United Kingdom 6,118 70 4,837 1,211
AVANGRID 2,836 479 2,203 154
ELEKTRO 278 184 73 21
NEOENERGIA 240 — 232 8
NEOENERGIA

BRASILIA & - 66 7
Total 9,545 733 7,411 1,401
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The strategic distribution of pension plans investments is supported by periodic specific
Asset Liability Management studies for each of the plans. This guarantees the match with
the funding policy and the expected time to fully finance the commitment in accordance with
flows resulting therefrom. Those studies provide the level of sensitivity to the different
expected return rates of asses and discount of obligations. It also guarantees that plans are
adequately funded while recovering regulated cash flows. There are also prudential
investment rules applicable to pensions within the scope of the Group.

Assets managed at global level have been progressively switched to passive management.
Provisions for death and permanent disability have been covered with pension plans
through insurance policies and managing entities and investment assets have been
qualified through independent third parties, resulting in investments with lower liquidity.
Additionally, in the United Kingdom, longevity risk has been hedged through the use of
swaps and inflation risk has been partially hedged.

26.b) Defined contribution plans

Active employees of IBERDROLA and employees who have retired after 9 October 1996,
who are members of the IBERDROLA pension plan with joint sponsors, are covered by an
occupational, defined-contribution retirement pension system independent of the Social
Security system.

In accordance with this system and IBERDROLA's Collective Bargaining Agreement, the
periodic contribution to be made is calculated as a percentage of the annual pensionable
salary of each employee, except for employees joining the Company after 9 October 1996,
who are subject from 1 January 2022 to a contributory system where the Company pays
70% and the employee 30% (from 1 January 2021, 67.5% paid by the Company and 32.5%
by the employee). For those hired after 20 July 2015 the company pays 1/3 and the
employee 2/3 of the total contribution, until the date on which the employee joins the Base
Salary Rating (BSR), at which point the same criterion as for employees joining after 9
October 1996 will apply. The Company finances these contributions for all of its current
employees.

The IBERDROLA Group's contributions in 2022 and 2021 were EUR 22 and EUR 22 million,
respectively, and are recognised under the “Personnel expenses” heading of the
consolidated Income statement.

The contribution made on behalf of employees not covered by the Collective Bargaining
Agreement in 2022 and 2021, as recognised under the “Personnel expenses” heading of
the consolidated Income statement, is shown below.

Defined contribution plans 2022 2021
SCOTTISH POWER 20 17
AVANGRID 82 48
NEOENERGIA 12 8
Other 1 1
Total 115 74
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26.c) Restructuring plans

Given the interest shown by some of the employees in requesting early retirement,
IBERDROLA Group has offered these employees the mutually agreed termination of the
employment relationship, thus carrying out a process of individual termination contracts in
Spain. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the existing provisions in this regard pertain to the
following restructuring plans:

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Millions of euros Provisions No. ofindividual Provisions No. ofindividual

contracts contracts
2012 restructuring plan — — — 1
2014 restructuring plan 3 31 6 57
2015 restructuring plan 1 13 2 23
2016 restructuring plan — 6 1 11
2017 restructuring plan 20 180 38 262
2019 restructuring plan 11 99 20 126
2020 restructuring plan 31 158 45 168
2021 restructuring plan 59 212 78 211
Total 125 699 190 859

In addition, the following provisions had been posted at 31 December 2022 and 2021 to
honour these commitments outside Spain and for the subsidiary company Iberdrola
Ingenieria y Construccion, S.A.U.(IIC):

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
SCOTTISH POWER 4 6
Ic 7 10
Total 1" 16

The discount to present value of the provisions is charged under the heading “Finance
expense” heading of the consolidated Income statement.

The change in provisions for the commitments detailed in the previous section in 2022 and
2021 is as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance 206 179
Charge (Note 39) 6 86
Actuarial gains and losses and other (11) (2)
Payments (65) (57)
Closing balance 136 206

The main assumptions applied in the actuarial reports drawn up to determine the provisions
needed to meet the Group’s commitments under the aforementioned restructuring plans at
31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2022 2021
Discount rate Inflation Discount rate Inflation
Restructuring plans 3.13% - 3.26% 1.00% - 0.70% 0% - 0.06% 1.00% - 0.70%
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The movement and breakdown of “Other provisions” on the liabilities side of the
consolidated Statement of financial position in 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Provisions for

Provision for

litigation,  Provision facility closure Other
Millions of euros indemnity for CO, y . Total
. costs (Notes provisions
payments and emissions
L. 3.ry5)
similar costs
Balance at 31.12.2020 693 430 2,614 337 4,074
Charge or reversals for the year with a
debit/credit to “Property, plant and 16 — 143 5 164
equipment” (Note 3.d)
Charges for discount to present value 44 . 22 1 67
(Note 43)
Charges for the year to the Income 63 752 6 8 829
statement
Reversal due to excess (107) — (2) 27) (136)
Modification of the consolidation scope 29 . (10) . 19
(Note 7)
Translation differences 10 27 97 24 158
Transfers (2) — — (6) (8)
Payments made and other (53) — (10) (22) (85)
Dehygry of emission allowances and green . (582) . . (582)
certificates
Balance at 31.12.2021 693 627 2,860 320 4,500
Amendments to IAS 37 (Note 2.a) — — — 92 92
Charge or reversals for the year with a
debit/credit to “Property, plant and 15 — (835) 7 (813)
equipment” (Note 3.d)
Charges for discount to present value 43 _ 34 1 78
(Note 43)
Charges for the year to the Income 147 797 8 61 1,013
statement
Reversal due to excess (57) — (8) (104) (169)
Translation differences 46 (19) 35 21 83
Transfers (4) — — (4) (8)
Payments made and other (99) — (22) 27) (148)
Dell.v.ery of emission allowances and green . (749) . . (749)
certificates
Balance at 31.12.2022 784 656 2,072 367 3,879

In addition, the IBERDROLA Group has provisions for responsibilities arising from litigation
in progress and from indemnity payments, obligations, collateral and other similar
guarantees, and those aimed at covering environmental risks. The latter have been
determined using a case-by-case analysis of the polluted assets status and the cost that
will have to be incurred in cleaning them.

The IBERDROLA Group also maintains provisions to meet a series of costs needed for
decommissioning at its nuclear and thermal power plants, its wind farms, and at other

facilities.
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The cost arising from decommissioning obligations is recalculated on a regular basis to
incorporate how reasonable future cost estimates may be on past decommissioning carried
out, or to include new bylaw or regulatory requirements.

The detail of provision for plants closure costs is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Nuclear power plants 565 689
Wind-powered farms and other alternative stations 1,181 1,727
Combined cycle power plants 172 244
Thermal power plants 38 52
Other facilities 101 127
Right-of-use assets 15 21
Total 2,072 2,860

The amount related to nuclear plants covers the costs which the plant operator will incur
from the end of its useful life until ENRESA (Note 3.y) takes control of them.

The discount rates (minimum and maximum range) before taxes of the main countries in
which the IBERDROLA Group operates used in the present value of the operating
provisions are as follows:

Discount rate 2022 Discount rate 2021
Country Currency
5 years 30 years 5 years 30 years
Spain Euro 3.00 % 3.75 % 0.18_ % 1.20 %
United Kingdom Pound sterling 3.58 % 3.78 % 0.57 % 0.87 %
United States US dollar 3.80 % 3.72 % 1.25 % 1.88 %

The estimated dates on which the IBERDROLA Group considers that it will have to meet
the payments relating to the provisions included in this heading of the consolidated
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Millions of euros

2023 880
2024 96
2025 50
2026 onwards 2,853
Total 3,879
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28. BANK BORROWINGS, BONDS AND OTHER
MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The detail of bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities outstanding at 31
December 2022 and 2021, once foreign exchange hedges are considered, and the
repayment schedule are as follows:

Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities at 31
December 2022 maturing in

Current Non-current
Millions of euros Balanceat 5053 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028and Total non-
31.12.2022(*) beyond current
Euros
Obligations and bonds 11,163 1,592 1,818 1,957 1,745 802 3,249 9,571
Promissory notes 3,843 3,843 — — — — — —
Loans and drawdowns of 6973 927 390 803 870 731 3,252 6,046
credit facilities
Other financing transactions 1,214 1,214 — — — — — —
Unpaid accrued interest 154 154 — — — — — —
23,347 7,730 2,208 2,760 2,615 1,533 6,501 15,617
In foreign currency
US dollars 10,839 805 1,711 1,332 630 890 5,471 10,034
Pounds sterling 4,190 496 405 608 436 444 1,801 3,694
BRL 7,621 1,168 1,076 814 824 894 2,845 6,453
Other 336 5 5 5 5 309 7 331
Unpaid accrued interest 254 254 — — — — — —
23,240 2,728 3,197 2,759 1,895 2,537 10,124 20,512
Total 46,587 10,458 5,405 5519 4,510 4,070 16,625 36,129

(*) At 31 December 2022, the balance includes EUR 4,216 million corresponding to domestic commercial paper
(USCP) and Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) issues as well as EUR 33 million of drawdowns under credit lines and
facilities.

The average balance under the domestic commercial paper (USCP) and Euro Commercial Paper (ECP)
programme amounted to EUR 4,121 million and EUR 3,313 million, respectively, in 2022 and 2021.
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Bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities at 31
December 2021 maturing in

Current Non-current
Millions of euros Balance at 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 and Total non-
31.12.2021(* beyond current
Euros
Obligations and bonds 11,028 2,220 1,652 1,896 1,957 1,743 1,560 8,808
Promissory notes 3,566 3,566 — — — — — —
Loans and drawdowns of 6178 1182 342 304 751 813 2,786 4,99
credit facilities
Other financing transactions 1,099 1,096 3 0 — — — 3
Unpaid accrued interest 132 132 — — — — — —
22,003 8,196 1,997 2,200 2,708 2,556 4,346 13,807
In foreign currency
US dollars 9,559 340 722 1,255 1,254 593 5,395 9,219
Pounds sterling 3,373 87 521 416 636 458 1,255 3,286
BRL 5,945 1,162 659 892 681 625 1,926 4,783
Other 74 6 7 7 8 8 38 68
Unpaid accrued interest 209 193 4 1 1 1 9 16
19,160 1,788 1,913 2,571 2,580 1,685 8,623 17,372
Total 41,163 9,984 3,910 4,771 5,288 4,241 12,969 31,179

(*) At 31 December 2021, the balance included EUR 3,566 million of domestic commercial paper (USCP) and Euro
Commercial Paper (ECP) issues. At 31 December 2021 there were EUR 156 million of drawdowns under credit
lines and facilities.

The structure of bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities at 31
December 2022 and 2021, once the corresponding interest rate hedges are
considered, is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Fixed interest rate 26,049 24,352
Floating interest rate 20,538 16,811
Total 46,587 41,163

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group was fully up to date on all its
financial debt payments and there had been no circumstances affecting the change of
control or adverse changes in its credit quality, and consequently it had not been necessary
to meet the early maturity of the debt or modify the cost related to the loans of which it is
the holder.

The average cost of debt of the IBERDROLA Group in 2022 and 2021 was 4.14% and
3.24%, respectively.

The breakdown by maturity of future unaccrued interest payment commitments at 31
December 2022 and 2021, after factoring in the effect of exchange rate and interest rate
hedges and considering that the prevailing interest rates and exchange rates remain
constant through to maturity, is as follows:
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Millions of euros 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028and Total
beyond
Euros 321 285 233 212 184 404 1,639
US dollars 452 428 345 306 279 2,535 4,345
Pounds sterling 186 162 102 92 68 216 826
BRL 752 623 528 489 340 1,086 3,818
Other 18 18 17 16 9 1 79
Total 1,729 1,516 1,225 1,115 880 4,242 10,707
Thousands of euros 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 and Total
beyond
Euros 132 13 89 76 51 68 529
US dollars 331 318 299 256 228 1,844 3,276
Pounds sterling 161 149 552 70 69 246 1,247
BRL 251 272 275 231 194 1,420 2,643
Other 5 5 4 4 3 8 29
Total 880 857 1,219 637 545 3,586 7,724

Significant transactions carried out by the IBERDROLA Group during 2022 are as follows:

Amount

Borrower Transaction Arranged in o Currency Interest rate Maturity
(millions)

First quarter

Iberdrola Finanzas Private Bond Jan-22 100 EUR 1.00 % Feb-37

Iberdrola Finanzas Green public bond Mar-22 1,000 EUR 1.38 % Mar-32
Public bond

Cel Mar-22 470 BRL CDI+1.55% Apr-27

epe (debenture) ar ° pr

Coelba Public bond Mar-22 470 BRL  CDI+1.55% Apr-27
(debenture)

Celpe Public bond Mar-22 330 BRL  CDI+1.68% Apr-29
(debenture)

Coelba Public bond Mar-22 330 BRL  CDI+1.68% Apr-29
(debenture)

Celpe Public infrastructure Mar-22 400 BRL  IPCA+6.28% Apr-32
P bond (debenture) een P
Coelba Public infrastructure Mar-22 400 BRL  IPCA+6.28% Apr-32

bond (debenture) enn P

Coelba Loan 4131 Feb-22 20 usD Feb-27
Neoenergia Itapabona ' Loan 4131 Feb-22 39 usD Feb-27
Neoenergia Lagoa Dos | oo 4131 Feb-22 16 UsD Feb-23
Patos ("
Coelba Loan 4131 Mar-22 42 usD Oct-23
Neoenergia Loan 4131 Mar-22 550 BRL Sep-23
Coelba Loan 4131 Mar.-22 42 usD Mar.-24
Coelba Loan 4131 Mar.-22 94 BRL Mar.-24

i @
(';')e°e”er9'a Guanabara ™ - g\ nEs joan Mar.-22 693 BRL Apr.-42
Second quarter
NY State Gas & Tax exemption bond Apr-22 67  USD 400 %  Dec28
Corporation
Coelba Commercial notes Jun-22 190 BRL CDI+1.39% Jun-27
Coelba Commercial notes Jun-22 310 BRL CDI+1.54% Jun-29
Celpe Green commercial Jun-22 200 BRL  CDI+1.39% Jun-27

notes
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Borrower Transaction Arranged in A.m.ount Currency Interest rate Maturity
(millions)

Celpe nG(;feeS” commercial Jun-22 250 BRL  CDI+1.54% Jun-29

CEB Green public bond Jun-22 100 BRL  CDI+1.59% Jun-27
(debenture)

CEB Green public bond Jun-22 200 BRL  CDI+1.72% Jun-29
(debenture)

Neoenergia Guanabara™ Loan 4131 May-22 21 usD May-23

Neoenergia Guanabara™ Loan 4131 May-22 39 usD Jul-23

Neoenergia Lagoa Dos | ) 4431 Jun-22 34 usD Jun-23

Patos

Iberdrola Financiacion Bilateral loan Apr-22 30 EUR Apr-27

Iberdrola Financiacion E‘;ta'”ab'e bilateral Jun-22 600 EUR Jun-27

Iberdrola Financiacion @ Green loan with EKF Apr-22 1,000 EUR Jul-31
guarantee

Iberdrola Financiacion @  Green BEI loan Apr-22 53 EUR T,o be

determined

Iberdrola Financiacion Green ICO loan Apr-22 35 EUR Apr-29

Coelba Green IFC loan Jun-22 550 BRL Apr-30

Third quarter

Central Maine Power Green mortgage- Jul-22 75 USD 437 % Dec-32

Company backed bond

Central Maine Power Green mortgage- Jul-22 50 USD 4.76 % Dec-52

Company backed bond

Rochgster Gas ar\d Mortgage-backed Jul-22 125 USD 4.86 % Dec-52

Electric Corporation bond

NY State Electric & Gas Private Bond Jul-22 150 usD 4.62 % Dec-32

NY State Electric & Gas Private Bond Jul-22 125 usD 4.96 % Dec-52

The United lluminating 2t Bond Jul-22 50  USD 4.62 % Dec-32

Company

Cosern Public bond Jul-22 500 BRL  CDI+1.28% Jul-27
(debenture)

Cosern Public bond Jul-22 80 BRL  CDI+1.43% Jul-29
(debenture)

Elektro Green public bond Jul-22 104 BRL  CDI+1.28% Jul-27
(debenture)

Elektro Green public bond Jul-22 96 BRL  CDI+1.43% Jul-29
(debenture)
Public infrastructure

Cosern Jul-22 220 BRL IPCA+6.62% Jul-29
bond (debenture)

Elektro Public infrastructure Jul-22 300 BRL  IPCA+6.62% Jul-29
bond (debenture)

Neoenergia Lagoa Dos ) ) 4431 Jul-22 19 usD Jul-23

Patos ("

(':')e°e”erg'a Vale Doltajai | o) 4131 Jul-22 7,614 JPY Jul-23

Neoenergia Lagoa Dos
Loan 4131 Aug-22 7,820 JPY Aug-23

Patos ("

(':')e°e”erg'a Vale Do ltajai | - 4134 Aug-22 39 uSD Jul-23

Neoenergia Guanabara Loan 4131 Aug-22 270 BRL Jan-23

Iberdrola Financiacion ® E;italnable bilateral Jul-22 120 EUR Jul-27

lberdrola Financiacien ~ Sustainable bilateral Aug-22 100 EUR Aug-29

loan
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Borrower Transaction Arranged in A.m.ount Currency Interest rate Maturity
(millions)
Iberdrola Financiacion Sustt.:unable ) Jul-22 2,500 EUR Jul-27
syndicated credit
. s To be
Iberdrola Financiacion @  Green BEI loan Jul-22 550 EUR .
determined
. L To be
Iberdrola Financiacion @  Green BEI loan Sep-22 220 EUR .
determined
Fourth quarter
Iberdrola Finanzas Green public bond Nov-22 750 EUR 3.13 % Nov-28
Iberdrola Finanzas Green public bond Nov-22 750 EUR 3.38 % Nov-32
Iberdrola Finanzas Green stock-linked Nov-22 450 EUR 0.80 % Dec-27
structured bond
Iberdrola Financiacion E‘;ta'”ab'e bilateral Dec-22 50  EUR Dec-27
Iberdrola Financiacion f)‘;ita'”ab'e bilateral Dec-22 125 EUR Dec-29
Iberdrola Financiacien @ Creon 10an with Oct-22 500 EUR Oct-37
erdrola Financiacion CESCE guarantee
Neoenergia Itapabona ®  BNDES loan Nov-22 195 BRL Dec-45
Iberdrola Financiacion @  Green BEI loan Dec-22 70 EUR T(,) be
determined
(™ Currency swap contracts for the company’s functional currency.
@ Financing expected to be drawn down in 2023.
® 1-year extension option.
@ 1-year + 1-year extension option.
The main extensions arranged by the IBERDROLA Group in 2022 were as follows:
Borrower Transaction Maturity E)ftensu:fn Millions  Currency Option to
signed in extend
Iberdrola Financiacion  Bilateral loan Oct-23 Feb-22 125 EUR
Iberdrola Financiacien ~ SuStainable syndicated Apr-27 Mar-22 2,500 EUR 1year
credit facility
Iberdrola Financiacion fsa‘éﬁt_f"”ab'e bilateral credit Jun-27 Apr-22 16,000 JPY 1 year
ility
Iberdrola México Green syndicated loan May-24 May-22 400 usb 1 year
Iberdrola Financiacion (" Bilateral loan Jul-24 Dec-22 125 EUR 6 months
Iberdrola Financiaciéon  Bilateral loan Jul-23 Jul-22 300 EUR

(™ 6 options to extend for 6 months.

Certain Group investment projects, mainly related to renewable energies, have been
financed specifically through loans that include covenants such as the compliance with
certain financial ratios or the obligation to pledge in benefit of creditors the shares of the
project-companies (Note 45). The outstanding balance of this loan type at 31 December
2022 and 2021 was EUR 1,089 million and EUR 776 million, respectively. These loans also
require that a deposit be set aside for the fulfilment of obligations under the loan
agreements. If the ratios are not met and/or the security deposit does not reach the agreed
amount, it is impossible to distribute dividends in the year in which they are not met.
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With respect to the clauses relating to credit ratings, the IBERDROLA Group had arranged
financial transactions with the EIB, ICO and EKF at 31 December 2022 and 2021 amounting
to EUR 5,000 million and EUR 4,123 million, respectively. These arrangements would
require renegotiation of their cost or additional guarantees in the event of a rating
downgrade (if such a downgrade were to occur in the manner set out in each contract).

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group had also drawn on loans and
credits totalling EUR 620 million and EUR 500 million, respectively, the cost of which would
be revised were its credit rating to drop. However, the increase in cost would not be
significant in either case.

In addition, at 31 December 2022 there were bonds issued, borrowings and other
agreements between financial institutions and the IBERDROLA Group whose maturity
dates could be impacted or may require additional collateral or guarantees to those already
existing should a control change take place in the manner and subject to the timeframes
stipulated in each contract. The most significant changes are those described in the
following paragraphs:

— Bond issues amounting to EUR 12,053 million in the European market and USD 350
million (equivalent to EUR 329 million) in the US market.

— EIB and ICO loans for a combined total of EUR 4,476 million.

— Bank and ECA borrowings amounting to EUR 2,430 million and USD 900 million
(equivalent to EUR 846 million).

— Lastly, BRL 14,707 million (equivalent to EUR 2,621 million) from issuances and
BRL 26,713 million (equivalent to EUR 4,761 million) from loans to Brazilian
subsidiary NEOENERGIA and its subsidiaries.
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29 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The breakdown of balances at 31 December 2022 and 2021, including valuation of
derivative financial instruments at those dates, is as follows:

2022 2021
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Millions of euros Current Non- Current Non- Current Non- Current Non-
current current current current
INTEREST RATE HEDGES 10 477 (71) (258) 55 56 (3) (98)
Cash flow hedges 10 469 (2) (1) 29 35 (11) (64)
Interest rate swap 10 469 (2) (1) 29 35 (11) (64)
Fair value hedges — 8 69 (257) 26 21 8 (34)
Interest rate swap — 8 (69) (257) 26 21 8 (34)
EXCHANGE RATE HEDGES 182 352 (255) (278) 186 287 (342) (140)
Cash flow hedges 168 250 (231) (242) 140 143 (258) (129)
Currency swaps 3 246 (68) (240) 108 137 (44) (128)
Exchange rate insurance 165 4 (163) (2) 32 6 (214) (1)
Fair value hedges 14 102 9) (36) 38 144 9 3)
Currency swap 14 102 9) (36) 38 144 9 3)
Hedging of net investment
abroi dg — — (15) — 8 — (93) ®)
Currency swap — — (2) — — — (3) (8)
Exchange rate insurance — — (13) — 8 — (90) —
COMMODITIES HEDGES 861 330 (2,537) (659) 2,129 401 (1,305) (602)
Fair value hedges 2 — (160) 1) 22 9 (155) (123)
Exchange rate insurance — — (160) — 22 9 (155) (123)
Other 2 — — (1) — — — —
Cash flow hedges 859 330 (2,377) (658) 2,107 392 (1,150) (479)
Futures 845 301 (2,317) (534) 2,107 392 (1,150) (479)
Other 14 29 (60) (124) — — — —
PRICE INDEX HEDGES — — (15) (315) — — (3) (168)
Swap — — (15) (315) — — 3) (168)
NON-HEDGING
DERIVATIVES 1,896 2,594 (1,630) (2,274) 1,824 794 (1,821) (782)
Shares derivatives — 39 — (40) 176 — (176) (2)
Treasury shares derivatives — 39 — (39) 176 — (176) 2)
Shares c.ierivatives of Group _ _ _ ) _ _ . _
companies
Exchange rate derivatives 16 6 (59) — 2 1 1) —
Currency forwards 16 6 (33) — 2 1 (1) —
Other — — (26) — — — — —
2:::?“’“ on commodity 1,880 2,549 (1,571) (2,234) 1,646 793 (1,644) (780)
Futures 1,876 2,531 (1,568) (2,233) 1,646 793 (1,644) (780)
Other 4 18 (3) (1) — — — —
:‘;E)TTED OPERATIONS (Note (1,100) (92) 1,110 94 (1,363) (117) 1,363 117
Total 1,849 3,661 (3,398) (3,690) 2,831 1,421 (2,111) (1,673)

The maturity schedule of the notional underlyings of derivative instruments arranged by the
IBERDROLA Group and outstanding at 31 December 2022 is as follows:
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Millions of euros 2023 2024 2025 2026 22)267),2:: Total
INTEREST RATE HEDGES 273 1,003 954 55 5,861 8,146
Cash flow hedges 270 398 38 41 4,362 5,109
Interest rate swap (") 270 398 38 41 4,362 5,109
Fair value hedges 3 605 916 14 1,499 3,037
Interest rate swap 3 605 916 14 1,499 3,037
EXCHANGE RATE HEDGES 9,941 1,273 1,485 302 2,807 15,808
Cash flow hedges 9,086 677 1,168 287 2,509 13,727
Currency swap 459 625 1,150 281 2,509 5,024
Exchange rate insurance 8,627 52 18 6 — 8,703
Fair value hedges 40 596 317 15 298 1,266
Currency swap 40 596 317 15 298 1,266
Hedging of net investment abroad 815 — — — — 815
Currency swap 167 — — — — 167
Exchange rate insurance 648 — — — — 648
COMMODITIES HEDGES 6,181 1,071 271 99 721 8,343
Fair value hedges 51 3 — — — 54
Exchange rate insurance 48 — — — — 48
Other 3 3 — — — 6
Cash flow hedges 6,130 1,068 271 99 721 8,289
Futures 6,056 1,001 215 73 622 7,967
Other 74 67 56 26 99 322
PRICE INDEX HEDGES — — — — 320 320
Swap — — — — 320 320
NON-HEDGING DERIVATIVES 9,177 2,866 169 7 941 13,160
Shares derivatives 7 — — — 900 907
Treasury shares derivatives — — — — 900 900
Shares derivatives of Group companies 7 — — — — 7
Exchange rate derivatives 988 72 — — — 1,060
Exchange rate insurance 657 72 — — — 729
Other 331 — — — — 331
Derivatives on commodity prices 8,182 2,794 169 7 41 11,193
Futures 8,163 2,785 162 — — 11,110
Other 19 9 7 7 41 83
Total 25,572 6,213 2,879 463 10,650 45,777

™ Includes the derivatives arranged by the IBERDROLA Group at December 2022 to cover the interest rate risk of
future financing for a nominal amount of EUR 4,449 million, thus helping to mitigate interest rate risk (EUR 4,216
million at 31 December 2021).

The information presented in the table above includes notional amounts of derivative
financial instruments arranged in absolute terms (without offsetting assets and liabilities or
purchase and sale positions). This does not reflect the risk assumed by the IBERDROLA
Group since this amount only records the basis on which the calculations to settle the
derivative are made.

The “Finance expense” heading of the 2022 and 2021 consolidated Income statements
includes EUR 477 million and EUR 152 million, respectively, in connection with derivatives
linked to financial indices that fail to meet the conditions to qualify as hedging instruments
or, having met the conditions, but as explained in Notes 3. and 43, are partially ineffective.
In addition, the “Finance income” heading in the consolidated Income statements for those
years includes EUR 238 million and EUR 81 million, respectively, for the items described
above (Note 42).
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The nominal value of bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities subject to
exchange rate hedging (Note 4) is as follows:

2022
- - Millions of -
Millions of US Millions of . Millions of _
Type of hedge Norwegian . Millions of euros
dollars Japanese yen pounds sterling
kroner
Cash flows 1,696 30,345 2,250 — 80
Fair value 795 13,000 — 500 —
2021
Millions of US Millions of Millions of Millions of . .
Type of hedge Norwegian . Millions of euros
dollars Japanese yen pounds sterling
kroner
Cash flows 1,425 18,838 2,250 — 158
Fair value 835 13,000 — 700 —

The nominal value of bank borrowings, bonds and other marketable securities subject to
interest rate hedging (Note 4) is as follows:

2022
. Millions of US Millions of Millions of Millions of
Type of hedge Millions of euros Australian . - .
dollars pounds sterling Brazilian reais
dollars
Cash flows 2,482 — — 150 —
Fair value 2,308 750 — — 155
2021
. Millions of US Millions of Millions of Millions of
Type of hedge Millions of euros Australian . - .
dollars pounds sterling Brazilian reais
dollars
Cash flows 1,570 — 58 150 —
Fair value 2,076 750 — — 932
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30. CHANGES IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES SHOWN ON THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In 2022 and 2021 liabilities classified as financing activities in the Statement of cash flows and excluded from the “Equity”,
having the substance of a financial liability” (Note 23) and “Leases” (Note 31) headings were as follows:

Equity instruments

Cash flows Non-cash exchanges
— coreion Acerual of Modification of F:°te"ﬁa'
Millions of euros Balance at Issues and Ienpsat)allmeentss Interest Interest cul?r:;?: Changes in tra:(;auc?i:n the re:sury Balance at
01.01.2022 disposals ( i paid  accrued Y fair value consolidation Shares  34.12.2022
paid exchange @ costs accumulated
scope (Note 7)
and other
Obligations, bonds and promissory notes 28,278 8,744 (6,829) — — 725 (267) 66 — — 30,717
Loans and other financing transactions 11,514 5,949 (3,514) — — 525 (130) — — — 14,344
Unpaid accrued interest 342 — —  (1,526) 1,678 (84) — — — — 410
Derivatives on the company’s own shares
with physical settiement (Note 21) 1,029 —  (1,374) — — — — — — 1,461 1,116
Total (Note 28) 41,163 14,693 (11,717)  (1,526) 1,678 1,166 (397) 66 — 1,461 46,587
D.erlvfatlve flnanmal instruments associated (63) 133 71 (158) 37 208 (307) . . . (79)
with financing
Total 41,100 14,826 (11,646)  (1,684) 1,715 1,374 (704) 66 — 1,461 46,508
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Cash flows Non-cash exchanges
Potential
. Modification of treasury
Millions of euros Balance at Issues and R::):g:’:fennttssl Interest paid Interest F:)rre':gn Changes in tfzcruat! onf the shares Balance at
01.01.2021 disposals () . pal accrued currency fair value ansactio consolidation accumulated, 31.12.2021
paid exchange @ costs
scope (Note 7) transfers and
other
Obligations, bonds and 27,078 4,944 (4,729) — — 967 (88) 79 27 — 28,278
Loans a.nd other financing 9517 4,824 (3,000) _ _ 217 (30) (13) 8 — 11,514
transactions
Unpaid accrued interest 338 — — (895) 946 (47) — — — — 342
Derivatives on the company’s
own shares with physical 1,104 — (1,194) — — — — — — 1,119 1,029
settlement (Note 21)
Total Financial debt - loans 38,037 9,768 (8,932) (895) 946 1,137 (118) 66 35 1,119 41,163
and other (Note 28) ’ ’ ’ ’ ’ ’
Derivative financial instruments
associated with financing (463) (20) o7 9 9 261 44 - — — (63)
Total 37,574 9,748 (8,835) (886) 955 1,398 (74) 66 35 1,119 41,100

(™ Issues net of expenses.

@ Includes translation differences.
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31. LEASES

Lessee

Changes in lease liabilities in 2021 and 2022 are as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Opening balance 2,411 2,058
Modification of the consolidation scope (Note 7) — (19)
Translation differences 26 M
New lease contracts (Note 12) 212 217
Discount to present value (Note 43) 85 73
Payments made from principal (175) (154)
Interest paid (61) (49)
Restatement/changes of lease liabilities (Note 12) 56 186
Derecognitions and other (116) (12)
Closing balance 2,438 2,411

The breakdown of undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follow:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022
2023 151
2024 265
2025 180
2026 173
2027 164
2028 and beyond 2,621
Total 3,554
Financial cost 1,116
Present value of the payments 2,438
Total 3,554
Millions of euros 31.12.2021
2022 158
2023 269
2024 192
2025 164
2026 158
2027 and beyond 2,503
Total 3,444
Financial cost 1,033
Present value of the payments 2,411
Total 3,444
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Furthermore, the IBERDROLA Group is potentially exposed to future cash outflows that are
not reflected in the lease liability measurement mainly due to variable lease payment
commitments. During 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group accrued an amount of EUR
40 and 31 million for variable lease recognised under the “External services” heading of the
consolidated Income statement. Said amounts correspond mainly to lease rents depending
on output and operating income from wind farms located in leased lands.

Expenses in 2022 related to current leases excluded from the scope of IFRS 16 amounted
to EUR 17 million, as recognised under “External services” in the consolidated Income
statement (EUR 10 million in 2021).

There was no income from subleasing of the rights of use of assets in 2022 (EUR 1 million
in 2021).

Operating lessor

The IBERDROLA Group acts as lessor under certain operating leases consisting essentially
of the rental of investment property (Note 10) and items of property, plant and equipment.
The breakdown by type is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Buildings 253 256
Land 107 106
Other 24 27
Total 384 389

The “Revenue” and “Other operating income” headings of the consolidated Income
statement for 2022 include EUR 23 and 16 million, respectively (EUR 20 and 13 million,
respectively, in 2021).

The estimate of non-deducted future minimum payments for contracts in force at 31
December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022
2023 33
2024 29
2025 27
2026 23
2027 22
2028 and beyond 135
Total 269
Millions of euros 31.12.2021
2022 31
2023 28
2024 24
2025 23
2026 20
2027 and beyond 116
Total 242
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32. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The detail of the “Other non-current financial assets” and “Other current financial assets”
headings of the consolidated Statement of financial position is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Non-current

Non-current deposits and guarantees (Note 15.b.) 154 153
Concessional guarantee of tariff sufficiency in Brazil (Note 13) 125 53
Loans with equity-accounted investees 19 —
Financial lease suppliers 44 60
PIS/COFINS Brazil (Notes 16 and 35) 559 708
Other 633 571
Total 1,534 1,545
Current

Current deposits and guarantees (*) 1,128 456
Concessional guarantee of tariff sufficiency in Brazil (Note 13) 22 —
Loans with equity-accounted investees 92 84
Financial lease suppliers 2,538 1,363
PIS/COFINS Brazil (Notes 16 and 35) 259 234
Dividend payable on subordinated perpetual bonds (Note 21) 178 164
CSA derivatives security deposits (Note 21) 95 —
Staff pending remuneration 388 314
Other 358 365
Total 5,058 2,980

(*) This item includes the collateral required for the operation of the business in the markets (see Note 15.b).

The IBERDROLA Group manages a series of loan arrangements for certain suppliers to
enable the latter to settle their invoices early with a bank. This is a form of reverse factoring
with the purpose of providing financing services through which suppliers can collect from a
bank prior to the due date of the invoices issued to the IBERDROLA Group. Under these
arrangements, the IBERDROLA Group has no economic interest in suppliers entering into
reverse factoring or in a direct financial relationship with the bank. The IBERDROLA Group’s
obligations to its suppliers, including the amounts owed and the agreed payment terms and
conditions are not affected by the suppliers’ decision to choose to bring forward collection
under these arrangements.

In 2022 and 2021, the IBERDROLA Group negotiated the extension of payment periods
with certain suppliers (mainly in respect of PP&E) with which the relevant IBERDROLA
Group companies operate. The average payment period for these suppliers has been
extended for approximately 180 days. These suppliers may choose to receive payment from
a bank prior to the due date by virtue of the supplier financing arrangements described
above.
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The IBERDROLA Group has determined suppliers’ use of these financing arrangements
have not discharged or substantially modified the original liabilities. Accordingly, the
balances are still classified as “Other current financial liabilities — Suppliers of fixed assets”
and “Trade payables” in the consolidated Statement of financial position. The cash flows
associated with these payments are included in the Cash flows from investing and from
operating activities, respectively, in the consolidated Statement of cash flows.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount under reverse factoring agreements
amounted to EUR 586 million and EUR 637 million, mainly recognised under “Other current
financial liabilities — Suppliers of fixed assets” in the consolidated Statement of financial
position.

33. OTHER LIABILITIES

The detail of the “Other non-current financial liabilities” and “Other current financial
liabilities” headings of the consolidated Statement of financial position is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Non-current
Contract liabilities

CFE (Note 37) 53 36

Other 1M 116
Adjustments for market price deviations (Vadjm) (Note 2.a) 15 142
Other liabilities 130 124
Total 309 418
Current
Contract liabilities

CFE 13 35

Other 584 163
Other liabilities 796 638
Total 1,393 836

34. DEFERRED TAXES AND INCOME TAX

Income tax

Due to the multinational nature of the IBERDROLA Group, it is subject to the regulations in
force in other tax jurisdictions.

Taxes in Spain

Iberdrola S.A. is the parent company of two tax consolidation groups in Spain: group 2/86
for the whole of Spain and group 02415BSC in Biscay. Up until 2019, Iberdrola S.A. was
part of the former, but became part of the latter in 2020 due to legislative changes affecting
the Company at individual level.
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The 2/86 group is formed by 98 companies, whereas the 02415BSC group is formed by 24
companies.

The other entities that are tax residents in Spain and which are not incorporated into these
two groups pay income tax on an individual basis.

Companies taxed under the common tax system were subject to a 25% rate in 2022, while
in the fiscally autonomous Basque Country, it was 24%.

Taxation in other countries

Other Group companies whose tax residence is outside Spain are taxed based on the
income tax rate applicable in their resident jurisdiction. In the United States, company
taxation is based on a consolidated tax system, where there is a federal tax group, and joint
or consolidated taxation as a tax group also operating in certain states. In the United
Kingdom the group payment arrangement mechanism is used. In France, Australia, Italy,
Portugal and Romania, tax is paid in 2022 also under a regime of tax consolidation for
entities that meet the requirements. In other tax jurisdictions, Group companies are subject
to taxes under the individual tax regime.
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Nominal tax rates applicable in the main jurisdictions in which the IBERDROLA Group
operates are as follows (OECD figures, including the federal/general rate and, as
applicable, the state/local rate):

Country 2022 2021
Australia 30.0 30.0
Brazil 34.0 34.0
Bulgaria 10.0 10.0
Canada 27.0 27.0
Costa Rica 30.0 30.0
Cyprus 12.5 12.5
France 25.8 27.4
Germany 31.9 31.9
Greece 22.0 22.0
Hungary 9.0 9.0
Ireland 12.5 12.5
Italy 28.8 28.8
Japan 38.1 31.8
Luxembourg 24.9 24.9
Mexico 30.0 30.0
Netherlands 25.8 25.0
Poland 19.0 19.0
Portugal 26.9 26.9
Qatar 10.0 10.0
Romania 16.0 16.0
South Africa 28.0 28.0
Spain 25-24 25-24
United Kingdom 19.0 19.0
United States 26.5 26.5
Vietnam 20.0 20.0
Taiwan 20.0 20.0
Norway 22.0 22.0
Singapore 17.0 17.0
Morocco 31.0 31.0
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Inome tax expense

Income tax expense for 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Consolidated profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 6,292 6,301
before tax
Consolidated profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations (96) (45)
before tax
Consolidated Profit/(loss) before tax 6,196 6,256
Non-deductible expenses and non-computable income @:
- from individual companies (112) (167)
- from consolidation adjustments (474) (357)
Profit of equity-accounted investees (146) 39
Adjusted accounting profit 5,464 5,771
Gross tax calculated at the tax rate in force in each country 1,442 1,490

Tax credits deductions due to reinvestment of extraordinary profits and
other tax credits

Adjustment of prior years’ income tax expense (22) (36)
Net movement in provisions for litigation, compensation payments, similar

(168) (123)

. 50 5
costs and other provisions
Adjustment of deferred tax assets and liabilities ® (174) 569
Other 9 (1)
Income tax expensel/(income) 1,136 1,904
Accrued income tax expense/(income) in the consolidated Income 1.161 1.914
statement ’ ’
Accrued income tax expense/(income) from discontinued operations (25) (10)
@ Includes, in 2022 and 2021, adjustments arising from the exemption of dividends and share of profit received and the

transfer of interests; from the application of tax credit in the tax base in certain jurisdictions; and from the deductibility
of impairment on equity instruments and other accounting expenses.

) The most significant impact in 2022 was due to the reverse merger of Neoenergia Distribuigdo Brasilia (BRASILIA) and
its shareholder Bahia PCH lll, whereby the excess price paid in the acquisition of Neoenergia Brasilia became deductible
in Brazil. As a result, the related portion of the deferred tax liability generated in the Neoenergia Brasilia business
combination in the amount of EUR 126 million has been reversed (Note 7). The most relevant impact in financial year
2021 was the tax rate adjustments in the United Kingdom amounting to EUR 508 million.

The breakdown between current and deferred income tax is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Current taxes 1,082 1,098
Deferred taxes 54 806
Expen.se/(lncome) from continuing and discontinued 1,136 1,004
operations
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Deferred taxes

The detail of the “Deferred tax assets” and “Deferred tax liabilities” headings of the consolidated Statement of financial position is as follows:

Credit Credit
Modification of (charge) to Credit Credit Amendments (charge) to Credit Credit
Millions of Balance at the Translation the (charge)to (charge) to Other Balance at to IAS 37 Translation the (charge) to (charge) to Other Balance at
euros 01.01.2021 consolidation differences consolidated “Valuation “Other 31.12.2021 (Note 2.a) differences consolidated “Valuation “Other 31.12.2022
scope (Note 7) Income adjustments” reserves” Income adjustments” reserves”
statement statement
Deferred tax assets:
Measurement
of derivative 436 — 16 — 37 - @ 487 — ) 26 209 —  (85) 656
financial
instruments
Balance
sheet 1,186 — — (74) — - — 1,112 — — (62) — — — 1,050
revaluation
16/2012
Pensions and
similar 555 — 35 65 — (243) 3 415 — 16 (24) — (56) 3) 348
commitments
Allocation of
non-
deductible
negative 60 — — (2) — — — 58 — — 2) — — — 56
goodwill
arising on
consolidation
Provision for
facility closure 114 — 5 — — — — 119 — 5 (25) — — — 99
costs
Tax credits for
losses and 2,080 18 139 94 — — 22 2,353 — 114 193 — — 86 2,746
deductions
Other
deferred tax 1,551 45 (89) (225) — — 91 1,373 17 91 (128) — — 13 1,366
assets
Total 5,982 63 106 (142) 37 (243) 114 5,917 17 225 (22) 209 (56) 31 6,321
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Modification Credit Credit
of the (charge) to Credit (charge) to Credit Credit
Millions of Balance at consolidation Translation the (charge) to Other Balance at  Translation the (charge)to (charge) to Other Balance at
euros 01.01.2021 scope (Note differences consolidated “Valuation 31.12.2021 differences consolidated “Valuation “Other 31.12.2022
P 7 Income adjustments” Income adjustments” reserves”
statement statement

Deferred tax liabilities:
Measurement
of derivative
financial 343 - 46 — 203 @) 590 ! 7 (197) — @ 389
instruments
Accelerated

. 5,011 17) 411 634 — — 6,039 194 (22) — — (1) 6,210
depreciation
Overprice
assigned in 3,237 118 201 175 — — 3,731 135 (157) — — — 3,709
business
combinations
Other
deferred tax 1,016 3 33 (145) — 97 1,004 68 204 1) 24 75 1,374
liabilities
Total 9,607 104 691 664 203 95 11,364 390 32 (198) 24 70 11,682
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Administrative proceedings

Among its principles, IBERDROLA seeks to build stronger ties with the tax authorities,
based on the respect for the law, loyalty, trust, professionalism, collaboration, reciprocation
and good faith, notwithstanding any legitimate disputes that may arise due to the
interpretation of tax rules. When such disputes do arise, IBERDROLA strives to ensure
cooperative dealings with the authorities, in accordance with the principles of transparency
and mutual trust.

All IBERDROLA actions have been analysed by its internal and external advisers, both for
this year and for preceding years, and these advisers have determined that these actions
have been carried out in accordance with the Law and are based on the reasonable
interpretation of tax law. The existence of contingent liabilities is also scrutinised.
IBERDROLA'’s general approach is to recognise provisions for tax litigation when it is likely
that IBERDROLA will be handed an unfavourable decision or ruling, while no recognition is
required when the risk is possible or remote.

Undergoing tax inspections at reporting date in 2022 depend on the tax law applicable in
each country, but no material impacts arising therefrom not included in these Financial
Statements are expected.

Administrative proceedings in Spain

In June 2020, the Spanish tax authority (AEAT) instigated a partial tax inspection (for the
years 2012 to 2014) and a general tax inspection (for the years 2015 to 2017) for the main
corporate taxes applicable to IBERDROLA Group companies in the consolidated tax group
for Spain (no. 2/86). The inspections were subsequently extended to financial years 2018
to 2020, also on a partial basis, in order to carry out the full adjustment of certain contested
topics from previous financial years.

In 2021, various tax assessments were signed in agreement relating to transfer pricing
matters for the period 2012 to 2014, while other assessments were signed in protest relating
to other corporate income tax matters (the same as those discussed in the general audit
procedure for the years 2008-2011).

In 2022, the verification procedures initiated in June 2020 continued and the remaining
settlement proposals and assessments resulting from these procedures were made, some
of them settled, some in agreement, and some in protest.

The tax assessments signed in protest in 2022 for Income tax purposes, corresponding to
the years 2015 to 2020, have essentially the same adjustments as those disputed in 2021,
i.e. those raised in the general inspection procedure for financial years 2008-2011.
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With regard to Value Added Tax, the contested tax inspection reports for 2015 to 2017
include disputed adjustments arising from the inclusion in the denominator of the pro rata
of the capital gains arising in portfolio transfers or corporate restructuring transactions, and
the non-recognition by the tax authorities of the refund of VAT payments relating to unpaid
debts mainly by individuals, more than one year old and with a tax base of less than EUR
300, applied for by CURENERGIA and IBERDROLA CLIENTES, S. A. in relation to those
years. This request is based on the view that Spanish rules on VAT due on unpaid invoices
are contrary to Community law.

On 17 December 2021 and 29 July 2022, tax claims was filed with the Central Tax Appeals
Board against the settlement agreements derived from the assessments signed in protest
discussed in the previous paragraph, which do not entail significant equity impacts for the
IBERDROLA Group.

Administrative proceedings in other countries

In those countries where the Group has a significant presence, the main ongoing
inspections are as follows:

» Inthe United States the most significant inspection relates to income tax in the State
of New York. Additionally, given its nature of large taxpayer, both at federal level and
state level, AVANGRID Group has a number of different ongoing tax inspection
processes on other taxes.

* In the United Kingdom, HMRC has classified Scottish Power as a low risk taxpayer.
The only significant matter under discussion affects the deductibility of certain
payments made as required by the electric regulator (OFGEM). The relevant
pleadings were submitted in 2021 in relation to the claims brought before the First
Tier Tax Tribunal. The Tax Tribunal gave its ruling in February 2022, and disagreeing
with it, an appeal was lodged with the Upper Tribunal in May 2022.

* In Mexico, income tax inspections were conducted in 2020 and 2021 by the Mexican
tax authority (SAT) against Iberdrola Ingenieria y Construccion SA de CV (2017),
Iberdrola Energia Monterrey SA de CV (2017), Iberdrola México SA de CV (2018)
and Iberdrola Energia Escobedo SA de CV (2018). In relation to the latter company,
the inspection was also extended to sales tax (2018).

As far as the first two procedures are concerned, the corresponding letters of
observation were received in the closing months of 2022. At the date of preparation
of these financial statements, both companies have applied to the Taxpayer's
Ombudsman's Office (Prodecon) to initiate proceedings for a conclusive agreement,
which are pending a reply from the SAT.

In the other two proceedings, the aforementioned conclusive agreement procedure
has been exhausted, awaiting the SAT’s notification of the settlement notices, which
will be challenged by means of an appeal for reversal at first instance.
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Lastly, it should be noted that in November and December 2022 the SAT notified the
commencement of income tax audits for financial year 2020 to Iberdrola Energia
Noroeste SA de CV, Iberdrola Energia Altamira SA de CV and Iberdrola Energia
Tamazunchale SA de CV.

» Lastly, Brazil is known for being a jurisdiction with a high risk of litigation and there
are multiple investigation actions in progress, given Brazil's tax and administrative
structure and the usual procedure followed by the tax authorities. However, these
procedures are rarely settled in favour of the tax authorities.

The IBERDROLA Group’s directors and their tax consultants consider that the current
inspection process will not give rise to further material liabilities for the IBERDROLA Group
beyond those already recognised at 31 December 2022.

Tax litigation
Tax litigation in Spain

In June 2020 IBERDROLA was notified of the rulings of the Central Tax Appeals Board
(TEAC) on the appeals lodged in relation to tax assessments disputed in 2016, arising from
the general tax inspection of the consolidated tax group in Spain (no. 2/86) for the period
2008 to 2011.

As regards VAT, the TEAC found in favour of IBERDROLA’s interests (thus rendering the
inspector’s assessments and settlements null and void), but ruled against the Company in
its income tax decision.

On 7 July 2020, IBERDROLA filed a contentious-administrative appeal against these
income tax rulings with the National High Court (Audiencia Nacional). Throughout 2021, the
corresponding submissions were made in the proceedings, and the dates for voting and
ruling have not yet been set.

The main adjustments included in the settlement agreements resulting from contested tax
assessments related to the quantification of goodwill subject to tax amortisation and
depreciation, for the acquisition of SCOTTISH POWER, the elimination of the exemption
applicable to SCOTTISH POWER'’s dividends received, as the Tax Authority considers that
this exemption is incompatible with valuation adjustments for net investment hedges,
differences in tax consolidation criteria and the possible existence of the circumstances
envisaged in Section 15.1 of Spain’s General Tax Law in a debtor-swap operation in a
number of debt issues.

Additionally, in December 2020 IBERDROLA was notified of the rulings of the Central Tax
Appeals Board (TEAC) on the appeals lodged in relation to the income tax assessments
signed in protest arising from the limited tax inspection of the period 2012 to 2014. The
dispute with the public administration focuses on the applicability on inapplicability of the
temporary imputation standard established in numerous Supreme Court decisions
regarding income received by the Group, resulting from payments made based on rules
contrary to Law.

www.iberdrola.com
- @& IBERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 155

This ruling of December 2020 partially upheld IBERDROLA’s arguments, accepting its
criteria insofar as the taxes declared to be unconstitutional are concerned. On 25 January
2021, IBERDROLA appealed the remaining disputed assessments to the National High
Court. Throughout 2021, the corresponding submissions were made in the proceedings,
which remains at the present date pending the setting of a date for voting and ruling (Note
44).

Tax litigation in other countries

As a general rule, no significant tax litigation is currently undergoing in the other jurisdictions
where the Group operates, except for Brazil, where a large number of litigation and
administrative and judicial proceedings are ongoing. The Group considers it probable that
the final rulings will be favourable (Note 44).

The IBERDROLA Group’s directors and their tax consultants consider that the current
inspection process will not give rise to further material liabilities for the IBERDROLA Group
beyond those already recognised at 31 December 2022.

Further developments in relation to financial goodwill (Article 12.5 of the
consolidated text of the Income Tax Law)

In previous years, the Spanish authorities applied the aid and grants reimbursement
procedure envisioned in the General Tax Act, thus recovering from the IBERDROLA Group,
in accordance with Section 12.5 of the TRLIS, the sum of EUR 665 million (EUR 576 million
in principal and EUR 89 million in late payment interest) in the years 2002 to 2015.
IBERDROLA settled the required amount by (i) offsetting part of it against the EUR 363
million received under the 2016 income tax rebate; and (ii) paying EUR 302 million in
February 2018. All the foregoing by virtue of Decision Three of the European Commission.

Meanwhile, in May 2021 IBERDROLA received notice of a tax settlement agreement under
state aid retrieval proceedings for the years 2016 to 2018 for a total of EUR 13 million, which
the Company paid on 2 July 2021.

These amounts were recognised in “Current tax assets” under non-current assets in the
consolidated Statement of financial position at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The assets
show the amount recoverable from the tax authorities for corporate income tax and late
payment interest, as IBERDROLA believes that the payments effectively made exceeded
the current tax the recoverability of which is considered probable, subject to the final
outcome of the appeals submitted against the three decisions of the European Commission.

Moreover, the application of the incentive provided in Section 12.5 of the TRLIS generated
a taxable temporary difference, resulting in the subsequent recognition of the deferred tax
liability recognised.

Therefore, if the outcome is ultimately contrary to the Company’s interests (something
considered unlikely based on the information currently available), the impact on equity
would by substantially mitigated.
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35. PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION RECEIVABLES AND
PAYABLES

The breakdown of the headings “Current tax assets/liabilities” and “Other public
administration receivables/payables” on the asset and liability sides, respectively, of the
consolidated Statement of financial position is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Taxes receivable

Public Treasury, corporate income tax receivable 453 367
VAT 519 945
Tax withholdings and prepayments 36 14
Hydroelectric levy (Notes 40 and 42) — 1,103
Public Treasury, PIS/COFINS Brazil (Notes 16 and 32) 236 234
Public Treasury, other receivables 107 110
Total 1,351 2,773
Payable to public entities

Public Treasury, corporate income tax payable 156 227
VAT 217 329
Withholdings 64 51
Other taxes 946 795
Social Security 35 30
Total 1,418 1,432

36. INFORMATION ON AVERAGE PAYMENT PERIOD TO
SUPPLIERS. THIRD ADDITIONAL PROVISION -
“REPORTING REQUIREMENT” OF LAW 15/2010 OF 5
JULY

The required information for 2022 and 2021 breaks down as follows:

Number of days

2022 2021
Average payment period to suppliers 13 13
Paid transactions ratio 13 12
Outstanding transactions ratio 20 34
Millions of euros 2022 2021
Total payments made 23,763 15,239
Total payments due 707 334
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Information on invoices paid in a period shorter than the maximum period set out in Law
15/2010 is as follows:

2022 2021
Amouht in millions of euros paid within the maximum period 23,641 15,180
established
% of the amount of invoices paid 99.49 % 99.61 %
Number of invoices paid within the maximum period established 23,048,484 19,585,959
% of the number of invoices paid 99.85 % 99.88 %

The information shown in the above tables has been prepared in accordance with Law
15/2010 of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004 of 29 December, establishing measures to combat
late payments in commercial operations; in accordance with Law 18/2022 of 28 September,
on the creation and growth of companies; and in accordance with the Resolution of 29
January 2016 of the Spanish Institute of Accounting and Auditing (Instituto de Contabilidad y
Auditoria de Cuentas) on the information to be included in the Notes to the Financial
Statements in relation to late payments to suppliers in commercial transactions.

This information has been drawn up on the basis of the following specifications:

— Paid transactions ratio: amount in days of the ratio between the sum of the products
of each of the transactions paid by the number of payment days, and the total
amount of payments made during the year.

— Outstanding transactions ratio: amount in days of the ratio between the sum of the
amount of the outstanding payment transaction and the number of unpaid days, and
the total amount of outstanding payments.

— Suppliers: trade payables included in current liabilities in the consolidated Statement
of financial position generated from debts of goods or services with suppliers.

— Property, plant and equipment suppliers and finance lease suppliers are excluded
from this information.

— Taxes, levies, indemnities and certain other headings are likewise excluded from
this information since they do not qualify as trade transactions.

— The table below shows information corresponding to Spanish companies included
in the consolidated group once the credits and debits between the subsidiary
companies are eliminated.
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The breakdown of this heading of the consolidated Income statement is as follows:
2022 .
_ United  United _ _ Corporation
Spain . Mexico Brazil IEI and Total
Kingdom States .
Millions of euros adjustments
In regulated markets
Electricity 4,732 1,379 4,716 2,604 6,744 — (7) 20,168
Gas — — 1,836 — — — — 1,836
In liberalised markets
Electricity 15,443 5,373 1,069 1,498 382 718 (224) 24,259
Gas 2,024 2,038 1 — — — 2) 4,061
Other 672 788 209 — 8 1 8 1,686
Income from construction
2 — — — 1,47 — — 1,
contracts (Note 13) 9 9 508
Income from lease 2 _ 1 _ _ _ 21 24
contracts
Valuation ar'1c.i mefflf:len.cles 78 235 75 (23) . 83 @1) 407
of commodities derivatives
Total 22,980 9,813 7,907 4,079 8,613 802 (245) 53,949
2021 -
. . Corporation
Restated (Note 2.c) Spain . United United Mexico Brazil IEl and Total
Kingdom States .
adjustments
iﬁ”r'égulatéd markets
Electricity 4,158 1,275 3,277 2,234 5,769 — (5) 16,708
Gas — — 1,258 — — — — 1,258
In liberalised markets 0
Electricity 10,107 3,493 1,012 1,264 278 492 (133) 16,513
Gas 1,246 1,157 — — — — 9 2,412
Other 541 177 156 — 6 1 21 902
Income from construction 8 _ _ _ 1114 _ _ 1122
contracts (Note 13)
Income from lease 2 _ 1 _ _ _ 17 20
contracts
Valuation and inefficiencies
of commodities derivatives 20 70 48 ©) - 64 (14) 179
Total 16,082 6,172 5,752 3,489 7,167 557 (105) 39,114
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Renewables Other
2022 and businesses,
Networks . Customers Corporation Total
Sustainable
Millions of euros Generation and
adjustments
Supplies in regulated markets
Electricity 14,989 1,265 5,657 (1,743) 20,168
Gas 1,836 — — — 1,836
In liberalised markets
Electricity — 7,419 22,128 (5,288) 24,259
Gas — — 6,052 (1,991) 4,061
Other 18 1,480 853 (665) 1,686
Income from construction 1,509 _ _ 1) 1,508
contracts
Income from lease contracts 3 — — 21 24
Valuatlor! ?nd meIfflc!encles of _ 158 249 _ 407
commodities derivatives
Total 18,355 10,322 34,939 (9,667) 53,949
2021 Renewables i Other
Restated (Note 2.c) and businesses,
Networks . Customers Corporation Total
Sustainable d
Millions of euros Generation - "
adjustments
Supplies in regulated markets
Electricity 12,487 910 4,653 (1,342) 16,708
Gas 1,258 — — — 1,258
In liberalised markets
Electricity (1) 7,243 15,048 (5,777) 16,513
Gas 1) — 3,319 (906) 2,412
Other 19 658 726 (501) 902
Income from construction 1122 _ _ _ 1122
contracts
Income from lease contracts 3 — — 17 20
Valuatlor! ?nd me.fflc!encles of _ 158 18 3 179
commodities derivatives
Total 14,887 8,969 23,764 (8,506) 39,114

The main activities for which IBERDROLA generates ordinary revenue from customer
contracts are as follows:

— Electricity and gas transmission and distribution

The IBERDROLA Group’s performance obligation is to make transmission and distribution
facilities available to customers. This performance obligation is recognised in a linear
manner over time, since the customer receives and consumes simultaneously the benefits
from the IBERDROLA Group’s performance insofar the transmission or distribution network
is available.
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In the countries where IBERDROLA Group operates, the remuneration on transmission and
distribution activities is basically determined by the regulated margin recognised by the
corresponding regulator. For certain regulated activities carried out by the IBERDROLA
Group, any discrepancies between costs estimated when setting the annual tariff and costs
actually incurred are recognised as income or expense for the year in which they arise only
if its proceed or payment is certain, regardless of future sales (Note 15.b).

— Gas and electricity sales

The amount of electricity and gas sales is recognised as income at the time the energy is
delivered to the customer based on the amounts supplied and include an estimated of
unbilled supplied energy (Note 5). Where relevant, depending on the applicable legislation
in each country, this item includes incentives received to support vulnerable consumers or
to mitigate the effects of the energy crisis.

By countries:

— In Spain, income includes the amount of both sales in the gas regulated market at Tariff
of Last Resort (TLR) and of electricity at Voluntary Price for the Small Consumer (VPSC)
as well as the sales in the liberalised market.

— Inthe United States and Brazil income from electricity and gas supply to end customers
are based on tariffs rates subject to the corresponding state regulatory authorities, which
determine the prices and other terms of service through the fixing of rates.

— In the United Kingdom, gas and electricity are traded in the liberalised market.

— In Mexico, electricity energy is supplied at liberalised conditions for consumers with a
demand of 1 MW or above.

IBERDROLA Group'’s retail supply companies act as principal. Purchase and sale of energy
between the Group’s generation and retail supply companies are left out of the consolidation
process.

— Assignment of electricity generation capacity

The electricity generation capacity assignment is an obligation independent from electricity
supply whose income is recognised through the term of the contract.

IBERDROLA Group maintains electricity generation capacity assignment agreements for
some of its plants that set predetermined collection schedules for assigning energy supply
capacity. IBERDROLA Group has electricity generation capacity assignment agreements in
Mexico for its combined cycle power plant with the Federal Electricity Commission (CFE —
Comision Federal de la Energia). The term of these agreements is 25 years from the date
on which each combined cycle plant enters into commercial operation.

www.iberdrola.com )
S @& \BERDROLA


www.iberdrola.com

Annual Financial Report 2022 Iberdrola, S.A. and subsidiaries | 161

— Verification, connection and assignment of use of metering equipment

The registration of customers, income for connecting to the receiving electricity and gas
grid, as well as income from the verification of installations, are recognised at the time the
actions take place since the customer benefits from the service provided and there is no
associated future fulfilment obligation. Income for the right of use of meters is recognised
as income throughout the period of use.

— Sale of renewables obligation certificates

In the sale of renewables obligation certificates from the Renewables business associated
to supplied energy (joint sale of energy and green certificates), income for the sale is
recognised at the time the energy is delivered. When the sale of said certificates takes place
separately from the energy produced, the income is recognised at the time the certificate is
delivered to the customer.

— Incentives for renewable business

The amount of the turnover of the renewable energy and sustainable generation segment
corresponding to the different geographical areas in which the Group operates includes the
incentives received according to the applicable legislation in each country, given that the
amount of these incentives is granted on an individual basis based on the units of products
sold and they are received recurrently.

— Construction contracts

Income from transmission and distribution concession agreements for electric energy that
the IBERDROLA Group has executed in Brazil includes two compliance obligations: (1)
construction services and (2) subsequent operation and maintenance of built facilities. The
consideration for each compliance obligation is assigned once the independent sale price
at the beginning of the contract is estimated, using IBERDROLA Group’s experience in the
provision of similar services, of bidding terms and conditions, as well as any other internal
or external information available.

Income from construction projects is recognised through the length of the construction
process, since the control of the asset is transferred to the customer on an ongoing basis.

When income related to construction contracts can be reliably estimated, it is registered in
an amount equivalent to the costs incurred to date as a proportion of the total estimated
construction costs required until the termination of the contract. When the income from a
contract cannot be reliably estimated, all such income is recognised to the extent that costs
are incurred, provided that such costs are recoverable. Profit on the contract is only
recognised when it is certain, based on budgeted costs and income.

Changes to construction work and any claims are included within contract revenue if
amendments to the contract are legally demanded.
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The IBERDROLA Group follows the principle of recognising income on sales of property
when legal title is transferred to the purchaser, which is usually the date the respective

contracts are notarised.

38. SUPPLIES

The breakdown of this heading of the consolidated Income statement is as follows:

31.12.2021 Restated

Millions of euros 31.12.2022
(Note 2.c¢)
Spain 16,217 9,669
United Kingdom 6,787 3,306
United States 2,847 1,837
Mexico 2,922 2,460
Brazil 5,503 4,852
IEI 199 45
Corporation and adjustments (725) (117)
Total 33,750 22,052
Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021(5:32%;
Networks 8,447 6,614
Renewables and Sustainable Generation 4,165 1,782
Customers 30,765 22,148
Other business, Corporation and adjustments (9,627) (8,492)
Total 33,750 22,052
39. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

The breakdown of this heading of the consolidated Income statement is as follows:
Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Wages and salaries 2,563 2,215
Employer social security costs 370 322
Additional provisions for pensions and similar obligations and defined 134 220

contributions to the external pension plan (Notes 3.p and 26)
Attendance allowances art. 48.1 (Note 46) 16 17
Remuneration stipulated in Art. 48.4 of the By-Laws 10 12
Other employee expenses 272 216
3,365 3,002
Capitalised personnel expenses

Intangible assets (Note 9) (24) (21)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 3.d) (822) (693)
Nuclear fuel and inventories (1) (2)
(847) (716)
Total 2,518 2,286
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The average number of the IBERDROLA Group employees in 2022 and 2021 has increased
to 40,090 and 38,702 employees, of which 9,361 and 8,870 are women, respectively.

The average number of employees in the consolidated group corresponds to all the
employees in those consolidated companies that have been integrated using the global

integration method, as well as the employees of the joint ventures determined based on the
participation share.

40. TAXES OTHER THAN INCOME TAX

The breakdown of this heading of the consolidated Income statement is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 Restated

(Note 2.c¢)
Spain 855 40
United Kingdom 263 242
United States 600 523
Mexico 7 4
Brazil 6 4
IEI 24 12
Corporation and adjustments 7 4
Total 1,762 829
Millions of euros 31122022  °1-12:2021 Restated

(Note 2.c)
Networks 746 672
Renewables and Sustainable Generation 729 (128)
Customers 276 285
Other business, Corporation and adjustments 11 —
Total 1,762 829

Law 15/2012 was published in Spain on 28 December 2012, on tax measures to ensure the
sustainability of the energy sector. It introduced the following tax figures, whose impact,
except for the green cent measures, has been recognised under the “Taxes other than
income tax” heading of the consolidated Income statement for 2022 and 2021:

— Ataxon the value of electricity output (IVPEE), entailing payment of 7% of the total
amount to be received by the taxpayer for the production of electricity and
incorporation thereof in the Spanish electricity system, measured at power station
busbars, during the tax period. This tax gave rise to an expense of EUR 138 million
in financial year 2021; it is suspended in financial year 2022.

Under Royal Decree-Law 12/2021, this tax was temporarily suspended for the third
quarter of 2021 and through several extensions (the last one by Royal Decree-Law
11/2022), it has remained suspended until 31 December 2022.
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In addition and in relation to the IVPEE tax base, Section 14 of Royal Decree-Law
11/2022 amended Section 6 (tax base) of Law 15/2012 to determine that, when
transactions are carried out between related persons or entities, in accordance with
the provisions of Law 27/2014, of 27 November, on Corporate Income Tax (LIS), the
price agreed between the parties may not be lower than the market value for the
purposes of calculating the tax base. To determine the market value, any of the
methods set out in the Corporate Income Tax Act must be applied.

— Atax on spent nuclear fuel, whose cost has amounted to EUR 35 million and EUR
129 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

On 22 February 2022, the Central Tax Appeals Board upheld the economic-
administrative claim filed by Central Nuclear Ascé Il, C.B. in relation to the
application of Transitional Provision Three of Law 15/2012 (coefficient to avoid
retroactivity of the tax) in financial years 2017 and 2018, so that only spent nuclear
fuel resulting from reactor operating cycles since the entry into force of Law 15/2012
is subject to taxation, also taking into account the use of the fuel in discontinuous
operating cycles.

By virtue of this decision, applications have been submitted for rectification of self-
assessments and refund of undue payments for the tax applicable since 2013 to the
Cofrentes, Almaraz and Trillo plants, which have been upheld by the tax authorities.
As a result, in 2022 the Group recognised refunds in this connection amounting to
EUR 79 million in tax payments and EUR 25 million in late-payment interest, with a
credit to “Taxes other than Income Tax” and “Finance income™, respectively, in the
consolidated Income statement for 2022.

— A levy on the use of inland waters in the production of electricity in the inter-
community districts (hydroelectric levy) which, as a general rule, involves the
payment of a percentage of the economic value of the hydroelectric energy
produced.

Iberdrola Generacién, S.A.U. challenged Royal Decree 198/2015, of 23 March,
which implements Section 112.bis of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2001, of 20 July,
approving the revised text of the Water Act and regulating the levy for the use of
inland waters for the production of electricity in inter-community districts. This appeal
was partially upheld by the Supreme Court in its ruling of 21 April 2021, declaring
the nullity of the second transitional provision and the second paragraph of the first
additional provision of Royal Decree 198/2015. The consequences of such
annulment were: (i) the nullity of the self-assessments for the 2013 and 2014
financial years due to maximum retroactivity because Royal Decree-Law 198/2015
was not in force in those years and (ii) its effect on the settlements for the 2015 to
2020 financial years, given that the concession titles were not modified to adapt
them to the requirements of the hydroelectric levy, in accordance with the ad hoc
procedures established in the water regulations.

In financial year 2021, the IBERDROLA Group recognised EUR 1,106 million (Note
35) — EUR 951 miillion in principal and EUR 155 million in late-payment interest —
under “Current trade and other receivables — Other receivables from public
authorities” in the consolidated Statement of financial position, with a credit to “Taxes
other than income tax” and “Finance income” (Note 42), respectively, in the
consolidated Income statement, which were collected in January 2022.
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The hydroelectric levy was reintroduced by Law 7/2022 of 8 April on waste and
contaminated soil for a circular economy. The expense recognised for this item in
financial year 2022 amounts to EUR 78 million.

— Financing of Social Bonus costs

The Judgment of the Supreme Court of 31 January 2022 on IBERDROLA's appeal
against the Social Bonus declares the inapplicability of the financing system charged
to the retail suppliers or the parent companies of the groups that include retail
suppliers, considering it discriminatory, and orders compensation to be paid to the
financing companies for the amounts not passed on to customers.

In this regard, the Group recognised receivables in financial year 2022 amounting
to EUR 109 million as principal and EUR 14 million in late payment interest under
“Taxes other than income tax” and “Finance income”, respectively, in the
consolidated Income statement for 2022.

Additionally, the “Taxes other than income tax” heading of the 2022 and 2021 consolidated
Income statements includes EUR 204 million and EUR 198 million, respectively, as the best
estimate available of the accrued expenses arising under Royal Decree-Law 6/2009 (Note
3.y) on amounts required for the management of radioactive waste and nuclear fuel.

41. AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND PROVISIONS

The breakdown of this heading of the consolidated Income statement is as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Depreciation charges for:
Intangible assets (Note 9) 1,058 890
Investment property (Note 10) 5 7
Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 3,452 3,156
Right-of-use assets (Note 12) 167 144
Allowances for impairments and write-offs of non-financial assets (Note 14):
Provision (reversal) of impairment of intangible assets (Note 9) 8 (10)
Write-offs for property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 11 52
Charge/(reversal) of impairment in PPE (Note 11) (16) (14)
Changes in provisions 89 69
Total 4,774 4,294
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The breakdown of this “Finance income” heading of the consolidated Income statement is

as follows:

Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Finance income related to assets at amortised cost 442 209
Finance income associated with the hydroelectric levy (Note 35) — 155
Finance income at fair value through profit or loss 2 55
Non-hedge derivatives and inefficiencies (Note 29) 238 81
Exchange gains in foreign currency for financing activities 170 235
Other exchange losses in foreign currency 156 384
Capitalised finance costs 189 145
Discount to present value of provisions for pensions and similar obligations 7 1
(Note 26)

Total 1,204 1,265

The average capitalisation rates used in 2022 and 2021 for external financing of property,
plant and equipment was 3.63% and 3.74%, respectively (Note 3.d).

43. FINANCE EXPENSE

The breakdown of the “Finance expense” heading of the consolidated Income statement is

as follows:
Millions of euros 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Finance expenses related to liabilities at amortised cost:

Finance expenses and similar financing expenses 1,810 1,205

Other finance and similar expenses 165 89
Finance expenses from lease liabilities (Note 31) 78 67
Equity instruments having the substance of a financial liability (Note 23) 46 30
Non-hedge derivatives and inefficiencies (Note 29) 477 152
Valuation adjustments of financial assets 2 8
Exchange losses in foreign currency for financing activities 172 228
Other exchange losses in foreign currency 178 380
Discount to present value of other provisions (Note 27) 78 67
Discount to present value of provisions for pensions and similar obligations (Note 36 42
26)
Total 3,042 2,268
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44. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

IBERDROLA Group companies are party to legal and out-of-court disputes arising as part
of the ordinary course of their business (disputes with suppliers, clients, administrative or
tax authorities, individuals, environmental activists or employees). The IBERDROLA
Group’s legal advisers believe that the outcome of these disputes will have no material
impact on its equity or financial position.

In relation to said disputes, the IBERDROLA Group’s main contingent assets and liabilities
not recognised in these consolidated Financial Statements as the pertinent accounting
criteria are not met, are as follows:

Contingent liabilities

On 16 June 2014, the National Commission on Markets and Competition (CNMC)
initiated sanctioning proceedings against Iberdrola Generacién, S.A.U. for purported
fraudulent manipulation aimed at altering energy prices at the Duero, Tagus and Sil
hydroelectric generation plants in December 2013. On 30 November 2015 the
Company was notified of the EUR 25 million fine. Iberdrola Generacién, S.A.U.
lodged an appeal for a judicial review with the Judicial Review Chamber of the
National High Court and was granted leave to proceed, whereupon enforcement of
the penalty was stayed. The proceedings are currently stayed and pending
preliminary proceedings before the Central Investigating Court of the National High
Court, which, on 26 May 2022, resolved to finalise the investigation phase and to
transfer the case to the parties and the Public Prosecutor's Office so that, where
appropriate, they can present their motions for prosecution. On 11 July 2022, Central
Investigating Court No. 2 of the National High Court issued an order to open oral
proceedings whereby it was agreed, inter alia: (i) to open oral proceedings and
charge Iberdrola Generacion, S.A.U. for an alleged offence under article 281 of the
Criminal Code (ii) to order the posting of sureties in the amount of EUR 193 million,
which have been provided through the arrangement of guarantees by Iberdrola
Generacion, S.A.U. in the amount of EUR 107 million and by the insurance
companies in the amount of EUR 85 million.

Administrative appeals lodged on 7 July 2020 before the National High Court against
dismissals by the Central Tax Appeals Board notified to IBERDROLA on contested
tax inspection reports signed by the Group in 2016, pertaining to the years 2008-
2011. The main disputes relate to the elimination of the tax exemption on dividends
received because the tax office believes that this exemption is incompatible with
valuation adjustments for net investment hedges, differences in tax consolidation
criteria and the possible existence of circumstances established in Article 15.1 of
Spain’s General Tax Act under a debtor-swap operation for a number of bond issues.
Throughout 2021, the corresponding submissions were made in the proceedings,
and the dates for voting and ruling have not yet been set.
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— Economic-administrative claims lodged on 17 December 2021 and 29 July 2022
before the Central Tax Appeals Board against the settlement decision on income tax
notified to Iberdrola Energia Espafa, S.A. as representative of Tax Group 2/86, in
relation to contested tax inspection reports signed by the Group in 2021 and 2022
for the financial years 2012 to 2014 and 2015 to 2020, respectively. The adjustments
in dispute are essentially the same as those discussed in relation to the years 2008
to 2011. To date, both claims remain pending resolution by the aforementioned
Court, with the submissions corresponding to the first of them having been
presented during the first quarter of 2022.

— Economic-administrative claim lodged on 29 December 2022 before the Central Tax
Appeals Board against the settlement decision on VAT for financial years 2015 to
2017, notified to Iberdrola, S.A. as representative of Tax Group 0220/08BVA. The
main disputed adjustments arise from the inclusion in the denominator of the pro
rata of the VAT and the capital gains arising in portfolio transfers and/or corporate
restructuring transactions, and the non-recognition by the tax authorities of the
refund of VAT payments relating to unpaid debts mainly by individuals, more than
one year old and with a tax base of less than EUR 300, applied for by CURENERGIA
and Iberdrola Clientes, S.A. in relation to those years. This request is based on the
view that Spanish rules on VAT due on unpaid invoices are contrary to Community
law.

— Administrative appeal lodged on 25 January 2021 before the National High Court
against the decision of the Central Tax Appeals Board notified to IBERDROLA in
December 2020. The claim, filed against the settlement agreements confirming the
contested tax assessments issued against the Company in limited tax inspection
proceedings in relation to income tax for the years 2012 to 2014, was partially
upheld. The dispute with the public administration focuses on the applicability of the
temporary imputation standard established in numerous Supreme Court decisions
regarding income received by the Group, resulting from payments made based on
rules contrary to law. The aforementioned decision partially upheld IBERDROLA’s
claims and accepted its view with regard to the taxes declared unconstitutional, and
the remaining cases in dispute were referred for appeal to the National High Court.
In the course of 2021, the corresponding submissions were presented in the
proceedings, and the date for voting and ruling is still pending at the present time.
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— The ACE (an economic interest grouping in Portugal) consisting of the companies
Acciona-Mota and Edivisa brought action for arbitration against Iberdrola
Generacion, S.A.U before the Central Arbitration Court of Lisbon (the arbitration
body provided in the contract) with regard to the construction contract for the Alto
Tamega dam and hydroelectric plant, claiming EUR 30 million. The claim is
grounded in the argument that they do not consider themselves liable for excess
costs that were incurred due to deviations in the work performed. They also claim
that they are not liable for the delays occurring and that IBERDROLA, consequently,
does not have the right to impose on them any of the penalties envisaged in the
contract. Furthermore, they state that the termination of the works contract is
groundless and should be deemed null and void, and they demand compensation
for said termination. IBERDROLA responded to the claim on 1 September 2021 by
lodging a counterclaim for a total of EUR 60.2 million. In addition, the guarantees for
the contract with ACE have been enforced and the company has paid EUR 8 million
in penalties and EUR 5 million in advance payments within the scope of the disputed
contract. These amounts will go on to form part of the arbitration dispute.

— |berdrola Castillay Le6n (IBERCYL) has been summoned as a subsidiary civil party,
jointly and severally with the Junta de Castilla y Ledn, in the proceedings before
Valladolid Court No 4 for the alleged irregular awarding of wind power licences in
Castilla y Ledn. The order stipulated that IBERCYL had to post a bond for EUR 11.2
million in this regard. In addition, the same Court has requested certain defendants
to furnish security for a total and joint amount of EUR 130 million to guarantee the
financial penalties sought by the prosecution. These defendants have presented a
corporate guarantee provided by Iberdrola Renovables Energia, S.A.U.,
unconditionally and irrevocably as a corporate personal guarantee on first demand,
based on which the Court agreed in October 2022 to declare the bond provided to
guarantee the pecuniary liabilities as sufficient.

— Various labour, civil and tax claims are ongoing against several companies of the
NEOENERGIA Group in Brazil in relation to their normal course of business. The
IBERDROLA Group considers that the risk of potential losses at such companies
has been assessed in line with the opinions of the authorities and the external tax
advisers, and the relevant provisions have been made based on the likelihood of
loss as per the available evidence, the position of courts and the most recent case
law precedent.

Labour claims relate to actions brought by former employees of NEOENERGIA
Group companies or former employees of companies providing services
(subcontracting) with requests for overtime, wage equalisation and other labour
rights, notably the collective action brought by the trade union SINTERN against the
company Neoenergia Cosern, seeking the continuation of, and immediate
compliance with, the Job Position, Career and Wages Plan approved in 1991, and
seeking also payment of the wages differences for the last five years and past-due
Social Security contributions. Civil proceedings relate to actions of a commercial
and compensatory nature brought to claim material or moral damages, arbitrations
discussing matters related to engineering and energy contracts and environmental
actions and expropriation of property related to the execution of projects.
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The tax claims include violation findings due to the following:

amortised gain/goodwill expense (agio) is not tax deductible for the purpose
of calculating income tax (both in income tax and employee contribution tax)
applicable to the subsidiaries Neoenergia Pernambuco, Neoenergia Coelba,
Neoenergia Cosern, Neoenergia Elektro, Itapebi and Termopernambuco.
Several favourable appellate court decisions on this matter were handed
down during financial year 2022 in relation to several of the years disputed
by the Brazilian tax authorities vis-a-vis the companies Neoenergia
Pernambuco and Neoenergia Cosern, with the final decision of the Supreme
Court pending on the merits;

failure to make income tax withholdings on interest payment on capital
between companies belonging to the same group;

the income tax withholding requirement on the alleged taxable capital gain
accruing to Iberdrola Energia, S.A. following the incorporation of Elektro
Holding by Neoenergia;

questions concerning tax credits related to consumption tax (ICMS) at NC
Energia, Termopernambuco, Neoenergia Pernambuco and Neoenergia
Elektro;

the tax authorities believe that payments for profit sharing, employee
benefits, health insurance and life insurance should be recognised as social
security expenses;

offsetting by Neoenergia of receivables due to wrongly applying
PIS/COFINS to finance income under a favourable ruling, which has been
contested;

questions concerning federal taxes — income tax and employee contribution
tax — from dismissal of expenses with payment of regulatory compensation
at the companies Neo Pernambuco and Neo Coelba;

questions concerning the municipality of contribution of the public lighting
service (COSIP), which holds that Coelba paid a smaller amount in the
period between January 2018 and December 2019.

Turning to regulatory proceedings, distribution companies Neoenergia Pernambuco,
Neoenergia Coelba, Neoenergia Cosern, Neoenergia Elektro y Neoenergia Brasilia
are party to various suits and claims, notably: (i) proceedings to calculate individual
and collective technical service continuity indicators; (ii) trade matters; (iii) financial
compensation and recovery of global indicators; (iv) matters related to the collection
or legality of tariff-related items or matters; and (v) matters related to the legality of
administrative action instituted by ANEEL. Among said actions, the following stand

out:

Elektro’'s Energy Social Tariff (for low income consumers), for which the
Consumers Association intends to increase the number of eligible customers
from 2002 to 2010, imposing on ANEEL and Elektro the obligation to restore
tariff differences, which should be met, eventually, by the CDE sector fund.
The free or onerous use of rights of way areas in roads for the electricity grid,
the merits of which are being discussed before the Supreme Court.

Several matters regarding over or under subscription of energy, currently
under administrative discussion;
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— The possibility of ANEEL including in the tariff tax income resulting from the
favourable outcome of the legal dispute concerning the exclusion of the
ICMS tax from the federal contributions calculation base for PIS/ICOFINS
(subject of initial discussion at the administrative level);.

— The action brought by Neoenergia Brasilia to annul ANEEL's act that
captured, for rate purposes, the surplus income obtained between May 2002
and October 2004,and July 2005 and August 2008, accumulated by the
criteria for classifying Low Income consumers.

— Claim by the Public Utilities Commission: in 2002, the California Public Utilities
Commission and the California Electricity Oversight Board (CPUC and CEOB,
respectively) submitted a claim to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(FERC) against a number of electricity producers, alleging that these companies
had manipulated the market and that the prices set in energy purchase contracts
were “unfair and unreasonable”, and demanded modifications to the contracts.

FERC dismissed the claim and, following a review by the Californian courts, the
Supreme Court ordered FERC to review the case, which had remained dormant
since 2008. In April 2016, following the reopening of the 2014 case, an initial ruling
was issued that dismissed any market manipulation by Avangrid Renewables, but
the initial ruling did conclude that the price of the power purchase agreements
imposed an excessive burden on customers in the amount of 259 million US dollars.
FERC staff have recommended that the case be closed without sanction.

— In relation to the arbitration pursued by Iberdrola Topolobampo, S.A. de C.V,, a
subsidiary of Iberdrola México, against the Federal Electricity Commission (CFE),
the claimant, in addition to opposing IBERDROLA's claims, has filed a counterclaim
in the arbitration, claiming damages in the amount of USD 185.5 million and USD
4.7 million in additional penalties for not having reached the coefficient of national
integration. The arbitration hearing has been held and the Award is expected to be
issued in the first half of 2023.

— Iberdrola México has challenged in court a resolution of the Energy Regulation
Commission (CRE) issuing charges by the Electricity Transmission Service to be
applied by CFE Intermediacién de Contratos Legados, S.A. de C.V. to the holders
of Legacy Interconnection Contracts with Electricity Generation Plants with
Renewable or Efficient Cogeneration Sources. The resolution substantially
increases the charges for this service and, in the judgement of Iberdrola México,
hinders and limits a constitutionally significant activity such as electricity generation
and it is contrary to a number of rights protected by the Mexican constitution. After
the granting of the injunctive measure sought by IBERDROLA, consisting of
suspension of the contested resolution, the company had to post a bond in the
amount of MXN 3,374 million with the court to secure the measure. The amount is
the difference between what Iberdrola México would have to pay under the
contested resolution and what it actually will pay pursuant to the injunction granted
for tariff charges for electricity transmission services for 31 months; the amount is
revised every six months. In the event the trial produces an unfavourable outcome,
IBERDROLA would have to pay this amount.
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Iberdrola Mexico has filed a legal challenge against the resolution issued by the
Energy Regulatory Commission (CRE), notified on 27 May 2022, by which it
penalises Iberdrola Energia Monterrey, S.A. de C.V. (IEM) in the amount of MXN
9,145 million (approximately USD 467 million). The CRE intends to base its
resolution on the fact that IEM allegedly carried out energy sales to its consumer
partners in breach of the Law; additionally, the CRE seeks to base its claims on
invoices obtained from the Mexican tax authorities (Servicio de Administracion
Tributaria, SAT). On 15 June 2022, IEM filed appeal proceeding against this
resolution and interim relief has been requested to suspend the payment of the
penalty. The amparo application was heard by the Third Specialised District Court
and the admission of the suit for amparo and the granting of the provisional
suspension of the sanction are pending. On 1 July 2022, IEM was notified of the
provisional injunction against enforcement of the penalty and on 11 July 2022, a
bond for the amount of the penalty was posted. Finally, we have been granted a
definitive suspension so that payment does not have to be made, meaning that the
contested act will not have an impact on the company's legal position, nor jeopardise
the effectiveness of the permit for self-supply of electricity.

Additionally, the following contingent liabilities have arisen as part of the ordinary business
of the IBERDROLA Group:

US gas companies own, or have owned, the land on which they operated the gas
production plants. This land was polluted as a result of these activities. In some
cases, the soil has been cleaned, while in others the soil has been assessed and
identified, but has yet to be cleaned and in some other cases the extent of the
pollution has yet to be determined. For the last group, at 31 December 2022 no
provisions had been recognised because the cost cannot reasonably be estimated
as the matter requires the regulators’ intervention and approval. In the past, the gas
companies have received authorisation to recover cleaning expenses from
customers through tariffs and they expect to recover such expenses for the
remaining soil.

Contingent assets

AVANGRID initiated legal proceedings against the former owners of certain sites in
order to recover the costs of environmental restoration work it was forced to pay.

Restatement of contingent assets reported in prior periods

With regard to Order TED/490/2022, which entailed the recognition of a lower remuneration
loss for 2016 and subsequent years in the company’s interim consolidated Financial
Statements, an appeal was lodged and admitted for processing by the administrative
chamber of the Supreme Court in the second half of 2022. The Company has recorded the
adjusted income in the first half of the year, with the year-end effect for 2022 amounting to
EUR 210 million.
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Other information

As regards the legal proceedings instigated by third parties that may affect the remuneration
and equity of the IBERDROLA Group, no significant appeals have been lodged.

Contingent assets and liabilities at 31 December 2021 are described in the IBERDROLA
Group’s consolidated Financial Statements for that year.

45. GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS TO THIRD PARTIES
AND OTHER CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

IBERDROLA and its subsidiaries are required to provide guarantees associated with the
normal management of the Group’s activities in the countries in which it operates.

The IBERDROLA Group guarantees the obligations assumed under power purchase
agreements as well as grid access transactions in different energy markets and vis-a-vis
the operators of different electricity systems (mainly MEFF, OMIE, National Grid, CFE, REE
and EDP Distribucion).

In addition, in 2022 the IBERDROLA Group has provided letters of credit to cover the Initial
Margin collateral necessary to carry out derivatives transactions in certain clearing houses
(mainly ICE and EEX).

With regard to generation from renewable sources, the IBERDROLA Group has posted
guarantees to third parties to cover the construction, commissioning and dismantling of
facilities, in addition to its long-term obligations to sell energy.

In 2016, tax inspection reports were signed in protest for income tax for the years 2008 to
2011. IBERDROLA filed the corresponding appeals with the Central Tax Appeals Board
against the settlements that confirmed the contested tax assessments, seeking the
automatic suspension of the enforcement of the tax settlements by furnishing the necessary
bank guarantees. In June 2020, IBERDROLA was notified of the Court’s rejection decisions,
which were contested in administrative appeals lodged before the National High Court (filed
on 7 July 2020), which are ongoing, with the suspension of the enforcement of the
assessments while maintaining the guarantees provided for this purpose (Note 34). During
2022, the audits carried out by the tax authorities relating to the Tax Group’s corporate
income tax were completed, covering all income tax items in relation to financial years 2015
to 2017 and covering only certain income tax items in relation to financial years 2012 to
2014 and 2018 to 2020. As a result, IBERDROLA SA has been notified of the settlement
agreements confirming the contested inspection reports in relation to each and every one
of the years, adjusting the same substantive topics as in the years 2008 to 2011, although,
as far as these periods are concerned, the settlements resulted in amounts to be refunded
to the company. IBERDROLA requested, and the Administration agreed, to partially offset
the refunds recognised in its favour in relation to financial years 2012 to 2020, with the debts
suspended due to the provision of a bank guarantee relating to financial years 2008 to 2011,
reducing the amount of such debts and reducing the object of the collateral guarantees
provided, which continue to be held by the tax authorities.
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In addition, at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were outstanding obligations resulting
from bond issues in the United States amounting to EUR 2,709 million and EUR 2,370
million, which were secured by items of property, plant and equipment of the AVANGRID

subgroup.

IBERDROLA considers that any further liability at 31 December 2022 and 2021 arising from
the guarantees posted at that date would not be significant.

Moreover, the IBERDROLA Group, in compliance with its contractual obligations associated
with loans received from banks, had fully or partially pledged some of its subsidiaries’ shares
at 31 December 2022 and 2021. A breakdown of the shares pledged is as follows, by

company:
Millions of euros 2022 2021
Percentage Carrying Percentage Carrying
Carrvin of ownership amount Carrvin of ownership amount
Company YING  ofthe  multiplied by YINg ot the multiplied by
amount o FRDROLA % of amount | BERDROLA % of
Group ownership Group ownership
Renewables business — Spain
Desarrollos de Energias 29 63.55 % 14 26 63.55 % 17
Renovables de La Rioja, S.A. (1)
Edlica de Campollano, S.A. (1) — 25.00 % — 43 25.00 % 1
';Zrd(r?;a Renovables de la Rioja, 126 63.55 % 80 97 63.55 % 62
Molinos de Cidacos, S.A. 55 63.55 % 35 43 63.55 % 27
Molinos de la Rioja, S.A. (1) 26 63.55 % 17 23 63.55 % 15
Za;rques Edlicos Alto Layna, S.L.U. 76 20.00 % 15 56 2000 % 1
Sistemas Energéticos Altamira, 23 20.00 % 5 15 20.00 % 3
S.A. (1)
Sistemas Energéticos de la Linera, 10 2000 % 2 9 20.00 % 2
S.A. (1)
Sistemas Energéticos Gomera, 8 2000 % 2 4 20.00 % 1
S.A. (1)
Sistemas Energéticos Nacimiento, 8 20.00 % 2 8 2000 % 2
S.A. (1)
Sistemas Energéticos Savalla del o5 20.00 % 5 16 20.00 % 3
Comtat, S.A. (1)
Sistemas Energéticos Tacica de
9 20.00 % 2 9 20.00 % 2

Plata, S.A. (1) ’ °
Renewables business — Brazil
Arizona 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A 9 53.50 % 5 8 52.91 % 4
Ba’gue.lrl Geragao de Energia 8 53.50 % 15 27 5291 % 14
Eléctrica, S.A.
Belo Monte Participagdes S.A — 53.50 % — 124 52.91 % 66
Caetité 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A 14 53.50 % 8 12 5291 % 6
Caetité 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A 17 53.50 % 9 15 52.91 % 8
Caetité 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A 13 53.50 % 7 " 52.91 % 6
Calango 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 1 53.50 % 6 9 52.91 % 5
Calango 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 10 53.50 % 5 9 52.91 % 5
Calango 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 10 53.50 % 5 9 52.91 % 5
Calango 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 9 53.50 % 5 8 52.91 % 4

10 53.50 % 5 8 52.91 % 4

Calango 5 Energia Renovavel, S.A.
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Millions of euros 2022 2021
Percentage Carrying Percentage Carrying
Carrvin of ownership amount Carrvin of ownership amount
Company amoyun? ofthe  multiplied by amoyunf of the multiplied by
IBERDROLA % of IBERDROLA % of
Group ownership Group ownership
Calango 6 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 49 53.50 % 26 40 5291 % 21
Canoas 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 35 53.50 % 19 31 52.91 % 16
Canoas 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 9 53.50 % 5 7 52.91 % 4
Canoas 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 8 53.50 % 4 3 52.91 % 2
Canoas 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 7 53.50 % 4 4 52.91 % 2
Chafariz 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 14 53.50 % 8 8 5291 % 4
Chafariz 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 8 53.50 % 4 6 52.91 % 3
Chafariz 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 6 53.50 % 3 3 52.91 % 2
Chafariz 5 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 5 53.50 % 3 3 52.91 % 2
goAm;()f)nhla Hidrelétrica Teles Pires, 335 2729 % 91 300 26.98 % 81
;E;;ergetlca Aguas da Pedra, S.A. 104 2729 % 28 93 26.98 % 25
Energética Corumba Il (1) 36 13.38 % 5 32 13.23 % 4
FE Participagoes, S.A. 50 53.50 % 27 48 5291 % 25
Geragao Céu Azul S.A 228 53.50 % 122 197 5291 % 104
Geragao ClII, S.A. 69 53.50 % 37 44 52.91 % 23
Lagoa 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 49 53.50 % 26 42 52.91 % 22
Lagoa 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 35 53.50 % 19 31 5291 % 16
Lagoa 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 7 53.50 % 4 3 5291 % 2
Lagoa 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 2 53.50 % 1 2 5291 % 1
Mel 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 6 53.50 % 3 6 52.91 % 3
Norte Energia (1) 2,157 535 % 115 1,993 529 % 105
Santana 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 31 53.50 % 17 27 52.91 % 14
Santana 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. 25 53.50 % 13 21 52.91 % 1
Teles Pires Participacoes (1) 283 27.05 % 76 250 26.75 % 67
Ventos de Arapua 1 Energia 5 53.50 % 3 4 52.91 % 2
Renovavel. S.A.
Ventos'de Arapua 2 Energia 6 5350 % 3 5 5291 % 3
Renovavel, S.A.
Ventos’de Arapua 3 Energia 2 5350 % 1 1 5291 % 1
Renovavel, S.A.
Renewables business — Mexico
PIER 1l Quecholac Felipe Angeles,
18 51.00 % 9 17 51.00 % 9
S.A.de C.V. ° °
Parque Industrial de Energias 70 51.00 % 36 66 51.00 % 34
Renovables , S.A. de C.V.
Renewables business - ROW
Aerodis Herbitzheim SAS — 100.00 % — 1 100.00 % 1
Aerodis les Chaumes SARL — 100.00 % — 1 100.00 % 1
Aerodis Pays de Boussac SARL 3) 100.00 % 3) (2) 100.00 % (2)
Elo'\?:ngora Wind Farm Pty Ltd SIN . _ . 2% 100.00 % 26
Energies du Champs des 5 100.00 % 2 2 100.00 % 2
Sceurettes SAS
La Croix Didier, S.A.R.L. 5 100.00 % 5 5 100.00 % 5
La Piéce du Roi, S.AR.L. 5 100.00 % 5 5 100.00 % 5
1 100.00 % 1 — 100.00 % —

SEPE de Plemy SAS
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Millions of euros 2022 2021
Percentage Carrying Percentage Carrying
Carrvin of ownership amount Carrvin of ownership amount
Company amoyunf ofthe  multiplied by amoyunf of the multiplied by
IBERDROLA % of IBERDROLA % of
Group ownership Group ownership
SEPE le Florembeau, S.AR. L. 7 100.00 % 7 7 100.00 %
SEPE le Fond d’Etre, S.A.R.L. 5 100.00 % 5 5 100.00 %
Société d’Exploitation du Parc > 100.00 % > 9 100.00 % 9
Eolien les Neufs Champs SAS
j,c(’)cr'jitlﬁe‘:SE;f;g'tat'°” Eolienne 10 100.00 % 10 10 100.00 % 10
Networks Business — Brazil
Neoenergia Dourados Transmiss&o
69 53.50 % 37 55 52.91 % 29

de Energia, S.A. (EKTT12) ° °
Neoenergia Jalapao Transmissao

187 53.50 % 100 86 52.91 % 46
de Energia, S.A. (EKTTO1) ’ °
Neoenergia Santa Luzia
Transmisséo de Energia, S.A. 52 53.50 % 28 40 52.91 % 21
(EKTTO02)
Potiguar Sul Transmissao de 56 53.50 % 30 45 5291 % 24
Eneraqia. S.A.
Renewables business — Spain
Vineyard Wind 1 Pledgor LLC (1) 2 40.75 % 1 2 40.75 % 1
Total 4,578 1,191 4,166 1,074

(™ Companies recognised as equity-accounted investees.

46. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

46.1 Application of by-law mandated remuneration for 2022

Article 48 of IBERDROLA’s By-Laws provides that the Company shall annually allocate as
a by-law mandated expense an amount equal to a maximum of 2% of the profit obtained by
the consolidated Group during the financial year.

On the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors has
decided to assign by-law stipulated remuneration of EUR 16.443 million in 2022, which has
been charged to “Personnel expenses” in the Income statement (Note 39). This amount,
together with the unused amount of the by-law stipulated remuneration for the year 2021
(EUR 0.557 million) amounts to EUR 17 million, the same amount as in the previous seven
financial years.

a) Fixed remuneration and attendance bonuses

The fixed annual remuneration and attendance bonuses payable to Board and committee
members in their capacity as such in 2022 and 2021, are as follows:
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Millions of euros Fixed remuneration Attendance bonus
Chairman of the Board 0.567 0.004
Vice-Chairs of the Board and committee chairs 0.440 0.004
Committee members (*) 0.253 0.002
Board members 0.165 0.002

(*) Remuneration assigned to the chief executive officer since being appointed as a director.

b) Remuneration of the executive directors for their executive duties

The Board of Directors resolved to maintain the fixed remuneration for the executive
chairman in 2022 at EUR 2.250 million. It also decided to maintain the existing cap on
variable annual remuneration, which may not exceed EUR 3.250 million and which will be
paid as agreed upon in 2023. Both amounts have remained unchanged over the last 12
years.

The chief executive officer's fixed remuneration, since being appointed as a director on 25
October 2022, amounted to EUR 0.184 million.

¢) Remuneration paid and accrued by the directors of the Company

The fixed remuneration accrued by the members of the Board of Directors, individually
counted, was as follows in 2022 and 2021:
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. Remuneration Short-term

Millions of euros Salaries remunerat'i::r‘le(ﬁ‘) for seats on Atte"g:::iz variable Indemnities remune:t:’:r: Total 2022  Total 2021
committees (") remuneration ?

Chairman of the Board
José Ignacio Sanchez Galan 2.250 0.567 — 0.092 3.250 — 0.186 6.345 6.266
Chief executive officer
Armando Martinez Martinez (3) 0.184 0.030 0.016 0.006 — — 0.014 0.250 —
Vice-Chair of the Board and committee chairs
Juan Manuel Gonzalez Serna — 0.165 0.275 0.108 — — 0.001 0.549 0.552
Anthony L. Gardner — 0.165 0.275 0.094 — — 0.002 0.536 0.331
Xabier Sagredo Ormaza — 0.165 0.275 0.082 — — 0.005 0.527 0.508
Sara de la Rica Goiricelaya — 0.165 0.275 0.062 — — 0.003 0.505 0.499
Angel Jesus Acebes Paniagua (4) — 0.165 0.232 0.088 — — 0.010 0.495 0.323
Committee members
Ifigo Victor de Oriol Ibarra — 0.165 0.088 0.042 — — 0.006 0.301 0.297
Maria Helena Antolin Raybaud (5) — 0.165 0.131 0.058 — — 0.007 0.361 0.502
Manuel Moreu Munaiz — 0.165 0.088 0.066 — — 0.003 0.322 0.326
Nicola Mary Brewer — 0.165 0.088 0.042 — — 0.001 0.296 0.290
Regina Helena Jorge Nunes — 0.165 0.088 0.052 — — 0.001 0.306 0.294
Maria Angeles Alcala Diaz — 0.165 0.088 0.052 — — 0.002 0.307 0.052
Isabel Garcia Tejerina — 0.165 0.088 0.042 — — 0.002 0.297 0.011
Outgoing directors
Francisco Martinez Corcoles (6) — 0.165 — 0.018 1.000 0.297 0.004 1.484 2174
Samantha Barber — — — — — — — — 0.266
José Walfredo Fernandez — — — — — — — — 0.556
Total 2.434 2.742 2.007 0.904 4.250 0.297 0.247 12.881 13.247

™ Remuneration accrued in 2022 in relation to the time effectively spent in office. This amount will not be paid until the approval of 2022 by-law stipulated remuneration at the 2023 General Shareholders’ Meeting.

@ Amount relates to variable remuneration received in 2022, based on achievement of targets and personal performance in 2021.

®  Total amounts accrued in the year since being appointed as director on 25 October 2022. Remuneration prior to that date, corresponding to the performance as an executive while he was a member of senior management,
salary, variable remuneration, strategic bonus 2017-2019 and other remuneration items amounted to EUR 2.516 million during the financial year 2022 and EUR 1.121 million during the financial year 2021.

@ On 26 March 2022, the Board of Directors approved his appointment as Chairman of the Appointments Committee.
®  On 26 March 2022, her appointment as chair of the Appointments Committee expired.

®  Relinquished executive duties with effect from 1 November 2021. In accordance with section 4.3 of the Director Remuneration Policy regarding the non-competition commitment of external non proprietary directors, Mr
Francisco Martinez Cércoles, who resigned as director on 25 October 2022, received a severance payment equivalent to 90% of the fixed amount he would have received for the remainder of his term, up to a maximum of twice
90% of this annual fixed amount.
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d) Group civil liability insurance

The premium paid to cover directors’ civil liability insurance amounted to EUR 0.314 million
and EUR 0.402 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

e) Others

The expenses of the Board of Directors in relation to external services and other policies in
2022 and 2021 amounted to EUR 3.293 million and EUR 2.984 million, respectively.

In 2022 the amount of the premium for the pension insurance policies relating to the former
members of the Board of Directors amounted to EUR 0.510 million, while in 2021, a refund
of EUR 0.194 million was received for the adjustment of these policies.

46.2 Remuneration through the delivery of Company shares

At the General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 31 March 2017 the shareholders approved
the 2017-2019 Strategic Bonus as a long-term incentive tied to the Company’s performance
in relation to certain key parameters (Note 22).

In the first half of 2022, the third and last of the annual settlements was completed. The

executive chairman has received 633,334 IBERDROLA shares and the former director
Francisco Martinez Corcoles has received 100,000 shares.

46.3 Remuneration for seats on other boards

Directors who held the position of director in 2022 and 2021 at companies that are not
wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by IBERDROLA received the following remuneration:

Millions of euros 2022 2021
Remuneration received by the chairman 0.389 0.325
Remuneration received by Maria Angeles Alcala Diaz ) 0.000 0.067
Remuneration received by Isabel Garcia Tejerina (" 0.000 0.114

() Amounts received until her appointment as a member of the Board of Directors of Iberdrola S.A.
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46.4 Law 11/2018: Non-financial and diversity information

The average remuneration received by directors (excluding remuneration in the form of
Company shares) in 2022 and 2021 was as follows, by type and by gender:

2022 2021
Millions of euros Men Women Men Women
Executive 3.985 — 4.759 —
Independent and other external 0.472 0.345 0.432 0.416

46.5 Termination benefit clauses

Severance clauses for executive directors are described in paragraph C.1.39 of the Annual
Corporate Governance Report included in the Management Report.

47. INFORMATION REGARDING COMPLIANCE WITH
SECTION 229 OF THE SPANISH COMPANIES ACT

As established in Section 229 of the Spanish Companies Act (Ley de Sociedades de
Capital), as introduced by Royal Decree-Law 1/2010 of 2 July 2010 and in Law 31/2014, of
3 December 2014, amending the Spanish Companies Act to improve corporate
governance, directors may encounter the following conflicts of interests.

The Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer left the room during discussions on all
resolutions relating to their contracts, including their respective compensation.

Mr Sagredo Ormaza did not take part in the deliberations on the resolutions concerning
Kutxabank, S.A., specifically as regards the hiring of Norbolsa Sociedad de Valores, S.A.
as agent in relation to the Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible optional dividend system; and Mr
Acebes Paniagua left the room during deliberations on a resolution regarding the
arrangement of legal services.

48. REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior managers are those who answer directly to the Company’s Board of Directors, its
chairman & CEO, and in all cases to the director of the Internal Audit area, as well as any
other officer directed by the Board of Directors.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had 10 senior managers.
Personnel expenses relating to members of senior management amounted to EUR 11.4

million and EUR 10.8 million 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are recognised under
“Personnel expenses” in the consolidated Income statement.
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The remuneration and other benefits received by senior management in 2022 and 2021,
respectively, are as follows:

Millions of euros 2022 2021 (*)
Remuneration in cash 4.8 4.3
Variable remuneration 3.5 3.8
Remuneration in kind and payments on account not charged 0.4 0.3
Social Security 0.2 0.2
Employer’s contribution to pension plan / employee benefits insurance 1.2 1.1
Risk policy (death and permanent disability) 1.3 1.1
Total 1.4 10.8

(*) For comparison purposes, information has been included for members holding this rating as at 31 December
2022 (one additional member and two members less).

In 2022 and 2021 senior managers who sat on the boards of companies that were not wholly
owned by IBERDROLA, whether directly or indirectly, received EUR 0.6 million and EUR
0.5 million, respectively, from those companies.

In the first half of 2022 and 2021, the third and second of the three annual payments under
the 2017-2019 Strategic Bonus was made (Note 22) once the level of achievement of the
relevant targets had been calculated. As a result, the members of senior management
received a total of 525,010 and 524,995 shares respectively.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 2 April 2020 set the 2020-2022 Strategic Bonus
(Note 22), pegged to the Company’s financial, business and sustainable development
performance over the 2020-2022 horizon and targeting up to 300 beneficiaries. A total of
1,469,600 shares may be delivered to senior officers over a three-year period, based on
the degree of attainment of the targets to which the scheme is pegged.

Severance clauses for members of senior management and other executive officers are
described in paragraph C.1.39 of the Annual Corporate Governance Report, included within
the Management Report.

In 2022 and 2021, there were no further transactions concluded with senior officers.

Fixed and variable remuneration paid to executives and other staff with managerial
responsibilities not included in the senior management of IBERDROLA (734 individuals)
amounted to EUR 136.3 million in 2022 and EUR 131.9 million in 2021 (767 individuals),
affected by the exchange rate.
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The following transactions take place within the normal course of business and are carried
out under normal market conditions.

Transactions carried out by IBERDROLA with significant shareholders (Note 21)

In 2022 there were no significant shareholders that met the definition of Section 529 vicies
of the Spanish Companies Act because they did not hold 10% of the voting rights or were
not represented on the Board of Directors.
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Transactions carried out with equity-accounted investees

The breakdown of transactions with equity-accounted investees that are related parties and that were not eliminated on consolidation (Note
2.b) is as follows:

2022 2021

_— Acquisition Accounts Accounts Sales .and . Services Acquisition Accounts Accounts Sales .and . Services

Millions of euros . services Supplies . . services Supplies .
of assets payable receivable . received of assets payable receivable . received

provided provided

Norte Energia, S.A. — — — 3 203 — — 19 — 1 156 —
goAmg?nhia Hidrelétrica Teles Pires, . 7 1 6 70 _ . 6 . 2 57 .
Morecambe Wind, Ltd. — 2 2 2 23 — — 3 2 1 18 —
Energética Aguas da Pedra, S.A. ™ — 2 3 2 14 — — 1 4 2 11 —
Vineyard Wind LLC — — — 4 — — — 7 7 12 — —
Other companies 1 112 66 37 5 — 1 100 31 5 18 1
Total 1 123 72 54 315 — 1 136 44 23 260 1

™ Supplies relate mainly to purchases of electrical power.
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50. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO 31 DECEMBER 2022

The main events subsequent to 31 December 2022 were as follows:

Iberdrola Retribucion Flexible

On 4 January 2023, the following terms governing the second scrip issue (/berdrola
Retribucion Flexible) were approved by shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting
of IBERDROLA held on 17 June 2022, under item nine of the agenda:

The maximum number of shares to be issued under the capital increase is
106,034,900.

The number of free-of-charge allocation rights required to receive one new share is
60.

The maximum nominal value of the capital increase is EUR 79,526,175.

The gross Interim Dividend per share amounts to EUR 0.180.

At the end of the trading period for the free-of-charge allocation rights:

During the period established for this purpose, the holders of 1,305,893,982 shares
in the Company opted to receive the Interim Dividend. Thus, the gross amount paid
out under the Interim Dividend was EUR 235 million. As a result, those shareholders
expressly waived 1,305,893,982 free-of-charge allocation rights and, therefore, the
right to receive 21,764,900 new shares.

Furthermore, the final number of new common shares with a par value of EUR 0.75
issued will be 84,270,000, yielding a nominal capital increase (under this issue) of
EUR 63 million and adding 1.325% to IBERDROLA’s pre-issue share capital.

Following this share capital increase, IBERDROLA’s share capital amounts to EUR
4,834,773,000, represented by 6,446,364,000 common shares, each with a par
value of EUR 0.75 and all fully subscribed for and paid up.

Following fulfilment of the pertinent legal requirements (especially verification of
those requirements by the Spanish National Securities Market Commission), the
new shares were admitted for trading on the continuous market of the Madrid,
Barcelona, Bilbao and Valencia Stock Exchanges, through the Automated Quotation
System (Continuous Market), on 31 January 2023. Regular trading of the new
shares commenced on 1 February 2023.
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Bank market

The most significant financing arranged by the IBERDROLA Group after 31 December 2022
is as follows:

Borrower Transaction Amount (millions) Currency Maturity

Main new financing transactions

Iberdrola Financiacion Green BEI loan 150 EUR To b.e
determined

Main transactions to extend existing funding

Iberdrola México Syndicated loan 500 uUsb Dec-25

Perpetual subordinated bonds

In January 2023, Iberdrola Finanzas, S.A. fixed the price and the terms and conditions of
an issue of subordinated perpetual bonds with the subordinated guarantee of Iberdrola, S.A.
for a total amount of EUR 1,000 million. The issue has been structured in a single tranche,
the unit nominal amount of each bond is EUR 100,000 and they will be issued at a price
equivalent to 100% of their nominal value. The funds obtained will be used to buy back
another issue of subordinated perpetual bonds, made in 2017 by Iberdrola International B.V.
(also with the subordinated guarantee of Iberdrola, S.A.) for the same amount (EUR 1,000
million). The buy-back will take place before 22 May 2023.

The bonds will bear interest at a fixed annual coupon rate of 4.875%, from the issue date
(inclusive) up to (but not including) 25 July 2028, payable annually.

From the first review date (inclusive), they will accrue interest at a rate equal to the
applicable 5-year swap rate plus a spread of:

*  2.262% per annum for five years following the first review date;

*  2.512% per annum for each of the five-year review periods beginning on 25 July
2033, 25 July 2038, and 25 July 2043; and

* 3.262 % per annum for the subsequent five-year review periods.

The issuer will have the option to defer interest payments on the bonds, without this
amounting to a default event. Interest deferred in this way will be cumulative and must be
paid on certain assumptions defined in the terms and conditions of the bonds.

The issuer will also be entitled to redeem the bonds on certain specified dates or in certain
events provided for in the terms and conditions thereof.

The issue was closed and disbursed on 25 January 2023.

Temporary energy tax

On 28 December, Law 38/2022 of 27 December on the establishment of temporary energy
taxes and taxes on credit institutions and financial credit establishments and creating the
temporary community service tax on large fortunes, and amending certain tax rules, was
published.
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Under this law, entities that are considered to be the main operator in the energy sectors
are subject to a temporary energy tax during 2023 and 2024, in the legal form of a non-tax
public contribution.

The payment obligation arises on the first day of the calendar year and must be paid within
the first 20 calendar days of September of that year, without prejudice to the advance 50%
payment to be made in February.

The amount of contribution to be paid is the result of applying 1.2% to the net turnover
resulting from the activity carried out in Spain in the calendar year prior to the year in which
the obligation arises.

The estimated amount of the tax payable by the IBERDROLA Group stands at EUR 216
million. A payment of 50% was made on 17 February 2023.

Framework co-investment agreement for the joint development of a portfolio of renewable
assets in Spain

In January 2023, Iberdrola Renovables Energia, S.A., together with its subsidiary Iberenova
Promociones, S.A., signed a framework agreement to co-invest in renewable assets in
Spain, thus contributing to accelerating the country's decarbonisation efforts.

The agreement envisages the acquisition by NBIM Iberian Reinfra AS (NBIM lIberian), a
company belonging to the group of which Norges Bank is the holding company, of a 49%
stake in the share capital of several IBERDROLA Group companies operating onshore wind
and solar photovoltaic projects in Spain. The total project portfolio of these companies
amounts to 1,265 MW (of which 137 MW are already in operation and 1,128 MW are under
development). Once these stakes have been acquired by NBIM Iberian, Iberenova
Promociones and NBIM Iberian will contribute their respective stakes in the companies
owning the projects to a holding company owned by both companies in the same proportion
of 51% and 49%, respectively, of their share capital.

Iberdrola Renovables Energia will retain indirect control of the companies that own the
projects and will manage the development of the non-operational projects until they enter
commercial operation, and the IBERDROLA Group will continue to provide them with the
operation and maintenance services necessary for running them. The agreement envisages
that the parties may extend it to other renewable assets in addition to those that constitute
its initial perimeter in Spain or in other countries.

The valuation of 100% of this portfolio of renewable projects amounts to approximately EUR
1,225 million, making NBIM lIberian’s total investment in this portfolio, for its 49% stake,
approximately EUR 600 million, subject to possible adjustments that are customary in this
type of transaction. Of this amount, NBIM Iberian will pay an initial amount upon completion
of the transaction as consideration for the stakes acquired in the companies owning the
projects already in operation. NBIM Iberian will pay the remaining price as the projects under
development reach commercial operation and the corresponding purchases by NBIM
Iberian of the minority interests to be acquired in the companies owning these projects are
completed. The completion of the Transaction is conditional upon NBIM Iberian obtaining
the mandatory authorisations for foreign direct investment.
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Fees paid for services provided in 2022 and 2021 by KPMG Auditores, S.L. and the other

affiliates of KPMG International are as follows:

2022

i Services rendered
Millions of euros

Services provided
by other entities

by KPMG A”d't°;ei’ affiliated with KPMG Total
o International
Auditing services 6.58 19.70 26.28
Other non-audit services 2.1 1.17 3.28
Services required of the statutory auditor under the . 0.10 0.10
applicable regulations ’ '
Other services 2.1 1.07 3.18
Total 8.69 20.87 29.56
Other services include the rendering of the following services:
2022
Services rendered Services provided
Millions of euros b iti
. y other entities
by KPMG A”d't°;ei’ affiliated with KPMG Total
o International
Limited assurances of interim information 1.28 0.13 1.41
Comfort letters for debt issues 0.19 0.13 0.32
Services for the issuance of agreed-upon procedures
reports, assurance or other reports required by 0.62 0.53 1.15
industry regulators
Other reports on agreed-upon procedures (*) 0.02 0.28 0.30
Total 2.1 1.07 3.18

(*) Mainly agreed-upon procedures reports required by the regulator in each country, as well as reports additional to the audit
report required by current legislation in certain countries where the Group operates.

2021

- Services rendered
Millions of euros

Services provided
by other entities

by KPMG A”d't°:i’_ affiliated with KPMG Total
International

Auditing services 6.62 16.30 22.92

Other non-audit services 2.04 1.82 3.86

Services required of the statutory auditor under the - 010 010
applicable regulations

Other services 2.04 1.72 3.76

Total 8.66 18.12 26.78
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Other services include the rendering of the following services:

2021

Services rendered

Services provided
Millions of euros by other entities

by KPMG A”d't°:i’_ affiliated with KPMG Total
International

Limited assurances of interim information 1.19 0.10 1.29
Comfort letters for debt issues 0.26 0.67 0.93
Services for the issuance of agreed-upon procedures
reports, assurance or other reports required by 0.46 0.74 1.20
industry regulators
Other reports on agreed-upon procedures (*) 0.13 0.21 0.34
Total 2.04 1.72 3.76

(*) Mainly agreed-upon procedures reports required by the regulator in each country, as well as reports additional to the
audit report required by current legislation in certain countries where the Group operates.

In addition, in financial year 2022, other auditors provided auditing services amounting to
EUR 1.01 million and other services amounting to EUR 0.32 million.

52. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The weighted average number of common shares used to calculate basic and diluted
earnings per share at 31 December 2022 and 2021 (Note 3.z) is as follows:

2022 2021
Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
Average number of shares during the year 6,544,874,866 6,559,183,440 6,733,249,050 6,746,894,121
Average number of treasury shares held (72,005,122) (72,005,122) (87,352,952)  (88,156,815)
Number of shares outstanding 6,472,869,744 6,487,178,318 6,645,896,098 6,658,737,306

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2022 2021
Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
l\iet pro.ﬂt from continuing operations at the Parent 4.410 4411 3,920 3,919
(*) (millions of euros)
Accrued interest on subordinated perpetual bonds
1 1 1 1
(millions of euros) (Note 21) (169) (169) (155) (155)
Ad_ju_sted net profit from continuing operations 4,241 4,242 3,765 3,764
(millions of euros)
Net profit from discontinued operations
71 71 35 35
(millions of euros) (71 1 (39) (39)
Number of shares outstanding 6,472,869,744 6,487,178,318 6,645,896,098 6,658,737,306
Earnlngs per share (euros) from continuing 0.655 0.654 0.567 0.565
operations
Earnln_gs per share (euros) from discontinued (0.011) (0.011) (0.005) (0.005)
operations

(*) Profit for the year from discontinued operations net of non-controlling interests.
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53. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended on 31 December 2022 were
authorised for issue by the directors of IBERDROLA on 21 February 2023.

54. EXPLANATION ADDED FOR TRANSLATION TO
ENGLISH

These consolidated Financial statements are presented on the basis of IFRS, as adopted
by the European Union. Certain accounting practices applied by the Group that conform to
IFRS may not conform to other generally accepted accounting principles in other countries.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR 2022 IN RELATION TO GROUP COMPANIES, JOINT
ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATES OF THE IBERDROLA GROUP

The percentages of direct or indirect stakes that Iberdrola, S.A. holds in its subsidiaries
across its different businesses are shown below. The percentage of votes on the decision-
making bodies of those subsidiaries, which are controlled by IBERDROLA, essentially
corresponds to the percentage of ownership.

(*) The accounting method used in each company is as follows:

FC: Full consolidation
EM: Equity method

% of direct or indirect

Company Address Activity stake Me(t:;od
31.12.2022 31.12.2021
SPAIN
Cogeneracion Gequisa, S.A. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
ngeSergia Comercializador de Ultimo Recurso, Spain Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Enercrisa, S.A. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
Energia Portatil Cogeneracion, S.A. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
Energyworks Aranda, S.L. Spain Energy 99 99 FC
Energyworks Carballo, S.L. Spain Energy 99 99 FC
Energyworks Cartagena, S.L. Spain Energy 99 99 FC
Energyworks Fonz, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energyworks Milagros, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energyworks Monzon, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energyworks San Millan, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energyworks Villarrobledo, S.L. Spain Energy 99 99 FC
Energyworks Vit-Vall, S.L. Spain Energy 99 99 FC
Fudepor, S.L. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
Iberdrola Clientes, S.A.U. Spain Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Clientes Internacional, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Cogeneracién, S.L.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia Espania, S.A.U. (formerl .
Iberdrola CIien?es Es‘;aﬁa, S.A.U.)( ’ Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Servicios Energéticos, S.A.U. Spain Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Intermalta Energia, S.A. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
Ir Redes de Calory Frio, S.L. Spain Services 50 50 EM
Peninsular Cogeneracion, S.A. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
Productos y Servicios de Confort, S.A. Spain Services 100 100 FC
Aixeindar, S.A. Spain Energy 60 60 FC
Anselmo Leén Hidraulica, S.L. (" Spain Energy 100 100 EM
Biocantaber, S.L. Spain Energy 50 50 EM
Bionor Edlica, S.A. Spain Energy 57 57 FC
Biovent Energia, S.A. Spain Energy 95 95 FC
Boreas Wind, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Cantaber Generacion Edlica, S.L. Spain Energy 69.01 69.01 FC
Ciener, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Dehesa Solar Sur, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
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% of direct or indirect

Company Address Activity stake Me(t:;od
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g.eAs-a(gollo de Energias Renovables de La Rioja, Spain Energy 63.55 63.55 EM
Desarrollos Fotovoltaicos Fuentes, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Desarrollos Renovables Alcocero de Mola, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Desarrollos Renovables Escatron, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Desarrollos Renovables Fuendetodos, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Desarrollos Renovables Pefiarubia, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Desarrollos Renovables Tagus, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Desarrollos Renovables Trinidad, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Desarrollos Renovables Villamanrique, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Ecobarcial, S.A. @ Spain Energy 43.78 43.78 EM
Ekienea, S.L. Spain Energy 75 75 FC
Electra de Malvana, S.A. @ Spain Energy 48 48 EM
Electra Sierra de los Castillos, S.L. Spain Energy 97 97 FC
Eléctricas de la Alcarria, S.L. Spain Energy 90 90 FC
Eme Hueneja Cuatro, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energia de Castillay Ledn, S.A. Spain Energy 85.5 85.5 FC
Energias Ecoldgicas de Tenerife, S.A. © Spain Energy 50 50 FC
Energias Eodlicas de Cuenca, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables Caparacena, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Energias Renovables Cespedera, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables Cornicabra, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables de Belona, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables de Circe, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables de Febe, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables de Hermes, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables de Tione, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
:r::rg-las Renovables de la Regién de Murcia, Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables Espliego, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables Ibermap, S.L. Spain Energy 20 20 EM
Energias Renovables Jungla Verde, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Renovables Poleo, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Energias Verdes de Tenerife, S.L. @ Spain Energy 50 50 FC
Eolica Campollano, S.A. @ Spain Energy 25 25 EM
Edlica 2000, S.L. Spain Energy 51 51 FC
Edlicas de Euskadi, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Fincalia Agropecuaria, S.A. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Fincalia Agropecuaria siglo XXI, S.A. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Fotovoltaica Varadero, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Fuendetodos Promotores 400, S.L Spain Energy 12.99 - 0
Gestion de Evacuacion de la Serna, S.L. Spain Energy 14.79 16.54 EM
Iberdrola Energia Sostenible Espafia, S.L. Spain Energy 100 - FC
Iberdrola Generacién, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Generacién Nuclear, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Generacién Térmica, S.L.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Operacién y Mantenimiento, S.A.U. Spain Services 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Galicia, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Andalucia, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Aragon, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Canarias, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
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ISb:\r'dJ)Ia Renovables Castilla — La Mancha, Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Castilla y Ledn, S.A. Spain Energy 95 95 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Energia, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Internacional, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables La Rioja, S.A. @ Spain Energy 63.55 63.55 EM
Iberdrola Renovables La Rioja 2, S.A. Spain Energy 63.55 63.55 FC
Iberduero, S.L.U. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Iberenova Promociones, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Iberjalén, S.A. Spain Energy 80.00 80.00 FC
ICARO Renovables. S.A. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Isnf[aestructuras de Evacuacion Los Arenales, Spain Energy 50.00 50.00 EM
Iniciativas Edlicas Cantabria, S.L. Spain Energy 60.00 60.00 FC
Linea Curacavas, S.L. Spain Energy 24.05 24.05 EM
Llanos Pelaos Fotovoltaica, S.L. Spain Energy 75.00 75.00 FC
Minicentrales del Tajo, S.A. Spain Energy 80.00 80.00 FC
Molinos de la Rioja, S.A. ® Spain Energy 63.55 63.55 EM
Molinos del Cidacos, S.A. Spain Energy 63.55 63.55 FC
Nuclenor, S.A. Spain Energy 50.00 50.00 EM
Parques Eodlicos Alto de Layna, S.L. Spain Energy 20.00 20.00 EM
Parque Eolico Capiechamartin, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Parque Eodlico Cordel y Vidural, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Parque Eodlico Cruz de Carrutero, S.L. Spain Energy 76.00 76.00 FC
Parque Eodlico Encinillas, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Parque Eodlico Panondres, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Parque Eodlico Verdigueiro, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Parque Solar Céaceres, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Peache Energias Renovables, S.A. Spain Energy 95.00 95.00 FC
Producciones Energéticas Asturianas, S.L. Spain Energy 80.00 80.00 FC
g.rzcligzciones Energéticas de Castilla y Ledn, Spain Energy 85.50 85.50 EM
:.rflmotores Renovables Fuentes de la Alcarrria, Spain Energy 3995 3995 EM
Proyecto Nufiez de Balboa, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Proyecto Solar Francisco Pizarro, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Puerto Rosario Solar 2, S.L. Spain Energy 75.00 75.00 FC
Puerto Rosario Solar 3, S.L. Spain Energy 75.00 75.00 FC
PV | Ataulfo, S.L. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Renovables de Buniel, S.L. Spain Energy 75.00 75.00 FC
Renovables de la Ribera, S.L. @ Spain Energy 50.00 50.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos Altamira, S.A.U. Spain Energy 20.00 20.00 EM
Sistemas Energéticos Chandrexa, S.A. Spain Energy 96.07 96.07 FC
Sistemas Energéticos del Moncayo, S.A. Spain Energy 75.00 75.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos La Gomera, S.A.U. Spain Energy 20.00 20.00 EM
Sistemas Energéticos La Higuera, S.A. Spain Energy 55.00 55.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos Jaralon, S.A. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos de la Linera, S.A.U. Spain Energy 20.00 20.00 EM
Sistemas Energéticos Loma del Viento, S.A. Spain Energy 100.00 100.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos La Muela, S.A. Spain Energy 80.00 80.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos Mas Garullo, S.A. Spain Energy 78.00 78.00 FC
Sistemas Energéticos Nacimiento, S.A.U. Spain Energy 20 20 EM
Sistemas Energéticos Serra de Lourenza, S.A. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
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Sistemas Energéticos Tacica de Plata, S.A.U. Spain Energy 20 20 EM
Sistemas Energéticos Torralba, S.A. Spain Energy 60 60 FC
Sistemas Edlicos de Murio, S.L. Spain Energy 75 75 FC
Sistemes Energetics Savalla del Comtat, S.A.U. Spain Energy 20 20 EM
Solar Majada Alta, S.L. Spain Energy 50.10 100 FC
Sotavento Galicia, S.A. @ Spain Energy 8 8 EM
Tarragona Power, S.L.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
!I?éer;tzgwae’g;;.&stema Electroprodutor Do Portugal Energy 100 100 FC
II_bdea:'-drola Suporte Projecto Tamega, Unipessoal Portugal Energy 100 100 FC
Anselmo Leén Distribucion, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 EM
g::;‘g“'sc’::;:: grfrg;a Eléctrica Enrique Spain Energy 100 100 EM
Distribuidora Electrica Navasfrias, S.L. (" Spain Energy 100 100 EM
Eléctrica Conquense Distribucion, S.A. Spain Energy 53.59 53.59 FC
Eléctrica Conquense, S.A. Spain Holding company 53.59 53.59 FC
Electrodistribuidora Castellano-Leonesa, S.A. Spain Energy 100 100 EM
Empresa Eléctrica del Cabriel, S.L. (¥ Spain Energy 100 100 EM
g:;%c:‘agil\/(lﬁria Alonso Calzada — Venta de Spain Energy 100 100 EM
I-DE Redes Eléctricas Inteligentes, S.A.U. Spain Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Redes Espafa, S.A. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
San Cipriano de Rueda Distribucién, S.L. Spain Energy 100 100 EM
:E)iﬁsag'gl|s(})rlbU|dora de Electricidad de Spain Energy 9795 9795 EM
UNITED KINGDOM
Scottish Power Retail Holdings Ltd. United 1 oiding company 100 100 FC
Kingdom
ScottishPower (DCL), Ltd. United Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
ScottishPower (SCPL), Ltd. United Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
ScottishPower Energy Management (Agency), pnlted Energy 100 100 FC
Ltd. Kingdom
ScottishPower Energy Management, Ltd. pmted Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
ScottishPower Energy Retail, Ltd. United Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Kingdom
. . United
ScottishPower Generation (Assets), Ltd ) Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
United
SP Dataserve, Ltd. ) Debt management 100 100 FC
Kingdom
. . United
SP Gas Transportation Cockenzie, Ltd. © ) Dormant 100 100 FC
Kingdom
. ) United
SP Gas Transportation Hatfield, Ltd. ) Dormant 100 100 FC
Kingdom
United
SP Smart Meter Assets, Ltd. ) Other 100 100 FC
Kingdom
Blaenau Gwent Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB14, United
Ltd.) ( ’ Kingdom Energy 100 - FC
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United
Bryn Henllys SF, Ltd. Kingdom Energy 100 - FC
United
Celtpower, Ltd. Kingdom Energy 50 50 EM
. United
Coldham Windfarm, Ltd. ) Energy 80 80 FC
Kingdom
; United
Cumberhead West Wind Farm, Ltd. . Energy 72 72 FC
Kingdom
Douglas West Extension, Ltd United Ener 72 72 FC
9 T Kingdom 9y
United
Down Barn Farm SF, Ltd. . Energy 100 - FC
Kingdom
East Anglia Offshore Wind, Ltd United Ener 50 50 EM
9 T Kingdom 9y
. United
East Anglia One, Ltd. Kingdom Energy 60 60 FC
East Anglia Three, Ltd United Ener 100 100 FC
9 T Kingdom 9y
East Anglia One North Ltd United Ener 100 100 FC
9 : Kingdom 24
East Anglia Two Ltd United Ener 100 100 FC
9 : Kingdom 4
Grafton Underwood Solar, Ltd. (Formerly United
EEB28, Ltd.) Kingdom Energy 100 . FC
. . United
Hagshaw Hill Repowering, Ltd. Kingdom Energy 100 100 FC
Longney Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB18, Ltd.) United Ener 100 FC
gney , Ltd. y , Ltd. Kingdom gy
- United
MachairWind, Ltd. Kingdom Energy 100 - FC
. . United
Milltown Airfiled Solar PV, Ltd. ) Energy 100 - FC
Kingdom
. United
Morecambe Wind, Ltd. . Energy 50 50 EM
Kingdom
Ranksborough Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB27, United
Ltd.) Kingdom Energy 100 FC
ScottishPower Renewable Energy, Ltd United Holding compan 100 100 FC
9y, Ha. Kingdom g company
. United
ScottishPower Renewables (WODS), Ltd. ) Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
. United
ScottishPower Renewables UK, Ltd. ) Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
. United
ScottishPower Renewables (UK Assets), Ltd ) Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
Sparrow Lodge Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB33, United
Ltd.) Kingdom Energy 100 FC
Speyslaw Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB11, Ltd.) United Ener 100 - FC
pey T y T Kingdom %y
Tuckey Farm Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB24, Ltd.) United Ener 100 - FC
4 i y %) Kingdom o
Thurlaston Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB22, Ltd.) United Ener 100 - FC
s y e Kingdom g%
Wood Lane Solar, Ltd. (Formerly EEB30, Ltd.) United Ener 100 - FC
e y s Kingdom 9y
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NGET/SPT Upgrades, Ltd. Kﬁgg?m Energy 50 50 EM
Scottish Power Energy Networks Holdings, Ltd. l.Jnlted Holding company 100 100 FC
Kingdom
SP Distribution, Plc. United Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
SP Manweb, Plc. United Energy 100 100 FC
Kingdom
SP Network Connections, Ltd. United General-use 100 100 FC
Kingdom connections
. Asset
SP Power Systems, Ltd. Kll-:']r;:fodm Management 100 100 FC
Services
SP Manweb, Plc. Kﬁgidm Energy 100 100 FC
UNITED STATES
12 Mile Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Aeolus Wind Power VII, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Aeolus Wind Power VIII, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Atlantic Renewable Energy Corporation United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Atlantic Renewable Projects II, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Atlantic Renewable Projects, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Atlantic Wind, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Aurora Solar, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Arizona Renewables, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Logistic Services, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Renewables Holdings, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Renewables, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Texas Renewables, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Vineyard Wind Holdings, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Vineyard Wind, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Bakeoven Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Barton Windpower, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Big Horn Il Wind Project, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Big Horn Wind Project, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Blue Creek Wind Farm, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Bluebird Solar Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Bright Mountain Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Buffalo Ridge I, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Buffalo Ridge II, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Camino Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Casselman Wind Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Chalkley Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Colorado Green Holdings, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Commonwealth Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Coyote Ridge Wind, LLC @ United States Energy 16.3 16.3 EM
Daybreak Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Deerfield Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Deer River Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Desert Wind Farm, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Dillon Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
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Eagle Solar Energy Center, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
El Cabo Partners, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
El Cabo Wind Holdings, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
El Cabo Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Elk River Wind Farm, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Elm Creek Wind Il, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Elm Creek Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Empire Solar Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Farmers City Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Flat Rock Windpower I, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
Flat Rock Windpower, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
Flying Cloud Power Partners, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Flying Cow Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Fountain Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Golden Hills Wind Farm, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Goodland Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Great Bear Linka, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
@rﬁ? Efgr) Solar, LLC (Formerly Great Bear ;i § states Energy 815 815 FC
Groton Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Hardscrabble Wind Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Hay Canyon Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Heartland Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Helix Wind Power Facility, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Imperial Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Juniper Canyon Wind Power II, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Juniper Canyon Wind Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Jupiter Hydrogen, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Kalina Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Karankawa Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Kitty Hawk Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Klamath Energy, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Klamath Generation, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Klondike Wind Power II, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Klondike Wind Power lll, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Klondike Wind Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
La Joya Bond, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
La Joya Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Lakeview Cogeneration, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Leaning Juniper Wind Power II, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Leipsic Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Lempster Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Locust Ridge I, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Locust Ridge Wind Farms, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Loma Vista, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Loowit Battery Storage, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Lund Hill Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Manzana Power Services, Inc. United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
Manzana Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Midland Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Milky Way Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Minndakota Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
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Mohawk Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Montague Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Montague Wind Power Facility, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Moraine Wind Il, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Moraine Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Mount Pleasant Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Mountain View Power Partners Ill, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
New England Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
New Harvest Wind Project, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Northern lowa WindPower II, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Oregon Trail Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Osagrove Flat Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Osagrove Flats Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Otter Creek Wind Farm, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Pacific Wind Development, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Park City Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 40.75 FC
Patriot Wind Farm, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Patriot Wind Holdings, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Patriot Wind TE Holdco, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Pebble Springs Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Phoenix Wind Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Poseidon Solar, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
Poseidon Wind, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
Powell Creek Linka, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
Powell Creek Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
PPM Colorado Wind Ventures, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
PPM Roaring Brook, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
PPM Technical Services, Inc. United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
PPM Wind Energy, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Providence Heights Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Rugby Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
San Luis Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
ScottishPower Financial Services, Inc. United States Other 81.5 81.5 FC
ScottishPower Group Holdings Company United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Shiloh | Wind Project, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Solar Star Oregon Il, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Solis Solar Power |, LLC United States Energy 81.5 - FC
South Chestnut, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
St. Croix Valley Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Stagecoach Sunshine, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Start Point Wind Project, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Streator Cayuga Ridge Wind Power, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Sunset Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Tatanka Ridge Wind, LLC @ United States Energy 12.23 12.23 EM
Tower Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Trimont Wind |, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
True North Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Tule Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Twin Buttes Wind, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Twin Buttes Wind II, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Victory landing Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Vineyard Wind 1 Pledgor, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
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Vineyard Wind 1, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
Vineyard Wind Management Company, LLC United States Energy 40.75 - EM
Vineyard Wind Shareco, LLC United States Energy 40.75 - EM
Vineyard Wind Sponsor Partners 1, LLC United States Energy 40.75 40.75 EM
Vineyard Wind TE Partners, LLC United States Holding company 40.75 40.75 EM
West Valley Leasing Company, LLC United States Gas 81.5 81.5 —
Wild Grains Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Winnebago Windpower I, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Winnebago Windpower, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Wyeast Solar, LLC United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Enterprises, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Management Company, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Service Company United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid New York TransCo, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Networks, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Avangrid Solutions, Inc. United States Other 81.5 81.5 FC
Berkshire Energy Resources United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Cayuga Energy, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Central Maine Power Company United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Chester SVC Partnership @ United States Energy 40.75 40.75 FC
CMP Group, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
CNE Energy Services Group, LLC United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
CNE Peaking, LLC United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
Connecticut Energy Corporation United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Connecticut Natural Gas Corporation United States Gas 81.5 81.5 FC
CTG Resources, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
GCE Holding, LLC United States Holding company 40.75 40.75 EM
GenConn Devon, LLC ¥ United States Energy 81.5 40.75 EM
GenConn Energy, LLC ¥ United States Energy 81.5 40.75 EM
GenConn Middletown, LLC ™ United States Energy 81.5 40.75 EM
Maine Electric Power Company, Inc. United States Energy 63.8 63.8 FC
Maine Natural Gas Corporation United States Gas 81.5 81.5 FC
Maine Yankee Atomic Power Company ©® United States Other 30.97 30.97 —
MaineCom Services United States Telecoms 81.5 81.5 FC
NECEC Transmission, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
New York State Electric & Gas Corporation United States Electricity and Gas 81.5 81.5 FC
NM Green Holdings, Inc United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
NORVARCO United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Nth Power Technologies Fund I, LP. ©® United States Other 21.92 21.92 —
RGS Energy Group, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
Rochester Gas and Electric Corporation United States Electricity and Gas 81.5 81.5 FC
South Glens Falls Energy, LLC ® United States Energy 69.28 69.28 —
TEN Transmission Company United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
The Berkshire Gas Company United States Gas 81.5 81.5 FC
The Southern Connecticut Gas Company (SCG) United States Gas 81.5 81.5 FC
The Union Water Power Company United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
The United llluminating Company United States Energy 81.5 81.5 FC
Total Peaking Services, LLC United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
UIL Distributed Resources United States Services 81.5 81.5 FC
UIL Group, LLC United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
UIL Holdings Corporation United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
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United Resources, Inc. United States Holding company 81.5 81.5 FC
WGP Acquisition, LLC ©® United States Dormant 81.5 81.5 —
MEXICO
Hidrola I, S.L.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Cinergy, S.A. de C.V. (Formerly Cinergy, S.R.L. Mexico Services 100 100 FC
de C.V.)
Enertek, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 99.99 99.99 FC
Iberdrola Clientes, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Cogeneracién Altamira, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Cogeneracion Bajio, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Cogeneracion Ramos, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Ict;J.e\;.drola Energia Altamira de Servicios, S.A. de Mexico Services 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia Altamira, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia Baja California, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia del Golfo, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia Escobedo, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia La Laguna, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 99.99 99.99 FC
Iberdrola Energia Monterrey, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 99.99 99.99 FC
Iberdrola Energia Noroeste, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia Tamazunchale, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 99.99 99.99 FC
Iberdrola Energia Topolobampo, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Generacion, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Generacion México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Servicios Corporativos, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Services 100 100 FC
ISb.e;rfitrjzleé:-S\;)-porte a Proyectos Liberalizados, Mexico Services 100 100 FC
Servicios Administrativos Tamazunchale, S.A. Mexico Services 100 100 FC
de C.V.
Servicios de Operacion La Laguna, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Services 100 100 FC
Sencios Iausirales y Adminisrativos del Mexico Senices 5112 5112 FC
Tamazunchale Energia, S.A.P.l. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
BIl NEE Stipa Energia Edlica, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 99.99 99.99 FC
Corporativo Iberdrola Renovables México, S.A. Mexico Services 100 100 FC
de C.V.
Energias Renovables Venta lll, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Edlica Dos Arbolitos S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Soporte a Proyectos Renovables, S.A. Mexico Services 100 100 FC
DE C.V.
Iberdrola Renovables Centro, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables del Bajio, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Noroeste, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Parque de Generacion Renovable, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 100 100 FC
Parque Industrial de Energia Renovables, S.A. Mexico Energy 51 51 FC
de C.V.
Parques Ecolégicos de México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 99.99 99.99 FC
Pier Il Quecholac Felipe Angeles, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Energy 51 51 FC
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Servicios de Operacion Eoloeléctrica de México, Mexico Services 100 100 FC
S.A.deC.V.
BRAZIL
Elektro Comercializadora de Energia Ltda. Brazil Retail supplier 53.5 52.91 FC
NC Energia, S.A. Brazil Retail supplier 53.5 52.91 FC
Neoenergia Operagao e Manutengao, S.A. Brazil Services 53.5 52.91 FC
Neoenergia Servicios, Ltd. Brazil Services 53.5 52.91 FC
Termopernambuco, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Arizona 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Baguari Geragao de Energia Eléctrica, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
thia P’CH. I, S.A. Bahia Pequefa C. Brazil Energy 535 5291 FC
Hidroeléctrica
Bahia PCH lll, S.A. Bahia Geragao de Energia Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Belo Monte Participagdes S.A Brazil Holding company 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Bonito 10 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 11 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Bonito 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 5 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 6 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 7 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 8 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Bonito 9 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Caetité 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Caetité 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Caetité 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango 5 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango 6 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Calango Solar 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Calango Solar 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Canoas 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Canoas 2 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Canoas 3 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Canoas 4 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 1 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 2 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 3 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 4 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 5 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 6 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Chafariz 7 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Companhia Hidrelétrica Teles Pires, S.A. Brazil Energy 27.29 26.98 EM
Elektro Renovaveis do Brasil, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
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Energias Renovaveis do Brasil, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Energética Aguas da Pedra, S.A. Brazil Energy 27.29 26.98 EM
Energética Corumba Ill, S.A. @ Brazil Energy 13.38 13.23 EM
FE Participagoes, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Forga Eolica do Brasil 1, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Forga Eolica do Brasil 2, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Geragao Ceu Azul, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Geragao CIII, S.A. Brazil Holding company 53.5 52.91 FC
Itapebi Geragao de Energia, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Lagoa 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Lagoa 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Lagoa 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Lagoa 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Luzia 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Luzia 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Luzia 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Mel 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Neoenergia Renovaveis, S.A. Brazil Holding company 53.5 52.91 FC
Norte Energia, S.A. ¥ Brazil Energy 5.35 5.29 EM
Oitis 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 10 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 21 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 22 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 23 Energia Renovavel, S.A. ® Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Oitis 24 Energia Renovavel, S.A. ® Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 25 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 26 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 27 Energia Renovavel, S.A. ® Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 28 Energia Renovavel, S.A. ® Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Oitis 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 5 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 6 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 7 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 8 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Oitis 9 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Riachéo 1 Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Riach&o 10 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 11 Energia Renovavel, S.A. ©® Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riachdo 12 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riachdo 13 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 14 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riachdo 15 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 2 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 3 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 4 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 5 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 6 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 7 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 8 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
Riach&o 9 Energia Renovavel, S.A. © Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 —
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Santana 1, Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Santana 2, Energia Renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Teles Pires Participagoes, S.A. Brazil Holding company 27.05 26.75 EM
Ventos de Arapua 1 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Ventos de Arapua 2 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Ventos de Arapua 3 Energia renovavel, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Afluente Transmissao de Energia Elétrica, S.A. Brazil Energy 56.72 56.18 FC
glmpanhla de Eletricidade do Estado do Bahia, Brazil Energy 5293 5234 FC
Companhia Energética de Pernambuco, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 47.43 FC
gimg?nhla Energetica do Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil Energy 49.78 49.23 FC
EKTT 10 Servigos de Transmissao de Energia Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Elétrica SPE S/A
EKTT 6 Servigos de Transmisséao de Energia .

Brazil E 53.5 52.91 FC
Elétrica SPE S/A raz! nerey
EKTT 7 Servigos de Transmissao de Energia .
Elétrica SPE S/A Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
EKTT 8 Servigos de Transmiss&o de Energia .

Brazil E . 2.91 F
Elétrica SPE S/A razl nergy 935 529 c
EK'IT 9 Servigos de Transmisséao de Energia Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Elétrica SPE S/A
Elektro Operacao e Manutencgao, Ltda. Brazil Services 53.5 52.91 FC
Elektro Redes, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.33 52.74 FC
Lanmovil Ar5r1ara Celular da Bahia, Ltd. Brazil Other 65 65 o
(Lanmara) ©®
gl(i:energwl Atibaia Transmiss&o de Energia, Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
glerenergla Biguagu Transmissao de Energia, Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Neoenergia DistribuicAo Brasilia, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
glioenergla Dourados Transmisséao de Energia, Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Neoen’erg|a Guanabara Transmisséo de Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Energia, S.A.
Neoenergia Investimentos, S.A. Brazil Holding company 53.5 52.91 FC
Neoen'ergla ltabapoana Transmisséo de Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Energia, S.A.
gle:energa Jalapdo Transmissao de Energia, Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Neoen’erg|a Lagoa dos Patos Transmissao de Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
Energia, S.A.
Neoen'erg|a Santa Luzia Transmisséo de Brazil Energy 535 5291 FC
Energia, S.A.
glerenergla Sobral Transmisséo de Energia, Brazil Energy 535 5291 FC
Neoen’ergla Vale do Itajai Transmisséo de Brazil Energy 535 52 91 FC
Energia, S.A.
Neoenergia, S.A. Brazil Holding company 53.5 52.91 FC
Potiguar Sul Transmissao de Energia, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
S.E. Narandiba, S.A. Brazil Energy 53.5 52.91 FC
ROW
Iberdrola Energy Deutschland, GmbH. Germany Retail supplier 100 100 FC
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Iberdrola Solutions, LLC United States Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energie France, S.A.S. France Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Clienti Italia, S.R.L. Italy Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Ireland, Ltd Ireland Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Citrobo’x Tglecomunicagées e Energias Portugal Retail supplier 49 ) EM
Renovaveis, Lda

Iberdrola Clientes Portugal, Unipessoal Ltda. Portugal Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Aalto Power, GmbH. Germany Energy 100 100 FC
Baltic Eagle, GmbH. Germany Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Deutschland, GmbH. Germany Energy 100 100 FC
Gomay  mew w0 -
2:1?,:0_'8 Renovables Offshore Deutschland, Germany Energy 51 100 FC
Windaker, GmbH. Germany Energy 100 100 FC
Autonomous Energy PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 —
Avonlie Solar Project Co PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Bluff Solar Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Bodangora Wind Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Bogan River Solar Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Bowen Solar Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
BWF Finance PTY, Ltd. Australia Financial 100 100 FC
BWF Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Capital East Solar PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Capital Solar Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Capital Wind Farm (BB), Trust Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Capital Wind Farm 2 PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Capital Wind Farm Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
CREP Land Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
CS CWEF, Trust Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Flyers Creek Wind Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Forsayth Wind Farm, PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 50 50 EM
Iberdrola Australia, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
:_tzzll'drola Australia (NSW) Power Holdings PTY, Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
:-tizll'drola Australia (SA) Power Holdings PTY, Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia (US) 2 PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia (US) PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Custodian Services PTY, Ltd. Australia Services 100 100 FC
:_ki(ej.rdrola Australia Development Holdings PTY, Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Development PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Europe 2 PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Europe 4 PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Finance (Australia) PTY, Ltd. Australia Financial 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Investments PTY, Ltd. Australia Services 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Energy Markets PTY, Ltd. Australia Retail supplier 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia RE, Ltd. Australia Services 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Australia PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia SAGT PTY, Ltd. Australia Gas 100 100 FC
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Iberdrola Australia Services Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Services PTY, Ltd. Australia Services 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Smithfield Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia T Services PTY, Ltd. Australia Services 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia US Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Wallgrove Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Australia Wallgrove PTY, Ltd. Australia Other 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy Europe 3 PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy NT Solar Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy NT Solar PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy, Trust Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Infigen Suntech Australia PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 50 50 EM
Lake Bonney 2 Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant 100 100 FC
Lake Bonney BESS PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Lake Bonney Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Lake Bonney Wind Power PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Parep 1 PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Parep Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Renewable Power Ventures PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
RPV Developments PTY, Ltd. (2) Australia Energy 32 32 EM
Smithfield Land Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Smithfield Power Generation PTY, Ltd. Australia Gas 100 100 FC
Walkaway Wind Power PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Woakwine Wind Farm PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
Woodlawn Wind PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy 100 100 FC
WWCS Finance PTY, Ltd. Australia Financial 100 100 FC
WWCS Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
WWP Holdings PTY, Ltd. Australia Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Bulgaria, EOOD. Bulgaria Energy 100 100 FC
Rokas Aeoliki Cyprus, Ltd. Cyprus Energy 74.82 74.82 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Korea Co, Ltd. Korea Energy 100 - FC
Infigen Energy US Corporation United States Dormant 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy US Development Corporation United States Dormant 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy US Holdings, LLC United States Dormant 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy US Partnership United States Dormant 100 100 FC
NPP LB2, LLC United States Dormant 100 100 FC
NPP Projects |, LLC United States Dormant 100 100 FC
NPP Projects V, LLC United States Dormant 100 100 FC
Aalto Power GmbH France, S.A.R.L. France Energy 100 100 FC
Aalto Power, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
Aerodis Bussiére, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
Aerodis Herbitzheim, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
Aerodis les Chaumes, S.A.R.L. France Energy 100 100 FC
Aerodis Pays de Boussac, S.A.R.L. France Energy 100 100 FC
Ailes Marine, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
Energies du Champs des Sceurettes, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
f:rriij/;c;tlz].g:e\/’elsc?i;');rnent Renouvelable France Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Développement Renouvelable, France Energy 100 100 FC
S.AR.L

Iberdrola Renouvelables France, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC

(Formerly Iberdrola Renovables France, S.A.S.)
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La Croix Didier, S.A.R.L. France Energy 100 100 FC
La Piéce du Roi, S.A.R.L. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE Aerodis Chambonchard, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE de Beauchamps, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE de Bougueneuf, S.A.S.. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE de Plemy, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE de Plouguenast Langast, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE de Sevigny, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE du Rocher de Mementu, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE le Florembeau, S.A.R. L. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE le Fond d’Etre, S.A.R.L. France Energy 100 100 FC
SEPE les Coutures, S.A.S. France Energy 100 100 FC
(S;:l:}tsslf):ﬁgltatlon Du Parc Eolien les Neufs France Energy 100 100 FC
27:};%9 D'exploitation Eolienne D’Orvilliers, France Energy 100 100 FC
Aeliared Energy Aetolias Single Member S.A. Greece Energy 99.76 - FC
C. Rokas Industrial Commercial Company, S.A. Greece Holding company 99.76 99.76 FC
PPC Renewables Rokas, S.A. Greece Energy 50.88 50.88 FC
Rokas Aeoliki Thraki Ill, S.A. Greece Energy 99.61 99.61 FC
Rokas Construction, S.A. Greece Energy 99.76 99.76 FC
Rokas Hydroelectric, S.A. Greece Energy 99.76 99.76 FC
Thaleia Energeiaki Monoprosopi lkei Greece Energy 99.76 99.76 FC
Iberdrola Renovables Magyarorszag, KFT. Hungary Energy 100 100 FC
Clarus Offshore Wnd Farm, Ltd. Ireland Energy 90 90 FC
DP Irish Offshore Wind Ltd. Ireland Energy 90 90 FC
Inis Ealga Marine Energy Park, Ltd. Ireland Energy 90 90 FC
Leeward Offshore Wind Farm, Ltd. Ireland Energy 90 90 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Ireland, Ltd. Ireland Energy 100 100 FC
Icube Renewables, S.R.L. Italy Energy 50 - EM
Fattoria Solare Sarmato, S.R.L Italy Energy 100 - FC
Green Frogs Montalto, S.R.L. Italy Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renovables ltalia, S.p.A. Italy Holding company 100 100 FC
Societa Energie Rinnovabili 2, S.p.A. @ Italy Energy 50 50 EM
Aomorl-Selhoku-Okl Offshore Wind Godo Japan Energy 349 349 EM
Kaisha

Iberdrola Renewables Japan, K.K. Japan Energy 100 100 FC
Kioi Offshore Wind Power K.K. Japan Energy 50 50 EM
Saga Offshore Wind Power K.K. Japan Energy 50 50 EM
Satsuma Offshore Wind Power K.K. Japan Energy 50 50 EM
Infigen Energy Finance (Lux), SARL Luxembourg Dormant 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy Holdings, SARL Luxembourg Dormant 100 100 FC
Infigen Energy (Malta), Ltd. Malta Dormant 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renouvelables Maroc, S.A.R.L. Morocco Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Norway, AS Norway Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Polska, Z.0.0. Poland Energy 100 100 FC
Sea Wind Genaker, SP Z.0.0. " Poland Energy 70 70 EM
Sea Wind Kliwer, SP Z.0.0. " Poland Energy 70 70 EM
Sea Wind Spinaker, SP Z.0.0. " Poland Energy 70 70 EM
Southern Windfarm, SP Z.0.0. Poland Energy 100 100 FC
Passat Energy, SP Z2.0.0. Poland Energy 100 100 FC
Wind Field Korytnica SP, Z.0.0. Poland Energy 100 100 FC
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Eoenergi Energia Eolica, S.A. Portugal Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Portugal, S.A. Portugal Holding company 100 100 FC
Parque Edlico da Serra do Alvao, S.A. Portugal Energy 100 100 FC
Sunshining, S.A. Portugal Energy 50 50 EM
Eolica Dobrogea One, S.R.L. Romania Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Romania, S.R.L. Romania Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables Singapore Pte, Ltd. Singapore Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Renewables South Africa (PTY), Ltd. South Africa Energy 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Fornybar Sverige AB (Formerly

" Swed E 100 - FC
BolagsrAtt Sundsvall, AB) weden nergy
Iberdrola Renewables Taiwan, Ltd. Taiwan Energy 100 100 FC
It?er.drola Renewables Operation Vietnam Vietnam Energy 100 100 FC
Limited Company
Iberdrola Renewables Vietnam Limited Vietnam Energy 100 100 FC
Company
OTHER BUSINESSES
Engineering
Iberdrola Ingenieria de Explotacion, S.A.U. Spain Engineering 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Ingenieria y Construccién, S.A.U. Spain Engineering 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Construgao e Servigos, Ltd. Brazil Engineering 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energy Projects Canada Corporation Canada Engineering 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energy Projects, Inc. United States Engineering 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Ingenieria y Construccién México, S.A. Mexico Engineering 100 100 FC
de C.V.
Ibe.rdrola Engineering and Construction South South Africa Engineering 100 100 FC
Africa
Real Property
Arrendamiento de Viviendas Protegidas Siglo Spain Real Property 100 100 FC
XXI, S.L.
Camarate Golf, S.A. @ Spain Real Property 26 26 EM
Iberdrola Inmobiliaria Patrimonio, S.A.U. Spain Real Property 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Inmobiliaria, S.A. Spain Real Property 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Inmobiliaria Real State Investment, Bulgaria Real Property 100 100 FC
EOOD
5:306250“08 Inmobiliarias Laguna del Mar, S.A. Mexico Real Property 100 100 FC
Promociones La Malinche, S.A. de C.V. Mexico Real Property 50 50 EM
Innovation
Aqui Tu Reforma Europa, S.L. Spain Services 8.35 8.35 EM
Balantia Consultores, S.L. @ Spain Services 20.64 20.64 EM
Barbara IOT, S.L. Spain Services 10.49 - EM
BasqueVolt, S.A.U. Spain Services 14.63 - EM
Carbon2nature, S.A. Spain Services 100 - FC
CO2 Revolution, S.L. 4 Spain Services 20 20 EM
Energyloop, S.A. Spain Services 45 - EM
Fondo Seaya Andromeda Sustainable Tech Spain Services 16.63 ) .
Fund | F.C.R.
Inversiones Financieras Perseo, S.L. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
WallBox, N.V. @ Spain Services 9.95 10.37 EM
Iberdrola QSTP, LLC Qatar Services 100 100 FC
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% of direct or indirect Method

Company Address Activity stake

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 ©

Eheat Networks, Ltd. United Services 100 - FC

Other businesses

Subgrupo Corporacion IBV Participaciones

) Spain Holding company 50 50 EM
Empresariales
Iberdrola Inversiones 2010, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Participaciones, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
CORPORATE CENTRE
Energy, Innovation — Research, S.A.U. ® Spain Other 100 100 —
Iberdrola Corporacion, S.A. ©® Spain Other 100 100 —
Iberdrola Espafia, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Energia Internacional, S.A.U. Spain Holding company 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Financiacion, S.A.U. Spain Financial 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Finanzas, S.A.U. Spain Financial 100 100 FC
Iberdrola International, B.V. Netherlands Financial 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Finance Ireland, DAC Ireland Financial 100 100 FC
Iberdrola Re, S.A. Luxembourg Insurance 100 100 FC
Scottish Power UK, Plc united 4 lding company 100 100 FC
Kingdom
Scottish Power, Ltd United 4 oiding compan 100 100 FC
B Kingdom g company
. United .
ScottishPower Investments, Ltd. ) Holding company 100 100 FC
Kingdom
. . United .
ScottishPower Overseas Holdings, Ltd. ) Holding company 100 100 FC
Kingdom
United .
SPW Investments Ltd. ) Holding company 100 100 FC
Kingdom

(1

®)

Companies that are controlled by the Group but due to their immateriality have been consolidated using the
equity method. At 31 December 2022, the total asset value and earnings for the period corresponding to
these companies amounted to EUR 32 million and EUR 3 million, respectively. At 31 December 2021, the
total asset value and earnings for the period corresponding to those companies amounted to EUR 28 million
and EUR 4 million, respectively.

Companies considered joint ventures, accounted for using the equity method, where shareholders’
agreements only grant the right to the net assets of the business.

Companies at which the Group exercises control through shareholders’ agreements, despite holding a
percentage of voting rights of below 51%.

Companies in which the Group has significant influence despite holding a percentage of voting rights of less
than 20%, by virtue of seats held on those companies’ boards of directors.

Companies in which the Group exercises control, joint control or significant influence, but which, given their
immateriality, have not been included in the consolidation scope.
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JOINT OPERATIONS OF THE IBERDROLA GROUP STRUCTURED THROUGH AN
INDEPENDENT VEHICLE FOR THE YEARS 2022 AND 2021

% of direct or indirect stake

Company Address Activity

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Asociacion Nuclear Asco — Vandellés, A.LLE. Spain Energy 14.59 14.59
Centrales Nucleares Almaraz — Trillo, A.l.E. Spain Energy 51.44 51.44
Comunes Rio Carrién, S.L. Spain Energy 12.59 12.59
Infraestructuras de Medinaceli, S.L. Spain Energy 39.69 39.69
Sistema Eléctrico de Conexién Hueneia, S.L. Spain Energy 39.75 39.75
CampionWind, Ltd. United Energy 50 -
MarramWind, Ltd. United Energy 50 -
Torre Iberdrola, A.l.E. Spain Real Property 68.1 68.1

Additionally, the IBERDROLA Group takes part in joint operations through joint ownership
and other joint agreements.
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GROUP COMPANIES AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 THAT LEFT THE CONSOLIDATION
SCOPE IN 2022 DUE TO DISPOSAL, MERGER OR LIQUIDATION

Company Address Activity % of direct or indirect stake
31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Tecnatom, S.A. Spain Other — 30
Electra Sierra de San Pedro, S.A. Spain Energy — 80
:tlc\:iedad Gestora Parques Edlicos de Andalucia, Spain Energy . 63.91
Batchelor Solar PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy — 100
Infigen Energy Europe 5 PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant — 100
Lake Bonney Wind Power 2 PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant — 100
Manton Solar PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy — 100
NPP Walkaway PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant — 100
Renewable Energy Constructions PTY, Ltd. Australia Energy — 100
Walkaway (BB) PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant — 100
Walkaway (CS) PTY, Ltd. Australia Dormant — 100
Bahia PCH II, S.A. Bahia Pequefa C. Hidroeléctrica Brazil Energy — 53.5
Maupin Solar, LLC United States Energy — 81.5
OSC-A 0522, LLC United States Energy — 40.75
Vineyard Wind, LLC United States Energy — 40.75
Anselmo Ledn, S.A.U. Spain Energy — 100
Iberdrola Infraestructuras y Servicios de Redes, S.A. Spain Services — 100
Manweb Services, Ltd. United Kingdom Energy — 100
Atten2 Advanced Monitoring Technologies, S.L. Spain Other — 23.27
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APPENDIX I
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SECTOR REGULATIONS: MOST SIGNIFICANT REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS IN
THE YEAR

A raft of new rules and regulations affecting the energy sector were enacted in 2022. This
Appendix addresses the most significant developments.

1. European Union

Throughout 2022 and within the scope of European regulation, work continued on the Fit-
for-55 legislative package, the aim of which is to define objectives for 2030 compatible with
climate neutrality in 2050. The package is expected to be approved in the first quarter of
2023. Most notable, however, is the European response to the energy price crisis stemming
from the Ukrainian war, which has completely refocused the regulatory debate, and which
must be framed in the context of the international gas price developments that accompanied
the conflict. On another front, relevant measures have been taken in the area of sustainable
finance.

Response to the consequences of the Ukraine Crisis

Since 8 March 2022, European Union (EU) bodies have been very active in response to the
exceptional nature of the Crisis, when the European Commission published the
Communication COM (2022) 108, REPower EU, analysing possible tools and conditions for
government intervention in energy markets and to support consumers. Since then, the
Commission has also stressed the need to increase the EU's energy independence, moving
away from Russian gas and replacing it mostly with non-fossil options.

On 23 March 2022 and coinciding with an Extraordinary European Council on 24-25 March,
the Commission adopted Communication COM (2022) 138 on security of supply and
affordable prices, addressing possible avenues for public intervention on markets and their
effects.

These proposals were complemented by Communication 2022/C 131 1/01, which sets out
a temporary and specific framework for state aid in the context of the current Crisis and a
proposal for a reform of the rules on gas supply security. The latter, which set minimum
stocks for gas storage (80-90%) on 1 November each year, was quickly adopted and
published in the OJEU on 30 June (Regulation (EU) 2022/1032 of 29/6/22 amending
Regulations (EU) 2017/1938 and (EC) No 715/2009 in relation to gas storage).

In addition, with the publication of the Communication COM (2022) 230 on the REPower
EU Plan on 18 May, the Commission called for accelerating the energy transition, and
joining forces across the EU to achieve a more resilient and integrated electricity system.
The plan comprises four main lines of action: (a) saving energy, (b) diversifying gas
supplies, (c) replacing fossil fuels with renewable energies, and (d) identifying the
investments and funds needed to make the plan viable. States will be required to make
more ambitious commitments when updating their energy and climate action plans to be
adopted in June 2024, according to the Commission's Communication (2022/C 495/02),
published on 29 December 2022.
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Concurrently with the EU REPower Plan and with the aim of countering the effects of high
electricity prices in the short term, the Commission recommended, through Communication
COM (2022) 236 on Short-term energy market interventions, to prioritise less interventionist
measures, which, if implemented, should be temporary and should not extend beyond the
next winter season - until 1 May 2023.

On 20 July 2022, in Communication COM (2022) 360, “Save gas for a safe winter”, the
Commission proposed a plan for a potential cut-off of Russian gas supplies through gas
savings, as well as changes to the Temporary Framework for State Aid to address the crisis
brought about by the war in Ukraine. It also made a proposal for a Regulation on coordinated
gas demand reduction measures, which entered into force a few weeks later (Council
Regulation (EU) 2022/1369 of 5 August 2022). The latter rule provides for a voluntary
reduction of gas demand in each State (15%) during the period 1/8/2022-31/3/2023, but
which may have binding force in the event of an alert. The demand reduction target could
be lowered to 8%, if a state demonstrated weak interconnection, and was mainly export-
oriented.

On 20 October 2022, Regulation (EU) 2022/1854, on an emergency intervention to address
high energy prices, was published. While cautioning against the risk of uncoordinated
measures, the Regulation accords States considerable flexibility in establishing their own
measures and benchmarks. Some of the key elements of the measure include:

- Coordinated reduction in electricity demand: An indicative 10% monthly reduction in
gross consumption and a binding 5% reduction in consumption during peak hours.

- Price cap for inframarginal technologies: Cap on market revenues of EUR 180 per
MWh, applicable until 30 June 2023, for wind, solar, nuclear and hydro, among
others.

- Mandatory, solidarity-based contribution for the oil, gas, coal and refining sector:
temporary, of at least 33% and applicable on profits in 2022 and/or 2023 that are
more than 20% higher than the average profit made in the period 2018-2021.

- Support measures for consumers: allowing (though not obliging) States to introduce
regulated prices not only for domestic electricity consumers and micro-enterprises,
but also for SMEs.

In December 2022 the European energy crisis response framework was rounded off with
three legislative instruments on the following aspects:

- Council Regulation (EU) 2022/2578 of 22 December 2022, which develops a
temporary European cap mechanism for forward contracts on organised virtual
trading platforms. The mechanism would be triggered in the following situation: 1/
the thresholds of EUR 180 per MWh on the TTF market are exceeded for three
consecutive days and, 2/ the one-month forward contract on the TTF market
exceeds international liquefied gas prices by EUR 35. The mechanism will be in
force from 15 February 2023 and will reviewed in November of the same year. It will
not be activated in an emergency situation.

- Council Regulation (EU) 2022/2576 of 19 December 2022, which establishes a

voluntary mechanism for the joint purchasing of gas by Member States.
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- Council Regulation (EU) 2022/2577 of 22 December 2022 laying down a framework
to accelerate the deployment of renewable energy, reducing the lead times for small
photovoltaic, self-consumption and heat pump applications, and considering new
applications for the development of renewables as being of overriding public interest
(with each State having the option of extending the benefits to all applications).

Sustainable finance

The regulation on taxonomy (classification of sustainable activities) for European climate
change mitigation and adaptation targets was completed in 2022, specifying the conditions
for the inclusion of nuclear and gas-fired generation (Commission Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2022/1288 of 6 April 2022, supplementing Regulation (EU) 2019/2088). The
transparency of activities is also reinforced, so as to clearly differentiate gas and nuclear
generation from other activities considered sustainable (renewables, grids, renewable
hydrogen, etc.).

On 14 December 2022, Directive (EU) 2022/2464 was published in the OJEU, setting out
the rules and formats for sustainability reporting by large companies and certain SMEs,
incorporating environmental, social, human rights and governance factors.

2. Spain
« Spanish electricity sector

The climate of high and volatile gas prices continued throughout 2022, aggravated by the
effects of the war in Ukraine, which has increased prices in daily wholesale electricity
markets across Europe. In Spain, consumers subject to the regulated price (Voluntary Price
for Small Consumers — PVPC), pegged to market and not yet adjusted, and consumers who
purchase their energy directly on the wholesale market or at prices referenced to it, were
particularly affected by electricity price increases in the first quarter of the year, which led
the government to adopt various market intervention measures, in addition to others
focused on protecting vulnerable consumers.

Consumer protection and price intervention measures

Several Royal Decree-Laws (RD-Law 2/2022, RD-Law 6/2022, RD-Law 10/2022, RD-Law
11/2022, RD-Law 18/2022 and RD-Law 20/2022) have extended the protection measures
of the social shield, which include the prohibition of electricity and natural gas supply cut-
offs for vulnerable consumers, VAT reduction (up to 5%) and the special tax on electricity,
suspension of the tax on electricity generation, Social Bonus discounts for vulnerable
consumers (65%-80%), a 15% increase in subsidised energy and a new category with a
40% discount.

Under Royal Decree-Law 6/2022, a new system for financing the Social Bonus has been
established, which is binding on all companies engaged in electricity activities, recognising
the cost for all companies engaged in regulated activities.
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The mechanism for revenue reduction due to soaring gas prices has also been extended
until 31 December 2023, with a price limit for the underlying energy in the contracts set at
EUR 67 per MWh.

Moreover, following approval by the European Commission, Royal Decree-Law 10/2022
establishes a temporary mechanism for adjusting production costs to reduce the price of
electricity on the wholesale market until 31 May 2023. Through this mechanism, gas, coal
and cogeneration plants will receive a subsidy for the difference between the MIBGAS price
and a benchmark gas price (EUR 40-70 per MWh), the cost of which will be financed by the
demand associated with contracts signed after 26 April 2022, plus demand associated with
earlier contracts once they are renewed or extended.

The aforementioned Royal Decree-Law also establishes a mandate to review the formula
for calculating the voluntary price for small consumers (PVPC) from 1 January 2023
(pending) so as to revise the indexation of the regulated regime for renewables and
cogeneration, including a basket of prices between the spot market and the annual and
quarterly futures markets. Indexation to futures markets will be gradual, reaching 75% by
2025.

Other measures have also been prolonged, including the 80% tariff relief for electro-
intensive consumers and the possibility of modifying the contracted power without penalty.
To offset these and other measures affecting the sector’s revenues, various items have
been allocated from the State Budget to guarantee the financial sustainability of companies
operating within the sector.

Networks remuneration

Throughout 2022, various regulations were published revising the regulated remuneration
of the electricity distribution activity for previous years. Order TED/490/2022, of 31 May,
enforcing the Supreme Court judgment declaring that Order IET/980/2016, of 10 June,
which establishes the remuneration of electricity distribution companies for 2016, is
detrimental to the public interest. Order TED/749/2022, of 27 July, was also published,
approving the incentive or penalty for the reduction of losses in the electricity distribution
network for 2016, modifying the base remuneration for 2016 for several distribution
companies, and approving the remuneration of electricity distribution companies for 2017,
2018 and 2019.

In addition, a Resolution was published that establishes the provisional distribution
remuneration for 2022 equal to that of 2016, until the definitive remuneration is published.

Remuneration of renewable and cogeneration facilities

Royal Decree-Law 6/2022 establishes the extraordinary revision of renewable and
cogeneration premiums in 2022, with no impact on the profitability of these facilities, since
they will be offset throughout the rest of the regulatory life.
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Royal Decree-Law 17/2022 allows mainland cogeneration plants to temporarily receive the
generation market adjustment mechanism (gas cap) in exchange for waiving the regulated
remuneration. It applies only to facilities under the specific remuneration regime, from the
time they apply for registration under the adjustment mechanism (starting on the first day of
the following month) until they apply for de-registration or the mechanism is discontinued.
Thereafter, they will return to their previous regulated remuneration.

For cogeneration, Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 establishes that until the new calculation
methodology is published, the regulated Operating Remuneration (OR) will be updated
based on half-yearly variations in raw material and gas tariffs.

A series of Ministerial Orders updated the remuneration corresponding to the second
calendar half-year of 2020 and the first calendar half-year of 2021 (Order TED/989/2022 of
11 October), the values of the operating remuneration corresponding to the first calendar
half-year of 2019 (Order TED/990/2022 of 11 October), and the operating remuneration for
the second half of 2021 for facilities whose operating costs depend essentially on fuel prices
(Order TED/995/2022 of 14 October). As envisaged in Royal Decree Law 6/2022, the values
for the extraordinary review of the remuneration parameters as of 1 January 2022 were also
published (Order TED/1232/2022, of 2 December). Lastly, the operating remuneration (OR)
for cogeneration and waste in the second half of 2022 was published (Order TED/1295/2022
of 22 December).

Promotion of renewable energy, storage and self-consumption

Successive Royal Decree-Laws on energy matters published in 2022 have incorporated
measures to promote the development of renewable energies, electricity storage and self-
consumption.

Royal Decree-Law 6/2022 sets out measures to expedite processing of projects (up to 150
MW in photovoltaic and up to 75 MW in wind), facilitate access to the grid for self-
consumption facilities and authorise floating photovoltaic plants.

Royal Decree-Law 11/2022 amends certain aspects of the simplified processing of
renewable projects regulated in Royal Decree-Law 6/2022. In particular, to be eligible,
projects must now be located in areas of low sensitivity (previously low or moderate).

Royal Decree-Law 14/2022 classifies hybridisation with storage for metering anregistration
purposes under Type 3. Hydroelectric storage is also promoted by permitting modifications
to existing hydroelectric facilities by adding electronic power stages, provided the changes
allow for reversible operation of the facility, without the generation technology itself being
considered modified and therefore without the need to obtain new access permits. For self-
consumption, the minimum time for remaining in one modality (with/without surpluses) is
reduced from one year to four months and processing is streamlined for facilities <100 kW,
limiting the time for activation of self-consumption by the distributor to two months.
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Under Royal Decree-Law 17/2022, a maximum period of 15 days is established for the
CNMC to prepare the mandatory report for the authorisation of facilities, with silence
considered as approval and the possibility of a favourable report without detailed analysis
if the project developer has already received another favourable report for the same
technology in the last two years.

Lastly, Royal Decree-Law 18/2022 and Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 contain a final set of
measures:

»  Self-consumption via the grid: The distance for photovoltaic installations on roofs or on
buildings is extended to 1 km. Subsequently, Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 increased the
limit of self-consumption in proximity to 2,000 metres (previously 1,000 metres), for
photovoltaic facilities on roofs, industrial land and artificial structures.

*  More than one facility may be installed in the same cadastral reference.

*  New obligation for grid operators to submit quarterly information to the System Operator
on grid-connected self-consumption facilities.

+ Direct lines: the obligation to belong to the same business group is waived for
renewable production facilities that connect to a consumer.

+  Small power facilities: exonerates facilities of up to 500 kW (previously 100 kW in Low
Voltage) from the Prior Administrative Authorisation and Construction Authorisation.

+  Free depreciation for investments in facilities for self-consumption of electricity, as well
as facilities for thermal use for own consumption, provided that they use energy from
renewable sources and replace facilities that used energy from non-renewable fossil
fuel sources.

* Inthe nodes reserved for tender, the administrative procedures initiated are suspended
for 18 months. Procedures are also simplified for renewable projects that fall within the
competence of the State.

Access and connection

Royal Decree-Law 11/2022 abolishes the deadline for holding network capacity tenders
(which expired on 29 June), and also provides that failure to comply with commitments
under a capacity tender for the injection of energy will not result in the expiry of the permits.

Royal Decree-Law 14/2022 expedites transmission and distribution procedures, so that
modifications to transmission and distribution facilities that have obtained prior
administrative authorisation are entitled to obtain administrative authorisation for
construction without requiring a new prior authorisation when certain conditions are met.
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Royal Decree-Law 18/2022 maximises the use of access capacity by allowing promoters
with an access permit granted for a capacity lower than the installed capacity to
exceptionally inject a higher capacity, provided that it is a node subject to a tender and until
the tender is held. In the case of tenders, the reserved capacity will be maintained, even if
the initial conditions for calling the tender are no longer fulfilled.

Other regulatory issues

Electric vehicle (EV) charging services: Royal Decree 184/2022, of 8 March, which
regulates electric vehicle charging services, implements the regulatory framework for
providing public EV charging services.

» It regulates the charging point operator (CPO) as the owner of the rights to operate
the charging point (CP) infrastructure and the electric mobility service provider
company (EMSP), which is a “virtual operator” that can act as a third party providing
mobility services without being the owner or operator of the CP. It establishes the
conditions for interoperability between those roles, and includes a series of obligations
and rights for both.

+ It establishes obligations to submit information (CP specifications, prices and real-
time availability), which will be detailed in a Ministerial Order and which derive from
the provisions of both the Electricity Sector Act and the Climate Change and Energy
Transition Act (real-time information on CPs through the Directorate General of
Traffic’s “Geoportal” system).

Incentives for renewable hydrogen: The IDAE has launched the first call for proposals
for the H2 REN incentive programme for pioneering and unique projects (H2 Pioneers
Programme) within the framework of the Recovery Plan. It has a budget of EUR 150 million
and the maximum aid per project is set at EUR 15 million.

The IDAE Resolutions have also been published with the H2 REN Development Incentive
Programme, with an endowment of EUR 250 million.

FNEE 2022 contributions: The Order establishing the contributions to the National
Energy Efficiency Fund for 2022 has been published in the Official Spanish Gazette. As an
innovation, it provides for the possibility of complying with the savings obligation on a
voluntary basis by means of Energy Saving Certificates (ESC).

Active demand response service in the electricity market: Defined in Royal Decree-
Law 17/2022:

* Mainland consumers of more than 1MW can opt to deliver reductions in remunerated
demand (or increases in production, if available), in case of system need, for periods
of up to three hours with 15 minutes’ notice.

* The allocation is carried out through annual auctions managed by the System
Operator, with the implementation period running from November to October of the
following year. The first auction will be held before 1 November this year.
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» The availability of power to be reduced will be remunerated according to the result of
the auction, and the actual reductions in demand required by the System Operator,
pursuant to the prevailing tertiary regulation price.

» Financing is provided by all consumers, according to their consumption, and by those
responsible for the balance, according to their deviations.

New information on utility bills (RD-Law 18/2022):

* Information on average consumption in the same postcode area, and energy saving
and efficiency recommendations.

* Information on tax reductions introduced by the government and on the reduction in
the Spot cost due to the application of the Iberian adjustment mechanism.

* Free market bills are standardised in terms of how they present the cost of the Iberian
adjustment mechanism. If the retail supplier passes on the cost of the adjustment
mechanism to the customer on a differentiated basis (not included in the electricity
price), the bill must clearly state that the customer has opted for this option and report
the average price of the adjustment in the last calendar month.

Main and dominant energy operators: The CNMC Resolutions of 24 November published
the lists of main and dominant operators. IBERDROLA remains the dominant operator in
electricity and a main operator in electricity and gas. In the LPG fuel sector, Repsol and
CEPSA are the dominant operators and are once again main operators together with BP
and Naturgy (LPG).

Temporary levy: Law 38/2022 of 27 December, on the establishment of temporary levies
on energy companies and credit institutions, was published during the period. For
companies in the electricity, gas and oil sectors, the levy is set at 1.2% of their turnover, on
a temporary basis for the years 2023 and 2024, applying to companies with main operator
status. Companies carrying out regulated remuneration activities are excluded from this tax.

Transfers of funds from the General State Budget to the electricity sector: Under Royal
Decree-Law 14/2022, a transfer of EUR 1,360 million is to be made to the Regulated
Activities Settlements to offset the loss of revenue due to the suspension of the Tax on the
Value of Electricity Production. In Royal Decree-Law 20/2022, EUR 2,000 million are made
available for the 2022 settlements to compensate for the reduction in charges and EUR 113
million to compensate for the reduction in tariffs for electro-intensive users. It also provides
that any surplus in the 2022 settlements will be carried forward to 2023.

« Spanish gas sector

Consumer protection measures: In the gas sector, price containment measures have also
been adopted for consumers, materialised in the extension contained in Royal Decree-Law
11/2022 to the limitation of the increase in the last-resort tariff for gas included in Royal
Decree Law 17/2021. This same Decree-Law extends the measures to make natural gas
supply contracts more flexible, until the price of the daily product with delivery the following
day at the Virtual Balancing Point, as published by the Iberian Gas Market (MIBGAS),
remains below EUR 60 per MWh for ten consecutive daily trading sessions, and until 31
December 2022 at the latest. It also caps the maximum price of a cylinder of butane at EUR
19.95.
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Royal Decree-Law 10/2022 provides aid to gas-intensive companies, which is extended to
EUR 250 million under Royal Decree-Law 11/2022, including new sectors.

Royal Decree-Law 18/2022 creates a new transitional reduced tariff for residential
communities with communal boilers, and extends the restriction on the increase in the LRT
for gas, both until 31 December 2023. The possible deficit is covered by a EUR 3,000 million
budget item in the General State Budget. The budget for the thermal bonus is also increased
by EUR 225 million. The same Decree-Law also makes it easier to terminate gas contracts
and associated additional services.

Other regulations published during the year include:

Biogas Roadmap: The Biogas Roadmap was approved. It identifies the challenges and
opportunities for developing this renewable gas source and proposes a 3.8-fold increase in
its production by 2030, exceeding 10.4 TWh.

3. United Kingdom

Energy Bill: In Summer 2022 a new Energy Bill was introduced to Parliament and started
its progress through the House of Lords after which it will be considered by the House of
Commons. The main provisions of the Energy Bill are (i) to promote low carbon hydrogen
production by facilitating the introduction of a new business support model, (ii) to establish
a new independent Future System Operator, providing strategic oversight across electricity
and gas systems during the Net Zero transition, (iii) to provide for a new obligation to be
placed on fossil fuel boiler manufacturers to scale up their production of heat pumps over
time, and (iv) to provide for the introduction of competition in onshore electricity networks.

Tariff cap: As required under the Domestic Gas and Electricity (Tariff Cap) Act 2018, Ofgem
(Office of Gas and Electricity Markets) implemented a new price cap for default tariffs,
including Standard Variable Tariffs (SVTs), on 1 January 2019. Following a review of the
methodology for setting the allowance for wholesale energy costs within the cap, to mitigate
the impact of market volatility on suppliers, Ofgem published its decision in August 2022.
With effect from 1 October 2022, different hedging assumptions apply and the tariff cap is
adjusted every quarter, on 1 January, April, July and October (previously every 6 months).
The Energy Prices Act which was enacted on 28 October 2022 removed the end date for
the cap (previously end 2023) and gave the Secretary of State the power to terminate the
tariff cap at any time. Ofgem issued a further consultation in November 2022 on its review
of the EBIT margin allowance in the price cap methodology.

Energy bill support: The Government introduced three Government-funded schemes to
help households and businesses with exceptionally high energy bills in the winter of
2022/23:

* An ‘Energy Bill Support Scheme’ (EBSS), whereby suppliers offer a £400 credit to
domestic electricity customers over a six-month period (October 2022 to March 2023),
worth £67 per month.
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* An ‘Energy Price Guarantee ‘(EPG) for household customers. This EPG caps a
household's energy bill at £2,500 between October 2022 and March 2023 and £3,000
between April 2023 and March 2024. It was complemented by direct government
support for low-income households.

*  An ‘Energy Bill Reduction Scheme’ (EBRS) for non-domestic customers. This scheme
runs from October 2022 to March 2023 and allows suppliers to offer a discount on
energy prices to non-household customers. In January 2023, the Government
announced that the EBRS would be replaced by a new Energy Bill Discount Scheme
(EBDS) from April 2023 to March 2024 which would offer a lower level of support than
the current EBRS.

RIIO-ED2: The next five-year RIIO-ED2 distribution network price control will run from 1
April 2023 to 31 March 2028. Ofgem published its final determinations for RIIO-ED2 on 30
November 2022. Ofgem’s approach to the cost of capital was unchanged from the
transmission network price control (RIIO-T2); based on latest market indices, this gave a
cost of equity of 5.23% and average cost of debt of 3.07%.

Contracts for Difference: The UK Government progressed with its fourth Contracts for
Difference (CfD) Allocation Round (‘AR4’) to support renewable generation, including
offshore and onshore wind power and solar photovoltaics. The AR4 auction bid window
closed on 15 June and the auction results were announced on 7 July 2022. In total, 93 CfD
contracts were awarded, totalling 10.8GW of capacity. ScottishPower Renewables were
awarded 16 contracts: East Anglia 3 (1.37GW), 5 onshore wind projects (totalling 396MW)
and 10 solar PV projects (totalling 326 MW). The Government also announced a move
towards holding future CfD allocation rounds on an annual basis starting with the next CfD
auction — Allocation Round 5 — for which it is planning to open the eligibility window in March
2023. This will be based on two auction Pots: Pot 1 for ‘established’ renewable technologies,
including fixed bottom offshore wind, onshore wind and solar PV; and Pot 2 for ‘less
established’ renewable technologies, including floating offshore wind. However, the detailed
final auction parameters and Budget Notice are still to be published.

Electricity Generator Levy: in November 2022 the UK Government announced the
introduction of the infra-marginal Electricity Generation Levy (EGL), with application to
renewable and nuclear generation from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2028. It is a 45% levy
on revenues from such generators above an annual benchmark of £75/MWh indexed to
CPI inflation. This Levy rate does not apply to power sold under a Contract for Difference
(CfD) with the Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd (LCCC) but does apply to power sold
on a merchant basis. The legislation implementing the Levy is expected to be enacted in
Spring 2023.

4. US law and regulations

Biden Administration

During his second year in office, President Biden continued efforts to enhance federal
investment in clean energy and critical infrastructure through new legislation and regulatory
actions. Significant actions include advancing offshore wind leasing across both the Atlantic
and Pacific coasts, example lease areas include the coasts of New York, New Jersey,
central and northern California, and the Gulf of Mexico.
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In September, the Department of Energy (DOE) opened applications for the $7 billion
regional clean hydrogen hubs programme (H2Hubs) funded by the IIJA. Following the
submission of concept papers in November, DOE sent notices to 33 (of 79) hydrogen hub
applicants to formally “encourage” the submission of a full application for funding.

In November, DOE opened applications for the $10.5 billion Grid Resilience and Innovation
Partnerships (GRIP) Programme, also funded by the IIJA. GRIP will focus on three areas:
Grid Resilience Utility & Industry Grants ($2.5 billion), Smart Grid Grants ($3 billion), and
Grid Innovation ($5 billion). Funding will be made available in tranches over the next few
years with approximately $3.8B for FY23

Separately, the Treasury Department issued initial guidance on the prevailing wage and
apprenticeship requirements contained in the IRA, interim guidance on the new corporate
alternative minimum tax (CAMT), and solicited comments on guidance to implement the
IRA’s energy tax provisions.

Congress

In August, Congress passed and President Biden signed the $700B Inflation Reduction Act
(IRA). The IRA provides new and extended long term tax credits for renewable energy
deployment, including onshore/offshore wind, solar, storage, and green hydrogen. It also
allows transferability of the tax credits, allowing a taxpayer to sell tax credits to another party
for cash, and the direct payment of credits for clean hydrogen production. The IRA makes
changes to corporate taxes imposing a 15% Alternative Minimum Tax on adjusted financial
statement income for corporations with $1B+ in profits ($100M+ if foreign-parented).
Implementation of the IRA tax provisions will require U.S. Treasury guidance, which could
take up to one year and is subject to additional analysis and review.

In November, Congressional midterm elections were held. In the Senate, Democrats gained
one seat, retaining their narrow majority (51-49). In the House, Republicans were able to
secure a narrow majority (222-213). The divided government lowers the likelihood of new
major legislation in 2023 and 2024.

Tariffs

In December, the Department of Commerce issued an affirmative preliminary determination
in a solar circumvention investigation, in which Auxin Solar claimed that solar cells and
modules imported from Cambodia, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam were avoiding duties
on Chinese goods. The preliminary determination only identified four producers that were
deemed to not be circumventing. All other producers in the four countries would be subject
to duties after the Presidential Proclamation expires on 6 June, 2024. The final
determination is expected in May and may result in additional changes.

On 21 June, the Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act went into effect. U.S. Customs and
Border Protection (CBP) is now operating under the presumption that imports of all goods
manufactured wholly or in part in the Xinjiang region, including solar panels and component
parts, are made with forced labour and are prohibited from entry into the United States.
Importers must prove otherwise in order to import products from the Xinjiang region.
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FERC

In December, FERC Chair Richard Glick departed the Commission after Senate Energy and
Natural Resources Committee Chair Joe Manchin (D-W. Virginia) declined to hold a hearing
on Glick’s renomination. Glick’s departure leaves FERC with four Commissioners, evenly
split between Democrats and Republicans. President Biden has named Commissioner
Willie Phillips as Acting Chairman until the Administration is able to nominate and confirm a
permanent chair.

On 15 December, FERC unanimously opened a rulemaking to address its backstop siting
authority for transmission networks. The proposal includes requirements for developers to
engage with landowners near potential transmission lines before they can acquire a right-
of-way. FERC is aiming to revise as needed and finalize the rule in 2023. Additionally, FERC
directed the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) to assess potential new
requirements for safeguarding electric transmission stations and substations in light of the
recent attack on a substation in North Carolina.

On 30 November, FERC approved 4 — 0 a plan by PJM Interconnection to address a
significant backlog of energy projects waiting to connect to the grid. Going forward, PJM will
prioritize projects which are ready to enter operation instead of when they were filed.

New York — CLCPA Implementation Targets

In September 2021 the NYPSC published an Order to implement the Accelerated
Renewable Energy Growth Act designed to meet the objectives of the New York Climate
Leadership and Community Protection Act (CLCPA). Based on this order, in January 2022,
NYSEG applied to the NYPSC for approval for 23 projects to improve grid reliability and
increase grid capacity by 2.8 GW with a view to facilitating the connection of renewables
between 2025 and 2029 for an investment of USD 1,900 million. Subsequently, in March
2022, NYSEG applied to the NYPSC for a second phase, with the aim of increasing grid
capacity by 2 GW, with an investment of USD 2,250 million.

At the end of 2022, the NYPSC approved a USD 98 million package for NYSEG to fund the
early stages of development of 27 projects aimed at achieving the goals of the CLCPA.

New York — Delinquency relief for vulnerable customers

The Governor of New York signed off on a series of measures to reduce the utility debt of
vulnerable customers (estimated at USD 590 million across New York). Approval was
granted to include a USD 250 million provision in the state’s general budget to finance part
of the debt, and the remaining amount was authorised to be pooled among all New York
consumers, so that companies can recover it via bill charges.

New York — Rate Case

On 26 May, NYSEGR and RGE submitted their proposed rate review for the period May
2023 — April 2024 to the New York Public Service Commission (NYPSC). The NYPSC Staff
replied in September, proposing certain modifications to the requested rate increase.

The final amount of the increase is currently being negotiated with the NYPSC Staff, as well
as the possibility of setting 3-year rates (May 2023 — April 2026), which would allow the
agreed rate increase to be rolled forward.
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Maine — Withdrawal of 100 bp ROE adjustment

On 17 February 2022, the Maine Regulatory Commission withdrew a 100bp ROE
adjustment from CMP (effective March 2020) after finding that the company was meeting
its quality of supply and quality of service targets.

Maine — New standards of service

A new bill was passed in May 2022 to guarantee the quality of service provided by operators.
This bill calls for new metrics to be developed to monitor the reliability of the grid, the quality
offered to customers and distributed generation connectivity. It also provides that fines
collected for breaches of these standards should be reallocated to vulnerable customers.

Maine — CMP Rate Case

On 11 August 2022, CMP submitted its proposed rates for the July 2023 — June 2026 period
to the Maine Regulatory Commission (MPUC). The MPUC Staff held a positive view of the
proposal, but was concerned about the lack of mechanisms to monitor compliance with a
multi-year agreement (rates approved in recent years had a one-year time horizon). On 7
February, CMP submitted its response to the Staff’'s assessment, including a proposal for
compliance monitoring mechanisms.

Connecticut — EV Charging Program

The Connecticut regulator has launched the first phase of its plan to roll out an electric
vehicle charging infrastructure. In this first phase, with a three-year term (2022-2024),
distributors will process the granting of subsidies for the installation of charging points.
Meanwhile, UI-D will manage an amount of USD 18 million, which will be recovered through
tariffs.

Connecticut — Innovative Energy Solutions Program

The Connecticut regulator has announced the launch of the Innovative Energy Solutions
(IES) programme, allocating USD 89.6 million over 2023-2026 to developing grid
modernisation projects and innovative products and services for customers.

Connecticut — Bill Reduction Plan for vulnerable customers
On 2 December 2022, the Governor of Connecticut unveiled a package of measures to
mitigate rising electricity bills as a result of higher energy prices:

— Ul will contribute USD 3 million to help pay vulnerable customers’ bills and bring
forward to 1 January the repayment of a regulatory liability for power purchases
under the Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) system (USD 28 million for Ul).

— In addition, work will continue on designing a rate aimed at vulnerable customers
that can be applied in 2023.

Connecticut — Ul Rate Case

On 9 September 2022, Ul submitted its proposed rates for the period September 2023 —
August 2026 to the Connecticut Regulatory Commission (PURA). Ul aims to improve
customer service by increasing the reliability, resilience and intelligence of its networks by
implementing a number of programmes that require rate increases of 5% per annum. The
Office of Consumer Counsel (OCC) raised objections to the Ul proposal, requesting certain
adjustments thereto. Ul has rebutted the OCC’s submissions by reiterating its initial
proposal.
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Berkshire Gas Rate Case 2023-2025

In October 2022 the Connecticut regulator ratified the agreement reached with the Attorney
General for BGC’s new rates (Rate Case 2023-25). Highlights include an approved ROE of
9.70% and an Equity Factor of 54%.

FERC

On 21 April 2022, FERC passed (with four votes in favour and one against) a proposal for
a regulation on transmission planning and cost allocation. The proposal will require
transmission grid owners to engage in long-term planning (at least 20 years) that addresses
future energy generation mixes, especially renewables.

On 16 June 2022, FERC unanimously approved a proposed bill to accelerate the current
grid connection process for new electricity generation facilities, primarily wind and solar.

The proposal seeks to address backlogs in interconnection procedures, providing greater
certainty and avoiding undue discrimination against new generation.

5. Mexico

Requlatory environment in Mexico

Reform to amend the Electricity Industry Act: This reform, published in March 2021,
aims to prioritise the dispatch of CFE’s energy over that of the private sector and at the
same time restrict the development of new private projects. The measures have a negative
impact on renewable energies and distort free competition in the electricity m